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AT A GLANCE

M&S IS A LEADING RETAILER with

A STRONGAND

UNIQUE HERITAGE

OF BRAND VALUES,
EXTRAORDINARY
COLLEAGUES AND

CUSTOMERS wHO WANT
TO SEE IT SUCCEED AGAIN.

We operate afamily of accountable businesses, including Food and Clothing & Home,
Using the M&S own-brand' model, focused on delivering quality products at great value
for money.

L. i ) . . L (Rl ey + £y R .
Although primarily based in the UK, we sellinto 57 countries from 1,487 stores,
and 35 websites around the world. We employ over 80,000 colleagues serving

about 32 million customers.

We are committed to transforming our business to ensure that once again M&S can
fulfil the potential of its brand and deliver long-term, sustainable, profitable growth
for our investors, colleagues and the communities that we serve.

Cover image
© © o in January, we taunched our Plant
Kitchen range, a brand new collection
d 23
Readmoreon poB  Readmoreon P10 Readmoreon P of delicious plant-based products, like
FOOD CLOTHING FINANCIAL our Cashew Mac, to broaden our appeal
& HOME R EV' EW to more custorners looking for great

tasting vegetarian or vegan ranges.
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OVERVIEW

GROUP REVENUE

CROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£10.4bn*"

TOTAL DIVIDEND

£ 8 4. 611’1 +26.6%

PROFIT BEFORE TAX @

PERCENTAGE OF UK CLOTHING
& HOME SALES ONLINE

22% +3.0%

FOOD: VALUE FOR MONEY PERCEPTION'

1 3 . 9p -25.7%

* Dividend reset in Febryary 2019. See page 26.

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

AND ADJUSTING ITEMS
£523.2m >
o

NET DEBY

59%

STORES: NET PROMOTER SCORE?

2 .1p +31.3%

WHY GO DIGITAL?

Access to more detailed

The money saved on
printing and postage
will help lower our costs

Reduces our carbon
footprint and saves paper

Join our Digitat First community
and sign up for online
communications only, in time for
next year's report. It's much less
fuss, much rmore interactive and
you'll be helping M&S to reduce
its impact on our envircnment.

To register, visit shareview.couk,
a secure platform provided

by our Registrar, Equiniti. From
the home page, simply click
‘Portfolio’ followed by ‘Open
PortFolio Account’ and follow
the on-screen instructions.

You will need your shareholder
reference number to register.

£1.55bn ™"

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE @

68

M&S.COM: NET PROMOTER SCORE?

2 5 . 4p -8.6%

54

DIRECTORS' REPORT

STRATEGIC REPORT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Chairman’s letter

Chief Executive's statement

M&S business operating model
Food

Clothing & Home

Channels

International, Property and Services
Our people and culture

Plan A review

Non-financial information statement
Key performance indicators
Financial review

Risk management

Principal risks ang uncertainties

GOVERNANCE

34
36
a8

02
04
06
o8
10

Chairman’s governance overview
Qur Board

Board composition and

meeting attendance

Leadership and oversight

Board activities

Creating ajoint venture

How we engage, consider and respond
Nomination Committee Report
Audlit Committee Report
Remuneration overview
Remuneration in context
Summary Remuneration Policy

a9
40
42
44
46
48
54
58
59
63

Remuneration Report
Other disclosures
Independent auditor's report

— 76
81

91 Consolidated financial statements
95 Notes to the financial statements
137 Company financial statements
138 Notes to the Company

financial statements
142 Croup financial record
143 Clossary

146 Notice of meeting

158 Shareholder information™

160 \ndex

*+ Sharehotder information forms part
of the Directors Report.

|. Based on stores and online data frorn 2018 onwards.
follpwing a reset ininkternat measurements.

2. Net promoter score (NPS) equals the percentage
of ‘promoters’ minus the percentage of ‘detractors.
This represents our fotal NPS scare following a reset
ininternal measurements from which we vill measure
our future progress against.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE
MEASURES

The report provides alternative performance
measures (APMs} which are not defined cor
specified under the requirements of Internationat
Financial Reporting Standards, We believe these
APMs provide readers with important additional
inforrmation on our business. We have included

a glossary on pages 143-145 which provides
acomprehensive list of the APMs that we use,
including an explanation of how they are calculated,
why we use thern and how they can be reconciled
to a statutory measure where relevant.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

CHAIRMAN'S

“Although we are in
the hard yards of
fixing the basics and
arresting decline,
we remain ambitious
for the business’”

ARCHIE NORMAN CHAIRMAN

FINANCIAL HIGHLICHTS

INTERIM Paid on 11 Januitry 2019
6.8p
FINAL Tobepaid un 12July 2019

7.1p

TOTAL DIVIDEND FOR 2018/19

13.9p

LETTER

In September 2017 | took over as Chairman
of M&S in the belief that, despite years

of decline, a far-reaching turnaround
programme driven by a strong leadership
team cauld revive one of the UK's most
spectal brands. This letter outlines

my assessment of our progress in

this turnaround.

I rade clear at the time that the genesis of
any turnaround starts with the urwvarnished
truth, setting aside corporate vanity tc
face the facts about the state of a business.
Behind most financial failures sits an
organisational failure and an inability to be
self-critical and embrace the challenges
ahead. In our case, a siloed, slow and
hierarchical culture that has proved
resistant to change.

As lmade clear Last year, the change
needed is not one dimensional, not a touch
of the tiller, and not just  guestion of
strategy. Highly capable management
teamns have come and gone with perfectly
sensible plans and the long-term
downward trajectory of the business has
continued. Our failure to adapt, despite
rapidly changing markets, means M&S now
stands on a burning platform. So we are
aiming to transform ali the pieces of the
jigsaw: the way we are organised, the way
we work, our technology, our store base,
our product, our supply chains and our
value in the market.

In tackling this challenge, we can draw
upon two exceptional qualities: a brand
that custorners want to succeed again,
and fantastic colleagues in our stores who
have a remarkable commitrment to the
business and are longing to be given the
freedorn to get M&S back to its best.

InNovember 2017 Steve Rowe, CEO, laid out
our five-year transforrmation programme,
Making M&S Special Again. The objective of
this programme is not to *manage decline”
but to return M&S to sustainable, profitable
growth. Our progress against this planis
detailed within the Annual Report.

Despite considerable changes and progress
in restoring the basics, we remain in the first
phase of the transformation and our in-year
performance reflects this. The Last year

has seen further declines inlike-for-like
sates in both our Food and Clothing &
Home businesses. The drivers for this are
many, as we identified at the start of the
transformaticon. We are at the early stages
of reshaping our store portfolio which has

been allowed to decay over decades.

We have not reshaped our store estate in
line with changing customer preferences
as our competitors have dene and we

are paying the price. About 75% of our full-
{ine stores are over 25 years old and many
date from before the Second World War.
Our store layouts are still often difficutt
and confusing to shop. In Clothing & Home,
we have suffered from ‘range creep” over
the years 50 our shape of buy is too wide,
lacks depth and clarity of choice or scale.

n Food, many of our stores lack car parking,
scope and reach, our price perception

is too high, and our facilities and equiprment
maintenance are not good enough.

Behind atl of this, while parts of the
organisation have dynamic, and sometimes
new management, and have adopted a
hands-on way of working, others remain
slow, bureaucratic and hierarchical.

Whilst progress feels frustratingly slow,
experience tells me this is typicalin the First
phase of transformation and, while it is right
to be frustrated, it is also important to be
patient. The majority of the leadership team
are new to the business and we recently
restructured the organisation to create
accountabdle business units with their own
boards to drive clarity of decisiorn-making
and pace of action. Sorme corporate
functions have yet to adapt to this new
structure which we are addressing. We have
started to rekindle the “voice of the stores’,
which had become disconnected from the
centre to put the customer back into the
heart of decision-making. Store managers
have once again been given sight of

their own profit and loss account and
information to manage food waste,

The drum beat of trading pressure and
store feedback is starting to drive a faster
pace in the centre. Store managers have
been given tablets, therefore no longer
bound to their desks and can spend rmore
time on the trading floor with colleagues
and customers, and HR is at last being
modernised and digitised,

Already as aresult of sorne Ffairly basic
improvements to the online website and
fulfitment, we are seeing strong online
sales growth when product is available.
The relatively small changes in clothing
range and shape we have made have
proved successful and these changes will
accelerate this autumn. If our supply chain
and merchandising systems had delivered
the right quantity of buy and right size



“We have
started to
rekindle
the “voice of

the stores’”
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ratios, our sales wouid have been
significantly strenger and we have learnt
from our mistakes. In FOod, although still
negative in value terms, our like-for-like
volume sales are beginning to grow again
and the energy in that business is palpable.

As aresult of these and many other
changes, | o expect to seeimprovement
in trading in each of our major businesses
in the year ahead and, although we are in
the hard yards of fixing the basics and
arresting decline, we remain ambitious for
the business. This is why we committed to
buy half of Qcado retail and we believe

this joint venture could create the most
advantaged online food business in the

UK. The partnership will bring substantiat
benefits to our core Food businessin
purchasing scale and innovation speed and
the sharing of data should create one of the
most powerful consumer data pools in the
UK. Together with Ocado, our agpiration is
to significantly improve our share of UK
food retail by combining our strength in
food quality and innovation and Ocado's
leading technology and service.

To finance the joint venture, but alsc to

nail down our finances for the next four
years, we have reduced the dividend and
committed te a £6(1.3m rights issue. We
have substantial debt repayments due on
our bond financing and a significant pension
obligation to fund. Although painful, these
steps provide the business with a stronger
balance sheet, resilient to the vagaries of an
unpredictable miarket and tisks inherentin
rapid operating change. Having reset the
dividend to a sustainable level, we will aim
to grow returns to shareholders inline with
earnings over time.

Within this context | want to thank all

our colleagues for their support duringa
testing time for the business, When we are
seeking to drive efficiency, seeing declining
sales, reducing hours and closing stores, life
has not been easy for our colleagues at any
level. Their commitrent to making M&S
special again has been and continues to

be amazing.

I said last year that in an era of a new
managernent tearn with a mandate for
urgent change we needed a strong and
dedicated Beard. We have now forged a
highly capable and energetic Board
committed ta making the hard decisions
reguired to support the turnaround and
drive the pace. Vindi Banga, our Senior
Independent Director, stood down from the
Board after nearly seven years and leaves
with our grateful thanks. Pip McCrostie, Katie
Sickerstaffe and Justin King have joined us.
Serving on the M&S Board is not going to be
the easiest of roads. But none of us are here
to eat lunch or soak up applause. We are
here to make M&S special again and we are
on the road to doing exactiy that.

ARCHIE NORMAN CHAIRMAN

STRATECIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
STATEMENT

STEVE ROWE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

We are deep into the first phase of our
transformation programme and continue
to make good progress restoring the basics
and fixing many of the legacy issues we
face. As | have said, at this stage we are
judging ourselves as much by the pace of
change as by the trading outcomes and
change will accelerate in the year ahgad.

Whilst there are green shoots, we have not
been consistent in our delivery in a number
of areas of the business. M&S is changing
faster than at any time in my career -
substantial changes to our processes,
ranges and operations and this has
constrained this year's performance,
particularty in Clothing & Home. However,
we remain on track with our transformation
and are now well on the road to making
M&S special again.

TRANSFORMING OUR LEADERSHIP
AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Qver the past two years we have built a
substantially new leadership team, bringing
fresh perspective, energy and chaltenge to
a business held back by deeply entrenched
cultural norms. Alongside this, we are
creating clear and accountable businesses
supported by common values, shared
infrastructure and customer data angd

have continued the strearmlining of
corporate functions.

However, over the years a business that
was famously product and store led has
developed a “Head Office knows best”
mentatity, rermote from the custormer.
Looking ahead we will up the pace on
the steps we are taking to bring back the
“voice of the stores”, Qur colleagues are
our biggest asset and unlocking their
potential will drive cur transformation,

BECOMING A DIGITAL FIRST
RETAILER ACROSS M&S

In our digital operations, we began to
address the basics of our website which

has helped to deliver UK Clothing & Home
onlineg growth of 9.8% in FY 2018/19. Online
now represents 22% of UK Clothing & Home
sales compared with 19% last year.

Improvements in site speed, 2 redesigned
homepage, enhanced product imagery, a
simpler check-out and an improved delivery
proposition have collectively contributed to
aver nine percent improverment in the
conversion of website traffic to customer
purchases. Navigation and personalisation
on-site, as well as product marketing, remain
a significant opportunity.

Castte Donington had its best peak
performance since it opened with
significant improvernents in most key
metrics including a later delivery cut-off,
following targeted investment to remedy
problems with its reliability and efficiency.
We are investing c.£9min further process
improvements to meet our growth plans
for this year. However, we expect the need
for an additional fulfilment centre has
been successfully deferred for another
two to three years.

M&S in-store technology and systermns
have been histerically underinvested and
require improvement. Already we have
started to address this probtemn, giving

ail store managers tablet computers and
extending the successful Honeywell hand
held terminal programme. In the year
ahead, we will roll out new applications and
accelerate our self-checkout programrme
to recduce constant queuing issues. Our
in-store Wi-Fi will be upgraced to deliver 2
universal “high speed anywhere” capability
for our customers and store colleagues.

We will also improve the personalisation
of our shopping experience. With the
potential to develop one of the best
customer data “lakes” in the UK, our Sparks
loyalty programme needs substantial
improvement and will be relaunched in
the next year.

We have made good progress in restoring
the basics of our technology organisation,
transitioning to a partnership with TCS,
migrating our online platform to the
cloud and rolling out new warehouse
management software to enable the
decornmissioning of antiquated systems
and the old mainframe base, which will
deliver annualised savings of over £30m.

RESHAPING THE RANCES
AND CUSTOMER PROFILE
IN CLOTHING & HOME

UK Clothing & Home revenue declined
3.6%, partly due to our store closure
programme, with tike-for-like revenue
down 1.6%. Encouraging progress in Q3
was constrained by weak availabiity in Q4
as we sold out of fast selling lines and
experienced supply issues.

Qur range remained too wide in FY 2018/19
with multiple options splintering our buying
scale and making our shops challenging
to navigate. Qur size ratios have been
historically misaligned with the profile of
the contemporary family age customier
we aim to appeat to. However, where we
have made progress in pruning options
and introducing slimmer fits and more

mid sizes, the customer response has

been very strong.

Creating a new range architecture ina
business with weak processes, a slow supply
chain and where buyers are building their
confidence has proven chatlenging, and
our sales both in store and ontine have
peen frustrated by poor availability in Q4.
Although we made good progress reducing
overall stock levels, many popular lines
have sold out prematurely because of the
failure to buy in depth and the slowness of
the stock fiow.

Despite these teething problems the
customer response to the initial changes
has been very encouraging. On page 10
we look at the year ahead in Clothing &
Home, where we expect to deliver a
more rarked reduction in options and
range duptication. With the new range
architecture, we will continue to shift tc a
“first price, right price” trading philosophy,
and further reduce the percentage of
Clothing & Home sold at discount,

which remains too high.

Our new range architecture and
presentation will be combined with a
rationalised, more contemporary in-store
enviranment. Progress on renewing the
stores has been limited te date, although
we have moved a tot of internal walls and
sight barriers, A “renewal” brand format
and a modernisation wilt be piloted in

the year ahead.



We have reduced the complexity of

our logistics network and are rolling out
the first phase of our *Fuse” prograrmme
deploying new tools which will help us
remove excess stock trapped in stores
where it does not sell and holding it
centrally, improving availability and making
our stores easier to shop. We are still at the
early stages of modernising our supply
chain network, technology and process
and this remains a priority.

PROTECTING THE MAGIC AND
MQDERNISING THE REST IN FOOD

The Food business is showing good signs
of progress inarresting the declinein
like-for-lie sales. UK Food revenue
declined 0.6%, with like-for-like revenue
down 2.3% reflecting the adverse impact
of Easter timing in both Q1 and Q4.
Adjusted for Easter timing, FY 2018/19
like -for-like revenue declined 1.5% with
an improving trend in the second half

of the year, and votlume growth in Q4.

As set out in further detail on page 8, our
Foed brand remains very strong and our
strategy is to "protect the magic” - based
on our unique quality, freshness and
innovation credentials — whilst reshaping
our store estate, infrastructure, operating
systemns, cost management and supply
relationships. The Ocado Joint Venture (JV?)
is a natural partner for the brand and,
combined with our Food transformation
plan, opens up the possibility of substantiatly
increasing our grocery market share in

the medium term.

Cood progress has been made in restoring
trust in our value at relatively little cost

to margin. We have very nearty halved our
dependence on short-term promotions
and confusing multi-buys, reducing
promotional participation by over 10
percentage peints as 2 percentage of
sales by year end, without significant loss
of customers. This enabled us to invest

in everyday prices, including reductions
in over 400 lines, narrowing our price
differential to the lowest it has been

for some years.

We have strengthened the communication
of value in stares and we began to see
encouraging transaction and volume
trends in Q4. In the current year, the shift to
trusted vatue will be supported by a series
of workstreams designed to simplify supply
relationships, reduce costs and increase the
pace of innovation,

CREATING A HIGH-QUALITY STORE
PORTFOLIO FIT FOR THE FUTURE

We are making good progress with the
reshaping of our full-line estate and have
closed 35 fulldine stores as part of our
programme as at 30 March 2019, with sales
transfer rates to nearby stores remaining
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above 20%. Reshaping the store portfolio
means tackling the legacy issues, but also
opening new full-line stores as well as Food
stores, As part of our Food strategy we are
concentrating on higher volume stares
with good access and car parking to enable
our customers to shop more of our range.
Therefore, some of the low volume, higher
cost Simply Food stores, mostly on short
teases, will also be progressively relocated
or rationalised. As we discuss in more detail
on page 12, although we anticipate further
net reductions in overall retail space, our
strategy is as much about right sizing and
relocating as it is about closures and we
anticipate our owned store base is likely

to remain broadly level.

REBUILDING PROFITABLE GROWTH
IN INTERNATIONAL

The Internaticnal business was already

fully embarked on rationatisation and
repositioning prior to the transformation
programme and further good progress has
been made. Qur objective is tocreate a
much more competitive locatised version
of M&S in those selected markets where

we can attain a sustainable market share.

As we aim to build a scalabte business
internationally, we continue to localise

our ranges for the market. This included a
substantial increase to around 15% of
locally designed clothing range including in
our growing Indian joint venture, which now
has 77 stores. In addition, we launched six
country specific websites and re-platformed
the website for our business in the Republic
of Ireland.

COST SAVINGS OF AT LEAST £350M
BY 2020/21

Last year we set out firm targets for cost
savings as part of the first phase of
transformation. We have made good
progress in the year, delivering savings

of ¢.£100m, in addition to the operating
costs of stores that have closed, and are on
the way ta creating a leaner, more efficient
cost base for the business.

Savings in 20N8/19 derived from the

retail management restructure, tha |T
transformation plan, property costs,
depreciation and central costs enabled the
business te offset inflation, new space and
channel shift with the result that Full year
UK operating costs declined by 1.2%.

As we change the culture of the business,
we are clear that challenging costs witl
become a core part of our philosophy.

In 2019/20, we anticipate ongoing savings
from the annualisation of current year
initiatives and additional benefits in

areas, including a new contract for

store maintenance and in central costs,
which should result in a further decline

in total UK operating costs.

JOINT VENTURE WITH OCADO

In February 2018, we announced the
creation of a new 50/50 JV with Ocado
Group Plc, the UK's leading pure play digitat
grocer, which will transform online grocery
shopping for UK consumers.

Under the JV, M&S is acquiring a 50% share
of Ocado’s UK retail business, which will

be supported by Ocado Smart Platform
technotogy, for aninitial consideration of
£562.5m and deferred consideration of

up to £187.5m, plus interest. The Ocado JV
is expected to be recognised by M&S as an
associate applying the equity method of
accounting, reflecting the significant
influence that M&S will have over the entity.

The JV combines the strength of M&S's
brand and its leading food quatity and
innovation with Ocado's unique and
proprietary technology, to create an
unrivalled online offer for custorners.

In bringing the best together, the JV will
benefit existing and new UK customers,
colleagues and suppliers.

The JV will trade as Ocado.corn but witl
benefit from access to M&S's brand,
products and customer database from
September 2020 at the latest, following
the termination of the current Waitrose
sourcing agreerment and migration of
JV sourcing to M&S.

We anticipate synergies of at least £70m

by the third full financial year following
completion through increased buying
scale, harmonised buying terms on
branded products and improved efficiencies
onnew product development. We expect
saome churnin customers as the JVtransitions
from the previous sourcing arrangements;
however following the ‘frictional’ transition
we plan to accelerate growth in the JV.
There is a significant opportunity to reduce
custormner acquisition costs in the JV by
rmarketing directly to our customer

data base.

LOOKING AHEAD

Whilst we have made progress, our priority
inthe year ahead must be to increase the
pace of change. M&S has an extraordinary
workforce of loyal cotleagues and i am
lucky and humbled to lead them,
Unlocking this power to build a faster,
rmore commercial culture will help us drive
transformational change. | would like to
thank all my colleagues for their passion,
dedication and hard work over the past
year in delivering our transformation.

We are now well on the way to making
M&S special again.

STEVE ROWE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

[ STRATECIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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M&S BUSINESS
OPERATING MODEL

Marks and Spencer Group plc is one of the United Kingdom's
leading retailers, with a unique heritage of brand values,
extraordinary cotleagues and strong and deep relationships with
custermers. We operate as a family of accountable businesses,
bound together not only by a common consumer brand but
also by shared sites, employment values and customer data.

OUR CUSTOMERS

MA&S serves about 32 million customers every year from
across the UK Our Food, Clothing & Home and other
retail businesses are focused on developing products and
services for our target customers, who we reach through
a channel network of 1,487 stores and online services
across 57 international markets.

QUR COLLEAGUES

We employ over 80,000 colleagues who demonstrate
extraordinary passion for the business, deliver great
customer experience through our channels, and bring
extensive technical skills giving us strengthin areas
such as ingredients, sourcing, size and fit.

A FAMILY OF ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESSES

MES generates revenue and delivers value for shareholders
through a family of accountable businesses. Each is led

by its own integrated management team, with functionatl
accountability for their divisions, including marketing,
supply chain, finance and technology.

We predominantly sell own-brand products manufactured
and marketed exclusively under the M&S brand with guality,
innovation and trusted value at their core.

Food: M&S Food sells sustainably scurced, fresh,
convenient products of cutstanding quality through
five main categories: protein deli and dairy, produce;
ambient and in-store bakery, meals dessert and frozen;
hospitality and ‘Food on the Move'

Clothing & Home: M&S sells stylish own-brand clothing
and homeware through our principal product
departrents: Womenswear, Menswear, Lingerie,
Kidswear and Home.

International: M&S exports the best of M&S Food and
Clothing & Home around the world in select target
markets across Europe, the Middle East and Asia,

and with an online presence in markets such as the
United States and Australia.

Services: Through M&S Bank (operated by HSBC)

we provide a range of financial services, including credit
cards, current account and savings, insurance and
mortgages. M&S Energy is a competitive fully renewable
energy source provider (operated by Octopus).

Property: We are building an active property
rmanagement team to maximise the vatue of our
property assets through investment and
development opportunities.

DIGITAL AND DATA

All of our businesses can draw from the same customer data.
We are investing in our data analytics and digital capabilities
to create a strong customer insight function, so we can better
leverage our insight to build customer layalty.

THE GROUP

Our lean centrai team includes Group Finance, Corporate
Covernance, Strategy and support functions such as
Communications and HR. The Croup supports the business
as a whole, setting direction of its growth strategy, allocation
of capital and overseeing cost efficiencies.



07
ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

STEP ONE

RESTORING
THE BASICS

2018 2019

TRANSFORMING OUR
LEADERSHIP

© Read more on page 04 & page 15

AND CUSTOMER PROFILE
IN CLOTHING & HOME

RESHAPING THE RANGES 4

ﬂ Read more on page 10 & page 11

CREATING A HIGH-QUALITY
STORE ESTATE FIT FOR
THE FUTURE

@ Read more on page 12

The objective of our transfornnation programme,
Making M&S Special Again, is to restore the business to
sustainable, profitable growth over three to five years.

Last year we set out the nine key pillars of our first phase

of transformation - to restore the basics of our organisation
and infrastructure to transform us into a faster, lower-cost,
more commercial and digital business and provide the
platform for growth in the later phases of our plan.

STEP TWO

SHAPING
THE FUTURE

2020 20

BUILDING GREATER
ACCOUNTABILITY 2

° Read more on page 15 & page 16

MAGIC AND MODERNISING
THE REST IN FOOD

PROTECTING THE 5

© Read more on page 08 & page 09

MODERNISING OUR FOOD
AND CLOTHING & HOME
SUPPLY CHAINS

© Read more on page 09 & page 11

STEP THREE

MAKING
M&S SPECIAL

2022

BECOMING A
DIGITAL FIRST
RETAILER

© Read more on page 13

REBUILDING
PROFITABLE GROWTH
IN INTERNATIONAL

© Read more on page 14

COST SAVINGS OF
AT LEAST £350M
BY 2020/2t

© Read more on page 05

STRATECIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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~FO0OD

PROTECTING
THE MAGIC

AND MODERNISING

THE REST

WHAT WE SAID LAST YEAR

I 2018 we acknowledged that our Food
business had become teo premium and
lost some of its broader appeal While
customers still recognised us for quality,
the competition had worked hard to match
our success by copying our innovation and
fresh product ranges and we hadn't kept
up. The challenges were compounded by
our outdated supply chain, with excessive
waste, poor availability and high operating
costs eroding our profits.

We were clear that we needed to protect
the things that make M&S Food speciat:
industry-leading quality, exceptional
sourcing and fameus innovation.

But against the relentless rise of the
discounters at one end, and supermarket
price competition at the cther, M&S had

to become more relevant, more often -
with great value, everyday prices and
products that appeal to a farmily customer.

We outlined the action needed to
address these chaltenges and
restore like-for-like growth:

- Re-establish our value for
money credentials.

Above We have started to tackle value perception through cur marketing
calling out prices alongside product quality. M&S is no longer positioning
itself as special and different, but instead specialand relevant with stand
out prices and the same renowned quality.

Left Our Best Ever Prawn Sandwich launched in August, having been
developed in eight weeks from concept to shelf, and guickly became
one of our bestseiling sandwiches this year.

- Accelerate the pace of relevant
innovation to deliver commercial impact.

- Give more custormers access to the
full M&S Food range of ¢.6,500 SKUs.

- Fix our outdated supply chain.
WHAT'S HAPPENING

The Food business saw encouraging signs
of progress with an improving trend in
like-for-like revenue in the second half of
the year as well as volurne growth in the
final quarter. However, the business
continued ta remain in decline with like-for-
like revenue for the year down 2.3% overall
Qur performance gains have continued to
be offset by the deep-rocted challenges of
our supply chain and systems resulting in
disappointing levels of waste and availability.

We continued to perforrm well on special
occasicns, particularly Christmas, where
we saw strong volume growth. Meat was
one of our best-performing Christmas
categories ~ with lamb and beef proving
particularly popular with our customers.

We are beginning to capture these core
weekly shop categories all year round: 30%
of custormers’ baskets contain a meat, fish or
poultry iterm and 34% include fresh produce.

Under the direction of our Food Managing
Director, Stuart Machin, cur new leadership
team is injecting much needed pace and
energy into our transforrmation. The team
was strengthened by the arrival of our new
Commercial Director, George Wright, who
joined us from Tesco in April 2019, and the
return of April Preston in Novernber 2018 as
Product Development Director, as well as
other important leadership appointrents.

We're working hard to rebuild trust in our
value credentiats. Over the last 12 months
we have reduced cur dependency on
short-term promotions and reduced
promotional participation by over 10%.
This has enabled us to maintain our quality
and invest in better everyday value and
reduce prices on over 400 of cur most
popular lines. For example, we invested in
prices of staple products like our beef
rmince and saw a positive customer
response with sales up 29% as a result.

We have also started to tackle value
perception through our rmarketing and, for
the first time, our campaigns consistently
called out prices alongside product guality.
We also began showcasing the best of

MA&S Food into millions of hormes each week
through our sponsorship of the 2019 series
of ITV's Britain's Cot Talent.



We are re-engineering our development
pipeline to up the pace on delivering
maore relevant innovation with cornmercial
impact. For example, in January we
launched our Plant Kitchenrange in
response to the growing demand for a
plant-based diet and sold over 4.8 million
iterns from the rangein its first three
rmonths. We are also working to improve
our product development timeline from
24 weeks 1o 6 to make us more efficient in
bringing products to market, as the case
study on Our Best Ever Prawn Sandwich
opposite explains.

Our end-to-end supply chain transformation
programme is now well under way. With
support of outside expertise, our “Fuse”
project team has pinpointed the causes
and solutions to the most critical problems
and identified a number of savings. We are
deterrmined tc modernise and improve

our waste and availability and open up

our growth potential in Food. We have set
up a number of Academy stores across

the UK, so we can test and refine the new
processes using the expert knowledge

of our store colleagues.

While efforts have been focused on
restoring the basics, we have taken the
first major step in shaping our future
growth with the announcement of our
JV partnership with Ocado. Online food
retailing is set to grow from an £11bn
market in 2018 to £17bnin 2023 and,

to date, M&S has not had a viable online
grocery platform.

Combining the quality of M&S Food with
Ocado’s leading technology and award-
winning service will enable us to build an
unrivalled online offer for UK customers
and provide M&S with immediate, scalable

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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and profitable access to the fastest-
growing channelin food retailing.

WHAT'S STILL TO DO

Qur objective in phase one is to restore
like-for-like sales growth, by driving
frequency of shop and broadening
our appeal beyond special occasions.

We will continue to invest in price on

key itemns to restore our value for money
credentials. However, delivering trusted
value is much more than lowering prices.
It rmeans offering easy to understand,
simple price points and providing better
value on large-size famity packs. Confusing
rmulti-buys have been stripped back and
when we do run promaotions, we need to
ensure that they are relevant to a famity
custorner’s specific needs and offer real
value. For example, our Family Meal Deal
for £8 provides an effortless solution to
‘dinner tonight or tormorrow’”

Te fully unlock the volume opportunity,

we need to enable customers to shop
mere of our range. From September

2020, our Ocado partnership will provide
immediate access to our full range of 6,500
products and reach our 12 million food
customers who account for one-third of
online grocery market spend - none of
which currently comes into M&S, But today,
in the absence of an online offer, access is
constrained by our portfolio of small food
halts, with only a dozen stores able to stock
the fult range. Qur property strategy looks
to bigger and better located stores that
offer the family-friendly Facilities and
experience our target customer wants,
Our 2019/20 store-renewal programme will
enable us to develop a blueprint with the

potential to be applied cost-effectively
to new and existing M&S sites,

This activity will be underpinned by a series
of workstreams designed to lower costs
andimprove the quality of sourcing.
Although M&S retains a core of very strong
supptlier relationships, over the years the
uniqueness and commitment of our supply
base has been eroded, as competitors

seek Lo copy our recipes and emulate our
quality. And in pursuit of innovation

and promotional complexity, we have

often become expensive to source. This
programme will therefore mean restoring
our sourcing capability, going back to
livestock and field, and creating more
joined up, vertically integrated programmes
with selected strategic suppliers.

Our waste levels remain among the highest
in the industry and availabitity has not
significantly improved. However, the
modernisation of our supply chainis
taking shape, and the new ways of working
and management information tools will
be rolled cut across stores and support
teams in the year ahead. This is only the
start and there is stillmuch to do but
there will be significant commercial gain

in getting it right.

The UK food market is in the midst of
saismic change and hard work lies ahead.
But our strength in innovation, quatity
and tirme-saving fresh food, coupled

with the evolution of customer shopping
habits towards convenience and health,
presents a real opportunity to significantly
improve our market share in the medium
term. Underpinned by our far-reaching
plans, we are building a ptatform for
like-for-like growth.

STRATECIC KPIs

REVENUE

£5.9bn ™

CONTRIBUTION TO UK REVENUE

62.5% +1.2%

LIKE-FOR-LIKE SALES

Like-for-like sales performance was down
but we saw encouraging volume growthin
the final quarter.

-2.3%

AVAILABILITY

Qur availability is behind the industry
average and we are tackling this through
our “Fuse” programme.

92.6% "

VALUE FdR MONEY PERCEPTION®

The proportion of customers who rated us
highly onvalue for money. We have started
to address our value for money perception
through our marketing and price reductions.

59%

QUALITY PERCEPTION®

The proportion of customers who rated us
highly or quality. Our Food strategy is to
“protect the magic®including our unique
quatity, freshness, and innovation credentials,

85%

1. Based on data covering stores from 2018 pnwards
following a reset in internal measurements.

STRATECIC REPORT

COVERNANCE
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STRATEGIC REPORT

CLOTHING & HOME

RESTORING

OUR REPUTATION

FORSTYLE
AND VALUE

WHAT WE SAID LAST YEAR

In 2018 we outlined the threats to our
Clothing & Home business including

the erosion of our style credentials,
increasing pressure from new and existing
competitors, an online business behind the
curve, and a delivery service unable to
meet customer dermand at peak times.
These factors had combined over many
years to reduce our market share, resulting
in a process of gradual dectine and the
ageing of our customer base, Restoring
the brand and customer appeal requires
far-reaching change in the range, shape

of buy, supply chain and systerns.

In addressing these challenges, we set

out what we needed to do to deliver the
change required:

- Restore our style and value credentials
to broaden our appeal to a younger
family age customer.

- Restructure our shape of buy, reducing
breadth of range and focusing on
backing winning lines in high volume,

Above Denim is one of our key categories with a loyal customer base
and strong custorner franchise, and our Best Ever Fit carpaign in
February helped us build on this position resulting in a 20% sates uplift.

Left Shoppable Instagram has been a key part of this year's Holly's
Must-Haves marketing campaign with our ambassador Hotly Willoughby.
Our social media followers were given first access to Holly's edit which
led to our biggest ever social revenue day on M&S.com.

- Build on our loyal customer base and
strong customer franchise indenim,
lingerie, suits and back to school

- Target one-third of our sales online
by 2022.

- Reform our supply chain and systems
te improve availability and deliver
for customers,

WHAT’S HAPPENING

Despite underlying progress this year,

our transformation in Clothing & Home -
is yet to be reflected in like-for-like sales.
While we saw a rise in custorer numbers
and growth in our online Clothing & Home
sales ahead of the market, we rermain at
the early stages of cur programme.

QOur aspiration is to be famous for
centemporary, wearable style at great
value. Qur efforts in restoring our style
credentials and value perceptions made
progress and saw some wins this year, Sales
of our £15 women's jeggings were up 30%
over the campaign period. And when we
got the product fit and price right for the
conternporary, family-age custormer we aim

to appeal to - such as cur denim campaign
case study above - we saw product fly off
the shelves. But all too often our initial
tentative steps to buying in depth

rneant many of the most popular lines
sold out prematurely and our sales

were constrained by poor availability.

Our digital capabilities have historically
been well behind the market. Cur platforms
have not offered an inspirational or
effective customer experience and

our digital marketing hasn't kept pace

with how our customers want to shop.

This year we delivered important enabling
improvements by redesigning and
improving our hormepage to become

top quartile among our peers on page

toad speed. We have invested in better
navigation and product imagery and are
detivering a more mobile-first and feature
rich experience, with new tools such as
Style Finder visual search. Digital marketing
of our Holly's Must-Haves range generated
17 mitlion clicks through to our website,
with toois such as Instagram Shoppable,
helping drive sales. As a result of thase
actions, we saw UK Clothing & Home online



growth of 9.8% and improved our onling
clothing market share. UK Clothing & Home
sales online now stand at 22%, up from 19%
last year.

We have begun to tackle our unwieidy
supply chain operation, which hampers our
speed to market, creates in-store handling
costs and exacerbates our availability
problems through slow-moving stock that
sits trapped in the network. The apening

of our new national Clothing & Horme
distribution centre at Welharm Green and
the closure of four regional sites has taken
us a step closer to creating a more efficieant
and cost-effective single-tier network,
where products are moved to stores via
one single touch point, Alongside this, the
improvermnents made at our national ontine
fulfilment centre at Castle Donington
resulted inincreased peak capacity.

WHAT'S STILL TO DO

Over many years the MBS clothing range
has widened and extended - resulting

in a fragrented buy, reductions in buying
power and stores that are confusing

to navigate.

We have made a start in reducing option -
count in some areas. Our plan is to
substantially increase the number of
‘£1m’ high-volume great-value lines for
which M&S should be famous.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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However, repositioning the range
architecture in a business that has been
habituated to covering every option, and
where buyers are building their confidence,
is a difficult process. Qur clunky systems
and tools deepen this challenge, for
example our size ratios have been weighted
towards larger sizes and fit, rather than the

. mid to smaller sizes of our target customer

- aggravating availability problems.

To address this, we plan to deliver a more
marked reduction in options and range
duplication. We will embed new range
planning processes and size ratio tools,

50 we are set up to back more winning lines
and target the family-aged customer.

This will be reinforced by the update of the
sub brand strategy, including the Per Una
range where we have seen positive initial
customer reaction since it relaunched.

With the move to more volume and value,
our intention is to switch to a “first price,
right price” approach to help drive a more
active trading mentality across Clothing &
Home. If we are successful, this will remove
our reliance on discounted sales and
reduce the volume of goods we sellin
clearance mode.

Adeeper buying plan witl also give us the
scale to forge more strategic relationships
with suppliers and improve the value we
can offer our customers. We will uphold
our quality and maintain a “good, better
and best” pricing hierarchy, so that
alongside great everyday prices, we can
highlight the stunning value of designer-
class products such as leather jackets

and cashmere coats.

The changes we are making will improve
the customer experience and make our
range easier to shop by decluttering stores
with fewer but better and more relevant
product lines. Alongside this, work is under
way to free up store colleagues from the
unnecessary administration created by

our out-of-date systems and allow them to
focus on what they do best: serving our
customers. As set out on page 12 of this
report, we are radically enhancing the
quality of our store space and a store
renewal trial will commence this year.

In addition, we will treat our top 70 stores
as flagships, which offer a destination
shopping experience,

We will continue to accelerate our drive
towards delivering one-third of our
Clothing & Home sales online and improve
our integration of digital and store sales.
Our delivery to customaers still tags behind
the market, both to home and in-store
collections. Qur intention is to extend

our order cut-off point frarm 10pm to
Tipm during 2019/20 and further improve
our praduct presentation to reduce
returns rates.

And finally, underpinning our
transformation is the reformation of

our supply chain. "Fuse’, cur supply chain
taskforce, has started to tackle our
distribution network weaknesses, but
modermisation of our technology and
processes is at a very early stage.

STRATEGIC KPIs

STRATECIC REFORT

REVENUE

£3.5bn **

CONTRIBUTION TO UK REVENUE

37.5%

LIKE-FOR-LIKE SALES

Like-for-like revenue was down this year.
Encouraging progress in Q3 was offset
by weak availability in &4.

-1.6%

CLOTHING & HOME SPACE

We have made good progress in reshaping
our Clothing & Home space, with a
reduction of 4%,

-4%

VALUE FOR MONEY PERCEPTION'
The proportion of customers who rated
us highly on value for money. We are
focused on restoring our reputation

for style and value,

65%

STYLE PERCEPTION'

The propertion of customers who rated us
highty on style. We saw an encouraging
customer response to some of our ranges
this year such as our Denim Best Ever Fit.

58%

1. Based on storas and online data from 2018 onwards
following a reset ininternal measurements.

|
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STRATEGIC REPCRT

CHANNELS

STORES

WHAT WE SAID LAST YEAR

Last year we set out how a reluctance to close
underperforming stores and years of chronic
underinvestrment in retating and modernising
our estate had become a drag on like-for-like
performance and damaging to the M&S
brand. This combined with the rapid migration
of customers online left us with a store estate
that required urgent transformation.

To make M&S fit for the fufure, our store
estate needs reshaping to meet the
changing shopping behaviours of our
customers. We therefore committed

to the following actions:

> Accelerate the reshape of our store
estate programme to ensure that
we have the right stores in the right
locations for our customers,

-» Reduce and redirect our opening
programme in Foed to focus onthe
highest-returning locations.

- Experiment with new "renewal” formats
inboth Clothing & Home and Food.

WHAT'S HAPPENING

Our store reshape programme, which isa
combination of relocating, right sizing or
closing stores, has made good progress
through the year.

We have an estate of 1,043 storesin
the UK which is older than those of our
competitors with numercus legacy issues.

" Net promoter score (NPS) equals percentage of
‘promoters minus the percentage of 'detractors’
This represents our total NPS scare following a reset
inirternal measurements from which we willmeasure
our future progress against.

About three-quarters of our Clothing &
Home stores were opened over 25 years
ago and nearly 75 of these were before the
Second World War. During the year we
concentrated on addressing the legacy
issues while also developing a forward
pipeline of high-volume stores where

we can better serve our target custormer.
Although we anticipate further net
reductions in overallretail space, and we
currently expect to close a further ¢.85
full-line stores and ¢.25 Sirmply Food stores
in addition to the 35 full-line stores closed
in FY18/19, we believe the current retail
environment will allow us to secure some
excellent sites for relocations.

The changing sales pattern and rising
costs of real estate continues to put
pressure on low-performing stores and
declining high streets and shopping
centres. Most of our Clothing & Home
stores saw declining sales in the last year.
The pressure of business rates remains
onerous, although we are beginning to
see some benefit from rent reductions
as we negotiate lease renewals.

We also began a programnme to reduce
some of our existing store space. Cur targe
old town centre stores remain in prime
locations but have surplus space. During
the year we appointed a new Property
Development Director to review and
unlock value from our portfolio by
identifying opportunities to redevelop
sites, releasing value and creating new
modern, fit-for-purpose stores.

STRATEGIC KPIs

FOOTFALL (AVERAGE PER WEEK)

18.6m **

TRANSACTIONS
{AVERAGE PER WEEK)

11.4m ™"

NET PROMOTER SCORE’

68

WHAT'S STILL TO DO

Looking ahead our three commitments
from {ast year remain to be fulfilled.

We plan to maintain the pace of our store
estate reshape, opening bigger and better
stores. Alongside this we will also expand
the programme to include low volume,
high cost Simply Food stores alongside
larger store redevelopment planning,

with our owned store base likely to rernain
broadly level.

We plan to continue maximising the value
of our existing space alongside this, and
can expect to announce a number of
redevelopments in the year ahead.

As we shift our strategic focus from
locations to formats, we know our in-store
experience still requires improvement.

Up to 50% of our store estate has not had
major cosmetic refurbishment in the last
10 years, Qur smaller stores lack authority
and our larger ones are either too cluttered
or have toomuch space to deliver
inspiration. We have seen some progress
on this front, such as our St Helens store,
which last year was relocated to a larger
format better suited to our target customer
ang has performed ahead of expectaticns.
For now our immediate priority is to
continue restoring the basics and ensuring
that we have stores in the right locations
for our customers.
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M&S.COM

WHAT WE SAID LAST YEAR

WHAT'S HAPPENING

We have been clear that to make M&S
specialagain we need an M85 com platform
that supports and inspires our customers,
however they choose to shop, and end-to-
end digital capabilities and skifls across

the business to fulfil this ambition.
Historically, M&S has been a business

that has neglected cur online offer to
customers and last year we outlined the
scale of the task that faced us.

QOur digital platforms were well behind
the best in market, which was rapidly
moving away from us. Our speed and
search capacities were slower than the
best, and Castle Donington - our online
distribution centre - was unable to meet
peak demands. In addressing these
challenges, we set out the following areas
which required our urgent attention:

- Accelerating our journey towards
becoming a Digital First retailer.

- Targeting one-third Clothing & Home
sales onling,

- Fixing our base platform capability.

- Impraving the performance of
Castle Donington.

- Creating better links for customers
between stores and our website.

- improving our M&S.com customer
experience through technology and Al

STRATEGIC KPis

PERCENTAGE OF UK CLOTHING
& HOME SALES ONLINE

22% +3.0%

TRAFFIC (VISITS PER WEEK)

8 .8m +5.7%

NET PROMOTER SCORE’

54

We have seenimprovernents in M&S.com
with site speed enhanced to rank in the
top quartite among our peers onload
speed, a redesigned hornepage and better
product imagery, and an improved
checkout and delivery proposition,
Alongside this we moved the website to

_ the cloud to reduce performarce issues

and costs. This collectively contributed to
over nine percent in the conversion of
website traffic to customer purchases.

We also improved our mobile shopping
experience, which is one of our fastest-
growing areas of custorner traffic, with an
increasing number of custormers becoming
confident in choosing to shop on mobile
with us and an improved conversion rate

as aresult,

In our supply chain, following investment
in reliability, efficiency and capacity,
Castle Donington had its best peak
performance since it opened.

This combined to detiver UK Clothing & Horne
online growth of 8.8% improving our online
clothing market share by 03 percentage points.

WHAT'S STILL TO DO

While we are seeing upward trends in the
performance of our website as a result of
addressing the basics, we still have much
further to go to deliver a seamless and
inspirational shopping environment for
customers. We will improve our search
functions and customer personalisation
to get the customer to the product they
want faster and enhance our end-to-end
journey across the ranges.

We will also improve the customer experience
atross Click and Collect adding more collection
points in stores, improve fulfilment times
and free up time for our colleagues in stores
to provide a better service. This requires
significant re-engineering across many areas
of the business but is ¢ritical to putting our
customers’ needs at the heart of what we do.

Qur Sparks loyalty programme should be
anintegrated part of the way we deliver
personalised marketing to customers and
a combination of Sparks, onling, the M&S
credit card and Ccado would be one of the
best customer data ‘lakes’ in the UK. But
these customer data bases are currently
disconnected and ineffective. Sparks needs
substantial improvernent and in the next
vear it will be repositioned, revamped

and relaunched.

Undlerpinning all of this is the need to
create a data-driven, digitally savvy cutture.
This means making M&S a much more
attractive, fast-moving and less stuffy
olace for digital engingers and data
analysts to work.

Our long-term partnerships with Microsoft,
Cecoded, Founders Factery and True Capital
will also help give M&S the opportunity to
access the best of digital innovation and
entrepreneurial ideas and to become a
data-driven digitally enabled workforce.

We have made improvernents to M&Scom
to bring us back to level and made
improvernents to better meet the needs
of our customers. But there remains a
long way to go if we are to become a truly
Digital First business and be able to adapt
to the continuously changing behaviours
of our customers in future.

STRATECIC REPORT
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STRATEGIC REPORT

INTERNATIONAL,
PROPERTY AND SERVICES

HIGHLIGHTS

INTERNATIONAL CUSTOMER
SATISFACTION SCORE

7 7% +6%

Cverall satisfaction score provided by
customers fror across the International
business, including both owned and
franchise stores.

RETAINED MARKET SALES

+1.1%

Sales from the International business
including sales from owned business
and sales to franchisees. Excludes sales
from owned exit markets and Hong
Kong following transition to franchise.
At constant exchange rates.

MB&S is structured as a business with
strong shared brand values. An update
on the development of our wider family
of businesses is outlined below.

INTERNATIONAL

Last year cur International business made
headway in its transformation, closing loss-
making stores and changing the business
model to focus on partnering with a limited
number of strong local franchisees in large
markets where we can build a significant
markef presence. With this, profits improved
and we established a ptatform for growth
ahead. We said, however that we had much
to do to improve our competitiveness,

with our supply chain to local partners not
yet flexible enough and pricing toc high in
local markets to enable our partners to
compete with major fashion retailers.

We cornmitted in the year ahead to
continue to improve our supply chain
arrangements, modernise and open stores
in growth markets, further adapt our
ranges in both price and style better to
local markets, and provide effective online
support for our franchise partners through
“‘pay and play” local websites.

This year we saw revenue decline by
13.4%, driven primarily by store closures
in loss-making markets, Excluding this,
revenues grew by 1.1%. '

We grew our presence in key strategic
markets, opening 37 new stores and
modernising a further 56. We taunched
six transactional websites during the year,
increasing the nurnber of international
countries where customers can buy our
products online to 35. We completed the
rotl-out of ‘rmarket right pricing’, across
markets in Clothing & Home with average
price reductions of 10% to improve our
relevance to local customers, resulting

in sales up 8% and volumes up 20%.
These results give us confidence that

we are moving in the right direction,

We strengthened the management of
our international supply chain to increase
fuifilment rates in both Clothing & Home
and Food. These improvements ensured a
better service for our partners and helped
deliver more impactful seasonal taunches
in market.

In the year ahead we will continue to improve
how and whenwe get product to market,
improving our speed and reducing costs.
We will continue to substantially localise
our ranges for our target markets, as well

as continuing to build our online offering,
better adapting to how our internaticnal
customers want to shop.

As a result of the decisive earty action taken
inimplementing our transformation

strategy, the outlook remains positive for our
Internationat business unit and demonstrates
the potential for the wider business.

PROPERTY

MRS owns a portfolio of £1.8bn of property
at alternative use value and it is important we
manage this to safeguard its value, as well
as support the retail business, Many of the
larger legacy properties have significantly
underutilised space, and scope for more
management. We have therefore appointed a
Property Development Director, accountabte
for active management of cur property
assets and maximisation of value.

SERVICES

Through M&S Bank (rmanaged by HSBC}
we provide financial services to our
customers, including credit cards, savings
accounts, mortgages, and personalloans,
online and at our in-store branches and
bureaux. M&S Bank income before adjusting
iterns was down E12.7m to £27.6m. This was
predominantly the result of an increase in
bad debt provisioning due to the impact
of revised forward estirnates of economic
indicators, including the impact of Brexit,
and a modest increase in underlying bad
debt due to the risk of customer default.
Underlying credit income was slightly up
as a result of more competitive pricing.
ME&S Bank incorme after adjusting items
increased £1.1mM to £6.7m.

M&S Energy

We launched our strategic partnership with
Octopus, an energy industry disruptor with
strong digital capabilities, in September 2018
following the end of our relationship with
SSE earlier in the year. We selected a new
partner, despite the challenges that this
presented, to atign with a company that closely
mirrars our transformation ambitions.

We are at an early stage of this relationship
and in FY19 M&S Energy represented 0.1% of
the Group's total operating profit. However,
the compelling combination of our brand
strength and the digital capabilities and
customer service focus of Octopus,
underpinned by a fully renewable energy
offer, gives us confidence that we can grow
MBS Energy into a digital, progressive and
commercially competitive part of the
family of businesses.




15
ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

STRATEGIC REPORT

OUR PEOPLE
AND CULTURE

We believe it can be too easy for businesses
to treat culture in a formulaic way: taiking

in generic terms about business purpose
and values that are hard to disagree with
but are meaningless to its employees.

At Marks & Spencer we Xnow our culture
has great historic depth but it also has
flaws that we need to address if we are to
succeed in our transformaticn,

Culture is made up of how peopie feel
abaut a business, think and act at work,

and how that translates into how things get
done. Qur culture is a function of process,
governance and strategy implemented
with good intent by recent boards and

we seek to measure these. But itis also
informed by 135 years of history and a
business that has filled peoplestives in a
powerful and emotional way. The M&S
culture today is traceable back to the
‘glory years” under past leadership, and

our people yearn to see it reincarnatedina
modern, up-to-date way, whilst staying true
to those core betiefs and values. At its heart
the M&S of the past believed strongly in
people, product and value for money and
was a vibrant energetic place where the
leadership was close to the front ineand
acted with pace and responsibility. Peopte
at M&S believed instinctively in acting with
high integrity, in buitding close trusted
relationships with suppliers, and taking a
fong term view of innovation and business

Right Store colleagues are
shaping the changes in our
acadermy stores this year.

investment. That is why our leadership
today is very focused on bringing back the
best of the M&S spirit but creating a more
involving and engaging organisation,

Most importantly, and unusually at that
time, Marks & Spencer fostered a strang
culture, which placed great emphasis on
caring for its pecople. At the heart of this
was a deeply held commitment to treat
every calleague in the business with equal
respect: to lister to them, value them and
help them to develop. As Marcus Sieff
remarked as Chairman, a business is onty
as good as its people, and the work led

by Flora Solomon in the early 19305 in
introducing chiropody, dentistry and doctors
for colleagues, as well as new training
schemes, was truly revolutionary and
created a highly motivated workforce

with specialist skills.

This focus on creating a supportive and
caring erwvironment was not borne of
patriarchal philanthropic view of society;
the Marks & Spencer leadership were highty
commercial. entrepreneuyrial traders, it came
from a singular focus on the customer

and a belief that only by supporting and
empowering each and every colleague
would you recruit the best people and
create a culture where the custormer was
king. By association, this meant that the
voice of store colleagues - the front line to
the customer - drove the business and

Simon Marks famously paid more attention
to feedback from customer assistants than
anyone etse. As he remarked, it is easier to
buy than sell it also drove a clarity of
communication and plain speaking - the
eponymous phrase that "good goods will
sell arse upwards’is indicative of this —and
an unremitting focus on data with detailed
trading figures and store performance
reviewed in depth at the start of every
week Putting the customer at the heart

of the business also kept buyers honest;
goods were to be of the highest quality but
sold at the most competitive price to give
the custormer the best value, and this was
delivered through forming partnerships
with suppliers built on mutual trust, as well
as listening keenly to the store managers.

Altogether, this created an involving,
fact-driven culture, where everyone was
worthy of equal respect and had a voice,
stores were the centre of the business,
with an “operator knows best” philosophy
which empowered stores to tead on
execution, and ail colleagues, regardlass
of role, viewed their role as serving
customers. It created a business much
loved by its employees, customers and
suppliers, which we are fortunate to
continue to enjoy and our staff turnover
remains lower than the industry average.
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Some of the founding tenets of the
business remain visible today at least in
intent. We remain committed to helping all
of our colleagues to develop, and continue
to offer some specialist skills such as bra
fitting. We try to recruit on athitude and
rmake efforts - through our Marks and
Start programme - to help people furthest
frorm the workplace into employment.

To give colleagues a voice and access to
the leadership, the business recently
created a powerfut way to listen to
colleagues’ views and ideas through the
Business Involverment Group (BIC), which

is made up of over 3,000 colieagues from
across stores, operations and offices.

We offer a broad package of measures to
support health and wellbeing, including
breast screening for colleagues aged 40-49,
time off for events such as fostering, having
a grandchild and adoption, and we have
pledged to make a positive difference to
mental health at work.

However we are very clear that much of
the power of the original culture has been
lost. Once the direct Line of leadership from
Simon Marks through Marcus Sieff down to
Rick Creenbury had gone, the drum beat of
energy and authentic personal leadership
was dissipated. The driving, plain-speaking,
sornetimes authoritarian, style was
replaced with professional management,
which was in many cases from outside the
business. Top-down entrepreneunal pace
was replaced with committees’ controls
and well-intended bureaucracy. As M&S
started to struggle with a changing market,

‘At its heart the M&S
of the past believed
strongly in people,
product and value
for money and was
a vibrant energetic
place where the
leadership was close
to the front line and
acted with pace and
responsibility”
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OUR PEOPLE AND CULTURE CONTINUED

it becarne defensive and developad its own
rationatisation of the reasons for failure,
and as a result became inward-tooking and
resistant to change. An organisation used
to hard-driving top-down leadership
reacted by creating complex corporate
functions with no profit accountability and
ratrix decision-making. This enabled a
culture of collaboration to act as a cloak
for indecision. Progressively, the voice of
the stores — our critical link to the customer
- was diluted and the centre became
detached from the operators on the front
line. The corporate functions exploited the
faith of employees and created their own
hierarchies with an almost deferential
attitude so the feedback loop was lost and
decision-making was stow and often based
on consensus or corporate politics not
data. This cultural fzilure has been the roct
cause of the underperformance of the
business and transforming the business
and transforming the culture of Marks &
Spencer are indivisible tasks.

Qver the last 20 years, successive talented
leadership teams overseen by accomplished
boards have grappled with the problems
facing the business but struggled to arrest
the decline. In many cases, their strategies
are nol so different from those we are
pursuing today. However, what never changed
was the slow corporate culture, the lack

of accountability, hierarchy and sense of
corgporate vanity. It was against the rocks

of these intractable problems that the
well-intended plans of our predecessors
floundered. Today, as a result, we have a

legacy store portfolio, weak systems and
infrastructure. But despite all this, we stitl
have great people in our stores, passionate
store management and on the front line
the spirit of the originat M&S is still alive.
That is why transforrming the culture of
Marks & Spencer is critical to phase one of
our transformation plan.

Qur objective is to make MBS a special
place to work again by drawing on the
principles of the past to create a renewed
and reinvigorated workplace. Product,
value for money, innovation and choice will
be at the heart of our marketplace mission,
underpinned by high levels of service

and quality. That has always beenour
customer promise when we are at our

best andit is what we need to get back to.

Organisationally, we aim to create a
fast-moving environment, where people
take responsitility and make things

happen ina commercially responsible way,
safeguarding shareholders’ money. In ptace
of the old-fashioned hierarchy, we will embrace
an attitude of equal respect, hurmility and
involvernent. We are approaching this in a
holistic way as the change required is total.

To break down the old attitudes of corporate
vanity and defensiveness, we have, from

the inception of the transfFormation plan,
adopted a different tone of voice, “facing
the facts” and being willing to talk cpenly
about the business failings and the challenges
ahead. By expressing through the leadership
what colleagues on the shop floor feel,

we have helped release energy and invite

Below Flora Solomon (centre) championed the Staff Welfare
Service at Marks & Spencer including setting up a training

department and a subsidised medical service.,



anew willingness ta challenge. That spirit
is, we hope, also reflected in this Annual
Report and we believe humility and the
ability to be open about aur rmistakes is
critical to corporate learning.

To shift the driving force away from the
corparate functions we have fractured

the old structure: we have created a new
operating model recognising that we
manage hot one businass but several ones
operating in different markets with different
operating requirements, They are joined

by common systems, brand philosophy
andinfrastructure. But they need their own
managernent teams ang ability to deliver
without referring to the corporate bureaucracy.
\We have therefore given functional
accountability to the Food business and
separately to the Clothing & Home
business. Bank and International also report
in separately. We have brought in leaders for
each who are energetic, highly capable and
bring new perspectives. Qur senior leaders
are clear that transforming our culture will
only happen by “walking the talk”.

To embody the principles of equal respect
and ensure that everyone has a voice, we
have taken a number of important steps.
BIC representatives have joined Board
meetings to share the views of colleagues
and every colleague can make a suggestion
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on how ta improve the business tothe
CEO and expect a response to be given
and action to be taken, We will make far-
reaching improvernents to owr colleague
engagement survey, making an integral
part of line management looking not only
at how engaged colleagues are but how
empowered and enabled they feel To put
the store voice back at the heart of the
business, we have initiated weekly trading
calls chaired by Steve Rowe between
buyers and sellers. A focuson dataasa
driver of decisions rather than positionin
the hierarchy and gut feel has also begun
with the appointment of a Chief Digital
and Data Director, partnerships with digital
data-driven start-ups and the introduction
of NPS as a customer measure across

the business.

To bring back the idea that the store
rmanager is a critical position in the business
and “the operator knows best”, we are
embracing the principte of academy
stores and systematic piloting of change.
For instance, the “Fuse” supply chain
programme has been rotled out through
the academy stores and the store labour
scheduling programme was suspended
last year while we invited the leading
implementation stores to feed back on
the programme, as a result of which it was
substantially improved, In the year ahead,

we are investing significant capital to give
store managers the tools and data they
need to run their businesses with the
roll-out of tablets and store-levet profit
and loss accounts. As a result, they will
have the information to be businessmen
or women in their own right and we are
freeing up their time from sitting in the
office to walking the shop floor.

Our armbition is to make M&S the most
engaging, involving place to work in UK
retail, with a fast-moving, empowered
organisation and flaf organisational
structure. Because by good fortune

we have great colleagues in our stores
and a brand people profoundly believe

in, we truly believe our people canbe a
source of competitive advantage again.
We recognise that we are in the Foothills

of this project today and there are many
colieagues who have yet to climb on board
with the change. Transforrming a deeply
entrenched cutture, reinforced by years

of retreat in the marketplace, will take the
life of the transformation programme

at least. But the foundations of change
have been laid and we have a sutstantially
new leadership team who have joined the
business because they believe that we can
turnit arounc and who are determined to
live the change.

COLLEAGUE REPRESENTATION MEASUREMENTS

STRATECIC REPORT

SENIOR MANAGERS FROM
ETHNIC MINORITIES™

GENDER PAY GAP (MEAN)

5% Level

We remain firmly committed to our target of
having 50% women and 5% BAME colleague
representation in our senior management
team by 2022, and we continuved to expand
and support our range of colleague diversity
networks across the business this year

EMPOWERMENT

12.5%

Our Gender Pay Gap, the percentage difference between average hourly earnings
for men versus women, increased this year but remained lower than the UK average.
These measures tell us that iike many businesses we have further togo to be

mare inclusive and diverse, We're proud that three guarters of our Customer
Assistants are women but we need o do more to encourage diversity in senior roles.

ENGAGEMENT

ENABLEMENT

83% ™

Of our colleagues feel that they are
trusted and have the freedom to
perform their role effectively.

* Employee diversity as at 30 March 2019

81% ™

Of our colleagues feel proud to
work at M&S and enjoy what they do.

** Updated from Board level diversity to Senior Managers in 2019 tc better reflect internal measurements.

76% ™

Of our colleagues feel that they have
the right processes, support and tools
to do their job well.

COVERNANCE

FEINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PLAN A REVIEW

Plan A is a multi-year sustainability
transformation plan that has been updated -
several times (2010, 2094 and 2017) to

reflect the evolution of our business and

the risks and opportunities that social and
envircnmental issues pose for us.

As we go through our business
transformation we are currently updating
Plan A to reflect our new structures and
commercial priorities. This process is not
yet complete but as in previous years

we are publishing datasets on our most
material issues in our 2019 Plan A
Performance update.

These datasets show a mixed performance
this year, reflecting a period of considerable
change across the business. We also offer
an audit trail where we highlight existing
commitments that we know already

we will not be pursuing in the future.
Leadership on social and environmental
issues remains central to our promise

to our customers and colleagues.

Once our current comprehensive review
of Plan A is completed we will publish our
new approach.

Our actions are aligned in support of the
United Nations Sustainable Development
Coals (symbols shown). Further details
about Plan A, our policies, performance
and activities can be found online at;

° marksandspencercom/plana
€@ MBS 2015 Plan A Performance update

OUR HICHLIGHTS

PLACES

To help transform
1,000 communities.

PEOPLE

BEING PART OF THE COMMUNITY

This year we completed the first phase of
our programme to help positively transform
1,000 communities by 2025, We supported
over 230 activities which benefited an
estimated 2,800 people.

To help 10 million
people live happier,
healthier lives.

PLANET

PLANT KITCHEN RANGE

As part of our mission to provide sustainable
diets, we launched our extensive Flant Kitchen
range in January 2009, with prepared meals,
snacks and drinks suitable for customers who
want to adopt a vegan diet or just eat less
rmeat and dairy.

To become
a zero-waste
business.

PRINCIPLES ON PLASTIC

To take a lead n responding to the global
concerns over pollution From plastic we've
developed a set of five Plastic Principles
(Re-use, Re-design, Re-duce, Re-turnand
Re-cycle). We're working on projects to eliminate
1,000 tonnes of plastic packaging usage and
our plastic-free fruits and vegetables trial has
just been extended to a Further two stores.



19

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCHAL STATEMENTS 2019

RAISING MONEY FOR CAUSES THAT
MATTER TO OUR CUSTOMERS

During the year, we worked with our customers
and employees to help raise a total of £11.5m
for causes close to their hearts. This included
£1.6m For Macmillan Cangcer Support and £1m
for Breast Cancer Now.

RAISED WITH OUR CYUSTOMERS
AND EMPLOYEES

L11l.om™

SUPPLY CHAIN CONFIDENCE

Last year it was beef, this year we've
added information on our sourcing of
seafood, wool, and tea and coffee to
aninteractive digital map.

@ interactivermaprarksandspencercom

STRATECIC REPORT

TACKLING FOOD WASTE

During the last year, we've reduced our UK
retail food waste by 24% . We alsc used surplus
food to distribute 2.8 million meals to a range
of charities.

REDUCTION IN UK RETAIL FOQOD WASTE

4%

PROMOTING DIVERSITY
AND INCLUSION

We supported Purple Tuesday accessible
shopping day on 13 November 2018

and provide accessibility information for
UK stores through our partnership with
AccessAble. For colleagues we hold an
annual diversity festival, celebrated

Pride events throughout the year and
recognised International Women's Day,
Black History Month and the International
Day of Disability.

Our employee-led diversity networks
help us find ways to be more inclusive
and collectively involve over

3,000 colleagues.

@ accessable coukforganisations/
marks-and-spencer

EASY TO RECYCLE PACKAGING

In the next 12 montihs we're aiming to have
coltection points for difficult to recycle
plastic packaging in a selection of stores
across the UK The plastic collected will be
recycled into more recycling bins, furniture
and playground equipment.

SUSTAINABLE
COTTON CLOTHING

As part of our wider approach to ethical
clothing, we're now committed to
sourcing all the cotton used to make
MBS clothing from sustainable sources
such as the Better Cotton initiative.

COMMITMENT TO SUSTAINABLE
COTTON FOR M&S CLOTHING

100%

© bettercottonorg

COVERNANCE

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
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PLAN A REVIEW CONTINUED

PLAN A MEASUREMENTS

PLACES

TRANSFORMING COMMUNITIES

VOLUNTEERING HOURS

WORK PLACEMENTS

1 O New

The number of communities engaged
as part of our Helping to Transform
Communities initiative. in 2019/20,
we'll be starting to extend the
programme to the next 100 locations.

47,218

We provided 47,218 hours of
work-time volunteering across
the UK and Republic of Ireland.

PEOPLE

2,554™

2019 marks 15 years since we launched
our Marks & Start programme. This year,
we offered 2,554 work placements to
people from disadvantaged groups in the
community, so that they could gain key
skills leading to employment. 63% went
on to find employment.

EMPOWERMENT

ENGAGEMENT

ENABLEMENT

83%

Of our colleagues feelthat they are
trusted and have the freedom to
perform their role effectively.

81%™

Of our colleagues feel proud to work
at M&S and enjoy what they do.

PLANET

716%™

Of our colleague feel that they have
the right processes, support and tools
to do their job well,

PACKAGING RECYCLED

WASTE SENT TO LANDFILL

M&S GREENHOUSE
GAS EMISSIONS {CO,€e}

770%™

70% of all M&S product packaging that
ends up with our customers is classified
as being widely recycled in the UK We're
aiming to make it all widely recycled or
recycled in store as soon as possible.

Z er O Level

This year, the totat amount of waste
generated by our stores, offices and
warehouses in the UK and ROl was
down by 7% on last year. For the
seventh consecutive year, the amount
sent to landfill was 2ero.

360,000

The gross carbon dioxide emissions
from MA&S stores, offices, warehouses
and vehictes worldwide was down 16%
on kast year and 75% on 2006/07.
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HUMAN RIGHTS

) ANTI—CORRUPTION AND ANTI-BRIBERY i

- \We are committed to driving a sustainable

business that is both commercially
successful and socially and environmentally
responsible. This includes providing our
employees in the UK and overseas with a
safe and healthy working environment

and having an organisational culture which
promotes diversity, inclusivity, personal
development and respect. We know it's our
people who make M&S successful. We want
peaople to enjey coming to work and for the
workplace to be free from discrimination,
harassment and victimisation. In order to
achieve this we adhere to set policies and-
principles which ensure cutcomes of
responsible operations and supportive
environments for our colleagues.

© Read more about our respansibilities towards
our pepple at marksandspencer.com/plana

- Peaple principles

- Code of Ethics and Behaviours

- Responsible Marketing Principles
— Equal Opportunities Policy

— Inclusion strategy

= Inclusion networks

M&S has a long history of respecting human
rights in the UK and standing up for those
values internationally Qur commitment to
human rights is reinforced in cur Human
Rights Policy and Code of Ethics and
Behaviours and, for ail suppliers and
business partners, in our Clobal Sourcing

- Principles. We are alsc a signatory to the

principles of the United Nations Global
Compact. We strive to be a fair partner by’
paying a fair price to suppliers, supporting
local communities and ensuring good
working conditions for everyone working
in our business and supply chains. We are
committed to building our employee

and supptier knowledge and awareness

- on human rights, encouraging themto,

speak yup about any concerns without
fear of retribution, the outcames of which.
also enable us to comply with legislation
and meet the expectations of shareholders.
© Resd more on our commitment to human
rights at marksandspencer.com/plana
.= Human Rights Pclicy
~ MB&S Global Sourcing Principles
— Code of Practice cn Ethical Trading
- Chiid Labour Procedure
- MB&S grievance procedure for Food
and Clothing & Home supply chains
- Modern Slavery Statement

M&S is committed to the highest standards
of ethics, honesty and integrity. Qur
Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery Paticy
outlines the expected standards of conduct
that employees, contractors, suppliers,
business partners, and any other third parties
who act for and on behalf of M&S, are obliged
to follow. The policy also includes detailed
procedures around giving and receiving gifts,
hospitality and entertainment; procedures
for engaging new suppliers and partners, L
specifically those who are based in higher-risk
jurisdictions, and standard contract clauses;
and clear reporting channels, including
confidential reporting. For calleagues who
work in areas that may pose a higher risk,
we provide mandatory Anti-Bribery and
Anti-Corruption e-learning. The Comparny
will consider taking disciplinary action
against anyone who fails to comply with its
anti-bribery policy up to and including
disrnissal The outcomes of this are that any
potential incidents reported internally or
to the confidential whistleblowing hotline
are followed up and full investigations
launched where such actionis deemed
appropriste following preliminary enquiries.
Adlinvestigations are subseguently reported
to the Audit Committee.
° Read more on our commitment to anti-
corruption and anti-bribery at
marksandspencercom/plana

- Anti-Corruption and

Anti-Bribery Policy )
- Code of Ethics and Behaviours
- Whistleblowing FPolicy

M&S GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 2018/19 :

This table shows the Croup's greenhb_use gas ernissions against a 2006/07 baseline.

2018/19 2017/18 1006/07 % change

000 tonnes Q00 tonnes 000 tennes on 2006/07
Direct emissions (scope 1) 167 182 ¢ 246 - -32
Indirect emissions from energy (scope 2) 193 248 394 -51
Total gross/locatioh-based emissions -
(scope 1 and 2) 360 430 640 -d44
Carbon intensity measure . :
(per 1,000 sq ft of salesfloor) 19 23 40 -42
Green tariffs and ‘

- bio-methane procured 207 273 . a -
Remaining market-based emissions 158 157 640 75
Carbon offsats 158 157 o] -
Total net operational emissions 0 . [+] 640 -

Emissions are from operationally controlled activities in accordance with the WR/WBCSD CHG Reparting Prétocols
(Revised ediition) and 2015 Scope 2 Guidance using 2018 BEIS conversian factors. As these emissions account for

less than 10% of MBS's total carbon footprint we also engage with suppliers to address the most significant sources.
ME&S has an approved Science Based Target for reducing emissions. Full disclosure in accordance with Task Force on

Climate Disclosure quidance can be found at cdp.net.

REDUCTION IN EMISSIONS
(AGAINST 2006/07)

9%

NET EMISSIONS
AFTER OFFSETTING

Z.ero
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KEY PERFORMANCE
NDICATORS

- FINANCIAL

GROUP REVENUE

£10.4bn **

{1518 104 |
Denz 106
[yina 107]
[18719 10.4]

Group Revenue decreased, adversely irmpacted by store closures in
Clothing & Home, Easter tinning and Our investments in trusted value in
Food. Intemational revenue also declined largety due Lo the closure of
stores in exit markets and the sale of the Croup's business in Hong Kong.

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX (PBT)
& ADJUSTING ITEMS

£523.2m **

518 ' 684,

1677 638

[i77a sa09]
ens 523.2]

Profit before tax and adjusting items was down year-on-year
principally due to the reduction in UK gross profit, partially
offset by the decrease in operating cOsts in the year.

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

'RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE})

14.1%

150]

: sne
[16117 137]
[1718 140]
[18n19 14.1]

Theincrease in ROCE largely reflects the reductian in the
carrying value of property, plant and equment outweighing
the decrease in EBIT.

DIVIDEND PER SHARE'

' 25.41) -8.6%‘ -

[14/15 343|
[15/18 304]
[1e117 2738]

17,18 zs.él

Adjusted basic earnings per share decreased due to lower adjusted
profit year-on-year. The weighted average number of shares in
issue during the period was 1,624.1im (last year 1,624.0m).

‘13 9p -25.7%

[1éns 18.7]
[enz 18.7]
[7ns 18.7
e 13.9]

Announced final dividend of 7.1p per share, resultingina
total dividend of 139p. '

e Alternative performahce measures as outlined on page 1.

Bividend reset in February 2019, See page 26.

FREE CASH FLOW (PRE SHAREHOLDER RETURNS) o '

£584.1m =

pss 5393
[enz” 5a54)
(178 4175]

584.1]

1819

The business generated an increase in free cash fiow year-cn-year

" primarily as a result of working capital inflow, lower capital

expenditure and lower interest and taxation payments.
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FINANCIAL
ReVIEW

FULL YEAR REVIEW

UK OPERATING COSTS

52 weeks ended

52 weeks ended

30 Mar 19 31 Mar 18 Change 30 Mar 19 31 Mar 18 Change
£m Em % £m £m %
Croup revenue 10,377.3 10,698.2 -3.0  Store staffing 1,044.7 10706 -24
Food! 5.903.4 59400 -06  Qther store costs 950.4 5921 -4.2
Clothing & Home' 31,5373 36710 -36  Distribution & warehousing 564.6 5380 49
UK 9.440.7 9611.0 -18 Marketing 155.1 1516 23
Internationat 936.6 10872 -139 Central costs 694.8 5980 -08S
Group operating profit Total 3,409.6 3,450.3 -1.2
before adjusting items 501.0 6706 -104 UK operating costs decreased 1.2%. Store closures more than offset
UK 474.0 5354 15 the cost of new space and channel shift. Cost savings across the
International 127.0 135.2 -6.1 business outweighed inflation related increases.
Net finance costs (772.8) (89.7) 133 Store staffing costs reduced, as savings from store management
Protit before tax & restructuring, closures and other efficiencies more than offset pay
adjusting items 523.2 580.9 -99 inflation. Other store costs reduced driven by lower depreciation,
Adiasting items 438.6 <141 la7  duetoourclosure programme and asa number of assets have
}U'Stl g lte { ) ( ) reached the end of their useful life, which more than offset rent
Profit before tax 84.6 66.8 26.6

1. Prior year revenue has been restated for the reclassificalion of cards & gift wiap
from Clothing & Home to Food, For further detail please see Note 2 to the
financial staterments.

UK: FOOD

Food revenue decreased 0.6%, with like-for-like revenue down
2.3%, or 1.5% when adjusted for the timing of Easter Revenue
reflected the effects of price investment and a change in product
mix as we reduced promotions. Mowever, during the second half,
we saw an improving trend with volumes up 1.8% in the fourth
quarter, adjusted for Easter. We opened 48 new stores during

the year in line with our plan to focus new store expansion on
only the highest returning locations, although the contribution
from space diminished through the year as our full-line ctosure
programme progressed.

Gross margin was down 15bps year-on-year at 31.1% The benefit
of prornotional savings and our cost reduction prograrmmes
largely offset the effects of cost inflation and price investment.

UK: CLOTHING & HOME

and rates inflation in the year.

The growth in distribution and warehousing costs was largely
driven by inflation and the costs of channel shift, as well as costs
associated with the closure of an equipment warehouse, with some
offset achieved from improved efficiencies at Castle Donington.

The increase in marketing costs reflected investments in our
Food brand and the planned increase in costs in the second
half of the yvear due to the timing of campaigns.

Central costs reduced as lower incentive COsts year-on-year,

the benefits of technology transformation programmes and other
cost efficiencies more than offset system investment write offs
and expenditure on the Fuse programme.

ME&S BANK

UK Clothing & Home revenue declined 3.6%, partly driven

by our store closure programme, with LFL sales down 1.6%.
Discounted sales decreased, as a result of the planned reduction
in stock-into-sale. UK Clothing & Home ontine revenue grew 9.8%,
which was ahead of the clothing market, with strong growth in
womenswear, as we made improvements to our website and
delivery proposition and focused on key categories such as
dresses in our ‘Must Haves' campaign.

GCross margin increased 20bps to 57.1%. Buying margin was down
20bps as adverse currency headwinds more than offset sourcing
gains across the year. Discounting reduced by 40bps, largely as a
result of the 14% reduction in stock into sale.

M&S Bank income before adjusting items was down £127mito
£276m. This was predominantly the result of anincrease in bad
debt provisioning due to the impact of revised forward estimates
of economic indicators, including the impact of Brexit,and a
modest increase in underlying bad debt due to the risk of customer
default. Underlying credit income was slightly up, as a result

of rmore competitive pricing. M&S Bank income after adjusting
iterns increased £1.imto £67m,

STRATEGIC REPORT

COVERNANCE ‘

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

INTERNATIONAL PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND ADJUSTING ITEMS
52 weeks ended change  Profit before tax and adjusting iterns was £523.2m, down 9.9%
30Mar 13 31 Mar 18 Change  Change CCXexctl  on|ast year, The decrease was principally due to a 2.3% reductionin
Revenue o i X CCN Hong Kong UK gross profit, partially offset by the decrease in operating costs
Franchise 4091 3606 13.4%  13.3% 22%  inthe year.
Owned Retained' 527.5 660.2 -201%  -193% 0.3%
Total Retained 9166 10208 -82% -77% g ADJUSTMENTS TO PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Owned Exit! _ 66.4 _ — . The Group_makgs cterl(:jain_ adjul:tme?_ts to stfatutory profit
R " N measures, in order to derive alternative performance measures
Total : 9366 10872 13.9% -134% -61% 1.t provide stakeholders with additional helpful information on
Operating profit the performance of the business. Further maternial charges relating
before adjusting to our strategic programmes are anticipated as programmes
items progress. For further detail on these charges and the Croup's
Franchise 72.2 861 -161% policy for adjusting items please see Notes 1 and 5 to the
Owned Retained! 527 531 -08B% financial statements.
Total Retained 1249 1392 -103% 52 waeks ended
Owned Exit! 21 (40) 1525% 30 Marii': 3 Marz:: cnanigr:
Totak A 1270 .135.2 . -6..1% Strategic programmes
1. Hong Kong results reported in owned retained until the business was sold to our
franchise partner in December 2017, - UK store estate (222.1) (321.)) 990
Tetat International revenue decreased 13.4% at constant currency —Organisation (51.8) {30.7) {21.)
{CC’). Excluding the impact from exit markets and Hong Kong, - Operational transformation (16.4) - (16.4)
revenue at constant currency increased 1.1%. This was driven by T restruct 156 15 o
aur franchise operations where Food revenue increased by 8%, restr UC ure (15.6) (15.5) (0.0)
with notable growth in France, the Middle East and Singapore. - UK logistics (14.3) (31 (.2)
In Clothing & Home we implemented market right pricing across - Changes to pay and pensions (6.2) {129) 67
most markets and saw an improving trendin retail sales in Q4. — International store closures
Owned retained revenue reflects solid growthin India and and irnpairments {5.3) 50 ©.3)
Creece, which largely offsets ongoing difficult trading conditions UK store impairments and other
in the Republic of Iretand. property charges (62.1) (63.4) 1.3
International operating profit before adjusting items decreased MBS Bank charges incurred in
61% with total retained operating profit down 10.3%. This was relation to the insurance
largely driven by the sale of our business in Hong Keng and the mis-selling provision (20.9) (34.7) 128
implementation of market right pricing. The decline in franchise - m -
operating profit reflects the allocation of £8m of costs from owned MP and other pension 5 )
to franchise following the closure of owned markets and the sale equalisation (20.5) - (205)
of our business in Hong Kong, in addition to the implementation Establishing the Ocado JV (3.4) - (3.4)
of market right pricing. Owned retained profit increased, excluding  Other - (077) 177
the effects of the disposal of Hong Kong. The £2.1m profit in Adjusting ftems @38.6) (514.) 755

owned exit rmarkets largely reflects the recovery of an historicat
VAT receivable.

NET FINANCE COST

52 weeks ended

30 Mar 19 3) Mar 18 Change
£m £m £m

Interest payable (82.0) (95.4) 134
Interest income 76 6.0 16
Net interest payable {74.4) (89.4) 15.0
Pensicn net finance income 258 V77 81
Unwind of discount on Scottish
Lirmited Partnership liability (8.8) (109) 21
Unwind of discount on
provisions (17.3) (5.2) (12.1)
Ineffectiveness on financial
instruments {3.1) (19) (1.2)
Net finance cost (772.8) (89.7) 19

Net finance cost decreased by £11.9m to £77.8m, primarily due to a
decrease ininterest payable as a result of the repayment of the
US$500m bond which matured in December 2017. Pension net
finance income increased by £8.im driven by a higher UX defined
benefit pension scheme surplus at the start of the year compared
to the start of the prior year. The unwind of discount on provisions
reflects our UK store estate programme and our centrat London
office reorganisation.

We have recognised a number of charges in the period relating to
the implementation of our strategic programmes including:

= A charge of £2221min relation to our accelerated and expanded
store closure prograrnme, which has been expanded to include
a number of Food steres. This charge includes accelerated
depreciation, impairment of assets, estimated cnerous leases
and other closure costs. Further material charges retating to the
closure and re-configuration of the UK store estate are
anticipated as the programme progresses, the guantum of which
is subject to change through-out the programme pericd as
decisions are taken in retation to the size of the store estate and
the specific stores affected. Based on current plans, further
charges before the adoption of IFRS 16 are expected to be
incurred predominantly in the next two years and are anticipated
to be ¢.£100m, bringing total programme costs to ¢ £680m;

= A charge of £51.8m largely in relation to costs associated with
centralising and rationalising our London office functions as
well as redundancy costs related to the review of the retail
organisational structure;

- A charge of £16.4m in relation to the transformation and
simpilification of our supply chain and operations across
Clothing & Home and Food. This inctudes initiatives to
reengineer the end to end supply chain, remove costs and
complexity and working capital;

- A charge of £15.6m in relation to our technology transformation
programme which we began in the prior year, and
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-» A net charge of £14.3m as we continue to transition to a single
tier Clothing & Home LK distribution network, including the
closure of two of our distribution centres.

In 2016/17 we announced our intention to ctose owned stores

in ten international markets. A net charge of £5.3mhas been
recognised in the period reflecting the actualisation of previously
estimated closure costs,

In response to the ongoing pressures impacting the retailindustry,
as well as reflecting our strategic focus towards growing online
market share, we have revised future projections for certain UK
stores. As a result, UK store impairment testing has identified stores
where the current and anticipated future performance does nat
support the carrying vatue of the stores. A charge of £52.8m has
been incurred primarily in respect of the impairment of assets
associated with these stores. The charge has been classified as

an adjusting itermn on the basis of the significant value of the charge
in the year to the results of the Group. Additional detailis in note 15
and 22 to the financial statements.

We continue to incur charges in relation to M&S Bank insurance
mis-selling provision resulting in 2 charge of £209m during the
year, The deadline for any claims to be brought by customers
expires on 29 August 2019 The estimated liability continues to be
reviewed in 2019/20 to ensure it reflects the best estimate of likely
settlement, which could lead to further charges of releases.

We have recognised a non-cash charge of £20.5m in respect of the
Croup's defined benefit pension liability arising from equalisation
of guaranteed rminimurm pensions (GMPT) and other pension
egualisation costs following a High Court ruling in October 2018,
Additional detail on the Group’s GMP assessment is detailed in
Note 11 to the financial statements.

In February 2019 we announced the creation of a new 50/60
Joint Venture with Ocado, the UK's leading pure play digitat
grocer. Transaction costs of £3.4m were incurred in the year.

TaxXATION

The effective tax rate on profit before tax and adjusting iterns was
20.3% (last year 21.6%). This is higher than the UK statutory rate
Predorminantly due to the recapture of previous tax relief under the
Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership {"SLP") structure,
partially offset by the recognition of deferred tax assets in our India
entity, following its return to profitability. The effective tax rate on
statutory profit before tax was 559% (last year 56.4%) due to the
impact of disallowable adjusting iterns.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share increased 31.3% to 21p, primarily due
to the impact fromn the lower adjusting items year on year. The
weighted average number af shares inissue during the period
was 16241m (last year 1,624.0m).

Adjusted basic earnings per share decreased by 86% to 254p due
to lower adjusted profit year-on-year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

52 weeks ended

30 Mar 19 N Mar 18 Change
£m £m Em
UK store environment 26.0 266 (06)
New UK stores 40.1 72 (320)
International 1.0 11.6 (06)
Supply chain 48.7 238 249
iT & M&S com 88.2 919 (37)
Property maintenance 69.0 729 (39)
Capital expenditure
before dispasals 283.0 298.9 {15.9}
Proceeds from property disposals {48.1) (3.2) (449
Net capital expenditure 2349 295.7 (60.8)
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Group capital expenditure remains tightly controlled resulting
in a 5.3% reduction year-on-year, before disposal proceeds.

UK store environment spend was slightly down reflecting
investment in store layout in the prior year, partially offset by
investrment in improved visual merchandising and click and collect
facilities in a number of stores. Spend on UK store space was lower
as we opened 15 fewer owned Food and full-line stores than the
prior year. International expenditure remains focused on the store
opening and modernisation programme.

Supply chain expenditure increased due to our investment in the
Welham Creen distribution centre as we moved towards a single
tier network for Clothing & Home, and in improvements to our
capabilities in Castle Donington. Spend in IT and M&S.com was
driven by the migration from our mainfrarne system, investment
in the Wetharm Green distribution centre and website
enhancerments to optimise user experience. Spend was slightly
lower than last year due to the on-going move towards

more cloud-based solutions and following the Technology
transformation programme. Property maintenance spend largely
relates to investment in our stores as well as investrent in energy
efficiency projects and reconfiguring our ¢entral London office
building to rationalise the use of office space.

Proceeds from property disposals relate to the closure of six stores
and the sale and leaseback of eight Food stores.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Net assets were £2,6809m at the year end, a decrease of 93% on
last year.

CASHFLOW & NET DEBT

52 weeks ended

STRATECIC REPORT

30 Mar 19 a1 Mar 18 Change
£m Em £m

Adjusted operating profit 601.0 670.6 {69.6)
Depreciation and amortisation
pefore adjusting items 544.9 5806 (35.7)
Working capital 59.1 (96.8) 1558
Defined benefit scheme
pension funding (27.9) (41.4) 35
Capex and disposals (264.8) (346.0) B1.2
Interest and taxation (184.7} (200.5) 15.8
Investrnent in Joint Venture (2.5} - (2.5)
Non-cash share based
payment charges 19.2 189 0.3
Share transactions {4.9) (3.0) (1.9)
Free cash flow before
adjusting items 729.4 582.4 147.0
Adjusting items cash outflow {145.3) (1649) 196
Free cash flow 584.1 4175 166.6
Ordinary dividends paid {303.5} (303.4 Q1)
Free cash flow after
shareholder returns 280.6 14 166.5
Opening net debt (1,827.5) (1,934.7) 107.2
Exchange and other ‘
non-cash movernents 1.8 (6.9) 8.7
Closing net debt (1,545.1) (1,827.5) 2824

The business generated free cash flow before adjusting items of
£729.4rm, up £147.0rm on last year primarily as a result of working
capital inflow, lower capital expenditure and lower interest and
taxation payments. The working capital inflow was driven by the
planned reductions in Clothing & Home inventory levels and the
timing of creditors at year end.

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Lower interest and taxation payments reflect both the repayment
of abond in December 2017 and lower taxable profit in the
prior year.

Defined benefit scheme pension funding in the year of £379m
largely reflects the second limited partnership interest distribution
to the pension s¢heme in the year.

Adjusting items in cash flow during the year were £145.3m,.

These included £27.3m in relation to our store closure programme,
£249m inrelation to organisational change, £209m for M&S Bank,
£127m retating to the closure of stores in International markets and
£11.1rmin relation 1o our technology transformation programme,
Total adjusting items in cash flow are anticipated to be a similar
amount in 2019/20, prior to the implementation of IFRS 16,

After the payment of our final dividend from FY 17/18 and interim
dividend from H118/19, net debt was down £282.4m on last year.

DIVIDEND

On February 27th we announced the Board's decision to reset our
dividend per share by 40% to a sustainable level, which we aim to
grow in line with earnings over time. We are declaring a final
dividend of 71p (full year dividend 13.9p). This will be paid on 12 July
2019 to sharehotders on the register of members as at close of
business on 31 May 2019, subject to approval of shareholders

at the Annual General Meeting, to be held on 09 July 2019. The
2018/19 final dividend per share and prior dividends per share will
be restated in future accounts to reflect the bonys factor
adjustment resulting from the Rights Issue in due course. The
bonus factor adjustment arises due to the Rights Issue involving an
element of bonus shares because the Rights Issue price is below
the Closing Price of 271.2 pence per share.

PENSION

Asindicated at our Interim Results, M&S plc (the Company) reached
an agreement with the Trustee of its UK Defined Benefit Pension
Scheme with regards to the triennial actuariat valuation as at

31 March 2018. This resulted in a statutory surplus of FB52m and is
animprovement on the previous position at 31 March 2015
(statutory surplus of £204m), primarily due to lower assumed life
expectancy. The Company and Trustee have confirmed, in line with
the current funding arrangement, that no further contributions
will be required to fund past service as a result of this valuation
{other than those already contractually committed under the
existing Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership
arrangements and which are included in the catculation of the
statutory surplus — see Note 12).

At 30 March 2019, the |AS 18 net retirernent benefit surplus was
£914.3m (tast full year £948.2m). The IAS 19 surplus includes the
first partnership interest in the scheme assets, valued at £278.5m
(Note 12). The decrease in the surplus is largely due to a decrease
in the discount rate partially offset by a change in mortality
assumptions and by the return on scheme assets,.

In April 2019, following the year-end, the UK Defined Benefit
pension scheme purchased additional pensioner buy-in policies
with two insurers for approximately £1.4bn. Together with the two
policies purchased in March 2018, the Defined Benefit pension
scheme has now, in total, hedged its longevity exposure for around
two thirds of the pensioner cash flow liabilities for pensions in
payment. The buy-in policies cover specific pensioner liabilities
and pass all risks to an insurer in exchange for a fixed premium
payrenit, thus reducing the Company's exposure to changes in
longevity, interest rates, inflation and other factors.

IFRS 16

IFRS 16 'Leases'is effective for periods beginning on or after

1 January 2019. The Group will adopt the new financial reporting
standard from 31 March 2019. The financial staternents for the
52 weeks ending 28 March 2020 will be the First prepared

under IFRS 16. The Group has decided to adept using the fully

retrospective transition approach meaning the comparative
period willalso be restated at this time.

There will be a significant impact on the balance sheet as at

31 March 2019, 1t is expected on a pre-tax basis that a right of use
asset of approximately £1.7bn and lease liability of approximately
£26bn will be recognised, along with the derecognition of onerous
lease provisions of approximately £0.2bn and other working capital
batances (including lease incentives) of approximately £0.4bn,
which results in an overall adjustment to retained earnings of
approximately £0.3bn.

Operating profit and EBIT before adjusting iterns increase due to
the depreciation expense being lower than the lease expense it
replaces. The overallimpact on profit before tax and agjusting
iterns depends on the maturity of the lease,

Rounded to the nearest £10m, it is estirmated that for the 52 weeks
ended 30 March 2019

-» Profit before tax when applying IFRS 16 is ¢ £10m higher than
that reported in these financial statements under current
accounting standards, including IAS 17 Leases;

- Profit before tax excluding adjusting items is ¢.£ 10m lower; and,
- Cperating profit before tax and adjusting items is ¢ £130m higher.

The application of IFRS 16 requires a reclassification of cash flow
from operations to net cash used in financing activities, however,
the impact to the Group is cash flow neutral.

For further detail on IFRS 16 please see Note 1 to the
financial statements.

BREXIT

The continued delay in agreeing the nature and timing of the
UK's exit from the European Union creates uncertainty that could
impact the performance of our business. Whilst an orderly exit
would allow business planning to more effectively address the
consequences of change against a defined timeframe, a no deat
outcome would have a more immediate and negative impact.
Either outcome is expected to place increased pressure on how
our business performs.

The potential impacts include:
- A continued deterioration in customer sentiment

- Operational complexity and costs due to restrictions on
the movement of goods and stricter border controls

- Costs passed through from our suppliers

- Continuity of supply and supplier viability

- The impact of impart and export duties

-3 Volatility in currency and corporate bond rates
-3 Tightening of the labour market

- Additional regulatory responsibilities and costs

- Increased complexity and cost in our international operations,
including our franchise partners.

The Board continues to monitor the ongeing negotiations
between the UK and the EU to assess the potentialimpact and
any transitional arrangements that may be agreed.

The Strateqic Report, including pages 27-33, was approved by a
duly authorised Committee of the Board of Directors on 21 May
2018, and signed onits behalf by

HUMPHREY SINGER CMIEF FINANCE OFFICER
21 May 2019
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RISK MANAGEMENT |

The risks and uncertainties
that we face as a

business evolve. M&S
recognises that effective
risk management is an
essential tool to support
the achievement of

our strategic and
operational objectives.

APPRDACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT

Qur approach to risk managerment

is simple and practical The Audit
Cemmittee, under delegated authority
from the Board, is accountable for
overseeing the effectiveness of our

risk managerment process, including

the identification of principal risks facing
M&S. An overview of the process and the
principal risks and uncertainties is
summarised on the following pages.

Our risk management process fully
reflects the M&S operating model with
each business and functional area being

" responsible for the angoing identification,
assessment and management of their rigks.

This includes:

- Risks cansistently identified, measured
and reported against a set criteria
considering the likelhcod of occurrence
and potentialimpact to the Group.

- Risk added to the agenda for the
business boards established during the
year. This creates a forum to align risk
activities with tusiness performance and
enables senior oversight and chalienge.

- Periodic Audit Committee updates on
risk by business teadership teams.

- Aformal half-yearly review of all risk
registers with the Croup Risk Team.

This is.overlaid with a Group-wide
review of risk to combine top-down and
bottom-up perspectives and create a
consolidated view in the Group Risk Profile,
In compiling the Croup Risk Profile, ar
assessment is made of changes in the
external environment, our strategy

and transformation programme,

core operations and our engagement
with external parties. This also includes
consideration of emerging risks. .

The output from the above process is
subject to periodic review and challenge
with the executive directors, Following
which, the resulting principat risks are
agreed by the Audit Comrittee ahead
of final review and approval by the Board.

The directors’ assessment of the long-term
viability of the Company is also reviewed
annually, mindful of the principal risks
faced. M&S's spproach to assessing
long-term viability can be found on

the following page.

OUR APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT

CURRENT ISSUES & AREAS OF CHANGE
- Manitoring of emerging areas of change or issues that may becorme
significant at a Group level -

BUSINESS & FUNCTIONAL RISK REGISTERS
- Development and ongaing maintenance of risk registers by the business and
Functional leadership teams '
~ Review and challenge of risk cantent and quality of mitigation plans by Group Risk
= Review and challenge of risks at business boards

GROUP RISK PROFILE
—Consolidation of significant risks from underlying risk registers
- Review and agreement of the Group Risk Profile by
the executive directors
- Review and approval by the Audit Committee

PRINCIPAL RISKS
- Asumrrarised version of the Group Risk Profile
- Review and dpproval by the Board
and Audit Committee

Parties involved in the process:

A
- Audit Cormnmittee r
-» Business and functions ’
-> Group Risk team
- Business boards Az
= Operating Committee members g m
=3 Business and functions 2 %
-3 Group Risk team z £
- Audit Committee
- Executive Directors
-3 Group Risk tearn .

’ N
- M8S Board - =
-5 Audit Committee 2
~» Executive Directors g §
- Croup Risk team v B z
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RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

We believe that the quality of risk
management impraves as business
accountability and embedding increases,
with review and challenge at senior levets
of M&S. To drive this, we have focused on
the following activities over the past year:

-» Realigned our risk reporting process with the changes in our operating model.

- Reinforced accountability and ownership for risk management across the

underlying business teadership teams.

- Completed a full review of all risk registers to confirm relevance and linkage
of risk to the transformational changes under way.

- Improved visibility of risk at business boar

to allow enhanced challenge.

ds and at the Audit Committee

OUR APPROACH TO ASSESSING LONG-TERM VIABILITY

The UK Corporate Covernance Code
requires us to issue a "viability statement”
declaring whetiher we believe the
Cornpany can continue to operate and
meet its liabilities, taking into account

its current position and principal risks.
The overriding aim is to encourage
directors to focus on the longer term
and be mare actively involved in risk
management and internal contrals.

The Board is required to assess the
Company’s viability over a period greater
than 12 months. The increased levels of
uncertainty within the global economic
and political environment and the
macro-economic chatlenges being
experienced within the retail sector
rmean the Board centinues to believe a
three-year period is appropriate

for business planning, measuring
performance and remunerating at a
senior level Our assessment of viability
therefore continues to align with this
three-year outlook.

The process adopted to assess the
viability of the Company involves
collaborative input from a nurnber of
functions across the business to model
severe but plausible scenarios in which
a number of the Croup's principal risks
and uncertainties materialise within

the period of the three-year plan.

We have modelled scenarios focused
on both external factors, such as Brexit
and lower than expected market growth,
and internal factors, such as strategic -
programmes delivering lower than
expected benefits. None of these
scenarios individually threatens the
viability of the Company, therefare the
compound impact of these scenarios
was reviewed against the current

and projected liquidity position to
conclude on the Company’s viability.
The assessment also took account of
additional potential mitigations available
in the event of further downside
factors, including a recuction in capital
expenditure and reduced returns to
shareholders. The Audit Committee
reviews the output of the viability
assessment in advance of final
evaluation by the Board.

In assessing viability, the Board
considered a number of key factors,

including our business model (see page 6),

our strategy (see pages 4-5), approach to
risk management (see page 27} and

our principal risks and uncertainties

(see pages 29-33). These have been
reviewed in the context of our financial
plans, specifically the annual budget and
three-year plan, the rights issue and the
proposed creation of a new 50/60 joint
venture with Ocado. The directors also
satisfied themselves that they have

the evidence necessary to support the
statement in terms of the effectiveness
of the internal control environment in
place to mitigate risk.

In making the statement, the directors
have applied the following assumptions
in preparing the scenarios:

- Bonds maturing during the assessmaeant
period will be repaid through our
existing bank facilities.

-» The actions included inour plan to
improve sales performance are not
fully realised or are offset by lower
than expected market growth.

-» The actions included in our plans to
mitigate expected input cost increases
are not delivered in full or the input cost
increases are grester than expected.

- The expected benefits from the
proposed creation of a new 50/50
joint venture with Ocado Group plc
are not delivered in full

- The UK's exit from the European Unian

will have adverse financial impacts,
including input cost inftation from
increased tariffs and a weakening in
sterling, as well as reduced UK
consurner spending.

The Board's assessment is that M&S is a
viable business. The Viability Statement
can be found on page 75.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The details of our principat risks and
uncertainties and the key mitigating
activities can be found below and on

continues and we undergo significant
changes to our business, our principal risks

and uncertainties also evolve to reflect this.

associated with our intention to enter
into the recently announced joint venture
with Ocado.

the following pages. We disctose those
risks that could have the greatest impact
onour business at this moment in time.
This risk profile has aiso been reviewed at
recent Board and Audit Cormnmittee
meetings. As our transformational journey

As such, we have included four new risks
relevant to our business. These include
the implications of the UK's decision to
leave the European Union and the risks

in addition to the risks that we have
disclosed below, we actively monitor and
manage a wide range of other risks that
ME&S is exposed to.

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES

STRATEGIC REPORT

RISK DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT MITICATING ACTIVITIES
BREXIT - Across-business working party is in place to undertake scenano

1 . . planning including financiat ang operationat impact assessments and
An inability to quickly identify and effectively respond to the challenges

of a post-Brexit environment could have a significant impact on
performance across our business.

The continued delay in agreeing the nature and timing of the UK's exit from
the European Union (EU) creates uncertainty that will impact the performance
of our business. While an orderly exit would altow business planning to more
effectively address the consequences of change against 2 defined timeframe,
a ne deal outcome would have a more immediate and negative impact,

Either outcome is expected to place increased pressure on how our
business performs.

The potential impact includes:

- A continued detenoration in customer sentiment.

- Operational complexity and cost due to restrictions on the movement

of goods and stricter border controls.
- Costs passed through from our suppliers.
- Continuity of supply and supplier viability.
- Impaort and export duties.
- Volatility in currency and corporate bond rates.
- Tightening of the labour market.
- Additional regulatory responsibilities and costs.

- Increased complexity and cost in our international operations,
including our franchise activities.

to consider and drive "day 1” requirements.

An Operational Brexit Team has been established.

Updates are provided to the Board and Audit Committee outlining
risks and octions being undertaken.

We are engaged with the government and industry bodies to
represent M&S's views, including the UK Border Development Group
with access to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs (Defra),

HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) and the Food Standards Agency
{F5A) to support operational planning.

Specific mitigation plans have been developed and are being refined
for our core businesses. For example:

In Food, plans are in place to build additional stock cover in
ambient and frozen in anticipation of a projected period of
disruption,

We have secured additional ambient warehouse capacity to hold
product, extended our warehouse management systems and put
plans in place with our fresh suppliers to build raw material stocks
n key areas. We have also mapped the processes to import goods
from the EU, including certification and import natification, and
continue to mainkain regular dialogue with our Top 30 food
suppliers to track readiness.

While most Clothing & Home product is sourced from outside

the EY, we have engaged with suppliers to ensure trade flows are
maintained and are modelling the impact of changes to tariffs and
border processes. We have also accelerated delivery of certain
stack lines from key cauntries.

For international, we have developed plans to minimise operational
and supply chain disruption tc serve overseas operations. This
includes buitding additional food stock cover in EU markets and
setting up an ambient warehouse outside Paris. We have moditied
aspects of oyr supaly chain for éxpaorting fram UK warehouses and
to prepare for potential new customs requirernents. We have also
worked with our franchise partners and owned businesses to set

up new import systems and evaluated options to maintain the

flow of products across our operations in Ireland.

Risk key o New 0 Increasing ° Nomovemen; @ Link to strategy

|
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

RISK

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

IMPROVING TRADING PERFORMANCE

A failure of our Food andfor Clothing & Home business to n:nnc:-:.
and rapidly respond tu the prassures of an increasingly competitive and

Targeted recrutment to strengthen the capabilities of cur senior
Leactership teams in both Food ano Clothing & Home has continued
during the year.

changing ratail environment would adversaty impact business parf,

The retallindustry is highly compaetitive, both on the high street and anline.

MBS competes with 8 diverse range of retaters in both Food and Clothing

& Home These operate different madels and formats through a vanery of
physial, digital ang integrated dstrution channels and offer a range of
drshinct product propasitons, from the premium Lo the value end of the market,
inthe various markets in which we cperate.

Continued cost and pricing pressures, the migration of customer activity online
and the cordumer impacs of the UK's departure fromn the European Union,

as welt as broader macreecanomic conditions, are all contributing to the
challenge that is Faced.

Afailure Lo successfulty reshape the Clothing & Home andyor the Food
business woult have an 3dva-sa eifact onbutiness results

of arevi perating madel 1o create a family of
accountable businesses who share M&S brand values, colleagues,
technotogy and customer data,

Managing Directars for each of these businesses who have

Full aecountabihty For their divigions including for marketng,

supply chain, finanee and technology.

Establishment 0f business boarnds to enabie executiva oversight

and elfective governange of cach businass,

Development of snd delivery against. F_m_:umu.munu_,n
transfonmation plans i Y arourd prices,
avalabiity, value. ranges and uaa.o..oa across both businesses.

Continued progress against cur stated target Lo diliver 0% of
Clothing & Hame sales oning by 2023 induding a pregramme

af invastment in technology and miarketing Lo suppart an improved
anting proposition,

Announcement of the joint venture with Ocado for Fopd onling,
Ongoing implementation of a cost reduction ptan.

OF | QoL

BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION

A Failure to execute our business transformation activi
ond agility could impede our ability to improve aperational eMiciency
and compatitivoness.

The businessis undertaking a number of projetts connectedtathe fre-year
transformarion progeammae, The tust phase of the programime is enabling the
srug ture ta be fit for the future Key activities include
falthough are rot limited tok

- Reshaping, modernising and managing the UK store astate (at & lime when
external factors such as falling proper ty vatues and other retallers also
exiting space greate further complexity)

- Modernising our supply €hain and Logistics activities toimprave speed,
eperational effectiveness and reduce costs.

Delivering our Digital First ambitions to improve custemer expenience,
reduce ¢osts and work smarter acmass the business (discussed further in the
Technotogy Capability and Tatent, Culture and Capablity risks below)

Undlerbyuig ichivities are significant inbhail ownrnght bul the fovel of
interaependency and volums of change creats additional delivery risk

Any n_ﬂs‘m_: delivery of the transformation _u.m: u;xm.v.noﬁnn:m:. coyld
impact the planned improvemnents in b performance.

1

Established programime governance Lo Lrack progress against the
overall iransformation plan, respurcing and capability, and to manitor
criticalinterdependancies.

Hiy 13 of cross-functionat
m:u collaboration in s

Periodic independent audit reviews of key programme delivery.

ir wnent of retail i ¥ through the
appointrnent tofa single Managing O_an.aa

Continued operation of the UK Retaill & Property Board and

Store Rengwal Steerting Group to oversee planned changes o

our store astate.

10 ensure CONSIStancy
ing and achieving objectives.

The appaintment of a single service provider to suppart the efficient
and eHectove delivery of all store maintanance activities.

Ongoing delivery of “Fuse”, locking at how wa plan, buy and manage
stock end to end acress both Clothing & Home and Food businesses.

Targeted operationat improverments at Castle Denington raimprove
our M&S com fulfiiment copacity.

Establishment of a simpler, single-tier Clothing 8 Home logistics.
natwark toreduce costs and working capital and improve speed.

Rallewut of new warehouse management saftware,

) - NN

FOOD ONLINE JOINT VENTURE

A tailure ro effectively pian for and execute the golive of the proposed
Joint venture with Ocado on time wrild hamper achievernent of our food
anlina sbjectivas.

The nture ul Ocado Croup _u.hs._:ma&d_hcmnn

Identification of M&S-nommnated directors to form part of the
Ocadecom Board

Co-appointment of an appropriate management team to
lead Ocadocom

Estadlishment of a dedicated MAS programine team with sericr

tae ourfood antine ing , scalable and sust: ...3. usa
fuilly ati ship wil kary skills is
schedfuled far b:c::: 2019, with ‘Sur commitment to provide Zwm product
fanges ang prrient Capabilites to the venture
from Septerber 2020ar the latest Delivery of this commitrent is overlaid
wilh the challenge of ppplying and rranaging existing reseurces effechively
across our full transformation programma, including the joint venturs, 56 that
allnecessary steps are in place Lo achiave timety completion and successful
commancement of aperations.

Activities to be complated nclude:

Satistaction of all contractual CompIEtion condiions,

- Successful separation of the joint venture operations and establishment
of assaciated services arrangements,

~ Creation of an affective oversight and governance framework,

+

Mobilisation of resources.

- Development of appropriate MAS range andinterfaces to ensure that
MAS products are ready to go ive in Septermber 2020

MA o b0 support the Geadacom set-up and ensure that
MBSinterfaces and processes are developed to support the M&S
products going Lve online, includes providng angaing SuBport
of sourcang and tranding actimiies to the joint venture.

Jonnt working group in place with Ocado Crouwp Pic to estaplish the
systems, processes and ways of sni:n o coordinate sourcing,
product development, product ranging, customer data and
marketing.

Risk key

e MEw e Increasing o o movement @ Link to strategy
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

RISK

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

FOOD SAFETY & INTEGRITY

Failure to prevent or effectively respond to a food safety incident, or to
maintain the integrity of our products, could imp performance,
customer confidence and our brand.

~ Food safety and integrity remain vital for our business. We need to manage
the potential risks to customer health and consumer confidence that face all
food retailers, while also considering how external pressures on the food
industry and wider ecenormic or environmental changes could impact the
inteqrity of our food, our reputation and shareholder value.

~ Many of these external pressures, including inflationary costs, labour quatity
and availability, increased regulatory scrutiny and the unknown impact of
Brexit, are outside our contral but are nevertheless being monitored.,

Clearly defined requirement s through Terms of Trade, Codes of
Practice, Standard Qperating Procedures and Specifications
“from farm to fork’, including in-store processes.

Maintenance of a qualified and capable technical teamn, Professional
status is maintained through training and an independently validated
Continuing Professional Devetopment Programme.

Clear accountabilities for policy and standard development at
technical leadership level coupted with individual accountability
for preduct safety at technoiogist level

{.ong-established store, supplier and depot auditing programmes are
in place, including unannounced visits and raw material testing.

Quarterly review of our control framework by the technical leadership
through established governance procedures and the Customer
Brand Protection Committee.

Established processes for the development and legal sign-off for
product packaging.

Clear and tested crisis management plan to respond to future
incidents.

Membership of the Food Industry Intelligence Forumn at both Board
and Operating Committee level

Periodic Internal Audit reviews to consider process design and
operaling elfectiveness

STRATECIC REPQRT

o0

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE & RESPONSIBILITY

Failure to detiver against our legal, regulatory or social commitments
undermines our reputation as a responsible retailer, may result in legal

exposure or regulatory sanctions, and could negatively impact our ability
to operate and/ar remain relevant to our customers.

- Responsible corporate behaviour is a basic requirement of all businesses

and
the expectations of our customers and stakeholders (ncluding regulators)
are increasingly demanding

- The increasingly broad and stringent legal and regulatory framework for
retailers creates pressure on both business performance and market
sentiment requinng continual improvements in how we operate as a
business to maintain compliance.

- Non-compliance may result in fines, criminal prosecution for M&S or
colleagues, likigation, additional irvestment to rectify breaches, disruption
or cessation of business activity, s well as have an irpact on our reputation
and financial results.

Similarly, speed is vital to respond to heightened customer expectations,
such as the environmental impact of food packaging. Public sentiment
towards any business can change rapidly, especialty in the age aof social
media, if expected standards are not met.

White our business operates appropriate contiols, we recognise that
potential non-comptliance remains a risk and that there can be no room
for complacency.

Clear policies and procedures in place, including on human rights,
madearn slavery, globat sourcing, data protection, anti-brribery and
corruption, health & safety, food safety, cyber and data security.

Immediate response to new requirements, such as for minimurn
alcehol pricing in Scolland, implemented during Lhe st financial
year.

Mandatery induction briefings and annuat training for relevant
colleagues on key regulations.

- Oversight from committees and steering groups where necessary,

including on data protection, fire health & safety, food safety and
human rights.

In-house regutatory legal tearn, including specialist solicitors,
with external expertise available as needed.

Dedgicated non-legat regulatory specialists and adwisers in place
across the business responsible for driving compliance.

Ongoing engagement with regulators, legislators, trade bodies
and policy makers.

Published, monitored and reported cormmitments in relation to
environmental and social issues.

Established auditing and monitoring systers in place.
Customer contact centre insight and analysis of Live socal
media issues.

Continuaus improvement initiatives such as in-store trial of
plastic-free Fruit and vegetable lines or launch of an initiative
where customers can drop non-recyctable plastic at our stores,
to be re-used in making equipment for use in stores ang schools.

@@~
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TECHNOLOGY CAPABILITY

Failure to rapidly improve our technotogy capabilities, reduce dependency
on legacy systems and enhance digital capability could limit our ability to
keep pace with customer expectations and competitors, enable business
transformation and grow profitabty.

- The digital world continues to evolve at an unprecedented rate, enabling
competitive advantage, influencing consumer behaviours or expectations
andincreasing demands on IT infrastructure.

- We have clearly communicated our aim ta be Digital First, and recognise the
need to invest to achieve this.

- Inaddition, sur existing |T infrastructure needs to be more flexible to lower
costs, leverage development opportunities and enable us 1o move with pace
to meet customer and colleague needs,

- Aswell as technology, we need to continue to develop the skills and
capabilities of our people. This will be critical to providing a top-quartite,
searnless customer experience.

¥

El

Atechnology transformation programme is ongoing, supported by
project governance prinCiples, to enable the Digital First ambitions
and to deliver improved customer experience.

An established Technology Operating Model to drive clear
accountabilities and efficiencies, including the adoption of industry
standard agite methods.

Appointment of a leading technology company as our principal
partner, coupled with consolidation of the technology supplier base.

Simplification of IT infrastructure through clearly defined technology
roadmaps for all business areas, including the migration from an
ageing mainframe gnvironment and improverments to our website,
such as the completed re-platform of our web sales site to the cloud.

Improverments to our in-store technology.

Development of strategic partnerships, such as with Microsoft
and Founders Factory.

Establishment of Decoded - an externally developed and delivered
training and qualification programme toimprove digitat people skitls

Cross-channel technology investment strategy in place and aligned
1o the family of businesses to mutually agreed priorities.

Quarterly reviews to track benefits realisation,

|
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

RISK

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

INFORMATION SECURITY

Failure to adequately prevent or respond to a data breach or cyber-attack
could adversely impact our reputation, result in significant fines, business
disruption, loss of stakeholder confidence, andfor loss of infarmation for
our customers, employees or business,

- The increasing sophistication and frequency of cyber-attacks, coupled with
the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), highlight the escalating
information security risk facing all businesses. Qur reliance on a nurmber
of third parlies Lo host and hold data also incans the risk profite of our
information security is changeable.

- This risk is mare proncunced due to the pace at which our business is
changing and the volume of activities under way, both of which add to the
complexity of maintaining a secure environment.

- We recognise the imgortance of challenging our existing capabilities,
supporting the education of our teams and maintaining vigilance across
the business. This holistic approach is needed to reduce the likelihood of
attack or breachin an environment that is undergoing significant change
and facing an external threat that is changing at pace.

- A Data Governance function, overseen by the Data Governance
Steering Croup.

- Mandatory data protection training for colleagues, including
responsibiiities for the use of personal data in complance with GDPR.

- Control of sensitive data through limited and monitored access
and the roli-out of systems with enhanced security.

- Dedicated Cyber Security funstion, comprising a rrutti-disciplinary
team of cyber secunty specialists, with 24/7 menitonng and
defence tools.

- Established security controls, including policies and procedures and
adoption of security technologies. subject to periodic independent
testing and improvement. -

- Completion of a comprehensive maturity review by an independent
consultancy during the last financial year covering network security,
identity and access management, security soft ware development,
and project and programme assurance.

- Third-party cyber maturity assessments performed and pericdicalty
refreshed. Targeted reviews of third-party control compliance.

- Ongoing monitering of developments in cyber security threats,
engaging with third-party specialists as appropriate.

~ Periodic penetration testing by Internal Audit.

- Corporate Security team with ongoing focus onimproving the
physical security environment.

- JNe

BUSINESS CONTINUITY & RESILIENCE

Failures or resilience issues at key business locations coutd resutt in
major business interruption. In particular, a major incident at our Castle
Donington e-commerce distribution centre may have a significant
impact on our ability to fulfii online orders.

- The effeckive operation of the Castle Doninglon distsibution centre is vital
as it is the sole fulfilment centre for our ontine Clothing & Home business,
A major incident teading to a sustained period offline, while unlikely, would
not only impact current sales but potentially also hinder the growth of the
M&S.com business and achievernent of the one-third online target.

- Operaticnal risks also exist in other parts of the business, such as the high
volumes of goods sourced from Bangladesh, and at the dedicated
warehouses that store beers, wines & spirits and frozen goods inthe UK.

- Our ability to develop effective continuity plans, build resilience in our
networks and capabilities to manage associated risks remains an area of
focus.

- Adedicated Busingss Continuity tearm.

- A Grouyp Crisis Management team is in place and subject to
periodic testing.

- Business continuity plans for key areas of the business and critical
points of failure, incluging offices, depots and (T sites, are developed
andtested.

- Group Incident Reporting & Management Procedures in place and
used to escalate incidents on site. These also include critical third
parties.

-~ Insurance cover to mitigate the impact of remediation and
business interruplion.

- Participation in the Retail Business Continuity Association,
which provides insighk across the sector.

- Regular participation at government-led exercises at key locations.
- Membership of the Naticnal Counter Terrorismn Information exchange.

- Mechanisms fur checking that suppliers have appropriate business
continuity plans in place.

- Ongoing contingency planning for Brexit.

THIRD-PARTY MANAGEMENT

An inability to successfully manage and leverage our strategic third-party
relationships, or a critical failure of a key supplier or partner, may have
an impact on delivery of transformational initiatives, our ability to
operate effectively and efficiently or, in seme circumstances, our brand
and reputatiocn.

—  Our business is increasingly dependent, on sigalicant Whird-parly
relationships. These span MBS and include products and services, franchise
relationships, our jeint ventures and our banking partner.

- Tofully leverage these relationships we continue to focus on developing
clear and consistently applied processes to track performance, ensuring
that commercial expectations and outcomes are met and to put in place
plans to manage potential business interruption risk created by such
dependencies.

- Clear procurement and supplier management policies in place,
including specific requirements for strategic suppliers with dedicated
relationship ownership.

- Defined service level agreements and key performance indicators
in ptace for key contracts.

- Established franchise governance and management processes
with regular relationship meetings with partners for the UK and
international businesses.

- Integrated business planming processes to support franchise and
joint venture reviews in !nternational

- Custorer satisfaction surveys introduced for franchise partners
with agreed performance targets.

- Regular review of franchise and joint venture markets.
- Engagement of in-house legal and procurement teams.

- Key supplier business contingency planning, selectively subject
to review by our Business Continvity team.

Risk key
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

RISK

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

11

TREASURY & FUNDING

An inability to maintain shprt and lang term funding to meet business
needs or to effectively manage associated risks, such as significant
Ructuations in foreign currency or intecest rates, may have an adverse
impact on business viabiity.

- Availability of, and access to, appropriate Funds is crucialin supporting core
business aperations and the successiut and timely delivery of our
transformation plan. The Croup's indebtedness primarily consists of bonds,
bilateral facilities and linance leases. The Group's abilily Lo inake payiments
on its debt and to fund working capital, capital expenditures and other
expenses will depend on the Group's future operating performance and
ability to generate cash from operations and to refinance its existing debt.

~ Brexit adds a further dimension to this financial nsk because of the potential
impact en currency Movement s, corporate bond rates, changes in credit
regulations and the extent of government support of credit markets.

- Additionally, we have a pansions fund commitment that requires active
management and regular monitoring.

~ A £libnundrawn committed credit facility in place unti April 2023
and £285.4m of cash on deposit.

~ Treasury executes forward buying of currency requirements and
is 90% hedged for FY2019/20.

- Clese monitoring and stress testing of projected cash and debt
capacity, financial covenants and other rating metrics, in ling with
out performance actuals and outlook,

- Regular dialogue with the market and rating agencies.

~ Review of counterparty credit risk and limits in line with our nisk
appetite and treasury policy.

- Pension fund assets fully offset pension scheme liabilities. At the
last triennial review in March 2018, the fund had a surplus of £652m.

[ N
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TALENT, CULTURE & CAPABILITY

A failure to attract, develop and motivate the right tatent could slow down
our ability to achieve operational and strategic ebjectives, including
successful cultural and business transfermation.

- As we transform our business, the calibre of our people is integral to
delivering operational and strategic objectives and is especially important in
our drive to
be Digital First.

- Allracling, developing and retaining qualily individuals is influenced by
rnany factors, a number 6f which are sutside our control such as labour
availability and the challenges Facing the UK retail sector.

- Our focus, however, cannot solely be outward looking - our existing
workforce
is one of our greatest assets, We need to ensure that our colleagues and
culture are developed to drive a Digital First and customer-centric mindset
and ensure that colleagues feel empowered to drive change at pace.

- Building cross-functionat experience for high-potential colleagues to
accelerate their development and to better prepare them for more senior
rotes, as well as expanding our Focus on early careers is important in helping
us build a bigger poot of future potential talent.

- aloni is igentificd as a crilical compoenent of our people stralegy
and a key enabler in the delivery of our overall business strategy.

- Targeted external hires to strengthen capability including in
Womenswear and Menswear, Food transformation and logistics,
digital, Bank & Services and cyber.

- People key performance indicators are in place supported by talent
reviews at all levels of the organisation.

- Established biannual employee engagement survey, enhanced
during the year to provide additionat insight.

- Clear focus and transparent action on fair pay, including gender,
ethnicity, disability and age,

- A dedicated forum te lead the inclusion and diversity agenda on
pehalf of the Operating Committee.

- Simplified, outputs-focused framework for performance
management.

- Ongoing culture assessment and roll-out of revised MAS Behaviours.

- Active engagement with our Business Invelvement Group.

- Employee suggestion process directly overseen by the
Chief Executive's office.

STRATEGIC REPORT
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BRAND, LOYALTY & CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

An inability to successfully evolve our brand, customer experience and
loyalty in line with expectations and innovations in the retail environment
could have an impact on aur ability to attract and retain customers and
result in a decline in our market share.

~ Consumer lifestyles and attitudes continue to evolve at pace in an
increasingly diversified and competitive retail environment.

- We are proud of our strong brand recogition, but external pressures make
iLinore difficull for all businesses Lo drive brand relevance and attract and
retain custamers, especialty in our target markets. Failure to do so creates
the risk of a decline in market share.

- Our organisational design and operating model need to support our aim
1o be a customer-centric, Digital First business and our Sparks loyalty
programme, marketing strategies and cross-functional ways of working will
be key enabders in achieving this, supported by meaningful measurement of
customer experience.

- Brand and marketing tearms aligned with the operating model
1o betler address Lhe specific nceds of our family of businesses

- Chief Digital & Data Officer in post to head insights and
Loyalty programimes.

- Investment in capability to measusre customer experience through
introduction of an end-te-end and multichannel net promoter score
programme, supported by third-party expertise,

- Established Customer Insight Unit and focus groups in place.
- Review of our Sparks loyalty programme.

- Increasing our presence and proactive monitoring of socialr_nedia
to observe and respond ko trends in customer experience with
initiatives such as Try Tuesday.

~ Targeted use of cetebrity engagement.

Risk key
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GOVERNANCE

AIRMAN'S

COVERNANCE OVERVIEW

“The long-term, sustainable
success of M&S has been,
and will continue to be, the
Board's primary objective’

ARCHIE NORMAN CHAIRMAN

AN ENCAGED BOARD

We continue to face significant headwinds
in delivering our transforrmation strategy.
We are, however,ambitious for the future
and confident that we are on the road
towards making M&S special again.

Driving this agenda forward with an eye on
the long-term, sustainable success of M&S
has been, and will continue to be, the Board's
primary objective. It is therefore essential for
us to be highly engaged, able to support
and challenge senior management and
committed to making the hard decisions
required to support the turnaround. We also
continue to fulfilour other core duties to
oversee M&S's culture, governance, financial
controls, risk and change management.

This year saw the cornpletion of a substantial
but necessary refresh of the Board's
structure, which has ensured that we

have inptace a-strong non-executive team
with a breadth of skills, experience and
perspectives, Full details of these changes
are provided in the Nomination Cornmittee
Reportonpages 46-47.

M8&S has long championed the benefits
of adiverse Board and has a strong track
record of fernale representation on the
Board. As at the date of this report, we are
pleased that fernale directors comprise
30% of our Board.

BOARD ACTIVITIES

During the year, we comptlied with alt the
provisions of the UK Corporate Covernance
Code 2016 and have also sought to
incorporate sorme of the changes
introduced by the substantially revised 2018
Code The Governance section that follows
is by intention concise, in keeping with our
approach cver the past couple of years. In
support of our digital ambitions, greater
detail on the Boardis available at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

Qver the last few months, the Board has
reviewed its activities and the roles of its
committees to ensure that it can focus
ondriving transformational change at
pace. In particular, the remit of the
Rernuneration Cormnmittee was enhanced
to cover senior leadership reward, pay
policy, gender pay and employee
engagement. While weimplemented this
change ahead of the Financial Reporting
Council’'s (FRC's) consultation on the revised
UK Corporate Covernance Code, we feel
that it remains appropriate for M&S.

The Nomination Committee will also now
take on greater responsibility for the
development of the wider talent pipeling,
rather than focusing only on our Board
and Operating Committee.

Anoverview of the range of matters that
the Board discussed and debated at its
meetings during the yearis presented on
pages 40-41,

The reports of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees for 2018/19 are available on
pages 48-53 and 54-75 respectively.

OCADO DEAL AND RIGHTS ISSUE

In February, we announced that M&S would
create a joint venture (JV} with Ocado Group
plc that the Board believes will transform
anline grocery shopping for UK consumers.
The JV combines the strength of M&S's
brand andits leading food quality and
innovation with Ocado’s unique and
proprietary technology to createan
unrivalied online offer for our customers.

As announced in February, the transaction
will be primarily equity financed. The Board
intends to conduct arights issue toraise
ug to £601.3m, which will be launched in
due course following the publication of a
prospectus in May, While | recognise that

this will be dilutive for existing shareholders,
the Board strongly believes that the
dealwith Ocado will create significant,
sustainable shareholder value over the
longer termand that it demonstrates our
commitment te becoming a truty digital
retailer that can thrive in the competitive
online landscape.

The process by which the deal was
negotiated and agreed was undoubtedly a
complex one and represents an excellent
case study of theimportance of good
governance at M&S. An overview of this,
covering the process followed, the deal
controls that the Board ensured were in
place and the invotvernent of the Board,
its committees and key business areas,
can be found on pages 42 and 43.

DIVIDEND

In February, we also announced that we
had taken the difficult decision to reset
our dividend per share, reducing it by 40%.
We took this proactive step to strengthen
our balance sheet and to provide a secure
platform for the Group's transformation
programme. It is our belief that this strikes
the right balance between investing in
our business and providing returns for
shareholders with the aim of creating a
sustainable, successful business inthe
longtermn.

ENGAGING WiTH OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Engagement with and feedback from

our colleagues across the business is vital,
especially as we drive forward with our
transformation. Open dialogue is key to
this, which is why 1host nurmerous listening
groups with colleagues fromstores,
distribution centres and offices. My Board
colleagues have also spent time meeting
with staff throughout the business as part
of our Board Involvement Programme to
understand fully the chaltenges we face
as abusiness.

Following the success of the pilot last year,
we have extended the number of Board
meetings that the chair of our Business
Involvernent Croup (BIC) (which represents
the interests of over 80,000 colleagues) is
invited to attend so that she can share

with us our colleagues’ perspectives

onthe issues under discussion. This was
particularly constructive when we



~

considered the challenges facing the store
estate and consequently the number

of stores that we have taken the decision
toclose.

The Chair of BIG will be invited to attend
two Board meetings a year and willalso be
invited to attend at least one Remuneration
Committee meeting each year. This
approach pre-dated the UK Corporate
Covernance Code 2018 changes, but we
believe that this modelis the best fit for the
business as it gives our employees direct
access to the Board. .

Cood engagement with our colleagues

is vital as we cqntinue this period of
transformational change, and to support
this we witl look at ways to step up our
dialogue with themn during the year ahead.
Details of the ways in which we engage with,
and have considered, our stakeholders are
available on pages 44-45.
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RETAIL SHAREHOLDERS

Now inits third year, our successful Private
Shareholder Panel continues to meet with
members of the Operating Committee,
Board and senior leadership, discussing

* adiverse range of topics relating tothe

Company and its performance inanopen
and honest fashion.

The candour of these discussions and the
insights they provide continue to reinforce
the importance of the Shareholder Panel as
a key element of our overall stakeholder
engagement programme. In line with cur
policy of rotating its membership annually,
we have now recruited a new panel and
have an active programme to grive our
engagement with them over the course

of the coming year.

UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Additionally, we are arranging for additional
Private Shareholder Panels to take place to
focus on the specific topic of the Ocado
deal and resulting rights issue. We are
inviting back panelists from previous years®
to participate in discussions about this

key strateqic event, asitis importanttous
that our private shareholders, not just
institutions, are engaged with and able to
participate in the rights issue.

" ARCHIE NORMAN CHAIRMAN

The UK Corporate Governance Code 2016
{the "Code"}is the standard against which

we measured ourselves in 2018/18. We have

also chosen to adopt some key elements
of the new UK Corporate Covernance
Code,as published in 2018 (the "2018
Code’), early and intend to comply infull
incur next Annual Report. Copies of the
Code and the updated 2018 Code are
available from the Financial Reporting
Council's website,

\We are pleased to confirm that we complied .

with all of the provisions set out in the Code
for the period under review. To keep this
report concise, we have focused onthe key
governance issues only. Our compliance
with key areas of the Code and the 2018

~ Code are summarised below, together with

cross referances, where applicable, to the
relevant sections of this report where mare
information canbe found.

Full details on how we comply with the
Code, including full biographies of our
directors and our Corporate Governance
Statement, is available on our website.
Where reference is made to the availability
of further information on our website,

it can be found at marksandspencer.com/
thecompany. ’

- independence’
Over half of our Board (excluding the

Chairman) comprises independent non-
executive directors and the composition

of all Board Committees complies with
the Code. Additionally, the Chairman
was considered independent on his
appointment. More informationabout
the Board is available on pages 36-37.

- Senior Independent Director
Qur Senior Independent Director is
Andy Halford.

- Accountability and election
There is a clear separation of duties
between the Chairman and CECroles,
and all the directors are to standfor
annual re-election. ’

- Evaluation
Following an external evaluation
undertakenin 2016/17,an internally
fFacilitated performance evaluation
ofthe Board andits Committees
was undertaken during the yearin
accordance with the requirements of
the Corporate Governance Code.

- Attendance
The directors have all attended an-
acceptable level of Board and
Committee meetings, details of
which are available on page 38.

- Committee Chair Experience’

1.The Audit Committee chairman met
the specific requirements with regard to
recent and retevant financial experience
throughout 2018/19.

2. Andrew Fisher had beena member
of aremuneration committee (for -
Moneysuperrmarket.com Group PLC)
far more than 12 months prior to his
appointment as Chair of the

’ Remuneration Committee.

- Governance Framework
Qur full Governance Frarmework,
setting out full details of our corporate
. governance practices,is available on
ourwehsite.

- Auditor tenure
We changed our auditor in 2014/15,
following a thorough tender process.
After five years as lead audit partner,
lan Waller will be replaced by Richard
Muschamp following the completion of
the 2018/13 audit. - .

* Newlyincorporated or amended disclosures toalign withthe 2018 Cade.

->» Non-audit policy
Thisis disclosed on our website, along with
the limited non-audit work undertaken
during 2018/19.Details of non-audit fees
canbefound onpage 52

- Auditor appointment
We disclose our externalauditor
appointment policy on our website.

- Internal Audit
Detaiis of the Internal Audit function
are provided within this report on
page 53.

- Culture’
Information about howthe Board has
assessed and monitored culture
can be found on pages 15-17 of the
Strategic Report.

- Performance-retated pay’
Asignificant part of perfarmance-
related pay is delivered through shares.
Our reward framework is simple,
transparent and designed to support
and drive our strategy.

More information onour approachto
investing in and rewarding our workforce
isavailableinthe report of the

" Remuneration Committee from page 54.

- Workforce engagement’

The Chair of the Cormnpany’s workforce
advisory panel, the Business
Involvernerit Group (BIG), is invited to
attend two Board meetings and one
Remuneration Committee meeting each
year. More detaill onbow M&S engages
with its key stakeholder groups is
presented on pages 44-45.

-> Diversity’ .
Information about the diversity of ou
Board,including its consideration of
diversity in its successian plans and in

- developing senior management, can be
found on pages 36,41, 44and 47.
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OUR BOARD

AN
CHAIRMAN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Archie Norman
Chairman

o®

Steve Rowe
Chief Executive

Humphrey Singer
Chief Finance Officer

Appointed: September 2017

Appointed: April 2016 (as Chief Executive)

Appointed: July 2018

Key strengths and experience

- Extensive retail and business
~ leadership experience.

- Lang-term track record of value creation
and change in major British companies.

Archie is an experienced Chairman and
former Chief Executive having led major
transformation progranmmes at ITV, Lazard,
Asda, Energis and Hobbycraft. He was
previously Deputy Chairman of Coles Limited
and, in 2016, was appointed Lead Director

at the Department for Business, Energy

& tndustrial Strategy.

Key strengths and experience

- Veryextensive in-depth commercial
and retail experience,

- Extensi.ve knowledge of M&S having worked
in alt major areas of the business.

Steve joined M&S in 1988 and worked in senior
roles across all areas of the business prior

to his appointment as CEQ, including Director
of Home, Director of Retail, Director of Retail
and E-commerce, Executive Director, Food,
and Executive Director, General Merchandise.

BOARD DIVERSITY

Key'strengths and experience

- Strong financial background and
extensive retail expertise.

- Significant experience in delivering

the transformational strategies of large
listed businesses. :

Humphrey joined M&S in July 2018 from
Dixons Carprione plc, where he was Group
Finance Director. He was previously Group
Finance Director of Dixons Retail plc and

is currently 3 non-executive director of
Taylor Wirnpey plc.

BOARD GENDER DIVERSITY

.

NON-EXECUTIVEl DIRECTOR TENURE

DEPARTURES AND
APPOINTMENTS SINCE
1 APRIL 2018

Male

87%]

0-1 years 43%
1-3 years 4%

Female . 3%

SECTOR EXPERIENCE

3-4years 14%
4-6 years 29%

Exec appointments in year:
Humphrey Singer

Exec resignations in year:

Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne

Exec resignations
after year end:
None

NED appointments in year;
Katie Bickerstaffe

T

89%

,

78%

Retail

Consumer

Finance

Justin King
Pip McCrostie

NED resighations in year:
Vindi Banga
Richard Solomons

E-commerce
& technology
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KEY TO COMMITTEES

(@) Audit

(&) Nomination

® Remuneraticn

. Committee Chair

Full biographical detaits of each director are availabte on marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Andy Halford
Senior Independent Director

O

Katie Bickerstaffe
Non-Executive Director

®®

Alison Brittain CBE
Non-Executive Director

®O

Appuointed: January 2013

Appointed: July 2018

Appointed: January 2014

Key strengths and experience

- Significant recent and relevant
financial experience.

- International, consurner and digital experience.

Andy’s strong finance background and broad
knowledge of the UK and international consumer
market was gained from CFO pasitions held in
global listed comparies. He is Chief Financial
Officer of Standard Chartered, which he joined
after 15 years at Vodafone, nine of which were
spent as Chief Financial Officer.

Andrew Fisher OBE
Non-Executive Director

L2 Q)

Key strengths and experience
- Extensive experience of retail and operations.

- Significant understanding of UK retail and
leading consumer-focused businesses.

Katie was Chief Executive (Designate) of the new
independent British energy supply and services
company created by the proposed rmerger of SSE
plos retail unit and Npower and is subsequently
working on a separate project for the SSE Retail
Business. She was previously Chief Executive, UK
and Iretand of Dixons Carphone plc, having also
been on the board of Dixons Retail pic prior to

its merger.

Justin King CBE @
Non-Executive Cirector

Key strengths and experience
- Financial and comrmercial experience.

~ Considerable knowledge of running large-
scale consumer businesses.
Alison is CEQ of Whitbread, a global
organisation with a broad portfolio of
hospitatity brands, and was previously Group
Director at the Retail Division of Lloyds
Banking Croup, with responsibility for its retait
branch networks as welt as its Retad Business
Banking and UK Wealth busingsses.

Pip McCrostie
Non-Executive Director

®®

Appointed: December 2015

Appointed: January 2019

Appointed:; July 2018

Key strengths and experience

- International consumer and technology
sector experience,

- Extensive knowledge of high-growtn
digital businesses.

Andrew was instrumental in establishing mebile
lifestyle app Shazam, where he was Executive
Chairman until October 2018, as a leading mobile
consumer brand, and brings over 20 years’
experience leading and growing numerous
technology-focused enterprises.

GROUP SECRETARY

Key strengths and experience

- Extensive experence of working in
and leading large businesses.

- Considerable knowledge of retail
transformation and operations.

Justin is currently Vice Chairman of Terrafirma,
acting as adviser to the Ceneral Partner.

Between 2004 and 2014, he was the CEQ of
Sainsbury's, leading the business through a major
teansformation. He has also previously held
senior positions at M&S as Head of Food, as well
as Asda, Haagen-Dazs, PepsiCo and Mars.

Key strengths and experience

- Substantial experience of corporate
finance and tax.

- Extensive know!edge of global businesses
and corporate transactions.

Pip's extensive financial experience was gained
from a career at Ernst & Young, where she
transformed and led the Clobal Corporate
Finance business. She was the founder of

the Clobal Transaction Tax network, and has
been a non-executive director of Inmarsat
since 2016.

Nick Fotland
Group Ceneral Counseland
Company Secretary

Appointed: February 2019

Nick has extensive legal and governance
experience, having been Cenerat Counsel and
Company Secretary in FTSE 100 businesses
since 2001. More recently, he has held positions
as Chief Executive of the Crown Prosecution
Service and Chief External Affairs Officer and
Chief of Staff to the CEC of the Co-op.

STRATECIC REPQRT

GCOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BOARD COMPOSITION
AND MEETING ATTENDANCE

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE AND DIRECTOR RESPONSIBILITIES IN 2018/19

LINKED TO
CHAIRMAN ATTENDED POSSIBLE INDEPENDENT RESPONSIBILITY IN 2018719 REMUNERATION
Board governance

. and performance,
Archie Norrnan* 10 10 shareholder engagement
*  Consideredindepandent onappointment
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Chief Executive Strategy and Croup performance 9
Steve Rowe 10 10

. . . Croup financial performance,
Chief F:nan;e Officer _ IT, investor relations and
Humphrey Singer (appointed 9 July 2018) 8 8 data governance
Executive Director Customer, marketing [
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne (resigned 18 April 2018) 1 1 and M&S.com
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Vindi Banga (retired 1 October 2018) 9 Role at Board meetings
- - Independent non-executive directors
Katie Bickerstaffe (ppointed 10 July 2018)* 6 7 /] assess, challenge and monitor the executive
- — directors’ delivery of strategy within the risk
Alison Brittain 10 10 ] and governance structure agreed by the Board.
Andrew Fisher 10 10 (/] As boarg comnmittee members, they also
review the integrity of the Company’s

Andy Halford 10 10 o financial information, recommend appropriate

- - succession plans and monitor board diversity.
Justin King (appointed 1 January 2019)* 2 3 < g
Pip McCrostie (appointed 10 July Z018)* 6 7 ]
Richard Solomons (resigned 10 July 2078} 2 2 ]

* Atthemeetingan 13 March 2019, Katie Bickerstaffe was unable to attend due toillness and Justin King was unable to attend due to a previous business commitrnent. Pip McCrastie was
unabieto attend the meetingon 9 January 2019 due to a previcus personal commitment,

Attended by invitation

Sacha Berendji - Retai, Operations & Property Director 5 N/A
Stuart Machin ~ Managing Director, Food 4 N/A
Jilt McDonald - Managing Director, Clothing, Home & Beauty 7 N/A
Melanie Smith - Strategy Director 10 N/A
Paul Friston - International Director 3 N/A
David Guise — HR Director 1 N/A
Jeremy Pee - Chief Digital and Data Director 1 N/

Role at Board meetings

The Operating Committee comprises the
Company's senior leadership team below
board level and is tasked with running the
day-to-day operations of the business and
facilitating delivery of the strategy as approved
by the Board.

Members of the Operating Committee attend
board meetings by invitation to present and
discuss matters of strategic impartance.

This tabie provides details of scheduled meetings held in the 2018/1G financial year,

BOARD MEETINGS HELD IN 2018/19

MONITORING NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The Board hetd 10 scheduted meetings
during the year, and individual attendance
is set out above.

Sufficient tirme i§ provided, periodically,
far the Chairman to meet privately with
the Senior independent Director and the
non-executive directors to discuss any
matters arising.

© For information on what the Board
did during the year, see Board activities
on pa0-4)

The Board rewiews the independence of its
non-executive directors as part of its annual
Board Effectiveness Review.

The Chairmanwas considered to be
independent on appointment andis committed
to ensuring that the Board comprises a majority
of independent non-executive directors who
objectively challenge management, balanced
against the need to ensure cantinuity on

the Board.

The Company rmaintains clear records of the
terms of service of the Chairman and non-

executive directors to ensure that they continue
to meet the requirements of the UK Corporate
Governance Code (the "Code).Meither the
Chairman nor any of the non-executive directors
have exceeded the maximum nine-year
recormmendedtermof service setout inthe
Code, with our longest-serving non-executive
director, AndyHalford, having served less than
seven full years onthe Board.

Assuch, the Board considers that all of its
non-executive directors continue to
demonstrateindependence.

© For information on the skills and experience of each director, see p36-37
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GOVERNANCE

LEADERSHIP
AND OVERSIGHT

THE ROLE OF THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES

The Boardis responsible for establishing
the Company's purpose, values and
strategy, promoting its culture and
overseeing its conduct and affairs to
create sustainable value for the benefit
of the Company's members over the
long term.

ltrecognises that it hasa wider duty to a
broad community of stakeholders whose
support is essential, and that the business
has impact on colleagues, customers,
shareholders, suppliers and the
communities in which it operates.

Pages 44 and 45 highlight how the

Board and the wider business have
sought to effectively engage with,

and encourage participation from,

our shareholders and stakeholders.

The Board discharges some of its
responsibilities directly and others
throughits board committees and senior
management. Terms of Reference for the

Board and its committees are available in
our Governance Framework, pubtished on
marksandspencercom/thecompany.

The Board agrees, and has collective
responsibility for, the strategy of the
Cornpany, whichis outlinedinthe
Strategic Report onpages 1-33.

Execution of the strategy and day-to-day
management of the Company’s business is
delegated to the Operating Committee,
withthe Board retaining responsibility

for overseeing, guiding and holding
management to account. The Boardis

also responsible for:

- Assessing, monitoring and promoting
the Company's culture, and ensuring
that this closely aligns with its strategy.

- Ensuring the necessary resources are
inplace for the business to meet its
strategic objectives,

ANNUAL BOARD EVALUATION

- Establishing workplace policies and
business practices that align with the
Company's culture and values and
supportitsstrategy.

3 Overseeing the implementation of a
robust controls framework to altow
effective management of risk. Much
of this work is delegated to the Audit
Committee (see pages 48-53),

- Effective succession planning for key
senior personnel, much of whichis
delegated to the Normination
Committee (see pages 46-47).

While the above sumimarises the key areas
of board responsibility, it is not intended to
be exhaustive. More detail on this, together
with information on the roles of individual
board members, is covered by the
Schedule of Matters Reserved to the
Board, whichis also available at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

Qur annual Board Evaluation gives us the
opportunity to reflect onthe effectiveness
of our activities, the quality of our decisions
and for board members to consider their
performance and contribution.

This year, our evaluation was facilitated
internally by our Croup Ceneral Counset
and Company Secretary, Nick Folland,
whowas considered by the Boardtobe a
suitably independent sounding board

for this process. Inline with previous years,
focused one-to-one discussions were hetd
between Nickand each member of the
Board These covered a broad range of
topics relating to the Board, its Committees
and tothe directors individually, ncluding:

- What worked well during the year and
where improvements could bemade,

- Board cutture, teamwork and relationships
with management.

- Shareholders and stakeholders, including
cormmunication and relationships,

- Board composition and
succession planning.

- Resourcing of meetings, agenda
planning, quatity of inforrmation.

- Strategic oversight and implementation.

- Corporate governance, regulatory
compliance and associated support.

3 Committee effectiveness and
comraunications ta the Board.

The Senior independent Director also met
withdirectors to review the Chairman's
performance. This review was then shared
with the Chairman.

All recornmendations arising fromthe
review are based cnbest practice as
describedinthe UK Corporate Governance
Code and other applicable guidelines.

FINDINGS IN 2018/19

Cverall, the Board was considered tohavea
deep passion for the business and agood
mix of skills and experience of particular
relevance to M&Sinits turnaround phase.
The degree of support and challenge
dermonstrated by the directors was

atthe correctlevel, albeit there was
acknowledgement of the fact that anumber
of new non-executive directors (NEDs)

had joined during the year and that

it would therefore take time to settieintoa
narmal pattern of warking.

The Chairmanship of Archie Norman was
viewed positively, particutarly in focusing

the business agenda and facilitating
meaningful debate. The level of invelvernent
and engagement of the NEDs was
considered strong and the overall quality
of discussion during board meetings high.
There was a view that work was needed to
encourage more focused presentations to
allow even more time for board debate.
Coverage of governance, regulatory
compliance and riskmanagement was
viewed positively, with good line of sight

to all key regulatory communications.

Board papers were seenasclear and the
specific actions the Board was required
to take helpfully sign-posted; however,
improvements could be madeainterms
of making them more succinct and
reducing repetition.

Board committees were all considered to
work well with thorough debate, a clear
grasp of issues and subject knowledge.
Committees are considered to be well
chaired and managed.

The Board has agreed anaction planfor the
yearahead, focusing onthe key areas of
board cversight and on driving the
transformation forward, reviewing key
performance indicators and ensuring that:
these are linked to the business cbjectives.

STRATECIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



40
MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC

GOVERNANCE

BOARD ACTIVITIES

WHAT WAS ON THE BOARD'S AGENDA IN 2018/19?

The following pages offer some insight into how the Board uses its meetings as a mechanism for discharging its duties
under 5,172 of the Companies Act 2006, including the breadth of matters it discussed and debated during the year and
the key stakeholder groups that were central to those discussions {see the Stakeholder key to the right}.

Each Board meeting follows a carefully tailored agenda agreed in advance by the Chairman, CEQ and Company Secretary.
Atypical meeting will comprise reports on current trading and financial performance fromthe CEOQ and CFO, legaland governance
updates,a review of the strategic transformation programme and one or two detailed deep dives into areas of particutar strategic
importance. Details of the directors attendance at the 10 scheduled meetings that took place during the year canbe found on page 38.

PRINCIPAL COMMITTEE UPDATES

TRANSFORMATION PROCRAMME

REVIEW AND KPI UPDATES

The Chairs of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees updated the Board onthe proceedings
of those meetings, including the key discussion points
and any particutar areas of concern.

The Strategy Director attended each Board meeting
to update and discuss with the Board the progress
of the transformation programme, as well as strategic
key performance indicators (KPIs).

STRATEGY AND COMPANY PERFORMANCE

The CEC led discussions Focusing on recent trading, generat business performance and the key strategic initiatives under way:

- Considered trading performance updates
from across the Croup's family of businesses.

Trading updates

- Discussed operationalissues arising and
responses, such as stock availability, supplier
relationships and general systerns operations
and theirimpact on colleagues instores.

- Discussed wider retail market pressures and
challenges, competitor performance and the
implications of these on trading.

@ For more detail, see p4-5

Strategic progress
and KPIs

- Discussed the ongoing transformation
strategy, witha continued focus onthe key
strategic KPis and the progress the Company
was makinginachieving them.

- Agreed the crass-businesses strategic KPIs
and key enablers, as well as those fFor each of
the family of businesses, with regular updates
provicied throughout the year.

- Received updates on key milestones and
the progress made under each programme
of work underpinning delivery of the
transformation strategy.

© For more detail, see p6-14

- Discussed newand planned initiatives
under the Digital First strategy, including
the Decoded programime to inCrease digital
awarenass among our colleagues and
improve capability across the business.

Digital

FINANCIAL UPDATES

- Received updates regarding the angoing
improvements to M&S.com, including site
speed, fuifilment and irmpact on overall
custorner experience and sales,

@ For more detail, see p13

- Reviewed progress in the store rationalisation
programmeand itsimpact on colleagues
instores, covering colleague redeployment
and sales transfer rates, and the future
redevelopment plans for older stores within
the estate.

Property and store estate

~ Discussed the combined pressures of rising
business rates and rent increases onthe
Company's cost base and the chatlenges
these pose to the UK high street.

© For more detail, see p12

Budget @

Cash flow and dividend

Risk

- Considered performance vsthe 2018/19
budget andagreed the budgets for each of
the family of businesses for 2019/20.

~ Considered anticipated performance against
the agreed budget for the corning financial
year,including imptlicakions on
long-term performance, planned store
investrment and the colleague perspective
onthese issues.

- Discussed funding requirernents for the next
phases of the transformation strategy,
including the proposed joint venture {(JV)
withOcado,

© For more detail, see p42-43

- Reviewead cash flow, dividend cover and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration
financial performance, liquidity and credit
metrics, and agreed a dividend reset of 40%,
resulting in a fullyear dividend of 139p.

° For more detail, see p26

- Reaffirmed the ambition to create amore
efficient cost base and generate savings of
atleast £350m by 2020/21.

- Reviewed cost savings achieved during
the year relating to management structure,
property costs, IT transformation programme,
procurement and costs linked to store closures.

Costs

- Conducted half-yearly reviews of the
Croup Risk Profile, covering core internal
and external risks, risks driven by business
change andareas of emergingrisk.

- Agreedthe Group-level risks to be monitored
andappropriate mitigating activities, and
delegated responsibility to the Audit
Committee to review the processes and
Croup policies underpinning these.

© For more detail, see p27-33
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KEY: STAKEHOLDER GROUPS

@ Shareholders @ Colleagues @ Customers @ Community @ Suppliers

GCOVERNANCE AND LECAL

Board Involvement Programme @

- Agreed a Board Involvement Programme
for 2019/20to enhance the directors’
engagement with and understanding
of different areas of the business.

Board Action Plan and Evaluation o

- Reviewed progress against the 2018/19 Board
Action Planand set the Action Plan for
2019/20, with a clear process for monitoring
progress over the course of the year.

- Conducted aninternatlly facilitated Board
Evaluation covering the Board's effectiveness,
pracesses and ways of working, with
feedback from ihdividual directors provided
and the outcome discussed by the Board.

- Clarified developmentsinthe roles ofthe
Nomination and Remuneration Committees
intight of changes to the UK Corporate
Governance Code.

© For more detail, see p39

Board succession and diversity .

- Considered and reviewed the Board's
composition, diversity and succession plans,
facilitating the transition toa new CFO and
the addition of three new non-executive
directors, including their inductions.

© For more detail, see p47

- Onthe recommendation of the Audit
Committee, reviewed and approved the
Annual Report and Accounts, Notice of ACM,
Modern Slavery Statement and the Half ang
Full Year Results announcements.

Legal and regulatory

STRATEGIC DEEP DIVES

- Received regular litigation reports from
the Company’'s legalteam.

- Monitored regulatory and legislative
developments and considered any potential
impact on the Cormpany’s operations.

Annual General Meeting (AGM} ®

- Reviewed specific issues raised by shareholders
throughout the year to be addressed inthe
Chairman's ACM staterment.

- Agreed to deiiver a hybrid ACMIin 2019,
introducing theability for sharehotders
to participate by electronic means
for the First time without having to be
physically present.

At each maeting, the Board received presentations onand discussed selected strategicaily significant mattersin greater depth to
evaluate progress, provide insight and, where necessary, decide on appropriate action. These included:

Brexit

Clothing & Home 000

- Discussed preparations, scenario planning
andimpact assessments covering tariffs,
importand export compliance and continuity
of product supply, and the options for
potential mitigating actions.

- Considered the potentialimpact on our
international partners and the ways in
whichthe business was able to support
themin a range of scenarios.

o0

~ Reviewed the results of the annuat Your Say
colleague feedback survey,identified areas
for improvement and appropriate courses
ofaction,

Culture and organisation

- Receivedanupdate from the Chair of our
employee representative body, the Business
Involverment Group (BIC), and discussed
with her the Company's strategy and future
plans from the perspective of colleagues.

- Discussed gender pay in the context of the
wider market, the development of women
into senior rotes and driving greater diversity
andinclusioninterms of gender, ethnicity
and social background.

€ For more detail, see p15-17

- Discussions covered team structure, talent
pipelineg, store closure irnpact, marketing
structure, range planning and phasing
changes, customer experience and logistics.

- Reviewed progress inthe project ta modernise
the Clothing & Home end-to-end supply
chainand the impact onavailability,
waste and costs.

- Considered market positioning and strategic
priorities in Womenswear, and discussed
potential opportunities to drive growth.

© For more detail, see p10-11

Food . . .

- Discussed the key strategic pricrities of
availability, store standards, price investment
and promotions, organisation and people.

- Discussed product innovation, development,
supplier relationships, customer quality
perceptionand the key areas of focus for the
Food business over the next three years.

@ For more detail, see p8-9

- Discussedthe Company’s internaticnal
operating modeland opportunities for
profitabte growth.

International

- Discussed pricing strategy and brand
positioning toimprove competitiveness
inkey markets.

- Considered relationships with international
pet Lhwrs dtwd Ul w upporturities to develop
these further.

@ For more detail, see p14

- Discussed the end-to-end supply chainin
Clothing & Home and Food from design to
customer, noting impact on availability and
waste and relationships with our suppliers,
and reviewed progress toweards resolvingthe

keychallenges.
000

- Evaluated the success of the limited Food
Online trial and potential solutions for a wider
roll-out, discussed options, agreed the
preferred course of action and approved the
finaldeal.

Supply chain

Joint venture with Ocado

- Agreed the Audit Committee’s
recommendation te partially fund
the deal through a rights issue and
considered the impact of this onthe
Company's shareholders.

- Considered the colleague perspective on
the joint venture with the assistance of
BIC, and reviewed and approved the
shareholder communications plan.

@ For more detail, see pd2-43

STRATEGIC REPORT
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CREATING A
JOINT VENTURE

In February 2019, we announced that we would be creating a new 50/50 joint venture
{JV} with Ocado Group plc (*Ocado”). The JV will transform online grocery shopping
for our customers in the UK and represents one of the most significant strategic
initiatives undertaken by M&S for many years.

Good governance is vitat in ensuring that projects of this type are gelivered in an efficient,
effective and legally compliant way. It provides a framework for challenge, external input and
leadership. The timeline below provides an overview of the governance of each of the key stages

of this complex project, from its early conceptual stages to date.

OUR AMBITION: To deliver a market-leading online food offer for our customers by no later than September 2020.

PLANNING

PHASE

TO DECEMBER 2018

CONSIDERING OPTIONS

Having closely monitored the
development of the online
food market for some time,

in 2018 the Board getermined
that securingaccess ko online
as the UK's fastest-growing
retail channelwas crucial for
delivering the Food strategy.

The Board tasked the business
toassess the successesand
limitations of the limited food
online trial launchedin 2017
and toinvestigate other viable
options, including mergers
and acquisitions (M&A}), and
toreportits findings back to
the Board.

RESEARCH
AND FEEDBACK

NEGOTTATIO

PHASE

DECEMBER 2018 TO JANUARY 2019

NEGOCTIATION
AND DUE DRAGENCE

CHECKING
COMMERCIAL ASSUMPTIONS

ABoard sub-committee was
formed, comprising the Chairman,
CEOand at least one non-executive
director, to review market context,
consider potential next stepsand
identify targets.

It was concluded that MBA was the
approeach most likely todeliver the
best results withinan appropriate
timeframe. The food antine project
was formally launched, with Ocado
identifiectas a preferred partner.

The Board appointed a Deal Tearn
comprising key personnel to take
the deal forward with Qcado,

with clear negotiating parameters
established andinstructions to
report back as necessary.

The Board considered the rmarket
sensitivity of the profect and
instructed the Disclosure
Committee to convene as often
asnecessarytoensure thatthe
Company's ongoing obligations
under the Market Sbuse
Reguiation (MAR]) could be met.

During the progressionof talks

with Ocado, the Deal Team engaged
aReview Team of individuals who
had not had any prior involvement
inthe project and whose purpose
was to provide an entirely fresh
perspective, with particular
emphasis o the pricing of

the proposals.

Feedback was provided to the Deal
Team, which retained responsibility
for formulating a commercial view
of the viability of the project.

GROUP BOARD

- {dentified food anline
as a key strategic priority
under the transformation
programme.

-» Considered online food
market and approved
Llimited online trial to
test viability.

= Instructed Food and
ME&S.com departments
to assess trial findings.

GROUP BOARD

-» Agreed the creation of a
Board sub-Committee to
review options.

- Identified Ocado as the
preferred partner with
which to explore the
potential for a deal

GROUP BOARD

- Appointed, set the @
negotiating parameters for
and received weekly updates
from the Deal Team.

DEAL TEAM

- Initiated and progressed
discussions with Ocado.

DISCLOSURE COMMITTEE

-3 Held regular meetings to
ensure MAR compliance.

- Assessed whether the
Company could at all times
ensure confidentiality of
relevant information.

REVIEW TEAM

- Provided a cold review of
the commercial rationate
and structure of the deal.

= Reviewed the pricing of the
deal and fed back directly
to the Deal Team.
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The chart to the right illustrates the committees and teams involved in
the negotiation process and the flow of information to the Board se that
decisions of a strategic nature could be taken at pace.

The Board instructed each of the Audit and Disclosure Commiittees and
the Oeal Teamin their specific roles and ensured that a strict governance
process was followed. This allowed for negotiation to progress efficiently
and confidentialty untit such time as both parties were ready to announce

anagreement.

In addition to receiving weekly progress updates from the Deal Team, the
Boarg met a further seven times outside of its agreed meeting schedule
between Decernber 2018 and February 2019, when the deal was announced.

° Read more about the role of the Board on p39 and its activities

during the year on p40-41

EVALUATING
FUNDING OPTIONS

OVERCOMING
GOVERNANCE CHALLENGES

! GCROUP BOARD i

AUDIT
COMMMTTEE

DISCLOSURE
COMMITTEE

DEAL TEAM REVIE\V TEAM

COMPLETION

PHASE

FEBRUARY 2019 ONWARDS

AGREEMENT
AND DISCLOSURE

DELIVERING THE
RIGHTS ISSVE

As talks progressed and gained
pace, both parties considered and
evalyated the appropriateness of
different methods of funding the
potentiai deal.

ltwas concluded that a rights

issue was the method that most
closely aligred with the Company's
strategy to restore M&S to
sustainable, profitable growthand
maintain a strong balance sheet,

Outside of the challenges that could
be expectedforadealofthis
complexity, the negotiation process
was subject to two occurrences of
press speculation.

In line with the clear requirements
of MAR, the Company issued a

public announcement addressing
this speculation on 26 February
2019, confirming that talks were
under way and that therewas no

Anagreermnent was reached and
the deal concluded, with public
announcemeénts made tothe
London Stock Exchange. [t was
approved by Ocado's shareholders
on 20 May 2019,

Finally, formalapproval was granted
tomake arrangements to conduct a
rights issue toraise up to E601.3mto
fund the acquisition of 50% of the
Ocado Retail business that forms

The Board intends to formally
launch the Rights issue, which
will be Fully underwritten on a
standby basis by Morgan
Stanley, indue course

and was therefore in the best : ! the basis of the JV.
interests of shareholders. certainty of anagreament being
reached at that stage.

GROUP BOARD DISCLOSURE COMMITTEE @ GROUP BOARD @ GROUP BOARD
- Approved Audit Committee -> Considered press 2> A d the final proposal ~> Witl formally approve

recommendation to fund speculation in the context and formally approved the Rights lssue terms,

vi i issue. " deal .

ia a rights issue ::;;eogﬁg';:ms the de > Will agree the process by
- which shareholders will be

DEAL TEAM - Approved the form of DEAL TEAM invited to participate.
-» Continued to progress talks Regulatory News Service (RNS) ~» Concluded talks and

and reported on key milestones announcement and authorised brought a cohesive final AUDIT COMMITTEE @

and negotiation challenges its release to the market. proposal te the Board. 3 Will review the

to the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

-3 Analysed funding options
and formally recommended
the Rights Issue to the Board
as being most appropriate.

DISCLOSURE COMMITTEE

-3 Approved form of RNS
announcement and authorised
its release to the market.

financial information
to be contained in
the Prospectus.

- Will meet to consider
refevant matters
when required.

STRATECIC REPORT
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HOW WE ENGACE,
CONSIDER AND RESPOND

Our rich network of
stakeholder relationships
supports the values on
which M&S was founded.
These relationships

are even more vital
during this period of
transformation.

OUR APPROACH

SHAREHOLDERS

COLLEAGUES

BOARD CONSIDERATIONS

All Board decisions are made with M&S's success
in mind, which is ultimately for the long-term
benefit of our members. This year in particular
theugh, we made the decision to reduce our
dividend and proceed with a rights issue to
finance aur JV with Ocado. We considered the
impact of this action on our shareholders in
detail, and agreed that our Ocado partnership
could have a transformational impact on our
future success, and consequently increase
value for shareholders in the long term.

BOARD CONSIDERATIONS

This year the chairman of BIG attended two
Board meetings, providing us with the colleague
perspective on key issues. We discussed our
transformation programme, and how our
colleagues feel about the improvements being
made to the way we work. Qur coileagues’ positive
feedback and enthusiasm for our transformation
initiatives have spurred us on indriving to
maintain our programme of changes
throughout the business.

Engaging with our stakeholders is
fundarmental to the way we do business

at M&S. We have over 150000 registered
shareholders, 80,000 colleagues, and 32
million customers. We source our products
from suppliers worldwide. These individuals,
businesses and communities are all integral
to our business. We will only be able to
transforrm M&S successfully with their

input, cooperation and trust.

We have investedin the development
and involvernent of our stakeholder
communities, as we believeit is the right
thing to do, not only for our stakehotders
but for our business. These pages provide
a snapshot of just some of the ways in
which we dothis.

On these pages you will also find examples
of how we considered our stakeholders
when making key decisions during the

year. As a Board, we have a duty to promote
the success of M&S for the benefit of

our members. In doing $0, however,

we must have regard for the interests

of our colleagues, for the success of our
relationships with suppliers and customers,
for theimpact of our operations onthe
community, and for the desirability of
maintaining a reputation for high standards
of business conduct. These stakeholder
considerations are woven throughout all

of our discussions and decisions. Like any
business, sometimes we have to take
decisions that adversely affect one

or more of these groups and, in such
cases, we always look to ensure that those
impacted are treated fairty.

More information about how the directors
have discharged their duty under s.172 of
the Companies Act 2006 is available inthe
Strategic Report, onpages 2-33.

Key
o LinktoPlan A

ANNUAL CENERAL MEETING (ACGM)

Qur 2018 ACM was well attended and all our
proposed resolutions were passed, with votesin
favour ranging from 91.56% to 99.99%. We have
atsobeen providing tive webcasts of our AGMs
and preliminary and interim announcements
forover adecade, bringingthese eventsto
thousands of shareholders allover the world.

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

We go beyond our statutory ckligations to provide
what we hope is a holistic and engaging view of

the business in alanguage that everybody can
understand. Added to this is a wealth of online
content whichis publicly available on our
corporate website.

ONCGOING INVESTOR ENGAGEMENT

The investar Relations team alongside
management maintains a regular dialogue withkey
institutionalinvestors. Over the course of the past
year, the tearn met with over 270investors, from
over 170institutions and participated ina dozen
industry conferences and roadshows, Inthe

course of their meetings, the teamengaged

with investors representing wellover haif of our
wssued share caprtal

PRIVATE SHAREHOLDER PANEL

This year, we continued to hold regular meetings
with groups of private shareholders. These are
typically attencied by either the CEQ oramember
of senior management and give our private
shareholders the opportunity to share their

views inaninformal setting.

ASSET REUNIFICATION

Through our asset reunification programme,

M&S proactively secks tore-unite sharehelders
promptly with their shares and unclaimed dividend
payments. Additionally, our move tomandatory
direct credit as our only means of issuing dividend
payments, which came into effectin July 2018,
will assist us in substantially reducing the quantity
of payments that go unclaimed each year and
toensure that more of our private shareholders
receive their dividends as cleared funds onthe
payment date.

BUSINESS INVOLVEMENT GROUP (BIG)
Engagement with our collieagues is facilitated
through BIC. a netwark of elected representatives
fromacrossallparts of the business. Local BIG teams
reqularly feed back to National BIG, whose chairman
inturnrepresents the collective colleague voice
through regular meetings with the Chairmanand
CECandby attending Board and Remuneration
Committee meetings during the year Operating
Committee members also attend National BIC
meetings tounderstand the issues thatare
important toour colleagues.

COLLEAGUE UPDATES

Colleaguesare kept informed of performenceand
strategy through regularbusiness area “huddles” as
wellas email, Skype and socialmediaupdates from
members of the Board and senior management,
andwe encourage colleagues to respond to all of
these updates by sharing their views, ideas and
work experiences. Dedicated infarmationis also
providedonour pension schemes.

© DIVERSITY & INCLUSION

This yearwe were recognisedin The Times Top 50
Employers for Women for the ninth year running.
We actively support employee-led networks

on gender, ethnicity (BAME), sexual crientation
{LCBT4) and disabilities and health conditions.
These networks give a voice to under-represented
groups, provide peer-to-peer support andbelp to
influence the Company to become more inclusive.
We also held our third Diversity & Inclusion festival,
engaging thousands of colleagues across MES.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Arange of learning offerings and development
programmes are available to colleagues, including
technical courses, inspirational talks and mentoring
prograrnmes, as well 3s coaching support on
behaviouraland leadership skills.

© VOLUNTEERING

During 2018/15, thousands.of colleagues volunteered
over 47000 hours of work time to help hundreds of
commurity projects. Our stores also used surpius
food todistribute 2.8 million meals to local charities.

YOUR SAY SURVEY

Cur annual Your Say Survey gives us aninformed
picture of how colieagues feel about the business.
Over 63,0000f our colleagues chose to participate
and share their feedback The engagement score
this year wasstrorgat 81%.
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CUSTOMERS

COMMUNITY

SUPPLIERS @@

BOARD CONSIDERATIONS

The customer experience is crucial in our Board
discussions. This year, we especially eonsidered
how our transformation programme has helped
us to improve aur operations and efficiency,

and ultimately improve our customer experience.
In daing so, we have agreed to continue our
transformation at pace, and push on with

our plans te make MBS special again for

our customers,

BOARD CONSIDERATIONS

The impact of our operations on the communities
in which we work is an important consideration
in our Board discussions. When we have decided
to push forward with our stock improvement
initiatives, we have considered how improving our
efficiency has helped us to reduce cur waste and
our impact on the i t. In continuing
our store closure prog . we have idered

BOARD CONSIDERATIONS

Our supplier relationships are vital to our overall
success, so as a Board we carefully consider

the selection of, and engagement and continued
relationship with, our key supptiers. This year,

in line with our transformation programme,

we reviewed our major iers and engaged
new suppliers that represent our ideals and are
d to assist us an our transformation.

the views of each of our stora's communities,
and how we can better address their needs
with an improved store offering.

DIRECT FEEDBACK

We get direct feedback frorn our custamers
threugh avarietyof channels including surveys,
interviews and online input. Customens also have
the opportunity to feed back, either anline or by
phone, on every transaction using infarmation
from their online or store receipt. This informationis
collated centrally and allows us to spot common
themes quickly Insight is then routed to the
retevant teams so that action can be taken.

© SPARKS CARD

7.2 million Sparks card holders currentiy receive
Lallored ol ers plus the chance Lo ehgage witha
Plan A charity partner of their choice. Qver E5m
has beeniaised to date.

RETAILER CHOICE

Over 25000 people tock part in our study to
find out what motivates custormersto shopata
particular retailer, howimportant the drivers are
and how M&S and our competitors perform
against them.

© SUSTAINABILITY

3000 people were asked about the areas of
sustainability and Plan A that were of greatest
importance tothem, and howwe and our
competitors performin these areas. Their feedback
helpedusidentify a number of clear areas of focus
for the future development of our Plan A strategy.

IRELAND PRICE INVESTMENT

We held 40 focus groups and directly engaged with
over 900 custemers in lrelandto understand the
impact of our investment in everyday lower prices.
The insights from this directly influenced changes
madie to the tone, emphasis and content of our
carmpaign marketing materials.

TOP TIER

Qualityis the reason people choose o shop at MES
for food; however, competition remains Fierce and
we are therefore reviewing our prermiumoffer in

each of our major food categories. This workstrear,

which includes anonline study involving over 2,000
custormers, will help us identify areas in which our
premium offer can be developed further and will
ensure that we continue to deliver in accordance
with the high expectations of our customers.

HOME POSITIONING

500 customers were surveyed ta find put what they
thought of M&S Flome, with the insights received
halping lo define our Horme Marketing Strategy.

TAX CONTRIBUTION

M&S remains one of the UK's largest contributors of
taxes to the UK exchequer and we are committed
to paying our fair share of tax. We were identifiedin
PwC's annual survey of the total tax contribution
of FTSE 100 constituents as the 27th highest payer
of tax and the ath highest payer of business

rates irr the UKin 2018. While this illustrates our
commitment ta paying our way, it also highlights
the burden placed on “bricks and mortar”retailers
relative to other industries.

Q@ COMMUNITY TRANSFORMATION

We aim ke secure mearingful economic, social

and environmental benefits to 1,000 communities
around our stores and beyond by 2025, This year we
completed the first phase of our programme and
engaged 10 communities benefiting over 2,800
participants.

© CHARITABLE CIVING

With the help of our customers, this year we raised
atotalof £11.5m for arange of charities including
Macrnillan Cancer Support, Breast Cancer Nowangd
the Royal British Legion.

© WORK EXPERIENCE

Through Marks & Start we provide work experience
for thousands ¢f disativantaged people across the
UKand internationally. This year we offered over
3,200 work placements worldwide, with over 63%
of those completing a placement in the UK or
Republic of Ireland going on to find work.

© LOCAL FUNDRAISING

This year 630 of our stores in the UK and the
Repubtic of Ireland adopted a charity of the
year and helped to raise £1rm.M&S storesin
indiaalsoraised in excess of E40,000in aid of
two Indian charities.

M&S5 COMPANY ARCHIVE

16,700 people visited the Marks in Time Exhibition
during the year tolearnmore about our leng
history and rich heritage The Archive also
centinued to drive a range of engagement
initiatives in 2018/19 throughits schools,

events and community outreach programmes.
Visit marksintime.mar isp coim

for more details.

PREVENTING MODERN SLAVERY

We have continued to increase the depth and breadth
of ourworkintheareaof preventing modern slavery,
ensuring that we havein place the most effectve
responses topotential risk. Further details of our
efforts toeradicate modern siavery throughout our
supply chains andoperations are available incur 2019
Moderm Stavery Statement, which s available online.

© GLOBAL COMMUNITY PROGRAMME
The M35 Clobal Community Programme aims
toimprove the lives of one million pecple indur
suppliers’' cormmunities by 2025, Between April 2017
andMarch 2019 over 190000 people were helped
either directly orindirectly.

GLOBAL SOURCING PRINCIPLES

Allour supptiers of goods and services are required
tocomply with our Global Saurcing Principles, which
require thermn to provide goodworking conditions,
respect workers human rights,and be subject to
appropriate ethicalmonitoring. Food suppliers are
alsoconsideredas part of our annual Crocery
Supplier Codeof Practice (GSCOP) report.

SUPPLIER COLLABORATION

We work with our suppliers to streamline processes
and optimise volumes through collaborative
workshops and toolkits. The resultant savings are
reinvested in price and quality and shared with
suppliers to help them create further efficiencies.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT

We offer aur suppliers and partners arange of
training and development opportunities, including
conferences and practical workshops. These cover
arange of topics including local laws and sharing
best practice examples to accelerate embedding
respect for human nghts into their businesses.

DAIRY FARM INITIATIVES

We continue toguarantee our pool of dedicated
dairy farmers a set price for fresh mitk under our
Milk Pledge Plus programme. We were also the
first major food retailer ta have allits milk-
producingdairy farms assured by the RSPCA
for animalwelfare.

SUPPLIER SATISFACTION

Measuring supplier satisfaction is critical to our
understanding of how wellwe are engaging with
them We usethe independent Advantage Report
Mirror to survey a proportion of aur supplier base
egach year. in 2018, we were again ranked second
overallout of the seven participating retailers.

STRATECIC REPORT
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NOMINATION
COMMITTEE REPORT

“We have in place a strong
non-executive team
with a breadth of skills,
experience and perspectives
that are relevant to
our transformation’”

ARCHIE NORMAN CHAIRMAN OF
THE NOCMINATION COMMITTEE

INTRODUCTION

tn the Chairman’s governance overview,
inotedthat this year saw the completion
of a substantial, but necessary, refresh of
the Board. This work, undertaken by the
Nomination Committee {the ‘Committee”)
during the year, has ensured that we have in
place a strong non-executive team

with a breadth of skills, experience and
perspectives that arerelevant to the

transformation we are in the midst of at M&S.

During the year, the Committee continued
to focus on the combined skillset and
capabilities of the directors to ensure their
effectiveness in driving our transformnation
strategy forward. It also continued to fulfil
its core responsibitities of reviewing the
structure of the Board and committees,
recommending new Board appointments
and ensuring adherence to formal
appointment and induction processes.

in July, we welcormed Humphrey Singer as
Chief Finance Officer and Katie Bickerstaffe
and Pip McCrostie as non-executive
directors. Richard Solomons stepped down
at the 2018 ACM while Vindi Banga, Senior
Incependent Director (SID) and Chair of

the Remuneration Committee, retired as a
directorin October after seven years of
dedicated service Vindiwas succeeded as
SID by Andy Halford and by Andrew Fisher
as Charr of the Remuneration Committee.
As aresult of this, Andrew stepped down
from the Audit Committee.

Most recently, in January we welcomed
Justin King to the Board. In February, Nick
Foltand joined as Croup General Counsel
and Company Secretary, while Amanda
Mellor, our Croup Secretary and Head

of Corporate Governance since 2009,

left the business with our sincere thanks.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE SNAPSHOT

COMMITTEE ROLE

ACTIVITIES AND EVALUATION

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

The Committee reviews the leadership
and succession needs of the organisation
and ensures that appropriate procedures
arein place for nominating, training and
evaluating directors. Que regard is

given to the benefits of diverse senior
leadership, including gender, social
background and ethnicity.

Inaddition, the Committee ensures

that the Croup's governance facititates
efficient, effective and entrepreneurial
management that can deliver
shareholder value over the longer term.

MEETINGS HELD IN 2018/19

During the year, the Committee
recommended the appointrment of
Justin King as a non-executive director
and continued to support the search
for senior appointments and the
development of our senior talent.

The Committee’s performance was
reviewed as part of the 2018/16 Board
Evaluation (see page 39). It was regarded
as maintaining an effective oversight of
senior managerment changes and
succession during the year.

The Commitiee cormprises the
non-executive directors and is chaired by
Archie Norman, with members of executive
rmanagerment invited to attend meetings
as appropriate.

Details of individual attendance at the
meetings held during the year are set out
below. More information on the skills an¢
experience of all Committee members
can be found on pages 36 and 37.

More information on the Nomination
Committee is available in our full response

to the UK Corporate Governance Code at
marksandspencercom/thecompany.

NUMBER OF MAXIMUM

SIHCE MEETINGS POSSIBLE

ATTENDED MEETINGS
Archie Norman 1 Sept 2017 3 3
Vindi Banga 3 Sept 2011 2 2
Katie Bickerstaffe 10Jul 2018 2 2
Alison Brittain' 1 Jan 2014 2 3
Andrew Fisher 1 Dec 2015 3 3
Andy Halford 1.Jan 2013 3 3
Justin King? 1 Jan 2019 Q 1
Pip McCrostie 10 Jul 2018 2 2
Richard Solomons 13 Apr 2015 1 1

1. Alison Brittain was unable to attend the meeting on 17 May 2018 duetoa priof business commitmant,
2. JustinKing was unableto attend the meeting on 13 March 201 9 due toa prior business commitment.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Our objective of driving the benefits
of a diverse board, senior management
team and wider workforce is
underpinned by our Board Diversity
Policy (the “Policy™), which can be
viewed on our corporate website.
The Board keeps the Policy under
review to ensure that it remains an
effective driver of diversity in its
broadest sense, having due regard to
gender, ethnicity, social background,
skiliset and breadth of experience.

PROGRESS UPDATE

Maintain a level of at least 30%
female directors on the Board

over the short to medium term.
Following the appointments of Katie
Bickerstaffe and Pip McCrostie to the
Boardin July 2018, three of our nine
Board directors are women (33%).

As such, the Board’s minimum target has
been met as at the date of this report.

The Beard remains committed to

its minimum 30% target for female
representation andis also pleased to

have now met the target set outinthe
Hampton-Alexander Review of 33% fermale
representation by 2020. Setting these
targets aside, the Committee will continue
to make recommendations for new
appointments to the Board based on
rmerit, with candidates rmeasured against
objective criteria and with regard to the
skills and experience they offer.

Our principles for Board diversity also
apply to our Operating Committee,
three of whorm are women frorm a total
membership of 11 (27%). The Board
continues to strengthen the pipeline

of senior fernale executives within the
business, and to ensure that there are
no barriers to women succeeding at the
highest levels within M&S. We are pleased
that M&S was again listed in The Times
Top 50 Employers for Women in 2019 for
the ninth year running. More information
on the gender balance of our senior
managerment can be found on page 17.

Ensure tong lists of potential
non-executive directors include

50% female candidates.

All tong lists of potential appointments
include at least 50% female candidates.

© See p19 of our Plan A Review for further
information on diversity across M&S.

Consider candidates for appointment
as non-executive directors from a wider
pool, including those with experience
outside of traditional listed boards.
During the year, the Nomination
Committee discussed non-executive
director appointments and succession.

It worked closely with executive search
agencies in compiling long and short lists
of candidates from various backgrounds
and industries. Candidates were identified,
interviewed and measured against
pre-determined criteria. Although we
donot currently openly advertise our
non-executive director positions,

wekeep thisunder review,

Only engage executive search firms who
have signed up to the Voluntary Code
of Conduct for Executive Search Firms
on gender diversity and best practice.
The Board supports the provisions of the
Voluntary Code of Conduct for Executive
Search Firms and only engages executive
search firms who are signatories to

this code. During the year, our work on
succession was supported by Russell
Reynolds and JCA Group. Neither firon
has any other connection with the
Company aside from the provision

of recruitment services.

Assist the development of a pipeline of
high-calibre candidates by encouraging
a broad range of senior individuals
within the business to take on additional
roles to gain valuable board experience.
The Board supports and encourages
initiatives that strengthen the pipeline

of executive talent in the Company.

it continues to learn from existing
programmes, while introducing new
initiatives to provide development
opportunities to drive the quality of

talent throughout the business.

Key activities include:

- Acomprehensive talent review
presented to the Board, mapping
successional candidates and
opportunities across all senior roles.

= Initiatives for high-potential talent to
broaden their skillsets and experience
to prepare them for future senior roles;
for exarnple, through boardroom
exposure, non-executive and trustee
roles outside of M&S and involvernent
inour Leadership Programme.

- Providing access to business school
training as appropriate.

- Senior management mentaring
schemes and engagement forums
sponsored by Board directors and
Operating Committee members.

Report annually against these
objectives and other initiatives
taking place within the Company
which promote gender and other
forms of diversity.

Diversity and inclusion have continued
to be promoted across the business
with a number of initiatives, including:

- Employee-led networks cngender,
ethnicity (BAME), sexual orientation
(LCBT), and disabilities and health
conditions. This year, we held our third
Diversity & Inclusion festival, engaging
thousands of colleagues across M&S.

- Continued involvernent in the 30% Club,
an organisation committed toincreasing
fernale representation on UK hoards.

= Signing up to Business inthe
Community's (BITC) Race at Work
Charter, affirming our commitment to
removing barriers that ethnic minorities
experiencein the workplace.

- Launching the Breakthrough Leaders
pregramme - 2 pilot leadership and
development programme targeting
women and BAME talent and providing
inclusive leadership training for
delegates and their line managers.

- Active involverment in key campaigns
including LCBT+ Pride cetebrations,
International Women's Day, Black History
Month, Natioral Inclusion Week, Mental
Health Awareness Week and World
International Day of Disability, raising
awareness and our profile as an inclusive
place to work.

-3 Our Marks & Start and Marks & Start
International prograrmmes continue to
support young people, the homeless,
lone parents and those with disabilities
in finding work in our stores and
distribution centres.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

"The Committee provides
valuable independent
challenge and oversight,
ensuring shareholder
interests are protected,
and the Company’s
strategy is supported”

ANDY HALFORD CHAIRMAN OF THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT

INTRODUCTION

As Chairman of the Audit Comimittee

(the “Committee”), | am pleased tc present
the Committee's report for the year ended
30March 2019 The following pages cffer
insight into how the Cornmittee discharged
the responsibilities delegatedtoit by the
Board over the course of the year, as well

as the key topics it considered in doing so.

The Committee’s primary functions were
unchanged this year, and included
moritoring the integrity of the Company's
financial statements and the effectiveness
of its Internal Audit function, maintaining an
appropriate relationship with and reviewing
the independence and effectiveness of the
Company’'s external auditor, Deloitte, and
reviewing the Company's systems of
internal controland risk management.

inaddition ta these principatactivities,

the Committee continuedto assess the
progress being made to maintain and
improve the Company’s data governance,
cyber security systemns, business continuity
procedures and financial controls,and
rmonitored the pace with whichits
recommendations inrespect of internal
controls were remediated. It also considered

property valuations, including carrying
values and disclosures relating tothe M&S
ScottishLimited Partnership. Additionally,
it assessed the implermnentation of IFRS 16,
the new accounting standard relating to
the presentaticn of leases, particularly
reviewing its impact onthe Company’s
balance sheet and the appropriateness of
disclosures to be made. In addition to its
scheduled meetings, the Committee
convened as and when reguired to evaluate
the various potential financing options for
the Ocado joint venture (JV'), ensuring that
any underlying assumptions wererobustly
challenged. This ultimately led to the
Committee’s recommendation to the Board
that a Rights Issue was the appropriate
funding model for this transaction.

In exercising its duties, the Committee
undertakes avitalrole in the Cormpany's
governance framework, providing valuable
independent challenge and oversight
across the Company's financial reporting
and internal control procedures. Ultimately,
it ensures that shareholder interests are
protected and the Cornpany’s long-term
strategy is supported.

AUDIT COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE SNAPSHOT

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

INDEPENDENCE AND EXPERIENCE

MEETINGS HELD IN 2018/19

The Committee solely comprises
independent non-executive directars.

Pip McCrostie joined the Committee upon
herappointment to the Board in July 2018,
and Andrew Fisher stood down from the
Committee on | October 2018 as aresult
of his appointment as Chair of the
Remuneration Committee. Cetailed
information on the experience, skills and
qualifications of alt Committee members
canbe foundonpages 36 and 37,

The Board has confirmed that itis satisfied
that Committee members possessan
appropriate level of independence and
offer adepth of financialand commercial
experience across various industries,
including the retail sector.

The Beard has also confirmedthat it is
satisfied that both Andy Halford and
PipMcCrostie possess recent and
relevant financial experience.

MEMBER
SINCE

HUMBER OF
MEETINGS

MAXIMUM
POSSIBLE
MEETINGS

ATTENDED

Andy Halford 1 Jan 2013 5 5
Alison Brittain 11 Mar 2014 5 5
Andrew Fisher' 3 Feb 2016 2 2
Pip McCrostie? 10 Jul 2018 4 4

| Andrew Fisher stood down from the Commitiee on 1 Ockober 2018.
2. PipMcCrostie joined the Committee an her appointment to1he Board on 10 July 2018.

The Committee held five meetings

during the year, with members of senior
management invited to attend as and when
specialist technical knowledge was required.

The Committee met without management
present before each full meeting. it also met
privately with the lead audit partners,and
separately with the Head of Internat Audit &
Risk, after each meeting.

it is important for the Committee Chairman
to futly understand any topics of particular
concernin order tofacilitate meaningful
dialogue during Committee meetings. To
support this, Andy Halford meets regularly,
on a one-to-one bas’s, with the Chief Finance
Officer, Director of Croup Finance, Head of
Internal Audit & Risk, members of senior
management and the lead audit partners.

Maore information about the Audit
Committee is available in aur full response
to the UK Corporate Governance Code at
marksandspencercom/thecompany.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS REVIEW

The Committee’s performance was
reviewed within the framework of the
2018/1% internal Board Evaluation (discussed
on page 39).Feedback on thelevel of
challenge and gquality of updates provided
by the Committee to the Board was positive.

The Cormmittee was considered to function
wellin terms of meeting structure and the
levels of engagement and challenge
provided byits members. It continuesto be
regarded as thorough and effective, with
demands on members'time viewed as
extensive but not problematic. Additionally,
it was noted that the Committee considered

that the key strategic cancerns facing the
business, suchas IT and systerns, would

benefit from greater focus in the year ahead.

The range of assurance provided tothe
Board by the Cormmittee was deemed
appropriate. Howeaver,improvements could
be madein respect of the pace with which
the business actions certain matters
following discussions with the Committee.

The Commmittee made good progress
onthe 201819 action plan, particularlyin
relation to the Internal Audit effectiveness
review and implementation of its findings.

2019/20 ACTION PLAN

- Monitor the recommendations of the
internal Audit effectiveness review
undertakenin 2018/19.

- Increase focus onrisk reporting and
emphasising accountabitity for risk at
business unit level

- Monitor the progress and pace of delivery
of the Company's wider technology and
cyber security transformation.

WHAT WAS ON THE COMMITTEE'S AGENDA IN 2018/19

CORE DUTIES

The Committee undertook the following
core activities during the year:

- Monitored the integrity of the annuat
and interim financiat staterents and any
formal announcements relating to the
Company's financial performance,
with a focus onreviewing the significant
financial reporting policies and
judgements withinthem.

- Reviewed the implementation of the
new IFRS 16 accounting standard.

- Reviewed internat controls and risk
management processes.

- Maintained the retationship with the
external auditor, including manitoring
their independence and effectiveness.

- Reviewed the effectiveness and
independence of the Internal Audit &
Risk function.

- Reviewed the effectiveness of the
Company’s whistleblowing procedures.

- Reviewed and approved the Company's
staternent of compliance with the
Groceries Supply Code of Practice.

- Reviewed the Board's approach
to assessing the Company’s
long-term viability.

- Assessed whether the Annual Report,
taken as a whole, was fair, balanced
and understandable,

INTERNAL CONTROL UPDATES

The Committee receives updates on
internal control matters at each meeting.
This regular monitcring of the internat
control framework allows tirmely
identification of issues and formal tracking
of remedliztion plans. Instances where the
effectiveness of internal controls were
considered insufficient were discussed
during the year, either by the Audit
Committee or the full Board. These

have included controls in relation to

IT systems access and management,

the Three-Year Plan and UK store estate
strategy. The Committee provided robust
challenge inrespect of the speed of
change as well encouraging clearer
accountability for and measurement

of progress.

The Committee alsc monitors those
elements of the control framework that,

by necessity, are subject toregular review,
challenge and update, most notably in
relationto cyber security. As part of the
annual review of internal control, the
Committee revisits these mattersto
ensure that agreed actions are being
implemented to support a programme of
rmaintaining and improving internal control.

The Committee noted the findings
highlighted in the external auditor's report
and confirms that it is satisfied that there
is no material misstatement and that
relevant actions are beingtaken to
resolve the controlmatters raised.

MANAGEMENT UPDATES

The Committee received detailed updates
frorm one or more business areas at each
of its meetings. These presentations are
scheduled onarolling 12-month basis,
with additional matters identified by
Internal Audit added throughout the

year as they arise. The followingis an
overview of some of the key activities
undertaken during 2018/19.

Data governance

- Reviewed the findings of a GOPR
Embedded Controls review undertaken
by the Internat Audit function.

- Discussed initiatives to drive data
awareness and cultural change
across the business,

Cyber security

- Received regutar updates onthe
work undertaken to ensure that
adequate ¢yber security systems
were maintained.

-» Considered data breaches within the
market, and reviewed the results of
cyber-attack simulation scenarios
initiated in response.

- Discussed and challenged the
processesin place to deal with
internal security breaches.

Business continuity

-» Received updates on the crisis
management and business recovery
capability across all retailand
distribution operations.

- Discussed key initiatives undertaken
during the year, including a number of
wide-reaching crisis management
exercises,improvennents to incident
reporting capability, and a full review
of our approach to critical suppliers.

- Endorsed the business continuity
priorities for 2019/20, including reviewing
Castle Donington's disaster recovery
plan, ongoing assessment and testing of
global terrorism and cyber security
preparedness, and enhancements to the
My Safety app and communications
channel with our colleagues.

Ocado JV

- BEvaluated the financing options for the
deal and ultimately recommended a
Rights Issue to the Board.

Brexit

- Discussedthe key risks associated
with a potential “no deal” Brexit, with a
focus onfinancial implications, including
increases inimport duties, increases
insupplier costs and additional
administration and delays at ports.

- Reviewed and challenged the steps
being taken and potentialactions to
mitigate the risks of ‘no deal”.

Clothing & Home risk management

- Received an update on the improving
systemns of risk management and
accountability in Clothing & Home.

- Reviewed the business assessments of
its major risks, and challenged the
assumptions usedin evaluating them.

- Discussed the ongoing management
and mitigation of the business’ primary
risks, relating {o e-commerce site
recovery and disaster recovery at
Castle Doningtor:.

STRATECIC REPORY
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

SICNIFICANT ISSUES

The Audit Committee has assessed
whether suitabte accounting palicies
have been adopted and whether
management has made appropriate
judgements and estimates.

Throughout the year, the Finance team

has worked to ensure that the business is
transparent and provides the required level
of disclosure regarding significant issues
considered by the Committee in relation

to the financial statements, as wellas

how these issues were addressed, white
being mindful of matters that may be
business-sensitive.

This section outlines the main areas of
judgement that have been considered by
the Committee to ensure that appropriate
rigour has been applied. Al accounting
policies canbefoundinnote 1 tothe
financial statements, Where further
infermationis provided in the notes to

the financial statements, we have
included the note reference.

Each of the areas of judgement has been
identified as an area of focus and therefore
the Committee has also received detailed
reporting on these matters from Deloitte.

PRESENTATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Cornmittee gave consideration to the
presentation of the financial statements
and, in particular, the use of alternative
performance measures andthe
presentation of adjusting iterns in
accordance with the Group accounting
policy. This policy states that adjustments
are only made to reported profit before tax
whereincome and charges are significant
in value and/or nature. The Committee
received detailed reports from
management outlining the judgements
applied in relation to the disclosure of
adjusting itermns. In the current year,
management has included in this
category: net costs associated with the
implementation of strategic programmes
inrelation to UK store estate, organisation,
operational transformation, IT restructure,
UK logistics, charges arising in relation to
changes to pay and pensions and
International store closures and
impairments (the closure of International-
owned businesses) impairments and
write-off of the carrying value of UK stares
and other property charges, the reguction
inM&S 8ank charges incurred inrelation
totheinsurance mis-selling provision;
guaranteed minimum pensicn and other
pension equalisation; and charges relating
to establishing the Ocado JV.

This was an area of major focus forthe
Committee, which was cognisant of the
need to ensure external disclosures are
fulsome given the significance of the
aggregate values (£438.6m charge}and
the guidelines on the use of alternative
performance measures issued by the
European Securities and Markets Authority.

© See note 5 on p105

PROPERTY MATTERS (INCLUDING
ASSET WRITE-OFFS, ONEROUS
LEASE CHARGES AND USEFUL
ECONOMIC LIVES)

The Committee has considered the
assessments made inrelationto the
accounting associated with the Group's

UK store estate strategy. The Committee
received detailed reports from
management outlining the accounting
treatment of the relevant charges including
impairment, accelerated depreciation,
dilapidations, redundancy and onerous
lease costs {including void periods).

The Committee has reviewed the basis

for the key assumptions used in the
estimation of charges {most notably in
relation to the costs associated with
property exit/sub-let costs, the sale
proceeds expected tobe recovered on

exit, whererelevant, and the cash flows

to be generated by each cash-generating
unitin the period to closure). The Committee
has challenged management andis
satisfied that the assumptions made are
appropriate. The Comrnitiee is also satisfied
that appropriate costs and associated
provisions have beenrecognised inthe
current financial year.

The Committee has also understood the
sensitivity analysis used by managerment
inits review of impairments. In addition,

the business plans detaiting management’s
expectations of future performance of

the businessare Board approved. The
Committeeis satisfied that appropriate
impairment of tangible and intangible
assets has beenrecognised.

© See notes 1, 5, 14 and 15 on p101-102,
p10S and p116-119

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Committee has reviewed the actuarial
assumptions, such as discount rate, inflation
rate, expected return of scheme assets and
mortality, which determine the pension
costand the UK defined benefit scheme
valuation,and has concluded that they are
appropriate. The assumplions have been
disclosedin the financial statermnents,

© See note 11 on p110-113

@ See notes 1,5, 15 and 22 on p10Y,
p105, pi18 and p131

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL, BRANDS,
TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Committee has considered the
assessments made in relation to the
impairment of goodwill, brands, tangible
and intangible fixed assets including land
and buildings, store assets and software
assets. The Committee received detailed
reports from management outlining the
treatment of impairnnents, valuation
methodology, the basis for key assumptions
(eg. discount rate and long-term growth
rate) and the key drivers of the cash flow
forecasts. The Committee has challenged
management and is satisfied that these
are appropriate.

REVENUE RECOGNITION IN RELATION
TO REFUNDS, GIFT CARDS AND
LOYALTY SCHEMES

Revenue accruals for sales returns and
deferred income inrelation to loyalty
scheme redemptions and gift card and
credit voucher redemptions are estimated
based onhistoricalreturns and
redemptions. The Committee has
consicered the basis of these accruals,
along with the analysis of historical returns

. andredemption rates and has agreed with

the judgements reached by management.

O See note 1 on p97

SUPPLIER INCOME

The Committeeis satisfied that this
continues to be monitored closely by
rmanagement and controls are inplace
to ensure appropriate recognitionin
the correct period. Further control
improvements are planned in the coming
year. The financial statements include
specific disclosures inrelation tothe
accounting policy and of the effect of
supplier income on certain balance
sheet accounts.

£ See nate 1 on p97
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES CONTINUED

IFRS 16

IFRS 16 Leases is effective for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019,

The Croup will adopt the new financial
reporting standard frorm 31 March 2019

and the financial statements for the 52
weeks ended 28 March 2020 will be the first
prepared under the new standard. The
Croup has decided to adopt using the fully
retrospective transition approach, meaning
the comparative period will atso be restated
at this time. As atessee, IFRS 16 removes
distinctions between operating and finance
leases and requires the recognition of a right

of use asset and corresponding liability for
future lease payables. For further details,
see the Accounting policies section of

the financial staternents. The Comrmittee
has received regular updates from
rmanagerment outlining the impact of the
new accounting standard, including the
judgements and key assumpticns used in
the estimation of the impact. The
Cormmittee has reviewed with management
andis satisfied that these are appropriate.

© See note 1 on p96

VALUATION OF MARKS AND
SPENCER GROUP PLC
COMPANY ONLY INVESTMENT

Marks and Spencer Group plc holds
investments in Croup companies which are
reviewed annually forimpairment.
Managerment has prepared an impairment
review based on estimated value inuse of
the Group. While the headroom is reduced
from the prior year, management has
concluded that no impairment should be
recognised in the year (see note C6
Investrents on page 139). The Committee
has reviewed managerent papers outlining
the key assumptions used in calcutating
the value inuse and is satisfied that these
are appropriate.

FAIR, BALANCED AND UNDERSTANDABLE

At the request of the Board, the
Committee has considered whether,
in its opinion, the 2019 Annual Report
and Financial Statements are fair,
balanced and understandable, and
whether they provide the information
necessary for shareholders to assess
the Group's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

The structure of the Annual Report
continues to focus strongly onthe

key strategic messagesin the Strategic
Report. It was therefore important for the
Cornmittee to ensure that this emnphasis
did not dilute the overall transparency in
the disclosures made throughout the
report, which it knows stakeholders find
useful, and that the messages presented
by the business are both clear and reflective
of the Company asa whole.

The Committee received a full draft of

the report Feedback was provided by the
Cornmittee, highlighting the areas that
would benefit from further clarity. The draft
report was then amended to incorporate
this feedback ahead of final approvat.

The Committee was provided with a list

of the key messages included in the

Annual Report, highlighting those that were
positive and those that were reflective of
the challenges from the year. A supporting
document was also provided, specifically
addressing the following listed points,
highlighting where these could be
evidencedwithin the report.

When forming its opinion, the Committee
reflected on the information it had received
and its discussions throughout the year.

In particular, the Committee considered:

IS THE REPORT FAIR?

- Is the whole story presented and has
any sensitive material been omitted
that should have beenincluded?

- Isreporting on the business performance
inthe narrative regorting consistent with
that used for the financial reporting in
the financial statements?

- Are the key messages in the narrative
reflected in the financial reporting?

-3 Are the KPis disclosed at anappropriate
level based on the financial reporting?

IS THE REPORT BALANCED?

- Isthere 2 good level of consistency
between the narrative reporting in
the front and the financial reperting
inthe back of the report,and does
the messaging presented withineach
part remain consistent when oneis
read independently of the other?

- Is the Annual Report property considered
adocument for shareholders?

- Are the statutory and adjusted
measures explained clearly with
appropriate prominence?

-3 Arethe key judgements referred tointhe
narrative reporting and the significant
issues reported in this Audit Committee
Report consistent with the disclosures
of key estimation uncertainties and
criticat judgermnents set out in the
financial statements?

- How do the significant issues identified
compare with the risks that Deloitte plans
toinclude inits report?

IS THE REPORT UNDERSTANDABLE?

- Isthere a clear and understandable
frarnework to the report?

-> Are the important messages highlighted
appropriately throughout the document?

- Isthe layout clear with goodlinkage
throughout in amanner that reflects
the whole stary?

CONCLUSICN

Following its review, the Committee

was of the opinion that the 2019 Annual
Report and Financial Statements are
representative of the year and present
a fair, balanced and understandable
overview, providing the necessary
information for shareholders to assess
the Group's position, performance,
business model and strategy.

STRATECIC REPORT
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

TENURE

Deloitte was appointed by shareholders
as the Group's statutory auditor in

2014 following a formal tender process.
The lead audit partner, fan Waller, has
been in post for five years. Following
completion of the 2018/19 audit he will
be replaced as lead audit partner by
Richard Muschamp. The external audit
contract will be put out to tender at
{east every 10 years. The Committee
considers that it would be appropriate
to conduct an external audit tender

by no later than 2024.

The Committee recommends that Deloitte
be reappointed as the Company's statutory
auditor for the 2019/20 financial year.

It believes the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor and

the effectiveness of the audit process

are safeguarded and remain strong.

The Companyisincompliance with the
requirements of the Statutory Audit
Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation (Mandatory Use of
Competitive Tender Processes and Audit
Committee Responsibilities} Order 2014 ard
the Corporate Covernance Code. There are
no contractual obligations that restrict the
Committee's choice of external auditor.

EFFECTIVENESS

The effectiveness of our externat auditor
is assessed in accordance with a process
agreed by the Audit Commitkee, which
involves gathering information through
a series of questionnaires tailored to the
following target groups:

1. Heads of Finance for Food, Clothing
& Home and international:

Short guestionnaire Focusing on the audit
team, planning, challenge and interaction
with the business.

2, Chief Finance Officer and Director
of Group Finance:

Longer questionnaire covering ail areas
of the audit process and taking into
account the questionnaires completed
by the Heads of Finance.

The Committee was provided with a
summary of the Chief Finance Officer
and Director of Group Finance responses
and had access to copies of the
completed management questionnaires
(sections 1 and 2 above) to assist with

its own considerations.

Feedback fromeach of the target
groups was positive overalt It was agreed
that the audit partners have a good
understanding of our business as well

as our values and culture.

It was agreed that the audit process and
audit team have challenged management’s
thinking and contributed toimproved
standards. Areas of focus for the year ahead
will be on driving challenge and insight
around finance and internal controls.

NON-AUDIT FEES

To safeguard the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor, the
Committee has put in place a robust
auditor engagement policy which it
reviews annually. The policy is disclosed
on marksandspencer.com/thecampany.

The Committeeis satisfied that the
Company was compliant during the year
with both the UK Corporate Covernance
Code andthe FRC's Ethical and Auditing
Standards in respect of the scope and
maximunrn permitted level of fees incurred
for non-audit services provided by Deloitte.
Where non-audit work is performed by
Deloitte, both the Company and Deloitte
ensure adherence torobust processes to
prevent the objectivity and independence
of the auditor from being comprormised.

All non-audit work performed by Deloitte
was put to the Audit Cornmittee for prior
consideration and approval, regardless of
size, Further details on non-audit services
provided by Deloitte can be foundin
Note 4 to the financial statements.

The non-audit fees to audit fees ratio for
the financiatyear ended 30 March 2019
was 0.21., compared with the previous
year'sratio of 0.11:1. The majority of the
E£0.42min non-audit fees paid in total to
Deloitte during 2018/19 was incurred for
assurance services provided during the
year. These comprised fees in respect of
the Half Year review, Ocado joint venture
synergy review, turnover certificates,

the annual Eure Medium Term Note
(EMTN) programme renewal, reviews of
quarterly trading statements, aborted
EMTN issuance relating to the Ocado joint
venture andassurance services for overseas
entities. It is normal practice for such
assurance services tobe provided by the
Company's statutory auditor.

In addition, the Audit Committee has
pre-approved Fees of up to £480kin
relation to the role of Deloitte as reporting
accountant inthe rightsissue, which

will beincurred and included in FY2019/20
non-audit fees.

No additionatrecurring or one-off non-audit
services were provided during the year.
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ASSURANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

The Board assumes ultimate
responsibility for the effective
management of risk across the Group,
determining its risk appetite as well
as ensuring that each business area

implements appropriate internal controls.

The Group's risk management systems
are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or koss.

O See p29-33 of the Strategic Report for
more information on our material risks

© See p27-28 for further informatian on
our risk 1

"
gement pr

The key features of the Group's internal
controland risk management systerns
that ensure the accuracy and reliability of
financial reporting include clearly defined
limes of accountability and delegation

of authority, policies and procedures that
cover financial planning and reporting.
preparing consolidated accounts, capital
expenditure, project governance and
information security, and the Croup's
Cade of Ethics and Behaviours.

SOURCES OF ASSURANCE

2. Management updates

Management provides updates to the
Committee on how risks are managed in
individual business areas. These updates are
complemented by the independent reviews
conducted by Internal Audit.

3. Functional assurance

Responsible for maintaining control over
critical areas of risk. A key improvement
during the year has been the rnobilisation
of adedicated Change & Control team.
The processes and controls of these
functions are tested by Internal Audit
during periodic audits.

4. Committees

Relevant committees within the
organisation provide regular updates to
the Audit Committee, such as Fire, Health &
Safety and Business Continuity.

GOVERNANCE

The Group was compliant throughout the
year with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Covernance Code relating to internal
controls and the FRC's revised Cuidance

on Audit Committees and Guidance on Risk
Management, Internal Controland Related
Financial and Business Reporting.

The Committee has considered the controls
findings raised in the independent auditor's
report on pages 81-90. No other significant
failings or weaknesses were identified
during the Committee’s review in respect

of the year ended 30 March 2019and up to
the date of this Annual Repaort.

Where the Committee has identified areas
requiring improvement, processes arein
place to ensure that the necessary action
is taken and that progress is monitored.

Further detaits of these processes can

be found within our detailed Corporate
Governance Statement, whichis available
to view in the Corporate Governance
section of our website.

INTERNAL ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK

Source of information

Frequency/nature of reporting

The Board has delegated responsibility

far reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's systems of internal control to the
Audit Committee. This covers all material
controls including financial, operaticnal and
compliance controls and risk management
systemns. The Committee is supported by
anumber of sources of internal assurance
from within the Group in order to complete
these reviews, in particular:

1. Internat Audit

The Group's primary source of internal
assurance rermains delivery of the Internal
Audit Plan, which is structured to align
with the Group's strategic priorities and
key risks andis developed by Internal
Audit with input from managerent.
Recormmendations from Internal Audit are
communicated to the relevant business
area forimplementation of appropriate
corrective measures, with results
reported to the Committee.

The work cormpleted by Internal Audit
during the year has been directed towards
key areas including IT, information and
data security, core finance operations and
key areas of risk such as food safety and
GSCOP compliance.

Jnternal - Internal Audit Plan
Audit - Regular reports against Plan
- Follow-up of remediation

- Updates on fraud, whistleblowing
and other irregularity

Formal updates presented
to the Committee at
each meeting

Updates tao Audit
Committee Chairman

Papers submitted on arange
of issues inciuding:

- information security

- Bribery

- Code of Ethics and Behaviours
- GSCOP

- Financial Control

Management
updates

Formal updates presented
to the Committee annually
and as appropriate

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

Functional audit activities
undertaken,including

- Food safety andintegrity
- Ethical audits
- Trading safely andlegally

Functional
assurance

Updates provided to the
Committee as requested
or appropriate

Committees ~ Fire,Health & Safety Committee
- Pian A Committee’
- Business Continuity Committee

Direct reporting lines _
to the Committee, with
annual updates from
the relevant executive

STRATECIC REPORT
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REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION

“The Committee ensures
that executive pay
arrangements remain
appropriate when

considering M&S's overall
remuneration framework

and external regulatory
environment”

ANDREW FISHER CHAIR OF THE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

IN THIS SECTION

REMUNERATION

Rermuneration overview p54-57
Remuneration in context p58
Remuneration policy summary p59-62

@ Full policy available at
marksandspencercom/thecompany
in the 2097 annual report

ANNUAL REPCRT
ON REMUNERATION

Remumeration structure pb3

“otal single * gure rernuncration p63

Zalary and be~efits p64

Annual Bonus Scheme p65-66
Performance Share Plan p66-68

Directors’ share interests p69-70

Changes to Board membership p72
Non-executive directors’ remuneration p73
Remuneration Committee remit p74

OVERV

INTRODUCTION

=W

ANDREW FISHER CHAIR QF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Onbehalf of the Board, |am pleased to
present our 2018 Remuneration Report, rmy
first as the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Committee's report covers
the required regulatory information,
balanced against commercial sensitivities,
and also provides further context and
insight into our director pay arrangements.

The report provides a comprehensive
picture of the structure and scale of our
rermuneration framework, its alignment with
the business strategy and the rest of the
workforce, as well as the decisions made by
the Committee as aresult of business
performance for this year.

A summary of the approved Remuneration
Policy for the year, the Committee’s
considerations and the intended
arrangements for 2019/20 are set out on
pages 63-75 of this report. The full Policy
can be viewed onthe Company's website at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

BOARD CHANGES

Following the departure of Helen Weir

at the end of the last financial year,

in July 2018 we were delighted to welcome
Humphrey Singer as CFQ. As detailed in the
2018 report, the Committee was pleased
that we not only secured the ermnptoyment
of Humphrey Singer under our normal
framework, but that we were able to further
sinnplify our pay structures, removing any
additional allowznces for pension or car
from his arrangements.

Early 2018 also saw the departure of

Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne. Details of

his leaving arrangements, along with full
recruitment details for Humphrey, can

be found on page 72 of this report. Due to
the principle of mitigation built into the
executive director Terrnination Policy, the
Company was only required to pay a small
proportion of Patrick's potential contractual
notice period that woutd have been required
had this principle not beenin place.

Reflecting on these arrangements, the
Committee believes that our Rermuneration
Policy continues to provide appropriate
flexibility inensuring that any payments
madein theimplementation of the Policy
are inthe best interests of both the
Company and our shareholders while being
fair to the individual As we look to the
future, the Committee continues to be
mindful of the ever-changing politicat and
retail trading landscape andthe needto
ensure strategic alignment of the
remuneration framework together with a
rmotivational package for senior colleagues.

CONTEXT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

As referenced earlier in this report, M&S
rernains in the first ‘Restoring the Basics'
phase of the transformation. In Clothing &
Home, despite underlying progress this
year, transforrmaticn is yet to be reflected
in like-for-like sales. In Food, whilst
encouraging signs of volume growth were
seeninthe finalquarter, again like-for-like
sales were down and smallimprovement
gains continue to be offset by challenges
with our supply chain. As demonstrated on
page 55, and referenced throughout this
Rermuneration Repart, thereis a strong
alignment between M&S's key performance
indicators and the measures and targets of
directorincentive schermes. As described
later, itis to be expected that payments
under both the Annual Bonus Scheme and
Performance Share Plan will be impacted by
this challenging trading environment and
the requirement of M&S to strengthenits
ability to transformand adapt with pace.
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STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK WITH KPIS

]

Annual
Performance Bonus
Share Plan Scheme Looking
KPl/Strategic Priority As measured by (PSP) (ABS) Historic Forward
KP| Adjusted Earnings Per Share (EPS)  Financial Results ® [ X
'@ See KPIs Return On Capital Employed (ROCE) @ ® ®
onp22 Free Cash Flow o @
Croup PBT Before Adjusting ltems @ L J ®
(PBTY -
STRATECIC 1 Transforming Leadership Team New management team ® [ )
PRIORITY ' Talent review @ [
] ge_e s.t{ategic Team development ® ) @
(gle]g
ong?' e 2 Building Creater Accountabilities ~ New management team @ ®
. Tearn developrment [ ] ®
Clear and consistent ® ®
reporting
Accelerate cutture and L J ®
organisation change
3 Digital First Retailer Sparks @ @
‘ Online capabilities ® ®
Technology enabled store [ ] [
portfolio and operations
Accelerate Onlife Crowih @ @
4 Reshaping the Ranges and Customer Range management 9 [
Profile in Clothing & Home
8 Modernising the Supply Chain Supply chaindelivery [ [ [ )
9 Cost Savings ) Cperating costs and control @ ® ®
of capital expenditure :
Cost Strategy Programme ® ®
' 2018/19 PERFORMANCE
® ® e ®
ADJUSTED EARNINCS RETURN ON CAPITAL CUMULATIVE FREE CASH FLOW GROUP PBT BEFORE
PER SHA EMPLOYED ° ADJUSTING ITEMS

25.4p

Adjusted EPSin 2018/19 was
25.4p0. This was below the 289p
threshold required for any vesting
under this element of the 2016
PSP award.

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF PAY

Average three-year ROCE
performance was 14%. As a result,
9% out of a maxinmum of 20% of
the 2016 PSP will vest under

M&S is committed to transformation and,

in oroer to support this, the Committee
ensures alignment of the measures and
targets usedin M&S's incentive schemes,
specifically those of the Performance Share
Plan and Annual Bonus Scheme, with the
KPls and strategic priorities being used
across the business. Theillustration above
demonstrates this strong linkage between
the KPls and strategic priorities, payments
to directors, and business performance over
the short-and long-term.

The Committee will continue to thoroughly
review the pay structures and incentive
arrangements for the senior leadership
team to ensure strong alignment between
the delivery of business performance

and the associated remuneration
arrangements as the business continues
along this five-year transformation journey.

14%

this element.

TERMS OF REFERENCE AND WIDER
WORKFORCE PAY ARRANGEMENTS

This continugs to be atime of significant
activity within the world of executive
rermuneration. 2018 saw the Financial
Reporting Council publish its much-
anticipated revised 2018 UK Corporate
Covernance Code and we welcome the
greater stakeholder focus and development
of UK corporate governance in a way that

. supports existing good business practice.

lam pleased to be able te say that both
wider colleague pay alignment and cultural
context is woven throughout the remit and
activities of M&S’s Remuneration
Committee. Throughout the year, the
Committee debates and discusses
aversight of key people policy areas such as
performance management and diversity
andinclusion, as well as gender pay
reporting and reward framework and

£1,587m - £523.2m

Cumulative free cash flow performance
for the three-year pericd ending in
2018/19 was £1,587m. As a result, 25%
out of 3 maximum of 30% of the 2016
PSP will vest under this element.

Group PBT was below the
thweshold for bonus payments
to be made under the 2018/19

Annual Bonus Scheme.

budgets. Furthermore, demonstrating the
Committee’s commitment to meaningful
and transparent engagement on pay
practicesin the wider workforce, the chair of
M&S's employee representative body s -
invited to attend and contribute to a
Committee meeting each year to allow
two-way feedback. As evidence of our
comritment to transparent reporting,
along withembracing the spirit of the new
regulations, we have chosen te publish an
early indication of the M&S CEQ: employee
pay ratio which can be found on page 58, -
atongside M&S's gender pay statistics, which
are included inthe Rermuneration Report for
the first time.

Within the principle'of best practice, the
Rernuneration Committee reviewsits

Terms of Reference onan annual basis. in
anticipation of the revised 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code, a thorough appraisal was




undertaken in 2017/18 during which the role
and remit of the Remuneration Committee
was reviewed and broadenedtoinclude a
‘more formal and wider consideration of our
reward framework and fairness across the
organisation. After 12 months of working
under these revised Terms of Reference,
the emphasis of the 2018/19 review was a
sharpening and focusing of activities of

the Committee, while ensuring they capture
allelerments of the final published Code.
More detail around the remit and activities
of the Committee can be found on

page 74 and the Company's website at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

SINGLE FIGURE AND INCENTIVE
SCHEME QUTCOMES

The graph below sumimarises the total
payments made to executive directors in
2018/19, illustrating the figures detailed in
the singte figure chart set out later in this
report on page 63,

Cverall pay levels for the CEQ were higher

than last year. Cumulative free cash flow has

driven an uplift in vesting under the 2016
‘Perfermance Share Plan’ (PSP} which wilt
vest at 34.0% in Decermber 2019 for the
three-year performance peridéd up to
30 March 2019. Page 67 of this report
provides further detail on the specifics
of the targets set and the respective
achievernent under each measure, which
are also summarised in the illustration
opposite. The remit of the Committee is
toensure that targets set sre stretching
yet achievable, rewarding the delivery
of sustainable, ambiticus long-term
performance. While this vesting'is higher
than that seen in recent years under the
Perfarmance Share Plan, it remains low
when reviewed in the context of the wider
market. Bowever, the Committee is satisfied
that this vesting is reflective of the
challenging business performance Steve
- Rowe and Archie Norman have both
highlighted earlier in this Annual Report.

The 2018/19 Annual Bonus Scheme was
designed on restoring the business to
praofitable growth. Annual performance for
the year was again focused on Group PBT
before adjusting items (PBT) with individuat
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REMUNERATION OVERVIEW CONTINUED

measures set against the key areas of
delivery deemed most critical to the
transformation journey. As with previous
years, individual performance was
measuredindependently of PBT
performance, but, mirroring arrangerments
elsewhere in the business, no individual
element could be earned untit the threshold
needed to secure payment under the PBT
elerment was similarly achieved. For the
2018/19 financial year, the PET achievernent
of £523.2mwas below the threshold to
trigger a bonus payment and no bonus was
paid under the Annual Bonus Scheme to
anyone within the organisation, including
executive directors. However,inorderto .
ensure continued strong governance and
transparent reporting to shareholders, and
inline with the normal processes, the
Committee discussed eachdirector’s
achievement against the relevant individual
performance targets. Final achievernent
against these individual objectives is
detailed on page 65 of this report.

The Committee is satisfied that incentive
payments made to executive directors
during the year are appropriate in the
context of business performance for
2018/19 and payments made elsewherein
the business.

PAY ARRANGEMENTS FOR 2019/20

When reviewing satary levels, the
Committee takes inte account a number of
internaland external factors, primarily the
salary review principles applied to the rest of
the organisation, but also Company
performance during the year and external
market data, Salary reviews being awarded
across the wider organisationranged from
2% to 4% and, to this extent, the-Committee
 decided that it would be appropriate to
award a salary increase of 3% to Steve Rowe
and 2% to Humphrey Singer. The Committee
felt that the salary increase awarded to
_Steve Rowe is appropriate given that he has
not received a salary increase since his
appointment to CEQ in 2016, despite his

" salary being set significantly lower than that -

of his predecessor. Humphrey Singer's
increase is in line with salary increases

granted to the management population.
As detailed within this report, the
Commitiee made the recommendation,
and Steve agreed, that this pay increase
would not apply to Steve's pension
supplement. During the coming year, the
Committee will be considering the
treatment of executive director pension
supplerments in M&S ahead of the 2020
Remuneration Policy renewal.

The Annual Bonus Scheme remains
unchanged from 2018/19 and will continue
to be based on corporate financial targets

. {currently 70%) and individual objectives

{currently 30%). The maximum opportunity
will remainat 200% of salary. As we continue
our transformation the Committee believes
that it remains appropriate for PBT to
continue to represent the largest element
of bonus potential. This focus on
transformationis also reflected inthe
individual objectives for both the CEO

and CFQwhich are further described on
page 66.

The Committee continues to ensure that
the remuneration framework for executives
is aligned to shareholder interests. This
means fully atigning perforrmance measures
usedin the incentive.schemes to the
business strategy and setting targets which
are both stretching and yet motivating for
directors. While it is proposed that the 2019
Performance Share Plan (PSP) will maintain
measures used by the 2017 and 2018 PSP
awards, being equally split between
Adjusted EPS (EPS), Average ROCE{ROCE)
and Relative TSR(TSR), for the 2015 award we
have reset EPS targets from those seenin
awards from previous years. The intentionto
make such an agjustment to these targets
was fully communicated to our main
shareholders and their feedback was taken
on board prior to any decisions being made.
Overall, the Committee believes that these
PSP targets are appropriately stretchingin
the context of the business and analyst
expectations and remain as equally
challenging as those set at the start of the
performance period for previous awards.
Full details can be found on page €8.

SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION FOR 2018/19

Total £000
Steve £1,046 £621 £1,667
Rowe
Humphrey E439 £0 £439
Singer .
Fixed pay PSP Total bonus

O See Single figure remuneration on p63

© See Annual Bonus Scheme on pés

© See PSP on p67-68
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PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP) VESTING 2019

VESTING OUTCOMES

IMPACT OF SHARE PRICE CHANGE
ON PSP VESTING VALUES

Cumulative \ v ‘47%
Free cash flow i Share price |
i \\\\\ ! decline !

® Maximum 30% \\

® Actual 25% \\\

Adjusted EPS \\ e :

CASH
@ Maxirom co% \ FLOW ADJEI.'J)SSTED MAX
® Actual 0% N\ T . MAX
' e AVERAGE

Average ROCE ROCE ~

® Maximum 20%

®Actual 9% 7/

- 7

Qutturn i

@ Maximum ©100% OUTTURN

® Actual 34% OUTTURN
Value at Value at

grant share price vesting share price . -
{£3.28) (£279)
- O See Perforr_nance Share Plan onp66-68
LOOKING AHEAD

This will be the final year under the current
remuneration framework, as at the 2020
AGM we will be seeking your support and
approval for 3 new Rermuneration Policy.
Any new Policy put to our shareholders will
remain steadfast in ensuring that executive
director pay arrangements support and
drive the business strategy while remaining
appropriate when considered within the

- overall M&S remuneration framework
and the external regulatary environment.
Arabust framework is especially crucial
giventhe challenging environment in which
we are operating. We will be supported by
our Cornmittee advisors when formulating
the new Policy to ensure strong atignment
with business objectives,in both the short-
and long-term, with a view to delivering
strong performance and sustainable
shareholder returns, As ever,we will seek to
engage with our major shareholders as part
of this process to both reflect their views
and to maintain open dialogue on director
pay arrangements,

As we look to the future, the Committee
willalso need to take into consideration -
the impact of the joint venture between
M&S and Ocado, 3 partnership we believe
will bring substantial benefits and has
transformative potential for aur business.

The Committee fully intends to review the -

extent to which the joint venture impacts
structures, targets and applications of
M&S's incentive arrangements in both
the short-and long-term.

twould like to thank our shareholders for
their continued suppart during the year,

| will be available at the Company's Annual
Ceneral Meeting on g July 2019 to answer
any guestions in relation to this
Remuneration Report.

ANDREW FISHER
CHAIR OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
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REMUNERATION
N CONTEXT

CONSIDERATION OF COLLEAGUE AND STAKEHOLDER VIEWS

COLLEAGUE ENGAGEMENT

- Share ownership across our
colleagues Across our UKand Irish
colleagues, M&S has a significant
number of participants inall
employee share schemes.M&8Sisa
proud advocate of employee share
ownership, encouraging colleagues
to share in M&S's success while
aligning interests with our
shareholders.

- Direct engagement with our
colleagues The chair of the M&S
colleague representative body is
invited to attend a Rermuneration
Committee meeting each year 1o
engage and contribute on both
executive pay and pay across the
wider workforce.

- Pay Budgets Under the remit of the
Rernuneration Committee, total
budgeted salary expenditure across
M&S for salary review is noted,
ensuring principles for reward.
allocation are aligned across the full
workfarce, inclusive of senior leaders.

GENDER PAY CAP

The M&S median gender pay gap far
the year to April 2018is 4.2%, compared
to a national average of 179%. The M&S
mean gap for the same periodis 12.5%.

Inthe iast 12 months we've made several
steps tofurther promote andenhance
diversity and equality at ME&S. This
includes, but is by no means lirnited to,
development of a formal female talent
pipeline, ensuring gender balanced
recruitment campaigns and building a
clear diversity & inclusion strategy '
governed by an Inclusion Croup mage
up of directors and ouremployee
diversity networkchairs. :

We're proud that 75% of our Customer
Assistants are wormen but we needtado
more to encourage diversity in senior roles.

GENDER PAY GAP (MEDIAN)

4.2%

.The Committee monitors and reviews the

effectiveness of the senior remuneration
policy and its impact and compatibility with
remuneration policies in the wider
workforee. Throughout the year, the
Committee reviews the frameworks and
budgets for key components of colleague
pay arrangements, together with bbroader
structure of group bonus provisions which
ensures appropriate alignment with senior
pay arrangements.

- CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S PAY RATIO

The Committee receives updates ona
variety of emnployee engagement initiatives
including our annual Your Say’employee
survey, which asks employees about
engagement, ernpowerment and
enablement. Employee representatives

in our Business Involvernent Croups are
annually provided with an explanation of
the executive directors' pay arrangements
during the year,and are able to ask
questions on the arrangements and their
fit with the other reward polices at this time.

The table below discloses the rakia of CEQ
pay for 2018, using the single total figure
remuneration as disclosed in Figure 7
(page 63} to the comparable, indicative,
full-tirne equivalent total reward of those
colleagues whose pay is ranked at the 25th
percentile, medium and 75th percentile

in our UK workforce, Colleague pay was

calculated based on actual pay and benefits

Year

for the 12 monthly payrolls within the
fult financial year. ’

We believe that the final figures detailed
below are representative of the vast
rmajority of our colleague base, being
prirmarily customer assistants basedin
our stores, Formal figures and disclosures
required under the updated regulation

“willbe reported next year.

25" percentile 50" percentile . 75"'percentile
ratio ratio ratio

2019 Indicative Figures

g92:1 88:1 791

. PERCENTAGCE CHANGE IN CEQ'S REMUNERATION

The table below sets out the change inthe
CEO'sremuneration {i.e salary, taxable -
benefits and annuat bonus) compared with

the change in our UK-based colleagues pay.
This group has been chosen as the majority
of our workforce is UK-based.

% change 201718~ 20i8/19

Basesalary Benefits Annual bonus
CEQ (Steve Rowe) 0% 1.4% . -
UK ernployees (average per FTE) 29% -08% -

The 25% percentage change inbase salary
for UK employees reflects the base pay
increase awarded to store colleagues
effective April 2018, '

The change incolleague benefits is
reflective of a shift in workforce structure
rather than a change in benefit offering,
which rernains unchanged from 2017/18.
The slight increase in Steve Rowe’s -
benefits can be attributed to an increase
indriver salary.

No award under the Annual Bonus Scheme
was made to either the CEQ or anyone else
within the wider workforce ineither 2017/18
or 2018/19. :
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SUMMARY

REMUNERATION POLICY

This report sets out a summary of M&S's policy on remuneration for executive and non-executive directors. The full policy was approved

by sharehalders at the AGM on 11 Juty 2017 and can be found on our website at marksandspencer.com/thecompany. The policy took effect
from this date and is designed to attract, retain and motivate our leaders within a framework designed to promote the long-term success of .
M&S and aligned with our shareholders lnterests

SUMMARY EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY (AS APPROVED ON 11 JULY 2017)

FIGURE 1: SUMMARY EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE

ELEMENT

OPERATION

OPPORTUNITY

BASE
SALARY

Salaries are reviewed annuatly by the Committee, considering a number of factors,
including external market data, historic increases made to the individual and salary
review principles applied to the rest of the crganisation. .

Normally in line with those in
the wider workforce, although
no Mmaxirurm is set.

BENEFITS

In line witn our policies, executive directors are eligible to receive benefits which may include:
— Acar or cash allowance and a driver.

- Lifeassurance.

- Relocation and tax equalisation allowances in line with our mobility policies

As with all employees, directors are also offered other benefits including:
- Employee discounl.

- Salary sacrifice schermnes.

- Participationin ourall;employee share schemes.

There is no set maximum, however
any provision will be cornmensurate
with local markets and for all-
employee shares schemes, the
local statutory limits.

PENSION
BENEFITS

MA&S may choose to offer:
- Participation in our defined contribution pension scheme; or

* - Cash payments inliey of pension contributions.

The defined benefit pension scheme is closed to new members. Directors who are members
of this scheme will continue to accrue benefits as a deferred member.

Cash payments are capped

at 25% of salary for executive
direttors appointed prior to

1 July 2037

For directors appointed to the
Board after 11 July 2017, the cash
alternative willbe capped st a
maxirnum of 20% of satary.

ANNUAL
BONUS
SCHEME

INCLUDING
DEFERRED
SHARE
BONUS
PLAN (DSBP)

All directors are eligible to participate in the discretionary, noncontractual Annuat Bonus Scherne.
Performance is measured against quantifiable one-year financial and individual performance targets
linked with the sustainable delivery of our busiriess plan. At least half of awards are measured against
financial measures which typically includes Group PBT before adjusting iterns (PBT).

Carporate and individual elements may be earned independently, but no part of the individual objectives
may be earned unless a ‘threshold’ level of PBT has been achieved after which up to 40% of maximum may

be payable for the achieverment of individual objectives.

Not less than 50% of any bonus earned is paid in shares which are deferred for three years.

The Cammittee retains the right to exercise discretion, both upwards and downwards, Lo ensure that the

{evel of award payable is appropriate. Where exercised, the rationale for this discretion will be fully
disclosed to shareholders in the subseguent Annual Report.

The Committee can, in circumstances it believes appropriate, reduce to zero unvested deferred share

awards. In certain circumstances, the Committee can also rectaim all or part of the cash bonus forup te

three years after the payrment date.

Total maximurn annual bonus

- opportunity 1s capped at 200% of

salary for each executive director.

PERFORMANCE
SHARE PLAN

(P5P)

All directors are eligible to participate in the Performance Share Plan, This is a non-contractual,
discretionary scheme and is M85's main long-term incentive scheme. Performance may be measured

against appropriate financial, non-financial and/for strategic measures. Financial measures must comprise

at least S0% of awards.

The Committee can, in circumnstances it believes appropriate, reduce to zere unvested PSP awards.
Inaddition, the Committee can reclaim all or part of vested awards for up to two years after the vesting
date in certain specified circumstances.

Awards granted after 11 July 2017 will be subject to a further two-year holding period
after the vesting date.

The maximum annual value

of shares at grant is capped

at 300% of salary for each executive
director,
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SUMMARY EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY (AS APPROVED ON 11 JULY 2017) CONTINUED

FICURE 2: RECRUITMENT POLICY & SERVICE CONTRACTS

The table below surnmarises the Company's policy on the recruitment of new executive dlrectors Sirnilar considerations may
also apply where a directoris promoted within the Board. ’

ELEMENT APPROACH

SERVICE - All executive directors have rolling contracts for service which may be terminated by MBS giving 12 months’
CONTRACT notice and the individual giving six months’ notice.

BASE - Salaries are set by the Committee, taking into consideration a number of factors including the current pay for
SALARY cther executive directors, the experience, skilt and current pay level of the individual and external market forces.

BENEFITS = The Committee will offer a benefits package in line with our benefits policy for executive directors.

PENSION ~  Maxirmurn contribution in line with our policy.
BENEFITS

ANNUAL - Maximum benus potential will be capped at 200% of salary in line with our policy.
BONUS ’
SCHEME

Y

.~ Maximum award of up to 300% of salary in line with our policy.

auy-OuT - The Committee may offer compensatory payments or buy-out awards where an individual forfeits outstanding variable
AWARDS pay apportunities or cantractual rights as a result of their appointrment with M&S.

- The specifics of any buy-out awards wauld be dependent on the ndividual circumstances of recruitment. Any value
awarded would be no greater than the value forfeited by the individual.

In addition, the Committee in exceptionat crcumstances has discretion to include any other reruneration component or award
whichit feels is appropriate subject to the limit on varlable remuneration set out above. The rationale for any such component would
be appropriatety disclosed.

APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY

DIRECTORS BASIS OF CALCULATIONS AND KEY

Steve Rowe Fixed Fixed remuneration only.
[£000 No vesting under the ABS and PSP.
7,000 . : . Target Includes the foliowing assumpticons for the vestmg of the incentive
- L5868 companents of the package:
6,006 £4.825 ’ - ABS: 50% of maximum, assumes no share price growth.
il
5,000 . c3% . - PSP 20% of 250%, assumes no share price growth.
4.000 4% Maximum Includes the following assumptions for the vesting of the |ncentlve
3,000 £2372 components of the package:
) 1% 285% 28% - ABS: 100% of maximum, assumes no share price growth,
2,000 :
’ 10N 316% « PSP 100% of 250%, assumes no share price growth.
1000 | 100% I 46% 22% 8% . Maximum Includes the following assumptions For the vesting of the incentive
o Fixed Target Maximum Maxiriom ‘.';‘0% components of tr_\e package: .
. 50% ﬁ \are - ABS: 100% of maximum, assurnes no share price growth.
rice

Growth ~ PSP 100% of 250% with 50% share price growth,

Humphrey Singer « Grant share price for the purpose of demonstrating the 50% growth

£000 taken as closing share price at 2018/19 year end.
7,000 @ Fixed remuneration
6,000 ’ . ‘ Includes all elements of fixed remuneration: ,
5,000 ea1n - Base salary (effective 1 July 2019, as shown in the table on page 64).

i1 > % .
4,000 £1,366 - Pension berefits as detailed on page 64.
- Benefits (using the value for 2018/19 inctuded in the single figure table on page 63.

3,c00 45% S6%

_ @ Annual Bonus Scheme (ABS)
2,000 i . ET Represents the potential value of the annual bonus for 2019/20. Half of any bonus
1.000 £612 40% ’ would be deferred into shares for three years and this is included in the vatue shown,

* i 100% I 40% 18% 15% . pSp °
o_ Fixed . Target Maximum Maximum PSP represents the potential value of the PSP to be awarded in 2019, which would vest

M So% in 2022 subject to the performance against the targets disclosed on page 68. Awards

would then be held for a further two years.
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SUMMARY EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY (AS APPROVED ON 1V JULY 2017) CONTINUED

FIGURE 3: TERMINATION POLICY

The Company may choose to terminate the contract of any executive director inline with the terms of their service agreement either by
means of a payment in lieu of notice or through a series of phased payments subject to mitigation. Service agreements may be terminated
without notice and, in certain circumstances such as gross misconduct, without payments.

The table below summnarises our termination policy for executive directers under their service agreement and the incentive plan rules.

ELEMENT APPROACH

- P he & inati
BASE SALARY, ayrnent made up to the termination date.

BENEFITS
AND PENSION

BENEFITS

ANNUAL - There is no contractual entitlernent to a banus payrment. I the director is under notice or not in active service at
BONUS either the end of the bonus year or on the payment date, awards (and any unvested deferred bonus shares) may lapse.
SCHEME The Committee may. however, use its discretion to make 2 bonus award.

LONG-TERM - The treatment of outstanding share awards is determined in accardance with the respective plan rules.
INCENTIVE
AWARDS

REPATRIATION - M&S may pay for repatriation where a director has been recruited from overseas,

LECAL - Where a director leaves by mutual cohsent, M&S may reimburse for reasonable legal fees and pay for
EXPENSES & professicnal outplacement services. :
OUTPLACEMENT

The full policy sets out further detail on the treatment of the executive directors’ pay arrangements, including the treatrment of share
schemes in the event of a change of control or winding-up of the Company.

FIGURE 4: SUMMARY OF REMUNERATION POLICY

The diagram below illustrates the balance of pay and time period of each element of the remuneration policy for executive directors,
approved in July 2017. The Committee believes this mixture of short- and long-term incentives and fixed to performance-related pay
is currently appropriate for M&S's strategy and risk profile,

I Year ) | Year 2 | Year3 | Yearq Year 5

Base salary

Benefits
Peonsion benetits

ANNUAL Up 10 100% salary Up to 100% salary (deferred shares)

BONUS (cash) Three-year deferral period

SCHEME One-year pertormance No turther perfermance conditions

Clawback provisions

Malus provisions appl
apply F i

TOTAL PAY

Maximum 300% of salary Two-year holding period post vesting

Three-year performance No further performance conditions

Malus provisions apply Clawback provisions apply

STRATEGIC REPORT

.

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY {AS APPROVED ON 11 JULY 2017) CONTINUED

FIGURE 5: SUMMARY NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY (AS APPROVED ON 11 JULY 2017}

The table below summarises our policy for the operation of non-executive director fees and benefits at the Company.

ELEMENT OPERATION AND OPPORTUNITY

SERVICE All non-executive directors have an agreement for an initial three-year term. The Chairman's agreement requires
ACREEMENTS six months' notice by either party. The non-executive directors’ agreements may be terminated by either party giving
three months’ notice.

CHAIRMAN'S Fees are reviewed annually by the Committee:

FEES The maximum aggregate fees for the non-executive directors' basic fees, including the Chairman's basic fee,is £750,000 p.a.
a5 set out in our Articles of Association.

NON- Fees are reviewed annually by the executive directors taking into consideration:

EXECUTIVE The maximym aggregate fees for the non-executive directors’ basic fees. including the Chairman's basic fee, s £750,000pa.
DIRECTOR'S a5 set out in our Articles of Association.

BASIC FEE

Additional fees are paid for undertaking the extra responsibilities of:

ADDITIONAL )
FEES ~ Board Chairman.

- Senigr Independent Director.
- Committee Chairman.

BENEFITS Inline with our other employees, the Chairman and non-executive directors are entitled to receive employee discount.
The Chairrnan may also be entitled to the use of a car and driver,

RECRUITMENT The Committee takes into account a number of Factors when determining an appropriate fee level for the Chairman.
The CEO and executive directors determine appropriate fee levels for the non-executive directors and take into account
the time commitrent, rale responsibility and market practice in our comparator groups when doing so.

M&S may offer benefits ko the Chairmanin line with our policy.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee annually
reviews the seniof remuneration framework
and considers whether the existing
incentive arrangements remain
appropriately ¢challengingin the context
of the business strategy, current external
guidelines and arange of internal factors
including the pay arrangerments and
policies throughout the rest of the
orgarisation. Inits discussions, the
Remuneration Committee aims to

ensure that not onlyis the framework
strategically aligned to the delivery of
business priorities, but also that payments
made during the year fairly reflect the
performance of the business and
individuals. As illustrated onpage 55,
asignificant proportion of the performance
measures used inthe incentive schemes
are integrated with M&S's key performance
indicators {KPis) and Strategic Priorities
detailed inthe Strategic Report.

The diagram below (Figure 6) details the
achievernent of each executive director
under the Company's incentive schemes
as aresult of short- and long-term
performance to the end of the reported
financial year and summarises the main
elements of the senicr rermuneration
framework. Further details of payments
made during the year are set putinthe
single figure table below {(Figure 7}and
later inthis report.

FIGURE 6: REMUNERATION STRUCTURE 2018/1%

I
Fixed pay + Total pay

for 2018/19

Annual banus

200% salary maximum

Base salary

225% salary awarded in 2016

bonus opportunity
{with 50% deferral) - :
Benefits Measured against adjusted
Measured against a EPS, average ROCEand Total
balance of Group PBT curnulative free cash flow, avments
Pension benefits before adjusting iterns and Achievernent was 34% payfr

individual performance

against targets set

No salary increase

No bonus payment

34% of award vested

are between 32-33%
of maximum potential

@ For more information see pb5

@ For more information see p67-68

FIGURE 7: TOTAL SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION (AUDITED)

STRATEGIC REPCRT

|

COVERNANCE

Benclits Total PSP Pension Total
vested benefils
£000 £000 £000 £000
Director Year

Steve Rowe 2018/19 810 33 o] 621 203 1,667
200718 810 31 0 79 203 1,123
Humphrey Singer 201819 439 [s] o] 0 0 439
(from 9JU|.y 2018) 20]7"8 - - - - _ _
Patrick B_ousquet-Chavanne 2018/19 47 0 0 198 n 256
{to 18 April 2018) 2017/18 546 24 0 73 137 780

Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne retired frorm the Board on 18 April 2018, Further details of his leaving arrangements can be found on page 72.
Note that the value of awards vesting in 2017/18 has been restated to reflect the actual share price at the point of vesting, being £3.09.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION CONTINUED

SALARIES

When reviewing salary levels, the Committee
takesinto account anumber of internaland
external factors, including Company
performance during the year, external
market data, historic increases madetothe
individuat and, to ensure a consistent
approach, the salary review principles
applied to the rest of the organisation,

As detailedintast year's report, for salaries
effective July 2018, only Steve Rowe was
eligible to be considered for a review as

FIGURE 8: SALARIES

Humphrey Singer did not join the Company
until July 2018. The Cormnmittee decided, and
the CEO agreed, that no salary increase
would be awarded to the CEO for July 2018,
despite noincrease in Steve Rowe's salary
since his appointment to CEQin 2016.

For salaries effective July 2019, the
Committee discussedthe salary review
being awarded to other cotleagues in M&S
ranging from 2% to 4%. Inline with these
increases seenacross the wider organisation,

the Committee felt it was appropriate to
grant a salary increase of 2% for Hurmphrey
Singer and 3% for Steve Rowe. As detailed
below, the salary increase for Steve Rowe will
not apply to his pension supplement.

The next annual salary review for the CEO
and CFQ will be effective in July 2020

The table below details the executive
directors salaries as at 30 March 2019
and salaries which will take effect from
} July 2019,

Annual Annual
salary as of salary asof Change
30March 2019 1.July 2019 insalary
£000 £000 %increase
Steve Rowe 8100 8345 3%
Humphrey Singer 600.0 612.0 2%

BENEFITS (AUDITED)

PENSION BENEFITS (AUDITED)

The Remuneration Policy permits that each
executive director may receive a car or cash
allowance as well as being offered the
benefit of a driver. During the year, in lieu

of a car allowance, Steve Rowe received a
¢ar and the benefit of a driver, as did Patrick
Bousquet-Chavanne until he left the
Company. Hurnphrey Singer receives
neither a carnor cash allowance and does
not have the benefit of a driver.

inline with all other colleagues,

executive directors receivetife assurance,
employee discount and are eligible to
participate in salary sacrifice schemes

During the year Steve Rowe and

Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne received a
cashpayment intieu of participationin
an M&S pension scheme, The Committee
is mindful of the external sentiment of
executive pension arrangements ang
will be undertaking a thorough review of
pension practices as part of the overall
Rermuneration Policy review ahead of
next year's policy renewal.

With this in mind, in awarding Steve Rowe's
salaryincrease outlined above, the
Committee decided, and Steve agreed,
that whitst policy around penstonis under

Steve Rowe is & deferred member of the
Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme.
Details of the pensicn accrued during the
year ended 30 March 2019 are shown below.

Whilst Humphrey Singer is eligible to join the
MBS pension scheme, he does not currently
participate, He does not receive any
additional payments in lieu of participation.

suchas Cycte2Work. review, this salary increase would not apply
to his pension supptement.
FIGURE 9: PENSION BENEFITS (AUDITED}

Accrued Increase Transfer
pension Additional inaccrued value of
entitlement value Increase value total
Norenal asat onearky inaccrued {net of accrued
retirement year end retirerment value inflation) pension
age 000 £0Q0 £000 E£00D £00D
Steve Rowe 60 156 0 4 0] 4639

The accrued pension entitlement is the deferred pension amount that Steve Rowe would receive at age 60if he left the Company on
30 March 2019, Al transfer values have been calcutated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with the current Transfer Value
Reguiations.The transfer value of the accrued entitiement represents the value of the assets that the pension scheme would transfer
toanother pension provider on transferring the scheme’s liability in respect of a director’s pension benefits. it does not represent sums
payable to adirector and therefore cannot be added meaningfully to annual remuneration.
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ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME 2018/19 (AUDITED)

Annual performance for the year was again
primarily measured against Group PBT
before adjusting items (PBT) (70%) and
individual performance (30%). PBT is used as
acore bonus measure as it is considered to
be an important measure of overall
perforimance and is consistent with how
business performance is assessed internally
by the Board and Operating Committee.

As was disclosed last year, individual
performance was measured against a
scorecard of individual measures set against
key areas of delivery of the transformation
ptan deermned most critical to the future
sustainable success of M&S. As with previous
years, individual performance was
measured independently of PBT
performance but for the first time under

the current remuneration framework, and
mirroring arrangements elsewhere inthe
business, no individual element could be
earned until the threshold needed to secure
payment under the corporate element was
simitarly achieved.

PBT outturn for the year was £523.2m which
was below the threshold set to trigger

_ payments under either the corporate
element or the individual element of the
Scheme. Therefore, no bonuses under the
201819 Annual Bonus Scheme wilt be paid
to anyone in the organisation, including
executive directors. This is reflected in the
total borus paid columnin Figure 10and
directly corresponds to the value shownin
the single figure table on page 63.

Despite there being no bonus payment
under the 2018/18 Scheme, the Committee
continued to review the achieverment of the
individual objectives set at the start of the
financial year to fulfil its remit and to enable
transparent disclosure to shareholders For
completeness, the table below shows the
achievernent against each director's
individual objectives, as noted by the
Committee. In noting this performance,
the Committee considered not only the
achievernent against the predetermined
targets, but also the wider performance
within these specific areas to ensure that
any achievement noted was representative
of overall performance.

FIGURE 10: ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME OUTTURN 2018/19 (AUDITED)

The Committee ensures that targets set

are the relevant drivers of required annuat
performance, recognising that it operatesin
the context of a highly competitive market
and uncertain market conditions. Some of
the specific targets set for 2018/19 remain
too commerciaily-sensitive to disclose as
they are not disclosed elsewhere in this
report. To the extent these targets are not
able to be fully reported, they have been
described. The Committee wili continue to
assess the commercial sensitivity of targets
with the airm of disclosure wherever possible,

while ensuring that 2any measures set-are
those most appropriate to restore the
business to profitable growth.

Total bonug
Director Corporate (0%} Individual {30%)
Steve Rowe New management team  Online capabilities Supply chain Evolution of Sparks
9 ap £0
PBT Successful recruitment Significant improvement  Some success Limited progress on J £1.62m
. and onboarding of high of website search speed through the roll out of Evolution-aof Sparks. Planning .
calibre senior, leaders and experience, slong new initiatives in Food for integrated data use and 1% of Sala
building a strong new with enhanced checkout  such as our *Fuse” personalised marketing at Over;ém%?nax) y
management team. performance. Donington  programme but limited earty stage. (
Continued devolvernent  successfully delivering improvernents in core O%
of profit and loss through Christmas peak metrics as yet, and slow
responsibility to further trading as per plan. progress in Clothing &
drive accountability and Horme.
Threshold Stretch 5 tonomy within new
£540m E620m family of husinesses
£523m ) 0% structure, '
Humphrey Singer  gperating costs Control of capital costs  Talent review Review control £0k
PBT ‘ Operating costs lower and expenditure " Review of capabilities environment Jt12m
than plan with further Capitat spendling and controls undertaken,  While a tharough review -
savings identified. " belowtarget with including the recruitrnent  of the control environment X ofSa
improvements made and onboarding of new was initizted, not all project OVE(_'Z?JE%?“H lary
to lnvestment senior leadership team milestones and deliverables )
- Committee process. and talent elsewhere in were achieved within the O%
the Finance group. agreed timelines.
Threshold Stretch
£540m £620m
£523m 0% N
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ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME CONTINUED

'DEFERRED SHARE BONUS
PLAN (AUDITED)

Currently 50% of any bonus payment

is compulsorily deferred into shares. These
awards vest after three years subject to
continued employment as wellas malus
provisions. As no bonus was awarded in
respect of performance year 2017/18, no
share awards under the Deferred Share
Bonus Plan (DSBP) were made during the
year.Inrelation to the 2018/19 performance
year,as no bonus awards under the Annual
Bonus Scheme have been made, there will
be no awards under the DSBP made in
June 2019.

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME FOR 2019/20

During the year,the Committee reviewed
the 2019/20 Scheme, consideringthe
five-year transformation programme,
‘Making M&S Special Again'and bonus
‘arrangements elsewherein the business.

It determined that the structure of the
existing Scherme remained appropriate and
was aligned with bonus arrangements seen
elsewhere in the organisation.

As with the existing Scherme, the 2019/20
Bonus Scheme is designed to focus on
restoring the business to profitable growth
with an emphasis not only on profits but
also other key areas which will drive this
transformation journey. Performance will
be again focused on Group PBT before
adjusting items (PBT)(70%) with individual
measures set against key areas of delivery
of the transformation plan which are
deerned most critical to the future
sustainable success of M&S. For 2019/20,
individual performance willagain be
measured independently of PBT
performance and, mirraring arrangements
elsewhere in the business, no individual
element may be earned until the threshold
needed to secure payment under the
corporate element for ail participating
colleagues is similarly achieved.

The remaining 30% of the bonus willbe
measured against 3 scorecard of individual
chjectives, identified as the measurable key
priorities required to drive the continued
transformation of M&S. Far the CEO, the
measures within the individual scorecard
willfocus on the acceleration of the
transforrmation programme, including
improvements in supply chain and range

FIGURE 11: ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME TARGETS 2019/20

management, along with digital capabilities
both online andinstore. In addition, a key
focus for the year will be the successful
establishment of the Ccado joint venture
and the transformation of M&S's
organisation and culture.

For the CFO, the scorecard measures will
focus onthe delivery of the financial plan
with an emphasis on Group PBT, cash flow
and operating cost budgets, alongside the
establishment of a cost strategy ‘
programme, From acommercial
perspective, there will be a focuson

the delivery of faster and more effective
governance, controls and reporting
within a strong, happy and commercially
focused team.

The performance targets for the 2019/20

Scheme are deemed by the Board to betoo.
commaerciaily sensitive to disclose at this
{ime as they are not disclosed elsewherein
this report. Where possible, they will be
disclosedin next year's report. The
Committee, in its absotute discretion, may
vse its judgement to adjust outcomes to
ensure that any paymenis made reflect
overall business andindividual perforrmance
during the vear.

CORPORATE TARCETS

INDIVIDUAL OBJECTIVES

Group PBT before adjusting items {PBT}

Scorecard of
individual Measures

Director

% borus %¥bonus  Measure

Steve
Rowe

70% 30% | -

Accelerate the transformation in culture, organisation and
capability across the business.

- Oversee the mprovements in supply chain and range
management in both Clothing & Home and Food businesses.

- Accelerate growth online and exploitation of digital capabilities.

~ Drive the transition towards a more madern technology enabled
store operation and stare portfo_lio.

- Successfully establish the Ocade joint venture including
teadership, operations and financing.

Humphrey
Singer

70% 30% | -

Establish a cost strategy programme, including the delivery of
UK operating cost budget.

- Deliver faster, more effective governance and controls’

- Drive afocus on clear and consistent internal reporting regimes
to support and drive greater accountabilities across the business.

- Continued team development to support M8S's commercial success.

PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP)

PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2018/19 (AUDITED)

As reported last year, having considered
the extent to which the long-termincentive

- framework remained relevant, the

" Committee determined that the existing .
structural arrangements remained aligned
with the focus on maximising shareholder
value by restoring the businass to profitable
growth, The three performance measures
used in the 2017 PSP award, Adjusted EPS
(EPS), Average ROCE (ROCE) and Relative
TSR(TSR), were still considered to be the key
drivers to deliver these core priorities. In line
with the 2017/18 award, measures used in

" 2018/}9 were equally balanced to ensure an
appropriate focus on allthree metrics.

TSRis once again measured against the
‘bespoke group of 15 companiés taken
from the FTSE 350 CGeneraland Food &
Drug Retailers indices, reviewed prior to
grant to ensure the constituents remained
appropriately aligned to M&S's business
operations to best reflect the value of
shareholder's investment in M&S over the
respective performance period. These
cempanies are listed in Figure 13.

The rermainder of the award is measured
equally against EPS and ROCE ensuring
abalancedfocus on all three
perfermance metrics.

Aswas reported last year, each executive
director was granted an award of conditional
shares of 250% of salary, The grant was
made on 27 July 2018. Inline with Policy,
awards will vest three years after the date

‘of grant, to the extent that the performance
conditions are met, and must then be helo
for afurther two years. Clawback provisions
apply during this holding period.

Consistent with previous years, 20%of
awards will vest for threshotd performance
increasing to 100% on a straight-line basis
between threshold and maximum
performance. Detailed targets can be
seenin Figure 12.
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FIGURE 12: PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS FOR PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2018/15 (AUDITED)

Adjusted EPS AverageROCE
inZ02427  (2018/19 - 2020/21)
(n) (%) Relative TSR
2018/19 award ‘hofaward 'f1 of award '/ of award
Threshold performance N7p 13.0% Median
Maximum performance 387p 170% Upper guartile
FIGURE 13: TSR COMPARATOR GROUP 2018/19 AWARD
J Sainsbury B&M European Kingfisher
Wm Morrisons Debenhams N Brown Croup
Tesco Dixons Carphone Next
Qcado Croup Dunelm Group Sports Direct International
ASOS JD Sports Fashion WHSmith

Targets outlined above are stated on a pre-IFRS16 basis and before any adjustments have been made for the impact of the recently
announced M&S joint venture with Ocado, be that either the joint venture itself, or associated Rights Issue. The Committee will review the
targets and TSR comparator group at an appropriate time and will fully disclose any adjustments required. Pre-vesting deliberations wilt also
take into consideration the impact of the de-tisting of Debenhams.

FIGURE 14: PSP AWARDS MADE [N 2018/19 (AUDITED)

Facevalue End of

Basis of awarg of award performance
% of salary EQDD period Vesting date
Steve Rowe 250% 2025 03/04/2021 27/07/2021
Humphrey Singer 250% 1,500 03/04/2021 27/0%2021

PSP grants were made as a conditional share award. When calculating the face value of awards to be granted, the nurnber of shares awarded
was multiplied by the average mid-market share price on the five dealing days prior to the date of grank. For the 2018 award, the share price
was calculated as £3.093, being the average share price between 20 July 2018 and 26 July 2018.

FIGURE 15: PSP AWARDS VESTING IN 2018/19 (AUDITED)

For directors in receipt of PSP awards granted in 2016, the awards will vest in December 2019 based on three-year performance
over the period to 30 March 2019. Performance has been assessed and it has been determined that 34% of the total award will vest.
The Committee reviewed this level of vesting against the wider business performance of the period and determined this level of
payment was appropriate.

Details of performance against the specific targets set are shownin the table below.
The total vesting values shown in Figure 16 directly correspond to the figure included in the single figure table on page 63.

Average
ROCE Cumulative
AdjustedEPS (2016/17-  Free cash flow
in 201819 201819) (201617-
© % 2018/19)
% of award
2016/17 award SO%ofaward  20%ofaward  30%of award
Threshold performance 289p 3% £1,350
Maxirnum performance 358p 16% £1,650
Actual performance achieved 25.4p 14% £1,587
Percentage of maximum achieved 0% 9% 25% 34%

STRATECIC REPORT

-

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP} CONTINUED

FIGURE 16: VESTING VALUE OF AWARDS VESTING IN 2018/19 (AUDITED)

Ongrant At the end of per farmange period (30 March 2019)
Impact of Tolal vesting
share price of dward
Number of % of salary Numiber of Nurnber of performance £ooo
shares granked granted shares vesting shares lapsing
Steve Rowe 555,640 225% 188,918 366,722 147% £621
Patrick Bousgquet-Chavanne 374,542 225% 60,135 314,407 ' £198

Total vesting values are based on a share price of £2.79 (the average share price from 2 January 2018 to 29 March 2019) plus a dividend
equivalent of £0.49 per share. To provide an accurate indication of the total vesting value for Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne, the column
detailing the number of shares lapsing takes into consideration shares lapsing due to the pro-ration applied to his award on leaving M&S.
Further details on the treatrment of share awards upon leaving canbe found on page 72.

The final vesting values also reflect a 14.7% decline in share price between grant and vesting, as illustrated on page 57 of this report.

PSP AWARDS TO BE MADE IN 2019/20

During the year, the Committee reviewed to any decisions being made. Overall, the All targets for the 2019 PSP have been set
the long-termincentive framework at M&S, Committee believes that these PSP targets on apre-IFRS 16 basis and before any
assessing the extent to which it rermained are appropriately stretching inthe context adjustments have been made for the
suitable. Whilst the 2019 PSP maintains the of the business and analyst expectations impact that the recently announced M&S
reasures used by the 2017 and 2018 PSP and remain as equally challenging as those joint venture with Ocado, be that either the
awards, being equally split between set at the start of the performance period joint venture itself, or associated rights issue.
Adjusted EPS (EPS), Average ROCE (ROCE) for previous awards. The Remuneration Committee will review

and Relative TSR (TSR), following careful
consideration and shareholder consultation,
EPStargets have beenreset from those
seenin awards from previous years.in
making this decision, the Committee was
mindful of the need to ensure that M&S's
performance share plan motivates senior

the targets at an appropriate time and will
fully disclose any adjustrents required at
that paint. Any changes to targets will
ensure the performance conditions remain
representative of corresponding business
performance on a pre-adjustment basis.

TSR wilt once again be measured against a
bespoke group of companies taken from
the FTSE 350 Ceneraland Food &Drug
Retailers indices. The existing group of 15
companies, as detailed in Figure 13, was
thoroughly reviewed to ensure the

: . . constituents remained appropniate and For the 2019 PSP a grant of 250% of salary
Liasdeirj r?gggi :Qr? ;?éf;fg:é?g:;?;mg?on aliqned to M&S‘; business operations. This was approved. [t was agreed t'r_nat this award
balancing shareholder interests. As detaited review resultedin the removal of _ level would rep(esent aclear sgnat to
in the Remuneration Committee Chairman's Debenhamms, as they are no longer listed on the executive directors that whilst there is
tetter the intention to make suchan the FTSE, and Ocado, whowere removed hard work aheaq as we move along the _
a djus'tment to these targets was fully due to therecently announqed M&Sand transformation journeyto rmake M&S specnal
Ocadojoint venture. The revised TSR again, truly exceptional performance will

cormmunicated to cur main shareholders

and their feedback was taken on board prior comparator group of 13 companies canbe berewarded.

found in Figure 18,

FIGURE 17: PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS FOR PSP AWARDS TO BE MADE IN 2019/20

Adjusted EPS Average ROCE
inz021/22 {2019/20- 2021/22)
(e %) Relative TSR
2019/20 award Y3 of award s of award /s of award
Threshold performance 240p 12.0% Median
Maximum performance 310p 17.0% Upper Quartile
FIGURE 18: TSR COMPARATOR CROUP 2019/20 AWARD
J Sainsbury Dixons Carphone Next
Wm Morrisons Bunelm Croup Sports Direct Internaticnal
Tesco JDSports Fashion WHSMmith

ASOS Kingfisher
B&M European N Brown Croup
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FIGURE 19: DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS (AUDITED)

The table below sets out the total number of shares held by each executive director serving onthe Board during the period to 30 March
2019, ar at their date of retirement from the Board, Shares owned outright include those held by connected persons, .

There have been no changes in the current directors' interests in shares or options granted by the Company and its subsidiaries between the
end of the financial year and 21 May 2019, No director had an interest in any of the Company’s subsidiaries at the statutory end of the year.

Unvested
K § With Without )
. performance performance '
conditions conditions Vestedbut
Shares owned Performance Deferred Share unexercised
outright Share Plan Bonus Ptan- shares
Steve Rowe 296,173 1,824,538 119,675 0
Humphrey Singer : ’ ) .0 484 966- o] 0
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne (to 18 April 2018) 123,098

176,876 0 0

FICURE 20: SHAREHOLDING REQUIREMENTS (AUDITED)

All executive directors are required te hold shares equivalent in value to a minimum percentage of their salary within a five-year period from
their appointment date. For the CEQ, this requirement is 250% of salary and for other executive directors the requirement is 150% of satary.
Sirnilar guidelines of 100% of salary currently apply to all directors below Board level. '

The chart below shows the extent to which each executive director has met their target shareholding as at 30 March 2019,0r date of
retirement frormn the board. For Steve Rowe, his 250% shareholding requirement is measured frorm the date he was appointed CEC.

For the purposes of the requirernents, the net number of unvested share awards nat subject to performance conditions is inciuded andis
reflected in the chart below. The Committee continues to keep both shareholding requirement guidelines and actualdirector shareholdings
under review and will take appropriate action should they feel it to be necessary.

The Committee is aware of post-cessation shareholder requirements introduced under the 2018 Corporate Governance Code. Our existing.
share restrictions of a three-year deferral and two-year further holding period continue to apply post cessation of employment, resulting in
apotential significant holding of shares following a director's departure. The approach towards shareholding requirernents at M&S will be
eonsidered ahead of the in 2020 Remuneration Policy renewal and will take into account new shareholder guidance in this area.

150% of salary 250% of salaryé )

Steve Rowe [ ] Jr238%

Humphrey Singer ‘ 0%

Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne
(at 18 April 2018) [

65.4%

Key Shares owned outright Unvested DSBF/RSP shares Shareholding requirement *

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES

ALL-EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES
(AUDITED)

.

DILUTION OF SHARE CAPITAL
BY EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS

Executive directors may participate in both
ShareSave, the Company's Save As You

Earn Scheme, and ShareBuy, the Company's
Share Incentive Plan, on the same basis as all
other eligible colleagues. Further details of
theschemes are set cutin note 13 tothe
financial statements on pages 1N4to 116,

Awards granted under the Company’s

. Save As You Earn Scheme andthe

Executive Share Option Scheme are
ret by the issue of new shares when
the options are exercised.

Allother share plans are currently met by
rnarket purchase shares. The Company
rmonitors the number of shares issued

FIGURE 20: ALL SHARE PLANS

under these schemes and their impact
ondilution limits. The Company's usage of
shares compared to the dilution limits set
by The Investment Associationin respect

of allshare plans (10% in any rolling ten-year
period}and executive share plans (5% in any
rolling ten-year period) as at 30 March 2019
is as follows;

FIGURE 21: EXECUTIVE SHARE PLANS

Actual 4.42%) Actual 0%
Limit 5%

(Limit ' 10%)
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FIGURE 21: EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' INTERESTS [N THE COMPANY'S SHARE SCHEMES (AUDITED)

Maximum
receivable at
Maximum 30March 2019
receivable at Awsrded during Exercised during Lapsed during {or date of
Y Aprid 2018 the year the year the year retirement)
Steve Rowe . . ‘
Performance Share Plan 1,430,660 654,704 21,387 239,439 . 1,824,538
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 179,231 Y 59,556 9] 119,675
SAYE ’ 3,461 0 0 Q 3,461
Total ] 1,613,352 654,704 80943 239,439 1,947,674
Humphrey Singer
Performance Share Plan 0 484966 0 ] 484,966
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 8] 0 0 Q 0
SAYE 0 0 o 0 o]
-~ Total 0 484,966 0 0 484,966
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne .
Performance Share Plan 1,044,459 0] 19,819 847,773 176,867
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 138,459 0 138,459 ] o}
SAYE 3,448 0 0 3,448 o
Total . 1,186,366 0 158,278 851,221 176,867

The aggregate gains of directors arising in the year from the exercise of awards granted under the PSP and DSBP totalled £707.782. The
market price of the shares at the end of the financial year was 278 9p, the highest and lowest share price during the fnnanc&alyear were 3145p
and 242. 4p respectively.

Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne retired fromthe Board on 18 April 201 8 and left the Company on 31 May 2018, Details of his teaving
arrangements are set out on page 72. His outstanding Deferred Share Bonus awards vested in full upon leaving, 85 reflected in the
‘Exercised during the year’ column’ His outstanding Performance Share Plan awards were pro-rated for time held on leaving as shown
" inthe ‘Lapsad during the year column.

Figure 22 shows the time horizons of outstanding discretionary share awards for all directors servingon the Board during the year.

FIGURE 22: VESTING SCHEDULE OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' OUTSTANDING DISCRETIONARY SHARE AWARDS

Maxirurm receivable at . 2009720 i 2020/ 21/22
30March 2015
{all discretionary Maximum Maxitmum Maximum

schemes) Receivable Lapsed Receivable Lapsed Receivable tapsed
Steve Performance Share Plan 1,824,538 188918 .(366,722) 614,94 - 654704 Co-
Rowe ' Deferred Share Bonus Plan 119675 32376 - 87,299 - - -
Humphrey -Performance Share Plan 484966 . - - - 4B4966 -
Singer

Deferred Share Bonus Plan ‘ - - - - - - -

Patrick Performance Share Plan 176,867 60,135 (314407) 0 {44012 - . -

~

Bousquet-Chavanne  peferred ShareBonusPlan - - - - - - - -

As reported on page 67, the 2016 PSP awards included within the totals shown in Figure 21 will vest at 34% in December 2014.This has been
reflected above inthe 2019/20 Lapsed’ column. In addition, and as detailed above, outstanding awards held by Patrick under the 2016 PSP
were pro-rated for time held upon teaving. This is also reflected in the 2019/20 ‘Lapsed column. In line with the Plan rules, upcn leaving
Patrick’s PSP awards granted in 2017 tapsed in full This is reflected above in the 2020/21 ‘Lapsed column.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FIGURE 23: PERFORMANCE AND CEO REMUNERATION COMPARISON.

This grabh ittustrates the Company's performance against the FISE 100 over the past ten years. The FTSE 100 has been chosen as the
appraopriate comparator as M&S is a constituent of thisindex, The calculation of TSRisinaccordance with the relevant remuneration
reguiations. The table below the TSR chart sets out the remuneration datafar directors undertaking the rote of CEQ during each of the last
ten financial years. ' . .

omA2 Ca013n18

Total employee pay is the total pay for

| 2008/09 2009/10 . 2000411 201213 01415 201516 2016717 01718 20i819 -
e Marks and Spencer
Group ple - 3010'3-”9
+== FTSE 100 Index 300
. Source: Thomsah Reuters 2ane Ol’tfi'z_ - _i'foj'l.l Bpemerr
|20 -°
200, . oW, ee Tl . 29753,;4 a2/04/16
03,&):{19 _____ PR 300313
130 2
W00 28/03/09
S0
[ _
CEQ
CEOsingle ﬁg_ure Steve Rowe - - - - - - - 1642 1123 1667
?Ef i gg)‘unerat'on Marc Bolland _ 5998 3324  2)47 1568 2095 2015 - - -
( Stuark Rose 4,294 269 - L L= - - - - S —
Annualbonus Steve Rowe ‘ - = - - - - - 3698% 000% 000%
payment Maic Bolland - 4580% 3400% 4250%- O00% 3055% 3190% - - - -
(% of maxwmum) - - .
Stuart Rose 9700% 57.40% - - — - - - = - -
PSP vesting Steve Rowe - - - - - - - 000% B820% 340%
(% of maximum)  Marc Bolland - - 3196% 000% 760% . 470% 480% - - -
" Stuart Rose CO0% © 000% - - = - - - - -
Marc Bolland was appdinted CEOon 1 May 2010. His singlé figure for 2010/11 includes recruitment awards made to him at that time to
compensate him for incentive awards forfeited on cessation from his previous ermployer. Stuart Rose undertook the role of CEO from
31 May 2004 to 30 April 2010, ’ '
FIGURE 24: PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN CEO'S REMUNERATION
@ Read more on p58
FIGURE 25: RELATIVE IMPORTANCE QOF SPEND ON PAY
‘The table opposite illustrates the ' W8 01819
s . . £m £Em % change
Cormpany's expenditure on pay in
-comparison to profits before taxand Totalernpioyee pay 1,5789 1,5110 -4.3%
distributions to shareholders by way of - Totalreturns to shareholders 3034 3035 .0.0%
dividend payments and share buy back. Croup PBT before adjusting items 5809 99%

5232

all Group employees. Croup PBT before
adjusting items has been usedasa
comparison as this is the key financial

" metric which the Board considers when

‘assessing Company performance.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FIGURE 26: SERVICE AGREEMENTS

. Inline with our policy, directors have rolling
~ contracts which may be terminated by the
Company giving 12 months notice orthe
director giving six months’ notice.

-

Notice period/

Date of
appaintment unexpiredterm
Steve Rowe 02/04{2016 12 months/6 months
Humphrey Singer 09/07/2018 . 12 months/& months

CHANGES TO EXECUTIVE MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD DURING 2018/19

DIRECTORS APPOINTED TO THE BOARD
Asreportedinthe 2017/18 report,
‘Humphrey Singer was appointedto the
Board on 9 July 2018 as Chief Finance
Officer. His remuneration upon
appointment was in line with the approved
Recruitment Policy detailed on page 6C with
" abasic annual salary of £600,000. Humphrey
receives neither a car allowance nor a
pension cash alléwance. The rest of
Humphrey's incentive arrangements are
aligned with that of an executive director. -
No share awards have been granted to
Humphrey in relation to his appointmenit.

PAYMENTS FOR THE LOSS OF OFFICE
{audited)
Asreportedinthe 2017/18 report, Patruck

Bousquet-Chavanne retired from the Board -

~on 18 April 2018 and left M&S on 31 May 2018.
Remuneration terms on teaving were in line
with the approved Remuneration Policy.
Patrick was entitled to receive salary and
benefits, including pension, by way of
phased monthly payrments from 1 June

~ FIGURE 27: EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

2018 for a maximum of 12 months, subject
to mitigation. As per the terms of the
Policy, these payments ceased upon the
commencement of his new employment .
on 4 August 2018. The Committee
determined good leaver treatment in line
with the Planrules and therefore his ‘
unvested conditional shares granted under
the Deferred Share Bonus Plan vested in
full onleaving. Unvested conditional shares
awarded underthé 2015 and 2016 PSP were
time pro-rated to 31 May 2018. Asreported
"last year, B.2% of PSP awards granted in 2015
vestedin July 2018 at a value of £73,418,
Asdetailed earlier inthe report, 34% of
PSP awards granted in 2016 will vest in
December 2019 at an estimated value of
circa £197,556 based on the average share
price between 2 January 2019 and 29 March

2019 plus a dividend equivalent of £0.49 per

share. The PSP award made in 2017 lapsed
infullonleaving in accordance with the
Plan rules. Patrick has no further
cutstanding awards.

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS
(audited)

Helen Weir retired from the Boardon

31 March 2018 and had two outstanding
awards under the PSP in accordance with
the rules of the Performance Share Plan,
8.2% of her 2015 award vested in July 2018 at
avalue of £74 666. As detailed earlier in the
report, 34% of PSP awards granted in 2016
will vest in December 2019 at an estimated
value of circa £188,361 based on the average
share price between 2 January 2019 and

29 March 2019 plus adividend equivalent

of £0.49 per share. Helen has no further
outstanding awards. '

The Company recognises that executive
directors may be invited to become non-
executive directors of other companies and
that these appointrments can broaden their
knowledge and experience to the benefit of
the Company. The policy is for the individual
director toretain any fee. The fees in the-
table opposite reflect those earned by
Humphrey Singer from his appointment

to the Board on 9 July 2018 tothe end of
the 2018/19 financial year.

Any fees Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne
received for his externai non-executive
director role for the period from 1 April
2018 to 18 April 2018 were retained by
him and have not been communicated to
the Company.

Director Period earned

Fee
Company oog

" Humphrey Singer

05/07/2018 - 30/03/2019

Taylor Wimpey £57
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FIGURE 28: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' TOTAL SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION {(AUDITED)

Non-executive directors receive fees Basic tees Additional fees Benchils Total
reflecting the time commitment, demands 000 £000 000 ooo
and responsibilities of the role. Fees paid Oirector Year
to the non-executive directors and Board Archie Norman 2018/19 70 53 0 600
Chairman for 2018/19.and 2017/18 are {from 1 September 2017)
detailed in the table opposite. 2017/18 il 309 0 350
. . Andy Halford 2018/19 70 23 0 93
During the year, these fees were reviewed. 078 0 5 o ax
Taking into account relevant market data, . — /
and given fees have remained frozen since Alison Brittain 201819 70 0 0 70
2011 while responsibilities have increased, 2017/18 70 [+] 0 70
it was agreed that the basic non-executive Andrew Fisher 2018/19 70 8 o 78
and senjor non-executive director fee will o178 0
beincreased by 2.5% to £71,500and _ 2017/ o o 70
£102,500 respectively. The additional fee Katie Bickerstaffe 2018/19 51 0 0 51
for chairing a committee willincrease by (from 10 Juty 2018) 2017/18 - — - _
3.3% to £15,500, The totalaggregate fee of Pi .
. : : ti 2018/19 51 51
the Board Chairman will be increased by (f:-g:: ?grjtfy';m 8) e/ o o
2% to £612,000: Increases will be effective 201718 - - - -
from 1 July 2019 and are inline with Justin King 200819 8 s} o] 18
increases seenacross the wider workforce. (from 1 January 2019} 201718 _ _ _ _
Fee levels will be reviewed again during Vindi Banga 201819 35 15 0 50
2019/20 as per the normal annuat process. (to 1 October 2018) 2017/18 70 30 0 100
Changes to the Board during the year are Rithard Solomons 2018/19 19 0 [¢] 19
detailedbelowand are alsoreflectedinthe  (to 10 Juty 2018) 201718 70 o 0 70
table opposite.
FIGURE 29: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS (AUDITED)}
The non-executive directors are not onthe Board during the year as at Director Number of sharesheld
permitted to participate in any of the 30 March 2019 (or upon their date of Archie Norman 78,000
Company's incentive arrangements. retiring from the Board), including those Andy Halford 21000
Al . o N for¢ .
1§ non-executive d_|rectors are reguured held by connected persons. Alison Brittamn 5096
to build and maintain a shareholding of There have been no changes in the current .
at least 2000 shares in the Company Jeen 9 ; Andrew Fisher 3536
within two months of their appointment to non-executive directors'interests in shares Katie Bickerstaffi 2,000
the Board bp inthe Company and its subsidiaries atie Bickerstatre .
) between the end of the financial year Pip McCrostie 6,000
Thetable opposite details the shareholding  and 21 May 2019. Justin King 20,000
of the non-executive directors who served Vindi Banga 93.700
Richard Solomons 5000

FIGURE 30: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ AGREEMENTS FOR SERVICE

COVERNANCE

Non-executive directors have an
agreernent for service for an initial
three-year term which can be terminated
by either party giving three months’
notice (six months' for the Chairman).

The table opposite sets out these terms
for all current members of the Board.

Director Date of appointment Notice periodfunexpiredterm
Archie Norman 01/09/2017 6 months/6 months
Andy Halford Q10172013 3 moenths/3 months
Alison Brittain 01/01/2004 3 moenths/3 months
Andrew Fisher MAz/2008 3 months/3 months
Katie Bickerstaffe 10/07/2018 Imonths/3 months
Pip McCrostie 10/07/2018 3 months/3 months
Justin King 01/01/2019 2months/3 months

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CHANGES TO THE BOARD DURING 2018/19

DIRECTORS APPQINTED TO THE BOARD
Katie Bickerstaffe and Pip McCrostie
Joined the Board as non-executive directors
on 10 July 2018, as did Justin King on

1 January 2019, Katie, Pip and Justin

receive the standard annual non-executive
director fee of £70,000and are members
of the Nomination Comrnittee. In addition
to being appointed to the Nomination
Committee, Katie isa member of the
Remuneration Committee and Pipis
amember of the Audit Cammittee.

ROLE CHANGES WITHIN THE BOARD
Upon Vindi Banga's retirement fromthe
Board, Andrew Fisher became Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and
Andy Halford was appointedtotherole

of Senior Independent Director. These
appointments were effective on 1 October
20'8 and from this date Andrew and

Andy received additionat fees in accordance
with the increased responsibility of their
roles as described in the Remuneration
Policy on page 62.

DIRECTORS RETIRING FROM THE BOARD
Richard Solomons retired from the Board
on 10 July 2018 and Vindi Banga retired
from the Board on 1 October 2018.There
were no paymenits for loss of office payable

to Richard or Vindi,

STRATECIC REPORT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REMIT

During the year, the Remuneration Committee agreed that while the broader Terms of Reference implemented following the detaited
review in 2017/18 were working well, the publication of the final revisions to the 2018 Corporate Governance Code, along with the
appointment of Andrew Fisher to Chairman of the Remuneration Cormmittee, provided an excellent opportunity to undertake a further
light touch review, The 2018/19 review primarily involved a sharpening and focusing of Committee activities along with a refinement and

clarity of ianguage.

Thefull Terms of Reference for the Committee can be found on the Company's website at marksandspencer.com/thecompany

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

Therole of the Committee continuesto
have a strong focus onensuring an
appropriate alignment between executive
. directors’and Operating Committee
directors’ remuneration with that of
colleagues across M&S, ensuring the senior
remuneration strategy and framework s
strategically aligned with the business but
thatit also attracts andrecognises the
talent required to drive transformation and
cultural change within M&S. Broadly, the
responsibilities are as follows:

- Setting remuneration policy and practices
that are designed to support strategy and
promote the long-term success of M&S whilst
following the below principles:

- Clarity - remuneration arrangements are
transparent and promote effective
engagement with shareholders and M&S
colleagues,

- Simplicity - remuneration structures are
uncomplicated with easy to understand
rationale and operation;

- Risk - reputational and other risks from
excessive rewards, and behavioural risks
that can arise from target-based incentive
plans, are identified and mitigated,

- Predictability - the range of possible
values of rewards to executive directors
are identified and explained at the time of
approving the policy;

- Proportionality - the link between
individual awards, the delivery of strategy
and the long-term performance of the
Company is ¢clear and that outcomes do
not reward poor performance; and

- Alignment to culture - incentive schemes
drive behaviours consistent with M&S's
purpose, values and strategy.

Deterrnining the terms of emplayment and
rernuneration for the executive directors and
Operating Committee directors, including
recruitmment and termination arrangements.

Considering the appropriateness of the
senior remuneration framework and
exercising independent judgement and
discretion when authorising remuneration
outcomes, taking account of Cormpanyand
ingividual performance, and the context of
the wider workforce.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AGENDA FOR 2018/19

Noting the total pay budgets including salary,
bonus and share scheme atlocations across
all of M&S together with the principles of
allocation to ensure appropriate consistency
with the senior pay frameworks.

Approving the design, targets and total
payments for all performance-related pay
schemes operated by M&S, seeking
sharehoclder approval where necessary.

Assessing the appropriateress and
subseguent achievement of performance
targets relating to any share-based incentive
plan for the executive and Operating
Comrnittee directors.

Receiving direct feedback from the Croups
employee representative body, employee
engagement surveys and management
reports to ensure colleague views on Group
culture, including remuneration strategy and
diversity & inclusion are considered.

RECULAR ITEMS

Pay arrangements

- Within the terms of the M&S Rernuneration
Policy, approval of the total individual
rernuneration packages for the executive
directors and Operating Comimittee
directors, and any termination payments
where applicable.

- Consideration of the appropriateness of the
senior remuneration framework in the
context of the rest of the organisation and
external governance.

- Noting of the total budgeted salary
expenditure across MES for satary review,
ensuring principles for reward allocation are
aligned across M&S,

Annual Bonus Scheme
~ Review of achievements against 2018/19

performance objectives for executive
directors and Operating Committee
directors.

Approval of target for the 2019/20 Annual
Bonus Scheme ensuring the performance
conditions are transparent, stretching and
rigorously applied.

Approval of the 2019/20 performance
objectives for executive directors and
Operating Committee directors.

Noting of the total budgeted expenditure for
the Annual Bonus Scheme across MES.

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
- Approval of the measures and targets for the

2019 PSP awards for the executive directors
and Operating Committee directors
following engagement with shareholders and
other applicable stakeholders.

Approval of vesting leve! of the 2016 PSP
awards across MES.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN 2019/20

Regular review of atl in-flight performance
share plans against targets.

Governance and external market

Approval of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report for 2018/19 and review of the ACM
voting outcomne for the 2017/18 Report.

Review of the Committee’s performance in
2018/19, including assurance that the
principles of the revised Terms of Reference
angd broader remit of the Committee are
embedded.

Assessment of the external market when
considering remuneration arrangements for
executive directors and Operating
Cormmittee directors.

Noting of direct feedback from the Business
Involvernent Group ‘BIG MBS's ermployee
representative body to ensure all employee
views are received and considered by the
Board when making Rernuneration and
Reward decisions.

- Full review of the M&S Remuneration Policy in
anticipation of the binding shareholder vote
at the 2019 AGM, ensuring the Policy
continues to support the long-term success
of M&S and is aligned with the 2018 UK
Corporate Covernance Code, other external
governance and emerging best practice.

- Ensure the continued strateqgic alignment

of the directors’ incentive arrangements to
support and drive M&S's transformation.

- Review the appropriateness of the

senior rermnuneration framework in the
context of the rest of the organisation
and external governance.

Review the effectiveness and transparency
of remuneration reporting.
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FIGURE 31: REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Thetable opposite details the
independent non-executive
directors that were members

of the Committee during 2018/19.

COMMITTEE ADVISERS

Mcmber Maxirmum Number of % of
since possible Mmeetings meetngs
megtings attended attended
MEMBER
Andrew Fisher 1 October 2018 2 2 100%
(Chairrmany
Archie Norman 3 Novernber 2017 5 5 100%
Katie Bickerstaffe 10 July 2018 3 3 100%
Vindi Banga 1 Septernber 2011 3 3 100%
(Chairman}
{to1 October 2018)
Richard Solomons 21 July 2015 2 2 100%

{to 10 July 2018)

In carrying out its responsibilities, the
Committeeis independently advised by
external advisers. The Committee was
advised by PwC during the year PwCis a
founding member of the Remuneration
Consultants Croup and voluntarily operates
under the code of conduct inrelation to
exegutive remuneration consulting in the
UK. The code of conduct can be found at
remunerationconsultantsgroup.com

The Committee has not explicitly
considered the independence of the advice
it receives, althoughit regularty reflects on
the quality and objectivity of this advice. The
Committeeis satisfied that any conflicts are
appropriately managed. PwC was appointed

bythe Committee as its independent
advisers in 2014 following a rigorous and
competitive tender process. PwC provides
independent commentary on matters
under consideration by the Committee and
updates onlegislative requirements, best
practice and market practice. PwC’s fees are
typicaliy charged on an hourly basis with
costs for work agreed in advance, During
the year, PwC charged £56,500 for
Remuneration Committee matters. This

is based on an agreed fee for business as
usual support with additional work charged
at hourly rates. PwC has provided tax,
consultancy and risk consulting services
tothe Groupin the financial year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE STAKEHOLDER AND SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Committee also seeks internal support
from the CEO, Croup Ceneral Counsel and
Cornpany Secretary, HR Director and Head
of Performance & Reward as necessary.
Allmay attend the Committee meetings
by invitation but are not present forany
discussions that relate directly to their

own remuneration.

The Committee also reviews external survey
and bespoke benchmarking dataincluding
that published by New Bridge Street {the
trading name of Aon Hewitt Limited), KPMG,
PwC, FIT Remuneration Consultants, Ko
Ferry Hay Group and Willis Towers Watson.

The Committee is committed to ensuring
that executive pay remains competitive,
appropriate and fair in the context of the
external market, Company performance
and the pay arrangements of the wider
workforce. [n coliaboration with the Head
of Performance & Reward, the Committee
gives employees, through employee
representatives, the opportunity toraise

guestions or concerns regarding the
rernuneration of the executive directors.
During the year,employee representatives
were given the opportunity to discuss in
detail the directors pay arrangements.
Details of the directors’ pay arrangements
were discussed inthe context of the reward
framework for the rest of the organisation
and external factors, no concerns were

raised either during these discussions
or subsequently.

The Cormmittee is committedto a
continuous, openand transparent dialogue
with shareholders on the issue of executive
remuneration, as demonstrated by recent
engagement regarding 2019 Performance
Share Plan targets.

SHAREHOLDER SUPPORT FOR THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND 2017/18 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT

STRATECIC REPORT

|

GOVERNANCE

At the Annual General Meeting on 10 July
2018, 98.70% of shareholders voted in favour
of approving the Directors’ Remuneration
Report for 2017/18. The Committee believes

thisillustrates the strong level of
shareholder support for the senior
remuneration framework. As this was
anon-policy renewal yesr, there was no

vote regarding the Remuneration Policy.

The tabte below shows full details of the
voting outcomes for the 2017/18 Directors'
Remuneration Report.

FIGURE 32: VOTING OUTCOMES FOR THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND 2017/18 REMUNERATION REPORT

Votes for % Votes For votes against % Votes against Votes withheld
Remuneration Policy (at the 2017 ACM) 1,020,561,621 99.08% 9,498 526 092% 2,368,960
2017/18 Remuneratioh Report (at the 2018 AGM} 1,009,866,132 98.70% 13,263,809 1.30% 19,095,928

APPROVED BY THE BOARD

ANGREW FISHER CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
London, 21 May 2019

This Rernuneration Policy and these remuneration reports have been preparedin accordance with the relevant provision of the Companies Act 2006 and on the basis prescribed inthe
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Croups [Accounts and Reports) (Amendment}Regulations 2013 {'the Regulations’) Where required, data has been audited by Deloitte and this
is indicated appropriately.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OTHER DISCLOSURES

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Marks and Spencer Group pic

(the "Company®)is the holding company
of the Marks & Spencer Croup of
companies (the “Group™).

The Directors' Report for the year ended

30 March 2019 comprises pages 34 to BO
and pages 158 to 159 of this report. together
with the sections of the Annual Report
incorporated by reference. As permitted by
legislation, some of the matters required to
beincludedin the Directors Report have
instead been includedinthe Strategic
Report on pages 1 to 33,as the Board
considers them to be of strategic
importance. Specifically, these are:

-Future business developments
(throughout the Strategic Report).

=Risk management on pages 27 to 28.

SDetails of branches operated by
the Company onpages 8to 14,

-Total glcbal M&S greenhouse gas
emissions 2018/19 on page 21.

The Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report together form the Management
Report for the purposes of the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules
{OTR)4.1.8R.

Informationrelating to financial instruments
can be foundonpages 121-130andis
incorporated by reference.

For information onour approachto social,
environmental and ethical matters, please
refer to our Plan A Report, available online
at marksandspencercom/plana

Otherinformation to be disclosedinthe
Directors Report is given in this section.

The Directors' Report fulfils the
requirernents of the corporate governance
statement for the purposes of DTR7.2.3R.
Further information is available online at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany

Both the Strategic Report and the Directors'
Report have been drawn up and presented
inaccordance with andin reliance upon
applicabte English company law,and the
liabilities of the directors inconnection

with those reports shall be subject to the
timitations and restrictions provided by
such law.

INFORMATION TO BE
DISCLOSED UNDER LR 9.8.4R

Page

Listirg Rule Detail reference

98.4R{1)(2)

(5-14}(A)(B) Notapplicable NfA
55-57,
59-6i

Long-term and

9.8.4R (4) incentive schemes 66-68

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The membership of the Board and
biographical details of the directors are
provided on pages 36 and 37 Changes to
the directors during the year and up tothe
date of this report are set out below. Details
of directors’ beneficial and non-beneficial
interests in the shares of the Company

are shown on pages 69 and 73.0pticns
granted to directors under the Save As You
Earn (SAYE)and Executive Share Option
Schemes are shown on page 70, Further
information regarding employee share
option schemes is provided in note 13 tothe
financial staterments onpages 114to 116.

Effective date of

departure/
Narne Role appointment
Departures
Patrick Executive 18 April 2018
Bousquet-  Director
Chavanne
Richard Non-Executive 0 July 2018
Solomons  Director
Vindi Banga Non-Executive 1 October
Director 2018
Appointments
Humphrey Executive S July 2018
Singer Director
Katie Non-Executive 10 July 2018
Bickerstaffe Director
Pip Non-Executive 10July 2018
McCrostie  Director
Justin King Non-Executive 1 January
Director 2009

The appontment and replacement of
directors is governed by the Company’s
Articles of Association {the "Articles™), the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the *Code™),
the Companies Act 2006 and related
legislation.The Articles ray be amended
by a special resolution of the shareholders.
Subject to the Articles, the Companies Act
2006 and any directions given by special
resolution, the business of the Company
will be managed by the Board who may
exercise all the powers of the Company.

The Company may, by ordinary resolution,
declare dividends not exceeding the
amount recommended by the Board.
Subject to the Companies Act 2006, the
Board may pay interim dividends and

also any fixed rate dividend, whenever the
financial position of the Company, in the
opinion of the Board justifies its payrment.

The directors may from time to time
appoint one or more directors. The Board
may appcint any person to be adirector
{solong as the total number of directors
does not exceed the imit prescribed in
the Articles) Under the Articles,any such
director shall hold office onty untilthe
next AGCMwhere they will stand for
annual election.

DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Company has proceduresin place for
managing conflicts of interest. Should a
director becorne aware that they, or any
of their connected parties, have aninterest
inan existing or proposed transaction
with Marks & Spencer, they shouid notify
the Board inwriting or at the next Board
meeting. Internai controds areinplace to
ensure that any related party transactions
involving directors, or their connected
parties,are conducted onanarm’s length
basis. Directors have a continuing duty

to update any changes to these conflicts,

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITIES

The Company maintains directors' and
officers liability insurance which provides
appropriate cover for legal action brought
against its directors. Tne Company has also
granted indermnities to each of its directors
and the Croup Secretary to the extent
permitted by law. Qualifying third-party
indemnity provisions (as defined by Section
234 of the Companies Act 2006) were in
force during the year ended 30 March 2019
and remainin forcein relation to certain
losses and liabilities which the directors

{or Group Secretary) may incur to third
partiesin the course of actingas directors
or Croup Secretary or employees of the
Cormpany or of any associated company.
Qualifying pension scheme inderminity
provisions {as defined by Section 235

of the Companies Act 2006) were in force
during the course of the financial year
ended 30 March 2019 for the benefit

of the Trustees of the Marks &Spencer UK
Pension Scheme, both inthe UKand the
Republic of Ireland.



PROFIT AND DIVIDENDS

The profit for the financiat year, after
taxation, amounts to £37.3m (last year
£29.1m). The directors have declared
dividends as follows;

Ordinary shares £m

Paid interim dividend
of 6.Bp per share

{last year 68p per share) £110.3m

Proposed final dividend
of 7.1p per share

(last year 11 8p per share)} £115.4m

Total dividend of
13.9p per share for 2018/19

(last year 18.7p per share) £2257mM

Subject to shareholder approval at this
year's AGM, the final ordinary dividend

will be paid on 12 July 2019 to shareholders
whose names were on the Register of
Members at the close of business on

31 May 2019.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company's issued ordinary share
capitalas at 30 March 2019 comprised a
singjle class of ordinary share. Each share
carries the right to one vote at generat
rmeetings of the Company.

During the pericd, 242 884 ordinary shares in
the Company were issued under the terms
of the United Kingdom Employees’ Save As
You Earn Share Option Scheme at prices
between 260p and 261p.

Details of movements in the Company’s
issued share capitalcan be found in note 24
tothe financial statements on page 132.

RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER
OF SECURITIES

There are no specific restrictions on the
transfer of securities in the Caompany,
which is governed by its Articles of
Association and prevailing legislation.

The Company is not aware of any
agreements between holders of securities
that may result in restrictions on the
transfer of securities or that may result
inrestrictions onvoting rights.

VARIATICN OF RIGHTS

Subject to applicable statutes, rights
attached to any class of share may be varied
with the written consent of the holders of at
least three-guarters in nominal value of the
issued shares of that class, or by a special
resolution passed at a separate general
meeting of the shareholders.
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RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
ATTACHING TO SHARES

Subject to the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006, any resolution passed by the
Company under the Cormpanies Act 2006
and other shareholders rights, shares may
beissued with suchrights and restrictions
as the Company may by ordinary resolution
decide, or (if there is no such resolution

or so far as it does not make specific
provision) as the Board may decide.

POWERS FOR THE COMPANY ISSUING
OR BUYING BACK ITS OWN SHARES

The Company was authorised by
shareholders at the 2018 ACM to purchase
inthe market up to 10% of the Company's
issued share capital, as permitted under
the Company's Articles, No shares were
bought back under this authority during
the year encled 30 March 2019 anduptothe
date of this report.

This standard authority is renewable
annually; the directors will seek Lo renew
this authority at the 2019 AGM. It is the
Company's present intention to cancel
any shares it buys back, rather than hold
themin treasury.

The directors were granted authority at

the 2018 ACM toallot relevant securities
uptoanominalamount of £135,397,323.
This authority witl apply untit the conclusion
of the 2019 ACM. At this year's ACM,
shareholders will be askedto grant an
authorityto allot relevant securities

{i)up to a nominat amount of £162,504,984
and (i} comprising equity securities up

to anominalamount of £325,009968
(after deducting from such limit any
relevant securities allotted under (i),

in connection with an offer of arights
issue (the Section 551 amount), such
Section 551 amount toapply untilthe
conclusion of the ACMto be held in

2020 or, if earlier, on 1 October 2020,

Aspecial resolution will also be proposed
to renew the directors powers to make
non pre-emptive issues for cash in
connection with rights issues and otherwise
up toanorminalamount of £24,375,748.

In addition, this year a separate special
resclution will be proposed, in line with
institutional shareholder guidelines, to
authorise the directors to make non pre-
emptiveissues for cashin connection with
acquisitions/specified capital investments,
up to a nominalamount of £24,375,748.

A special resolution will also be proposed
torenew the directors authority to
repurchase the Company's ordinary shares
inthe market. The authority will be limited
to amaximum of 195 million ordinary shares
and seks the minimurnand maximum prices
which will be paid.

The Company is currently conducting &
rights issue to raise up to £601,3m, the terms
of which were announced on 22 May 2019,
using authorities granted at the 2018 AGM.
Further details are inthe Company’s
announcement made on that date.

INTERESTS IN VOTING RIGHTS

Inforrmation provided to the Company
pursuant to the Financial Conduct
Authority's (FCA) Disclosure Cuidance and
Transparency Rules (OTRs)is published

on a Regulatory Information Service

and on the Company’s website. As at
30March 2018, the following information
has been received,in accordance with

DTR 5, from holders of notifiable interests
inthe Company'sissued share capital,

The information provided below was
correcl al the date of notification; however,
the datereceived may not have been
within the current financial year. It should
be noted that these holdings are likely

to have changed since the Company was
rotified. However, notification of any
change is not required until the next
notifiable thresholdis crossed.

% of capital
Natifiable intergsls Ordinary shares disctosed  Nature of holding as per disciosure
Schroders ple 90,130,249 5549 indirectinterest (5.547%),
CFD(0.001%)
Majedie Asset 81,070,667 499 Directinterest
Management Limited
Blackrock, inc. 77449103 778 Indirect interest (4.76%),
securities lending (2.53%),
CFD(0.48%)
Ameriprise Financial, Inc, 82524463 5079 Indirect interest (5.054%),
and its group direct interest (0025%}
The Bank of Nova Scotia 2,578,006 315 Direct interest (0.15%),

swap (259%)

In the period from 30 March 2019 to the date of this report, we received no further notifications.
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DEADLINES FOR EXERCISING
VOTING RIGHTS

Votes are exercisable at a general meeting
of the Cormpany in respect of which the
husiness being voted upcn is being heard.
Votes may be exercised in person, by proxy
or, inrelation to corporate members, by
corporate representatives. The Articles
provide a deadline for submission of proxy
forms of not less than 48 hours beforethe
time appointed for the holding of the
meeting or adjourned meeting. However,
when calculating the 48-hour period,

the directors can, and have, decided not

to take account of any part of a day that

is not a working day.

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS -
CHANGE OF CONTROL

Thereare a number of agreements to which
the Company is party that take effect, alter
or terminate upon a change of control of the
Company following a takeover bid. Details
of the significant agreements of this kind

are as follows:

-> The £400rm Mediunn Term Notes (MTN)
issued by the Company on 30 November
2009, the £300m Medium Term Notes
issued by the Company on 6 December
2011, the £400m Mediurn Term Notes
issued by the Company on 12 Decemnber
2012 and the £300m Mediurm Term Notes
issued by the Company on 8 December
2016 to various institutions and under the
Group's £3bn Euro Mediurm Term Note
(EMTN) programme contain an option
such that, upon a change of control
event, combined with a credit ratings
downgrade to below sub-investment
level, any hotder of an MTN may require
the Company to prepay the principal
amount of that MTN.

-> The $300m US Notes issued by the
Company to varipus institutions on
6 Decernber 2007 under Section 144a
of the US Securities Act contain an option
such that, upon a change of control
event, combined with a credit ratings
downgrade to below sub-investrnent
level, any holder of such a US Note may
require the Cormpany to prepay the
principal amount of that US Note,

- The amended and restated £1.10n
Credit Agreement dated 16 March 2016
{originally dated 29 September 2011)
between the Campany and various
banks contains a provision such that,
upon a change of control event, unless
new terms are agreed within 60 days,
the facility under this agreermnent will
be cancelled with all outstanding
amounts becoming immediately
payable with interest.
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OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

= The amended and restated Relationship
Agreement dated 6 October 2014
{originally dated 9 November 2004 as
amended on 1 March 2005), between
HSBC and the Company and relating to
M&S Bank, contains certain provisions
which address a change of control of
the Company. Upon a change of control,
the existing rights and obligations of the
parties in respect of M&S Bank continue
and HSBC gains certain limited additional
rights in respect of existing customers
of the new controller of the Company.
Where a third-party arrangement is in
place for the supply of financial services
products to existing customers of
the new controller, the Company is
required to procure the termination
of such arrangement as soon as
practicable {while not being required
te do anything that would breach
such a third-party arrangerment).

-» Where a third-party arrangemenit is so
terminated, or does not exist, HSBC has
the exclusive right to negotiate proposed
terms for the offer and sale, of financiat
services products to the existing
customers of the new controller by
HSBC on an exclusive basis.

-» Where the Company undertakes a
re-branding exercise with the new
centroller following a change of control
{which includes using any M&S brand in
respect of the new controller's business
or vice versa), HSBC may, depending
on the nature of the re-branding
exercise, have the right (exercisable at
HSBC's election) to terminate the
Relationship Agreement.

The Company does not have agreements
with any director or employee that would
provide cormpensation for loss of office

or employment resulting from a takeover
except that provisions of the Company’s
share schemes and plans may cause
options and awards granted to employees
under such schermes and plans to vest
onatakeover.

COLLEAGUE INVOLVEMENT

We remain committed to colleague
involvernent throughout the business.
Colleagues are kept wellinformed of the
performance and strategy of the Croup.
Examples of colleague involvernent and
engagerment, and information on our
approach to our workforce, are hightighted
throughout this Annual Report and
specificallyonpages 15to 17 andon

page 44,

Share schermes are a long-established and
successful part of colleagues' total reward
packages, encouraging and supperting
employee share ownership, The Company
operates both an ali-employee Save As
You Earn Scheme and Share Incentive Plan.
Approximately 18,969 colieagues currently
participatein ShareSave, the Company's
Save As You Earn Scherne, Full details of all
schemes are given on pages 114-116.

There are websites for both pension
schemes - the defined contribution scheme
(YourM&S UK Pension Saving Plan} and the
defined benefit scheme (the Marks &
Spencer UK Pension Scheme) - which are
fully accessible to employees and former
ermployeeswho have retained benefits in
either scheme Employees are updated as
needed with any pertinent information on
their pension savings.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Croupis committed to an active equal
opportunities policy from recruitment
and selection, through training and
development, performance reviews and
promotionto retirement. The Company's
policyis t¢ promote an environment free
from discrimination, harassment and
victimisation, where everyone wil receive
equal treatment regardless of gender,
colour, ethnic or national origin, health
condition, age, marital or civil partner status,
sexual orientationor religion. All decisions
relating to employment practices will be
objective, free from bias and based solely
uponwork criteria and individual merit.

The Company is responsive to the needs
of its emnployees, customers and the
community at large. MBS is an organisation
which uses everyone's talents and abilities
and where diversity is valued.

The directors support a business-wide
inclusion strategy, with eachmember of

the Operating Committee sponsoringan
elernent of diversity, helping our employee-
led diversity networks grow in numbers and
strength and to embed a culture of inclusion
across the organisation.

Further inforrmation on our diversity
and inclusion initiatives can be found on
page 47.



EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITIES

The Cormpanyis clear in its policy that
people with heatth conditions should have
full and fair consideration for all vacancies.

M&S has continued to demonstrateits
commitment tointerviewing those peaple
with disabilities who fulfil the rninirnum
criteria, and endeavouring to retain
employees in the workforce if they become
disabled during employrment. MBS will
actively retrain and adjust employees’
environments where possibte to allow

them to maximise their potential and will
continue to work with external organisations
to provide workplace opportunities through
aur innovative Marks & Start scherme and

by working closety with Jobcentre Plus.

The Marks & Start scheme was introduced
into the distribution centre at Castle
Doningtonin 2012/13, working with Remploy
to support pecple with disabilities and
health conditions into work, and this year
marked 15 years since we launched the
Marks & Start programme.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Research and innovation rermain key

to our Food offer and the development
of improved product and fabric in
Clothing & Home. Furtherinformation is
providedinthe Plan AReport,

avaitable online.

GROCERIES SUPPLY CODE
OF PRACTICE

The Croceries (Supply Chain Practices)
Market Investigation Qrder 2009 (the
*Order”yand The Groceries Supply Code of
Practice (the ‘Code’)impose obligations
on M&S regarding its relationships withits
suppliers of groceries. Under the Order and
Code, M&S is required to submit anannual
compliance report to the Audit Committee
for approvat and then to the Cormpetition
and Markets Authority and Groceries

Code Adjudicator (GCA).

MA&S submittedits report, covering the
period from 1 April 2018 to 30 March 2019,
to the Audit Committee on 16 May 2019,

Inaccordance with the Order, a summary of
that compliance report is set out below.

M&S believes that it has materially complied
with the Code and the Order during the
relevant period. No formal disputes under
the Code have arisen during the reporting
period. There have been seveninstances
during the reporting period in which
suppliers have either alleged a breach

or made areference to potential non-
compliance with the Code M&S has worked
with the suppliers to address theissues
raised and they have all now been resolved
or closed. One additional Code reference
made by a supplier before 1 Aprit 2018 was
also resolved during the reporting period.
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A detaited summary of the comptliance
report is available on our website.

POLITICAL DONATIONS

The Company did not make any political
donations or incur any political expenditure
during the year ended 30 March 2019.

MES has a policy of not making donations
topolitical organisations or independent
election candidates or incurring political
expenditure anywherein the world as
defined in the Political Parties, Elections
and Referendums Act 2000.

GOING CONCERN

In adopting the going concern basis for
preparing the financial statements, the
directors have considered the business
activities as set out on pages 2 to 22as
well as the Croup's principat risks and
uncertainties as set out on pages 29to 33.

Based on the Group’s cash flow forecasts
and projections, the Board is satisfied that
the Group will be able to operate within the
level of its facilities for the foreseeable
future. For this reason, the Board considers
it appropriate for the Croup to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing its
financial statements,

© See note 20 to the financial statemnents for
more information on our facilities

LONG-TERM VIABILITY STATEMENT

Thedirectors have assessed the prospects
of the Company over a three-year period to
March 2022. This has taken into account the
business model, strategic aims, risk appetite,
and principal risks and uncertainties, along
with the Company's current financial
position. Based on this assessment, the
directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company wilt be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall
dueover the three-year period under review.

@ See our approach to assessing long-term
viability on p28

AUDITOR

Resotutions to reappoint Deloitte LLP as
auditor of the Cornpany and to authorise
the Audit Committee to determineits
remuneration will be proposed at the
2019 ACM.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of Marks and Spencer Group plc
will be held at Wembley Stadium, Wembley,
Londonon 9 July 2019 at 11am. The

Notice of Meetingis given, together with
explanatory notes, on pages 146-157.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is of the view that the Annual
Repart should be truly representative of
the year and provide sharehalders with
the information necessary toassess the
Croup's position, performance, business
maodel and strategy.

The Board requested that the Audit
Committee review the AnnualReport and
provide its opinion onwhether the report
is fair, balanced and understandable. The
Audit Committee's opinion is on page 51.

The directors are also responsible

for preparing the Annual Report,

the Remuneration Report and Policy

and the financial statementsin accordance
with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to
prepare financiat statements for each
financial year. Under that law, the directors
have prepared the Croup and Company
financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU. Under company
law, the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a trug and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Croupand the
Company and of the profit or loss of the
Group and the Cormpany for that period.

In preparing these financial staternents,
the directors are required to:

- Select suitable accounting poticies
and then apply them consistently.

- Make judgernents and accounting
estimates that are reasonable
and prudent.

- State whether applicable IFRS
(as adopted by the EU) have been
followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained
in the financial statements.

-» Prepare the financial staternents
ona going concern basts untess itis
inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.
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The directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose,
atany time and with reasonabte accuracy,
the financial position of the Cormpany and
the Croup and toenable them to ensure
that the financial statements and the
Rermuneration Report comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Croup financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regutation. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Croup
and the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the
Company’s website. Legislationin the

UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legisiation in other jurisdictions.

Eachof the current directors, whose
names and functions are listed on pages
36and 37, confirms that, to the best of
their knowledge:

- The Group financial statemenits, prepared

in accordance with the applicable set
of accounting standards, give a true
and fair view of the assets, Liabilities,

financial position and profit or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included

in the consolidation taken as a whole.

- The Managerment Report includes
a Fair review of the development
and performance of the business
and the position of the Company
and the undertakings included in the

consolidation taken as a whole, together

with 2 description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that they face.

- The Annual Report, taken as a whole,
is fair, batanced and understandable,
and provides the necessary information
for shareholders tc assess the Croup's
position, performance, business model
and strategy.
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OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
TO AUDITOR

Each ofthe persons who are directors at the
time when this Directors' Reportis approved
confirms that, so far as he/she is aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which

the Company’s auditor is unaware and that
he/fshe has taken all the steps that hefshe
ought to have taken as a director to make
hirnself/ herself aware of any relevant

audit information and to establish that

the Company’s auditor is aware of

that information.

The Directors’ Report was approved by a
duly authorised committee of the Board
of Directors on 21 May 2019 and signed
on its behalf by

1
N0
NICK FOLLAND CROUP GENERALTCOUNSEL

AND COMPANY SECRETARY .
London, 21 May 2019
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR'S REPORT

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IN OUR OPINION:

BASIS FOR OPINION

the financial statements of Marks and
Spencer Group plc (the “Parent
Company”) and its subsidiaries

(the “Group”) give a true and fair
view of the state of the Croup’s and
of the Parent Company's affairs as at
30 March 2019 and of the Group’s
profit for the 52 weeks then ended;

the Group financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and IFRSs as issued
by the International Accounting
Standards Board (JASB);

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)
{ISAs (UK)}and applicable taw. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical
requireiments that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including
the Financial Reporting Council’s {the *FRC's”) Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance

with these requirements. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the

FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the Parent Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

SUMMARY OF QUR AUDIT APPROACH

the Parent Company financial
statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union and as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006; and

the financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements
which comprise:

- the Consolidated income statement;

- the Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income;

- the Consolidated and Company
statements of financial position;

= the Consolidated and Company
staterments of changes in equity;,

- the Consolidated and Company
statements of cash flows,

- the Reconciliations of movement in net
debt and net debt to the Consolidated
statement of financial position; and

~> the related notes 1 to 30and C1 to C6.

The financial reporting framework that has
been applied intheir preparation s
applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the
EBuropean Union and, as regards the Parent
Company financial staterments, as appliedin
accerdance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS SCOPING
The key audit rmatters that we identified in We performed a full scope audit onthree
the current year were: components of the business (UK, India and

Ireland) representing 99% of the Croup’s
revenue, 95% of the Group's adjusted profit
before tax, 92% of the CGroup's profit before
tax, BO% of the Group’s totalassets,and 99%
of the Group’s total Gabilities,

- Disclosure of adiusting items;

- Accounting for the UK store
rationalisation programme;

= Impairment of UK store assets;

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES
IN QUR APPROACH

Qur audit approach is consistent with the
previous year, with the exception of:

- Inventeory provisioning for
UK Clothing & Home;

- valuation of UK defined benefit
obligation; and

- IFRS 16 Leases disclosures. -Manual adjustments to reported revenue

has been removed as a key audit matter

Within this report

...... on account of the quanturmn of

Any new key audit matters e adjustments applied and the limited
are identified with scape of judgement involved; and

Any key audit matters whic;
are the same as the prior
year identified with

e SIFRS 16 Leases disclosures has been

included as a key audit matter due to the
inherent level of judgement involved in
determining the quantum of the impact
and the level of audit effort required in
evaluating the appropriateness of the
supporting disctosures.

MATERIALITY

The materiality that we used for the
Croup financial skatements was £200m
(2018: E24.5my using a benchmark of
adjusted profit before tax but excluding
theimpact of certain adjusting iterns,
as set out onpage B8 of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT CONTINUED

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN, PRINCIPAL RISKS AND VIABILITY STATEMENT

GOING CONCERN

We have reviewed the directors statement
innote 1 tothe financial staternents about
whether they considered it appropriate

to adopt the going concern basis of
accountingin preparing thern and their
identification of any material uncertainties
to the Group's and Company's abitity to
continue to do so over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval
of the financial statements.

We considered as part of our risk
assessment the nature of the Croup,

its business model and related risks,
including where relevant the impact of
Brexit, the requirements of the applicable
financial reporting framework and the
system of internal control, We evaluated
the directors' assessment of the Croup’s -
ability to continue as a going concern,
including challenging the underlying data
and key assumptions used to make the
assessment,and evaluated the directors’
plans for future actions in relation to their
goingconcernassessment.

We are required to state whether we have
anything material to add or draw attention
toin relation to that statement required by
Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) and report if the
statement is materialty inconsistent with
our knowledge obtained in the audit.

We confirm that we have nothing material

to report, add or draw attention to in
respect of these matters.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
VIABILITY STATEMENT

Based solely onreading the directors’
staterments and considering whether they
were consistent with the knowiedge we
obtained in the course of the audit, including
the knowledge obtained in the evaluation of
the directors assessment of the Croup’s and
the Company’s ability to continue as 2 going
concern, we are required to state whetherwe
have anything material ko add or draw
attention toinrelation to:

- The disclosures on pages 29-33
that describbe the principal risks and
explain how they are being managed
or mitigated,

- The directors’ confirmation on page 28
that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing
the CGroup, including those that would
threaten its business modet, future
performance, solvency or liquidity; or

- The directors’ explanation on page 28 as
to how they have assessed the prospects
of the Group, over what period they have
done so and why they consider that
period to be appropriate, and their
statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Croup
will be able to continue in operation
and meet its Liabilities as they fall due
over the period of their assessment,
including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications
or assumptions.

We are alsc required to report whether

the directors statement relating to the
prospects of the Group required by Listing
Rule 8.8 6R{3) is materiaily inconsistent
with our knowledge obtained inthe audit.

We confirm that we have nothing material
to report, add or draw attention to in
respect of these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period
. andinctude the most significant assessed
risks of material misstatement (whether

or not due to fraud) that we identified.
These mattersincluded those whichhad
the greatest effect on the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resourcesinthe
audits, and directing the efforts of the
engagerment team. ’

These matters were addressedinthe
context of our audit of the financial
staterenis as a whole, and in forming our
opinion therean, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

1 DISCLOSURE OF ADJUSTING ITEMS

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

The Group has reported adjusted profit
before tax of £623.2m, whichis derived
from statutory profit before tax of £846m
adjusted for a number of items which the
Croup considers meet their definition of
an "adjusting item”. Judgement is exercised
by management in determining the
classification of such items. This represents
a significant matter considered by the
Audit Committee on page 50.

Explanations of each adjusting item
are set outin note 5 to the financial
statements and are summarised in
the graphic opposite:
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In determining adjusted profit before tax, we identified the following risks:

- The identification and classification of items as “adjusting” may be inappropriate,

distorting the reported results;

- The omission of items which are considered material, one-off or significant in nature,

distorting the reported results; and

- The clarity and detail of disclosures in respect of adjusting iterns may be insufficient,
precluding investors from obtaining a clear understanding of the Group's resulis

and performance.

" HOW THE QCOPE QF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TG THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Inresponding to the identified key audit
matter, we completed the following
audit procedures:

-> Assessed the design and
implementation of key controls
pertaining to the identification and
disclosure of adjusting items;

- Performed enguiries of management to
understand the rationale applied in
identifying items as adjusting and
completed an independent assessment
as to the selection and presentation of
adjusting items based on their hature;

- Assessed the identification and
consistency of items reparted as
adjusting year on year in light of the
latest guidance published by the
European Securities and Markets
AUthority (ESMA) and the FRC;

-> Performed tests over a representative
sample of adjusting items through
agreement to supporting evidence,

- Used our cumulative audit knowledge

- and applied data analytics to identify
and test other transactions cutside of
the normal course of business, or which

displayed characteristics of being
material, significant or one-offin’
nature; and

- Assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial staterments in accordance
with IFRSs.

- Key observations

We are satisfied that the tems included in
arriving at adjusted profit and the related
disclosures within the financial statements
are appropriste. . '
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

KEY AUDIT MATTER

2 ACCOUNTING FOR THE UK STORE RATIONALISATION PROGRAMME

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

InFebruary 2018 the Board approved alist
of stores marked for closure as part of the
UK store rationalisation programme, with a
totalcharge of £321.1m recorded in the
prior year in respectof impairment,
accelerated depreciation and property
exit costs. In the current year, a further
charge of £222.1m has been recognised
asaresult of:

- Management revisiting its assessment
. of stores approved for closure and the
adequacy of estimates made in light
of known developments in the exit

strategy, including current trading
performance, negetiations with
landlords and changes in the retail
property market;

- Further accelerated depreciation of '
stores identified for closure in the grior

year (as they approach their planned
closure dates);, and

-» Accelerated geprecistion and
impairment of buildings and fixtures and
fittings in respect of additional stores
added to the programme.

Further information is set cut in notes
1 and 5 tothe financial staternents.

This represents a significant matter
considered by the Audit Cornmittee on
page 50.

Our key audit matter was focused on
the following areas of risk:

- Provisions encompassing onerous
contracks, store strip-out costs,
restructuring and dilapidations are
incornplete or inaccurate,

HOW THE 5COPE OF QUR AUCIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

- Specific assumptions applied in
. management’s discounted cash flow
analysis;including the discount rate,
sublet income, sublet lease incentives,
veid periods, freehoid sales proceeds
and store closure costs are
inappropriate; and

- Significant property transactions such .
as disposals and lease surrenders are
accounted for incorrectly.

We consider this to represent a key audit
matterreflecting the level of judgement
applied by management. Cur audit work
focused on assessing the Group's UK store
exit rmodel and evaluating the continued
appropriateness of the key assumptions
used in determining the extent of
provisioning required.

in responding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following audit procedures;

- Assessed the design and
implementation of key controls
pertaining to the review and approval
of the Group's UK store exit model;

- Performed enquiries of management
and inspected tHe latest strategic plans,
Board and relevant sub-committee
minutes of meetings;

= Understood and challenged the basis
of the Croup’s decisions where stores
previously marked for closure are no
longer expected to close;

- Evaluated the appropriateness of the
Croup's judgements for a representative
sample of properties in consultation

with our internal real estate specislists
and with reference to external
benchmarking data,

- Assessed the mechanical accuracy of
discounted cash flow models and other
key pravision calculations;

- Assessed the integrity of key
inputs including lease data, agent
valuations, surveyor plans and rental
payments through agreement to
supporting documentation,

-» Recalculated the closing provision - S

for a representative sample of stores
and agreed any movernent to the
income statement;

-» Evaluated the accuracy and
completeness of provisions recorded
in light of the status of the Group's UK
store rationalisation plan;and

-» Assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial staternents in accordance
with [FRSs.

Key observations

We are satisfied with the Group's estimate
of the impairrments and store exit charges
recorded. Further, the disclosure of
amounts recordedin the financial
staternents is appropriate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

KEY AUDIT MATTER

3 IMPAIRMENT OF UK STORE ASSETS

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

As at 30 March 2019 the Group held
£2,859.9m of UK store assets inrespect of
stores not considered for closure within the
UK store rationalisation programme. In
accordance with iAS 36 Impairment of
Assets, the Group has undertaken an
annual assessment of indicators of
impairment. Animpairment charge of
£52.8m has been recegnised within
adjusting items as set outin notes 5anac 15
to the financial statements.

This represents a significant matter
considered by the Audit Cormmittee
on page 50.

As describedin note 15 to the financial
statements, the Group has estimated the
recoverable amount of store assets based
on their value in use, derived froma

discounted cash flow model prepared by
ranagement. The modelrelies on certain
assumptions and estimates of future
trading performance, incorporating
committed strategic changes tothe UK
Clothing & Heme and Food businesses and
the performance of new stores operating
within their shelter period, all of which
involve a high degree of estimation
uncertainty (as disclosed innote 1),
particularly in light of current retail
market conditions and the impact of
wider economic uncertainty.

The key assumptions applied by
management in theimpairment reviews
performed are:

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

- Future revenue growth and changes in
gross margin,

- Long-term growth rates; and
-» Discount rates.

The Craup considers that each retail store
constitutes its own cash-generating unit
("CCUN), with the exception of the outlet
stores which are used to clear aged
seasonal Clothing & Home inventoryat a
discount. The outlet stores are considered
torepresent one CGU in aggregate.

The Croup's acceunting policy setsout a
relevant shelter period for new stores to
be taken into account when assessing
indicators of impairment during the first
two years of trading to enable stores to
establish themselves within the market,

In responding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following audit procedures

- Assessed the designand
implementation of key controts
pertaining to the impairment
review process,

- Evaluated and challenged
management s range of impairment
indicators with due consideration paid
to the profitability impact of committed
strategic changes to the UK Clothing &
Home and Food businesses and the
performance of new stores operating
within their shelter periods;

- Assessed the mechanical accuracy
of the impairment models and the
rmethodology applied by management
for consistency with the reguirement of
AS 36;

- Assessed the appropriateness of
forecast revenue and gross margin
growth rates through comparison with
external economic benchmarking data;

- Assessed the appropriateness of the
discount rates applied in comunction
with support from our internat
valuations specialists and compared
the rates applied with our internal
benchmarking data;

-» Evaluated the appropriateness and
completeness of information included
in the impairment models based on
our cumulative knowledge of the
business driven by our review of traging
plans, strategic initiatives, minutes of
property and investment committee

meetings, and meetings with regionat
store managers and senior trading
rmanagers from key product categcries,
together with our wider retail industry
knowledge; and

- Assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial staterments in accordance
with IFRSs.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the judgements
applied, the impairments recorded, and
the related disclosures within the financial
statements are appropriate.

STRATECIC REPOGRT

1

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT CONTINUED

KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

KEY AUDIT MATTER

4 INVENTORY PROVISIONING FOR UK CLOTHING & HOME

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

As at 30 March 2019, the Group held

UK Ciothing & Home inventories of

£496.1m {2018: £591.5m). As described

inthe Accounting Policies innote 1 to the
financial statements, inventories are carried
at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. As a result, judgement is applied in

determining the appropriate provisions
required for obsolete inventory and
inventory expected to be sold below cost
based upon a detailed analysis of old
seasoninventory and forecast net
realisable value based upon plans for
inventory to gointo sale.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

We consider the assessment of inventory
provisions within UK Clothing & Home to
require the most judgement, with the

risk increased due to recent trading
performance and the quantum of

Qgross inventory.

{n responding to the identified key audit
rmatter, we cormnpleted the following
audit procedures:

- Assessed the design and
implementation of key controts
pertaining to inventory management
and the review and approvel of the
UK’s inventory provision,

-» Assessed the validity, accuracy and
completeness of the information
used by management in computing
the prowvision;

-» Assessed the mechanical accuracy and
logic of the models underpinning the
respective provisions;

- Understood any changes in the
provisioning methodology and
challenged the appropriateness thereof,

- Challenged and validated the key
assumptions applied by management in
estimating the provision by performing
enquiries of buyers and merchandisers,
considering the current purchasing
strategy and ranging plans, and by using
audit analytics; and

- Tested the validity and completeness of
the inventory flags and season codes
applied to a representative sample of
individual product lines.

Key observations

We concur that the judgerments taken by
management are appropriate and that the
resultant level of inventory provisioning
recorded inrespect of UK Clothing & Home
is acceptable.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

5 VALUATION OF UK DEFINED BENEFIT OBLICATION

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

As described inthe Accounting Policies
innote | andinnote 11 to the financial
statements, the Croup has a defined
benefit pension plan for its UK employees.
This schemeis closed to new entrants andg
benefits no longer accrue to members
following the move of allactive members
to deferred membership on 1 April 2017,

As at 30 March 2019, the Croup recorded

a total (including the UK) net funded
retirement benefit asset of £923.4m (2018:
£959.7rm), being the net of scheme assets of

£10,224.7m (2018: £9989 3rm) and scheme
liahilities of £9,301.3m (2018, £9,029.6m).
£9,175 1m of this Liability relates to the

UK scheme (2018: £8,9076m).

Ourkey audit matterrelatedtothe
valuation of UK scheme liabilities on
account of the sensitivity to changesin
key assurmnptions such as the discount rate,
inflation and mortality estimates.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OQUR AUBIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

This represents a significant matter
considered by the Audit Committee on
page 50. ‘

The setting of the assumptions identified
above is complex and an area of significant
judgement whereby changes inany of
theseassumptions could leadtoa
material movermnent inthe net surplus.

The increasef{decrease) in scheme surplus
caused by achangein each of the key
assumptionsis set out innote 11 tothe
financial statements.

Inresponding to the identified key audit
matter we completed the following
audit procedures:

- Assessed the design and
implementation of relevant controls
pertaining to the estimation and
valuation of the pension liability;

-» Evaluated the appropriateness of the
assumptions applied in the valuation of
scherne liabilities, and the information
contained within the supporting

actuarial valuation reports for each
scheme in conjunction with our internal
pension specialist team;

= Assessed the integrity of key inputs
through agreement of a representative
sample of membership scheme records;

- Performed sensitivity analysis on the key
variables within the valuation modelin
acrordance with external benchmarking
data; and

- Assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the assumptions
applied in determining the valuation of the
defined benefit obligation are appropriate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

KEY AUDIT MATTER

6 IFRS 16 LEASES DISCLOSURES

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

In advance of adopting IFRS 16 Leases frorm
31 March 2019, the Group has finalised its
assessment of theimpact that the new
accounting standard will have onits

' staternent of financial position. The
expectedimpact of IFRS 16 as at 30 March
2019is disclosedin note 1 to the financial
staterments. A number of judgements have
been applied and estimates madein’
determining the impact of the standard.

This represents a significant matter
considered by the Audit Committee on
pages 50-51.

in order to compute the transitionimpact
of IFRS 16, a significant data extraction.

exercise was undertaken by management
to summarise all property and equipment
lease data such that the respective inputs
could be uploaded into management’s
model The incrermental borrowing rate
(*IBR") method has been adopted where
theimplicit rate of interestin a lease is not
readily determinable.

Our key audit matter was focused on the
following areas of risk: .

- Leasing arrangements within the scope
of IFRS 16 are not identified or
appropriately included in the caiculation
of the transitionalimpact;

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

- Specific assumptions applied to
- determine the discount rates for
each [ease are inappropriate;

- The underlying lease déte usedto
calculate the transitional impact is
incomplete and/or inaccurate,

- The mechanical accuracy of lease:
calculations is flawed; and

- The disclosures in the financial
statements are insufficient,
precluding investors from obtaining .

- aclear understanding as to the
transitionalimpact of the change in
accounting standard.

Inresponding to the identified key audit
matter, we completed the followmg
audit procedures:

> Assessed the design and
implementation of key controls
pertaining to the determination of the
IFRS 16 transition impact disclosures;

- Assessed the appropristeness of the
discount rates applied in determining
lease liabilities with input Frorn our
valuation specialists;

- Verified the accuracy of the underilying
\ease data by agreeing a representative

sample of leases to original contract or
other supporting information, and,
checked the integrity and mechanical
accuracy of the IFRS 16 calculations
for each lease sampied through
recalculation of the expected

IFRS 16 adjustment;

- Considered completeness by testing

- therecanciliation to the Group's
operating lease commitments
(disclosed per note 25 to the financial
statements), and by investigating key
service contracts to assess whether they
contained a lease under IFRS 16,and

- Assessed whether the disclosures within
the financial staternents are appropriate
in light of the requirements of 1AS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the dlsctosure of
the expectedirmpact of IFRS 16isin
accordance with the Group's stated
accounting policy and the related
disctosure of these items pernote | to
the financial statements is appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY

We define materiality as the magnitude of
misstaternent in the financial staternents
that makes it prabable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable
person would be changed or influenced.
We use materiality both in planning the
scope of our audit work and in evaluating
the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement,
we determined materiality for the financial
staterments as a whole as follows:

The materiality applied by component
auditors for full scope audits ranged
from £2.0m to £18.0m (2018: £2.2m

to £22.1m) depending on the scale

of the component’s operations and
our assessment of risks specific to
each location. |

We agreed with the Audit Committee

that we would report to the Committee

all audit differences in excess of £1.0m
(2018: £1.0m), as well as differences

below that threshold that, in our view,
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
We also report to the Audit Committee

on disclosure matters that we identified
when assessing the cverall presentation .
of the financial statements.

Parent company financial

. Group financial staterments statements
Materiality  £200m (2018:£245m) £180m (2018 £22.1m)
Basis for The principal measure considered in both the We used 3% of net
determining current and prior year was a benchmark of 5% assets as the basis of
materiality  of adjusted profit before tax but excluding the materiality and thea
: impact of certain adjusting items, which would further cappedthis at
give a materiality of £21.5m. Theiterns we excluded  90% of Croup
from our determination are listed betowand rnateriality.
explained further in note 5 to the financial
statements:
- M&S Bank charges (PPIY- £209m
- UK logistics - £14.3m
- UK store impairments and associated charges
within £62.1m adjusting item in note 5 - £52.8m
In light of recent trading performance, the
continved challenging market conditions in which
the Croup operates, and the broader level of
uncertainty associated with the UK's exit from the
Eurapean Union we applied professional judgement
to reduce materiality to £20.0m.
Rationale Adjusted profit before tax has beenused asit is The Parent Company
for the the primary measure of performance usedbythe  acts principally
benchmark  Group. We have used adjusted profit measures that  as a holding company
apptlied exclude certain items from our determination ta aid and therefore et
the consistency and comparability of our assetsisdeemeda
materiality base each year. key measure,
MATERIALITY
£523.2m S;g?npmmate”auw
Adjusted PBT . Component
fofr:’ete(miniﬂg £20.0m Adjusted FBT materiality range from
ateriality Group materiality £2.0m to £18.0m
F£5232m
- T - Audit Committee
..A..~-n.____ur~_ reporting threshold

T, £1.0m

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

" Qur group audit was scoped by abtaining
anunderstanding of the Group and its
environment, including group-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of material
misstatement at the Group level

Based on our assessment, and consistent
with the prior year, we focused our group
audit scope on the retail businesses in the UK,
India and iretand, which were subject to a full
audit. We also performed audit procedures
onspecific balances for the remaining store
exit provisions in France, This work was
performed by the group audit tearm.

These components were selected to provide
anappropriate basis for undertaking audit
worlk to address the risks of material
misstaterment identified abcve. Allother
wholly cwned and joint venture businesses
were subject to anatytical review procedures.
While we audit the revenues received by

the Croup from franchise operations, which
account for 4% (2018 3%) of the Croup’s
revenue, we do not audit the underlying
franchise operations as part of our group audit.

At the parent entity level we also tested the

tonsolidation process and carried out
analytical procedures to confirmour
conclusion that there were no significant
risks of material misstatement of the
aggregated financialinformation of the
remaining components not subject toa
full audit. ’

1% 5% a%
99% 95% 92%
REVENUE ADJUSTED PBY PBT
0% 1%
sow 99%
TOTAL ASSETS TOTAL LIABILITIES

@ Fullaudit scope @ Specified audit procedures and
review at group level

The most significant component of the
Group is its retail business in the UK,

which accounts for 91% (2018: 90%) of

the Group's reported revenue of £10,377.3m
(2018: £10,698.2m, and generates operating
profit of £52.8m (2018: £23.2m). The group
audit team performs the audit of the UK
business without the involvement of a
compenent team. During the course of our
audit, the group audit team conducted 10
distribution centre and 25 retail store visits
in the UK to understand the current trading
performance and, ak certain locations,
performed tests of internal controls and
validated levels of inventory held.

We operate a programene of planned visits
to overseas locations such that a senior
member of the group audit team visits each
of the components subject to a full audit or
specific audit procedures at least once
every two years, and the most significant of
therm at least once a year.
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AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT CONTINUED

The programme of visits in the current and
prior year is set out below.

2018 2019
Component (Last year) (This year)
India v v
Republic of ireland v

In addition to our pragramme of planned
visits, we issue detailed referral instructions
to cur component audit teams, engage
regularly with them in our audit team
briefings, consider and discuss the
appropriateness of their local risk
assessment, attend closing meetings

OTHER INFORMATION

with thermn and component management
teams, and review their component
reporting. A dedicated member of the
group audit team is assigned to facilitate an
effective and consistent approach

ta companent oversight,

The directors are responsible for the
other information. The other information
comprrises the information included in
the Annual Report, other thanthe
financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Qur opinion on the financial statements
does nct coverthe other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any
forrm of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connecticn with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read
the other infarmation and, in deing so,
consider whether the other information is
materiatly inconsistent with the financial
staterments or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears tobe
rnaterially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies
or apparent material misstatements, we are

required to determine whether thereis a
material misstatement in the financial
staternents or a material misstatement of
the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatermnent of this other
information, we are required to report

that fact.

Inthis context, matters that we are
specifically required to report to you as
uncorrected material misstaterments of
the other information include where we
conclude that:

- Fair, balanced and understandable - the
statement given by the directors that
they consider the Annual Report and
financial statements taken as 2 whole is
fair, balanced and understandable, ang
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's
position and performance, business
model and strategy, is materialty

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

inconsistent with our knowledge
obtained in the audit; or

- Audit Comnmittee reporting - the section
describing the work of the Audit
Cornmittee does not appropriately
address matters communicated by us to
the Augit Cormmittee; or

-3 Directors’ statement of compliance with
the UK Corporate Covernance Code -
the parts of the directors staternent
required under the Listing Rules relating
to the Cornpany's compliance with the
UK Corporate Governance Code
containing provisions specified for review
by the auditor in accordance with Listing
Rule 98.10R(2) do not properly disclose a
departure from a relevant provision of
the UK Corporate Governance Code.

We have nothing to report in respect of
these matters,

As explained more fully in the directors’
responsibilities statement, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the
financial staternents and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the

preparation of financial staterments that are
free from material misstatement, whether
dueto fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the
Group's and the Parent Cormpany’s ability to
centinue as a going concern, disclosing as

applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis
of agcounting unless the directors either
intend toliquidale Lhe Croup or the Parent
Company or to cease operations, or haveno
realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STRATEGIC REPORT

|

GOVERNANCE

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
staternents as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether dueto fraud or error,
and toissue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
leve!l of assurance, but is not a Quarantee
that an audit conductedin accordance with
1SAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements

can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individualty orin the
aggregate, they could reasonabiy be
expected toinfluence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Detlaits of the extent to which the audit
was considered capable of detecting
trregularities, including fraud, are set
out below,

A further description of our responsibilities
for the audit of the financial siatermnents

is located onthe FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our

auditor's report.

EXTENT TO WHICH THE AUDIT WAS CONSIDERED CAPABLE OF DETECTING IRREGULARITIES, INCLUDING FRAUD

We identify and assess the risks of material
misstaternent of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and then
design and performaudit procedures
responsive to those risks, including
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

IDENTIFYING AND ASSESSING
POTENTIAL RISKS RELATED TO
IRREGULARITIES

Inidentifying and assessing risks of material
rmisstaterment inrespect of irregularities,
including fraud and non-compliance with
laws and regulations, our procedures
included the following:

- Enquiring of management, Internal Audit,
internal legal counsel, and the Audit
Committee, including obtaining and
reviewing sugpporting documentation,
concerning the Croup's policies and
procedures relating to:

- {dentifying, evaluating and complying
with laws and regulations and whether
they were aware of arly instances of
non-compliance;

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

EXTENT TO WHICH THE AUDIT WAS CONSIDERED CAPABLE OF DETECTING IRRECULARITIES,

INCLUDING FRAUD CONTINUED

- Detecting and responding to the risks
of fraud and whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud,

- The internal controls established to
mitigate risks related to fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations
including the Group’s controls relating
to Croceries Supply Code of Practice
{*{CSCOP"} requirements,

-» Discussing among the engagement
team, including significant component
audit teams and involving relevant
internal speciatists, including tax,
valuations, real estate, pensions and IT
specialists, regarding how and where
fraud might occur in the financial
staterments and any potential indicators
of fraud. As part of this discussion, we
identified potential for fraud in the
disclosure of adjusting items; and

-» Obtaining an understanding of the legal
and regulatory frameworks that the
Croup operates in, focusing on those
laws and regulations that had a direct
effect on the financial staterments.

The key laws and regulations we
considered in this context included the
UK Cornpanies Act 2006, the Listing

Rules, UK Corporate Covernance Code,
pensions legislation and UK and overseas
tax legislation. The key Laws and
regulations which had a fundamental
effect on the operations of the Group
included CSCOP, employment law and
heatth and safety legislation.

AUDIT RESPONSE TO RISKS IDENTIFIED

Asaresult of performing the above, we
identified the disclosure of adjustingitems
as a key audit matter. The key audit matters
secticn of our report explains the matter in
more detail and also describes the specific
procedures we performed inresponse to
that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures
torespond to risks identified included
the fallowing:

- Reviewing the financial staternent
disclosures and testing to supporting
gocumentation to assess compliance
with relevant laws and regulations
discussed above as having a direct effect;

- Enquiring of management, the Audit
Committee and in-house and external
legal counsel concerning actual and
potential litigation and claims;

- Performing analytical procedures to
identify any unusual or unexpected
relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstaternent due to fraud;

- Reading minutes of meetings of those
charged with governance, reviewing
Internal Audit reports and reviewing
correspondence with HMRC; and

- In addressing the risk of fraud through
management override of controls,
testing the appropriateness of journal
entries and other adjustments; assessing
whether the judgements made in making
accounting estimates are indicative
of a potential bias, and evaluating the
businass rationale of any significant
transactions that are unususl or outside
the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified
laws and regulations and potential fraud
risks to all engagement team members
including internal specialists and sigrwficant
component audit tearns, and rermained
alert toanyindications of fraud or
non-compiiance withlaws and regulations
throughout the audit.

REPORT ON OTHER LECAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS
PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES
ACT 2006

In our opinion the part of the directors'
remuneration report to be audited has
been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006.

Inour epinion, based on the work
undertaken in the course of the audit;

- The information given in the strategic
report and the directors' report for the
financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements; and

- The strategic report and the directors'
report have been prepared in accordance
with applicable legal requirements.

Inthe tight of the knowledge and
understanding of the Croup and the Parent
Company and their environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not
identified any material misstatements in the
strategic report or the directors’ report.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE
REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

Adequacy of explanations received
and accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are
required to report to you if, in our opinion;

- We have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our
audit; or

- Adequate accounting records have not
been kept by the Parent Company, or
returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited
by us; or

- The Parent Company financial
staterments are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect
of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also
required to reportifin our opinion certain
disclosures of directors remuneration have
not been made or the part of the directors’
remuneration report to be audited is not
inagreement with the accounting records
and returns,

We have nothing te report in respect
of these matters.

OTHER MATTERS

Auditor tenure

Following the recormmendation of the Audiit
Committee, we were appointed by the
shareholders on 8 July 2014 to audit the
financial statements for the period ending
28 March 2015 and subsequent financial

periods. The period of tctal uninterrupted
engagement including previous renewals
and reappointments of the firm s 5 years,
covering the periods ending 28 March 2015
to 30 March 2019

Consistency of the audit report with the
additional report to the audit committee
Qur audit opinionis consistent with the
additional report to the audit committee
we are required to provide in accordance
with 1SAs (UK).

USE OF OUR REPORT

This report is made solely tothe Company's
members, as a body, inaccordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we arerequired to
state to theminan auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assure responsibility to anycne other than
the Company and the Company’s members
as a body. for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

[an Waller

IAN WALLER (SEMIOR S'i'ATUTORY AUDITCR)

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF DELOITTE LLP
STATUTORY AUDITOR, LONDON, UNITED KINGDOM

21 May 2018
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

52 weeks ended 30 March 2018 52 weeks ended 31 March 2018
Profit before Profit baforg
djusting items justing items Total adjustingitems. Adjustingitems Total
Notes £m Em im Em Ern £m
Revenue 2,3 10,3773 - 10,3773 10,698.2 - 10,698.2
Qperating profit 2,3,5 6010 {438.6) 162.4 65706 (514.) 1565
Finance incoma 6 33.8 - 338 241 - 24,1
Finance costs 5] {\11.6) - {1N1.6) (113.8) - (M13.8)
Profit before tax 4.5 523.2 (438.6) 84.6 5809 (514.1) 66.8
income tax expense 7 {106.0) 58.7 {41.3) {125.4) 877 (31.7)
Profit for the year 4i7.2 (379.9) 373 4555 (426.4) 29.1
Attributable to:
Qwners of the parent 4134 . {379.9) 33.5 452.) {426.4) 257
Non-controlling interests 3.8 - 3B 34 - 34
4772 {379.9) 373 4555 (426 43 291
Basic earnings per share 8 25.4p 2.1p 27.8p 1.6p
Diluted earnings per share g 25.4p 21lp 278p 16p
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
39 March 2009 31 March 2018
Notes £m £m
Profit for the year 37.3 29.)
Other comprehensive income:
items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of retirement benefit schemes Il (79.9) 2009
Tax Credit/(charge) on items that will not be reclassified 14.0 (390)
{65.9) 1619
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences
~movements recognised in other comprehensiveincome (154) (23.4)
-reclassified and reported in profit and loss - (36.2)
Revaluation of available for sale asset - 6.9
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges
- fair value movements in other comprehensive income 1320 (208.7)
-reclassified and reportedin profit or loss {16.0) 850
- amount recognised in inventories - 575
Tax (charge)/credit on cash flow hedges and net investment hedges (19.0) 19.7
81.6 (99.2)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 15.7 62.7
Total comprehensive income for the year 53.0 918
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 49.2 884
Non-controlling interests 3.8 34
53.0 918
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MARKS AND SPENCER CROUP PLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS at Asat
30 March 2019 31 March 2018
Notes £&m £rm
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 14 4999 5952
Property, plant and equipment 15 4,028.5 4,3939
Investment property 15.5 15.5
Investrmenit in joint ventures 40 70
Other financial assets 16 9.9 99
Retirement benefit asset 11 931.5 970.7
Trade and other receivables 17 2007 202.0
Derivative financial instruments 21 19.8 27}
57098 6,232.3
Current assets
Inventories 7004 7810
Other financial assets 16 141.8 137
Trade and other receivables 17 3228 3084
Derivative financial instruments 21 40.3 71
Cash and cash eguivalents 18 285.4 2077
1,490.4 13179
Totat assets . 7,200.2 7550.2
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payabies 19 1,461.3 1,4059
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme 12 7.9 719
Borrowings and other financiat liabilities 20 513.1 1256
Derivative financiatinstrurments 21 7.3 738
Provisicns 22 148.6 98.8
Current tax liabilities 26.2 500
2,228.4 18260
Non-current liabitities
Retirement benefit deficit 11 17.2 225
Trade and other payables 19 3224 3338
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme 12 2005 263.6
Borrowings and other financial liabilities 20 1,279.5 16706
Derivative financial instruments 21 2.8 30.7
Provisions 22 250.1 1931
Deferred tax liabilities 23 2184 2557
2,290.9 27700
Total liabilities 45193 45860
Net assets 2,680.9 2954.2
Equity
Issued share capital 24 406.3 406.2
Share premium account 416.9 4164
Capital redemption reserve 2,2105 2,2105
Hedging reserves : {2.9) (65.3)
Other reserve (6,542.2) (6,542.2)
Foreign exchangereserve {44.7) (29.3)
Retained earnings 6,237 6,560.4
Total shareholders' equity 2,681.0 2956.7
Non-controlling interests in equity [N (0.1) (25)
Total equity Y L 2,680.9 2954.2

The financial statements were approved by t
notes 1 to 30.

Steve Rowe Chief Executive Officer

fed for issue on 21 May 2019. The financial statements alsc comprises

Humphrey Singer Chief Finance Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ordinary Share Capitat Foreigr Non-
share premiurmn redemption Hedging Costof Other exchange Retained comtrolling
capital account reserve  reserve’ hedging reserve'  reserve  earnings’ Total interest Total
£m £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 2 April 2007 4062 A4 22105 123 - (6542.2) 305 66176 31563 (59) 3504
Profit for the year - - - - ~ - - 257 25.7 34 29,1
Other comprehensive ([expenselfincome:
Foreign curréncy translation
- rovernents recognisedin cther
comprehensive iNncome - - ~ 02 - - {23.6) - (23.4) - {23.40)
-rectassified andreported in profit or loss - - - - - - {36.2) - (36.2) - (36.2)
Revaluaticn of available for sale asset - - - - - - — 69 69 - 69
Remeasurernents of retirement
benefit schemes - - - - - - - 2009 2009 - 2009
Tax charge onitems that will not be reclassified - - - - - - - (390) {39.0) - (39.0)
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges
- fair value movements in other
comprehensive income - - - 210 - - - 3 {208.7) - {208.7)
—reclassified and reported in profit or loss - - - 51.0 - - - 340 85.0 ~ 850
—amount recognised in inventories - - - 515 - - - - 575 - 575
Taxan cash flow hedges and
net investment hedges - - = 197 ~ - - - 197 - 19.7
Other comprehensiva income/(expense) - - - {826} ~ - (59.8) 205.1 627 - 62.7
Tatal comprehensive income/{expense} - - - (826) - - (59.8) 2308 884 34 918
Transactions with owners:
Dividends - - - - - - - {303.4) (303.4) - {301.4)
Transactions with non-controlling sharehotders - - ~ - - - - - - -~ -
Shares issued onexercise of ernployee
share options - -~ - - - - - - - - -
Purchase of own shares held by employee trusts - - - - - - - {3.1) [€A)] - 3.0)
Credit for share-based payments - - - - - - - 18.5 185 - 185
Deferred tax on share schemes - - ~ - - - - ~ - - -
As at 31 March 2018 4062 4164 2,2105 {65.2) - (6,542.2) {29.3) 65,5604 2956.7 (25) 2954.2
As at 1 April 2008 4062 4al64 2,210.5 {65.3) - {6,542.2) (29.3) 6,5604 27,9567 {2.5) 2,954.2
Adjustrment oninitial apptication of IFRS 9
{note 29) - - - (1N 0.7 - - {0.5) {0.5) - {0.5)
Adjusted opening shareholders equity 406.2 4164 2,205  (760) 107 (6542.2) (293} 65599 2,956.2 (2.5) 2,9537
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 315 335 38 1.3
Other comprehensive (expense)fincome:
Foreign currency translation
- movements recognised in other
comprehensive income - - -~ - - -~ (15.9) - {15.4) — {15.4)
Rerneasurements of retirement benefit schemes - - - - - - - (79.9) (79.9) - (79.9)
Tax credit onitems that will not be reclassified - - - - - - - 14.0 14.0 - 14.0
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges
-~ fair value movement in other
COmprehensiveincome = - - 1308 1.5 - - - 132.0 - 132.0
-reclassified and reportedin profit or loss - - -~ {16.0) - - - - (16.0) - {16.0)
Tax oncashflowhedges and
netinvestment hedges - - - {18.5) (0.5) - - - {19.0) - {19.0)
CQther comprehensive income/{expense) - - - 96.0 1.0 - (15.4) {65.9) 15.7 - 157
Total comprehensive income/{expense) - - - 96.0 1.0 - {15.4} (32.4) 49.2 38 53.0
Cash flow hedges recognised in inventories - - - (427 - - - - (42.7) - {42.7)
Tax oncash flow hedges recognised in
inventories - - - 8.1 = - - —~ 8.1 - :A]
Transactions with owners:
Dividends - - - - ~ - - {303.5) (303.5) - (303.5)
Transactions with non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - - {1.4) (1.4)
Shares issued onexercise of
employee share options o1 0.5 - - - - - - o5 - 0.6
Purchase of own shares held by employee trusts - - — - - - - (5.5) {5.5) - {5.5)
Credit for share-based payments - - - - - - - 19.2 19.2 - V5.2
Deferred tax on share schemes - - - - - - - (0.6} {0.6) - {0.6}
As at 30 March 2019 4063 4168 221058 (146} W7  (6542.2) (44T} 62371 26810 @1 26809

1. The Other reserve”was originally created as part of the capialrestiucturing thal Look placein 20021 represents Lhe dilference bet ween the nominal value of Lthe shares issued piof Lo
the capitalreduction by the Cormpany (being the carrying value of the investment in Marks and Spencer plcyand the shafe capital, share premiumand capitat cedemption resecve of

Marks and Spencer plc at the date of the transaction,

W

. Arnounts teclassified and repor Led in profit ortoss™in 200 #/18includes Lhe revalualion of the cross cu rency swaps, offsetting the revaluation of the US hedged bonds wilhin finance costs,
Ineludad within Retained Earnings is the fair vatue through other comprehensiveincome reserve
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

94
MARKS ANC SPENCER GROUP PLC

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
30 March 2019 31 March 2018
Noles Em Em
Cash flows from operating activities
Cagggnerated from operations 26 1,041.0 944
Income tax paic {105.7) (94.3)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 935.3 8498
Cash fiows from investing activities
Proceeds on property disposats 48.1 3.2
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (217.8) (274 9)
Proceeds on disposal of Hong Kong business - 229
Purchase of intangible assets (95.1) (74.3)
{Purchase)/sale of current financial assets (128.1) 08
Interest received 7.4 6.0
Purchase of investment injoint venture {2.5) -
Net cash used in investing activities (388.0) (316.3)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid' {86.4) (112.2)
Cash outflow from borrowings (46.7) -
Cashinfiow from borrowings - 438
Payrnent of gbligations under finance leases {3.3) (26)
Payrnent of liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme (61.6) (59.6)
Equity dividends paid (303.5) (303.4)
Shares issued on exercise of employee share options 0.6 0l
Purchase of own shares by employee trust {5.5) (3.1
Issuance/(redermnption) of Medium Term Notes 1.4 (328.2)
Net cash used in financing activities {505.0) (765.2)
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from activities 42.3 (231.7)
Effects of exchange rate changes {0.2) (3.5)
Opening net cash 1710 406.2
Closing net cash 27 213.) 171.0
1. Incluces interest on the partnersiip Liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme,
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
30 March 2019 3 March20N8
Notes Em £m
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Opening net debt {1,827.5) {1,9347)
Net cash inflowf{outflow) from activities 423 (231.7)
Increase/(decrease)in current financial assets 128.1 08)
Decreasein debt financing n0.2 3466
Exchange and other non-cash mavements 1.8 (69)
Movement in net debt 282.4 107.2
Closing net debt 27 {1,545.1) (1,827.5)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information

Marks and Spencer Group plc (the Company)is a public Company
limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdorn under

the Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales.

The address of the Company's registered office is Waterside
House, 35 North Wharf Road, London W2 1INW.

The principal activities of the Croup and the nature of the Group's
operationsis as 2 Clothing and Home and Food retailer.

These financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is the
currency of the primary economic environment inwhich the CGroup
operates and are rounded to the nearest million. Foreign operations
are included in accordance with the policies set out withinthis note.

Basis of preparation

The financial statermnents have been prepared in atcordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards {(IFRS) and IFRS
Interpretations Committee (FRS IC} interpretations, as adopted by
the EuropeanUnion, and with those parts of the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

In adopting the going concern basis for preparing the financial
statements, the directors have considered the business activities
including the Group's principal risks and uncertainties. Based onthe
Craup’s cash flow forecasts and projections, the Board is satisfied
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operaticnal
existence and therefore it is appropriate to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the consclidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 March 2019.

The Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership has taken
an exemption under paragraph 7 of the Partnership (Accounts)
Regulations 2008 frorm the requirernent to prepare and deliver
financial staternents in accordance with the Companies Act.

New accounting standards adopted by the Group

There have been significant changes ta accounting under

IFRS which have affected the Group's financial staterments.

New standards and interpretations effective for periods
commencing onor after 1 January 2018 and therefore applicable
to the CGroup's financial statements for the 52 weeks ended
30March 2019 are listed below:

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

- Amendiments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts regarding the
implernentation of IFRS ¢ Financial instruments.

- Interpretation IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration,

- Armendments to IAS 40 Transfer of Investment Property.

- Amendmenits to IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments, on clarifying
how to account for certain types of share-based payment
transactions.

- Annualimprovernents to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle
{certainitems effective from 1 January 2017).

With the exception of the adoption of {FRS S and IFRS 15, the
adoption of the above standards and interpretations has not

led to any changes to the Group's accounting policies or had any
other material impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

IFRS 9 Financiat Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurernent The standard is effective for periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2018 and therefore has been
implermented with effect from } April 2018. The standard introduces
changes to three key areas:

- New requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial instruments.

-3 Anewimpairment model based on expected credit losses for
recagnising provisions.

- Simplified hedge accounting through closer alignment with an
entity's risk management methodology.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a material impact on either the
Consolidated Income Staternent or the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position. The Group has adopted IFRS 9 using the modified
transition approach and has therefore adjusted opening retained
earnings for the impact of IFRS @ on the opening bad debt provision
and has not restated the prior pertod comparatives. The impact of
the adoptionof the new standardis shown in note 29 which includes
additional disclosures retating to hedge accounting (inchuding 2 new
cost of hedging reserve), credit risk management and impairment of
financialassets.

The Group has an economic interest in M&S Bank which entities the
Croup to a 50% share of the profits of M&S Bank after appropriate
deductions. M&S Bank adopted IFRS 9 with effect from 1 January
2018, The Croup's share of profits for the prior period includes the
post-implementation impact of adopting the expected credit loss
rmodel for provisioning inacgordance with the requirements of
IFRS 9 which had animmaterialimpact inthe prior pericd.

IFRS 15 Revenwe from Contracts with Customers is effective for
periods beginning on or after t January 2018 and therefore has
been implemented with effect from 1 April 2018, The standard
establishes a principles-based approach for revenue recognition
and is based on the concept of recognising revenue for
performance obligations only when they are satisfied and the
control of goods or services is transferred. In doing so, the standaret
applies a five-step approach to the timing of revenue recognition
and applies to all contracts with customers, except those inthe
scope of other standards. It replaces the separate models for goods,
services and construction contracts under the previous accounting
standard. Due to the straightforward nature of the Croup's revenue
streams with the recognition of revenue at the point of sale and

the absence of significant judgerment required indetermining

the timing of transfer of control, the adoption of IFRS 15 has not
had a materialimpact on the timing or nature of the Group's
revenue recognition,

Under IFRS 15 a right of return is not a separate performance
obligation and the Group is required to recognise revenue net of
estimated returns, Arefund liability and a corresponding asset
representing the right to recover products from the custormer

is also recognised, There (s no change to the Group's revenue
recognition under IFRS 15. However, the refund provision was
previously recorded on @ net basis within Current Liabilities and
therefore onadoption of IFRS 15 the Croup was required to adjust
inventories and the refund provision to a gross basis.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified transition
approachand has therefare not restated the prior period
comparatives for the separate recognition of the refund asset
and the increasein the refund provision.

In addition to the changes to the accounting policies, the Croup

is required todisclose how the adeption of the new accounting
standard has affected the financial statements. There is noimpact
anthe Consolidated Incame Staternent, however the impact onthe
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the changein
accounting for the refund provisionis as foltows:

At 30 March 2019, the refund provision on the balance sheet was
accounted for on the gross basis under IFRS 15. There is a liability of
£22.2r and a related refund asset of £89m.If accountead for on a net
basis, the refund provision onthe batance sheet would be £13.3m,
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MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

New accounting standards in issue but not yet effective

New standards and interpretations effective for periods
commencing onor after 1 January 2019 and therefore applicable to
the Croup for the 52 weeks ending 28 March 2020 are listed below:

- Annualimprovements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle.

- Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, on prepayment
features with negative compensation.

> Amendments to IAS 28 Investrnents in Associates, on long term
interests in associates and joint ventures.

- Amendments to1AS 13 Employee Benefits on plan amendment,
curtailment or settlernent.

- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.
- IFRS 16 Leases.

With the exception of the adoption of IFRS 16, the adoption of the
above standards and interpretations will not lead to any changes to
the Group's accounting policies or have any other materialimpact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 16 Leases is effective for periods beginning on or after

1 January 2019. The Croup willadopt the new financial reporting
standard from 31 March 2019. The financial staternents for the
52 weeks ending 28 March 2020 wili be the first prepared under
IFRS 16. The Croup has decided to adopt using the fully
retrospective transition approach meaning the comparative
period wilLalso be restated at this time.

Impact of application of IFRS 16 Leases

As alessee, IFRS 16 removes distinctions between operating and
finance leases and requires the recognition of a right of use asset
and corresponding liabiity for future lease payables, The right of
use asset willbe subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the life of the lease. Interest will be recognised on the lease
ligbility. This will result in earlier recognition of expense for leases
currently classified as operating leases, although over the life

of alease the tatal expense recognised will not change.

Right of use assets recognised by the Croup comprise of property,
motor vehicles and equipment, including those in scope under
certain logistics contracts. The Group has elected not to recognise
right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets,
and {ease payments associated with those assets will be recognised
as an expense ona straight-line basis. Inadditicn, amounts for leases
with variable consideration, such as turnover leases, will continue to
be recognised on a straight-line basis.

As a lessor, subleases previously classified as operating must be
reassessed in consideration of the remaining contractual termand
conditions with reference to the right of use asset arising from the
head lease. The Group will reclassify certain sublease agreements as
finance leases and recognise a net investment in lease, resulting ina
changein timing of recognition of sublease income.

There will be a significantimpact on the balance sheet as at

31 March 2019.1t is expected on a pre-tax basis that aright of use
asset of approximately £1.7bn and tease liability of approximatety
£2.6bn will be recognised, along with the derecognition of onerous
lease provisions of approxirnately £0.2bn and other working capital
balances (including lease incentives) of approximately £0.4bn,
which results inan overall adjustrment to retained earnings of
approximately £0.3bn.

QOperating profit and EBIT before adjusting items increase due to
the depreciation expense being lower than the lease expense it
replaces. The pverall impact on profit before tax and adjusting items
depends on the reiative maturity of the lease portfolio. Rounded

to the nearest £10m, it is estimated that for the 52 weeks enged
30March 2019:

- Profit before tax when applying IFRS 16is C.£10m higher than that
reportedin these financial statements under current accounting
standards,includinglAS 17 Leases.

- Profit before tax excluding adjusting itemsis ¢.£10m lower.
- Operating profit before tax and adjustingitems is c.£130m higher.

The application of IFRS 16 requires a reclassification of cash flow
fromoperations to net cash used infinancing activities, however,
theimpact to the Groupis cash flow neutral.

The Group has had in place a working group and steering committee
to assess theimpact and oversee the implementation of the new
standard. The adogption of the new standard s nearing completion,
including the implementation of appropriate internal controls and a
governance framework to ensure the requirements of the new
standard continue to be met including an assessment of new
contracts requiring judgement as to whether they are in scope

of the standard.

Alternative Performance Measures

In reporting financial information, the Group presents alternative
perforrmance measures (APMs), which are not defined or specified
under the requirernents of IFRS.

The Croup believes that these APMs, which are not considered to be
a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, provide stakeholders
with additionat helpful information on the performance of the
business. These APMs are consistent withhow the business
performance is planned and reported within the internat
rmanagement reporting to the Board and Operating Committee.
Some of these measures are also used for the purpose of setting
remuneration targets.

The key APMs that the Croup uses include: Like-for-like revenue
growth; tike-for-like revenue growth adjusted for Easter;
management gross margin; profit before tax and adjusting iterns,
adjusted earnings per share; net debt; free cash flow, and return
on capitalemployed. £ach of these APMs, and others used by the
Croup, are set out inthe Glossary inctuding explanations of how
they are calculated and how they can be reconciled to a statutory
measure where relevant.

The Group reports some financial measures, primarily International
sales,onbothareported and constant currency basis. The constant
currency basis, whichis an APM, retranslates the previous year
revenues at the average actual periodic exchange rates used in

the current financial year. This measure is presented as a means

of eliminating the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the
year-on-year reportedresults.

The Group makes certain adjustrments to the statutory profit
measures in order to derive many of these APMs. The Croup's policy
is to exclude itemns that are considered to be significant inboth
nature andfor quantum to the financial staterment line item or
applicable disclosure note or are consistent with iterns that were
treated as adjusting in prior pericds. Treatrment as an adjusting item
provides stakeholders with additional usefulinformation to assess
the year-on-year trading performance of the Group. On this basis,
the following items were included within adjusting items for the
52-week period ended 30 March 2019:

- Net charges associated with the strategic programme inrelation
tothereview of the UK store estate.

- Significant restructuring costs and other associated costs arising
frorm strategy changes that are not considered by the Croup to
be part of the normal operating costs of the business.

- Significant pension charges arising as a result of the previous
year's changes to the UK defined benefit scheme practices.

- Impairment charges and provisions that are considered to be
significant in nature andfor value to the trading performance of
thebusiness.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Alternative Performance Measures continued

-» Charges arising from the write-off of assets and other
property charges that are considered to be significant in
nature and/or value.

- Significant non-cash charges relating to the Croup's defined
benefit scheme arising from equalisation of guaranteed
rminimum pensions (CMP) and other pension equalisation.

- Significant costs arising from establishing the new joint venture
with Ocado.

-3 Adjustments to income from M&S Bank due to aprovision
recognised by M&S Bank for the cost of providing redress to
customers inrespect of possible mis-selling of M85 Bank financial
products.

- Other adjusting items, in the prior year, inctuding profit on sale of
Hong Kang and charges for potential liabilities for employee
related matters.

Refer to note 5 for a surmmary of the adjustingitemns.

A summary of the Company's and the Group's accounting policies is
given below.

Accounting convention

The financial staternents are drawn up on the historical cost basis
ofaccounting, except for the revaluation of financialinstruments
(inctuding derivative instrurments) and defined benefit pension
schemes which are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting pericd, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of Marks and Spencer Group plc and allits subsidiaries
made up to the period end date. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the tinancial statements of subsidiaries to bring the
accounting policies used in line with those used by the Group.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiary undertakings are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Company has control. Controlis achieved
when the Cumpany has the power over the subsidiary; is expesed,
or has rights ko, variable returas fromits involvement with the
subsidiary; and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Subsidiary undertakings acquired during
the year are recorded using the acquisition method of accounting
and their results are included from the date of acquisition.

The separable net assets, including property. plant and equipment
and intangible assets, of the newly acquired subsidiary undertakings
areincorporatedinto the consolidated financial staternents on the
basis of the fair value as at the effective date of control.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between Croup companies are eliminated.

Revenue

2018 (IAS 18) Revenue comprises sales of goods to customers
outside the Croup less an appropriate deduction foractual and
expected returns, discounts and loyalty scherme vouchers, and s
stated net of value added tax and other sales taxes. Revenueis
recognised when goods are delivered to our franchise partners or
the custormer and the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer.

2019 (IFRS 15): Revenue comprises sales of goeds to custorners
autside the Group less an appropriate deduction for actyat and
expectedreturns, discounts and loyalty scheme vouchers, and is
stated net of value added tax and cther sales taxes. Revenue s
recognised when performance obligations are satisfied and goods
are deliverad to our franchise partners or the custorner and the
control of goods is transferred to the buyer.

Under IFRS 15 a right of return is not a separate performance
obiigationand the Group is required te recognise revenue net of
estimated returns. A refund bability and a corresponding asset in
inventory representing the right to recover products fromthe
customer are recognised,

The Croup enters into agreements which entitle other parties to
operate under the Marks & Spencer brand narne for certain actvities
and operations, such as M&S Bank and M&S Energy. These contracts
give rise to performance-based variable consideration. Income
dependent on the performance of the third party operations is
recognised whenit is highly probable that a significant reversalin
the amount of incorme recognised will not occur, and presented as
other operating income,

Supplier income

Intine withindustry practice, the Croup enters into agreernents
with suppliers to share the costs and benefits of promotional
activity andvolume growth. The Group receives income fromits
suppliers based on specific agreements in place. This supplier
income received is recognised as a deduction from cost of sales
based onthe entitlernent that has been earned up to the balance
sheet date for each relevant supplier agreement. Marketing
contributions, equipment hire and other non-judgemental,
fixed rate supplier charges are not included in the Croup's
definition of supplier income.

The types of supplier incame recognised by the Group and the
associated recognition policies are:

A. Promotional contribution includes supplier contrioutions to
promotional giveaways and pre-agreed contributions to annual
“spend and save” activity.

Income s recognised as a deduction to cost of sales over

the relevant prormotional period. Income is calculated and
invoiced at the end of the promaotional period based on actual
sales or according te fixed contribution arrangements,
Contributions earned but not invoiced are accrued at the

end of the retevant pericd.

B. Volure-based rebates Includes annual growth incentives,
seasonal contributions and contributions to share economies of
scale resulting from moving product supply.

Annual growth incentives are calculated and invoiced at the end

of the financial year, once earned, based on fixed percentage
growth targets agreed for each supplier at the beginning of the year.
They are recognised as areduction in cost of sales in the year to
which they relate. Other votume-based rebates are agreed with the
supplier and spread over the relevant season/fcontract period to
which they relate. Contributions earned but not invoiced are
accrued at the end of therelevant period.

Uncollected supplier income at the balance sheet dateis classified
within the financia! statements as follows:

A. Trade and other payables The majority of incorne due from
suppliers is netied against amounts owed to that supplier asthe
Group has the legal right and intention to offset these balances.
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MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Supplier income continued

B. Trade and other receivables Supplierincome that has been
earped but not invoiced at the batance sheet date is recognisedin
trade and other receivables and primarily relates to volume-based
rebates that run uptothe period end.

inorder to provide users of the accounts with greater understanding
in this area, additional balance sheet, disclosure is provided in note 17
to the financial statements.

MAS Bank

The Group has an economic interest in M&S Bank which entities
the Group to a 50% share of the profits of MRS Bank after
appropriate deductions.

Dividends

Final dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the
period in which they are approved by the Company's shareholders,
Interim dividends are recorded in the period in which they are
approved and paid.

Pensions
Funded pension plans are in ptace for the Croup's UK employees
and some employees overseas.

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between the
fair value of the assets and the present value of the defined benefit
obligationis recognised as an asset or liability in the staterment of
financial position. The defined benefit obligation is actuarialty
calculated using the projected unit credit method. An asset canbe
recegnised as inthe event of a plan wind up, the pension scheme
rules provide the Group with an unconditional right to a refund of
surplus assets assumning a full settlement of plan liabilities. Inthe
ordinary course of business, the Trustees have no rights to wind-up
or change the benefits due to the members of the scheme. Asa
result, any net surplus in the UK Defined Benefit (DB) schemeis
recognisedin full

The service cost of providing retirement benefits to ernployees
during the year, together with the cost of any curtailment, is charged
to operating profit in the year. The Group nolonger incurs any
service cost or curtailment costs related to the UK DB pension
scheme as the scherme s closed ko future accrual.

The net interest cost on the net retirement benefit asset/liability is
calculated by applying the discount rate, measured at the beginning
of the year, to the net defined benefit asset/liability andis included
as a single net amount in finance income.

Remeasurements, being actuarial gains and losses, together with
the difference between actualinvestment returns and the return
irmplied by the net interest cost, are recognised imrediately in other
comprehensiveincome.

Buring the prior year the UK defined benefit pension scheme
purchased annuities in order to hedge longevity risk for pensioners
within the scheme. As permitted by IAS 19, the Croup has optedto
recognise the difference between the fair value of the plan assets
and the cost of the policy as anactuarial loss in other
cornprehensive income.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
are charged as an expense on an accruals basis.

Intangible assets

A. Goodwill Coodwill arising on consolidation represents

the excess of the consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest inthe acquiree dver the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities (including intangible assets) of the
acquired entity at the date of the acquisition. Goodwill is recognised
asanasset and assessed forimpairment annually or as triggering
events occur. Any impairment in value is recognised within the
income statement.

8. Brands Acquired brand values are held on the statement

of financial position initially at cost. Definite life intangibles are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Brands are tested forimpairment as triggering events occur.
Anyimpairment invalue is recognised withinthe incorne statement.

C. Software intangibles Where computer software is not anintegral
part of a related item of computer hardware, the softwareis treated
as an intangible asset. Capitalised software costs include external
direct costs of goods and services, as well as internal payroll-related
costs for employees who are directly associated with the project.

Capitalised software developrment costs are amortisedona
straight-line basis over their expected economic lives, normally
between 3 and 10 years. Computer software under development

is held at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Any impairment
invalye is recognised within the income statement,

Property, plant and equipment

The Group's policy is to state property, plant and equipment at

cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment
loss. Property is not revatued for accounting purposes. Assets in

the course of construction are held at cost less any recognised
impairment loss, Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of tangible
non-current assets (including investment properties),
less estimated residual values on a straight line basis as foliows:

- Freehold land - not depreciated.

- Freehold and leasehold buildings with a remaining lease term
over 50 vears - depreciated to their residual value over their
estimated remaining economic lives.

- Leasehold buildings with a remaining lease terrm of less than
50 years - depreciated over the shorter of their useful econaomic
lives or the rernaining period of the lease.

- Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 3 to 25 vears according to the
estimated economic life of the asset.

Residual values and useful economic lives are reviewed annually.
Cepreciationis charged on all additions to, or disposals of,
depreciating assets in the year of purchase or disposal.

Anyimpairment in value is recognised within the income statement.

Leasing

Where assets arefinanced by leasing agreements and the risks and
rewards are substantiatly transferred to the Group {finance leases),
the assets are treated as if they had been purchased outright, and
the corresponding liability to the leasing company is included as an
obligationunder finance leases. Depreciation on leased assets s
charged to the income statement on the same basis as owned
assets, unless the term of the lease is shorter. Leasing payments
are treated as consisting of capital and interest elermnents and the
interest is charged to the income statement.

All other leases are operating leases and the costs in respect of
operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. The value of any lease incentive received to take onan
operating lease (for example, a rent-free period) is recognised as
deferred income and s released over thelife of the lease.

Leasehold prepayments

Payments made to acquire leasehold land and buildings are
included in prepayments at cost and are amortised over the life
of the lease.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cashand cash equivalents includes short-term deposits with banks
and other financialinstitutions, with aninitial maturity of three
months or tess and credit card payrnents received within 48 hours.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Inventories

trventories are valued on a weighted average cost basis and carnied
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costincludes all direct
expenditure and other attributable costs incurredin bringing
inventories to their present location and condition. All inventories
are finished goods. Certain purchases of inventories may be subject
to cash flow hedges for foreign exchange risk. The Group applies a
basis adjustment for those purchases in a way that the cost is initially
established by reference to the hedged exchangerate and not the
spot rate at the day of purchase.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Croup has a present abligation
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation
at the end of the reporting period, and are discounted to present
value where the effect is material,

Share-based payments

The Croup issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees. A fair value for the equity-settied share awardsis
measured at the date of grant. The Croup measures the fair value
of each award using the Black-Schotes madel where appropriate.

The Fair value of each award is recognised as an expense over the
vesting period on a straight-line basis, after allowing for an estimate
of the share awards that will eventually vest. The level of vesting is
reviewed at each reporting period and the charge is adjusted to
reflect actual and estimated levels of vesting.

Foreign currencies

The results of overseas subsidiaries are translated at the weighted
average of monthly exchange rates for revenue and profits.

The statements of fimancial position of overseas subsidiaries are
translated at year end exchange rates. The resutting exchange
differences are booked into reserves and reportedin the
consolidated staternent of comprehensive income.

Transactions denominated in fareign currencies are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction Foreign currency
monetary assets and Uiabilities held at the end of the reporting
period are transiated at the closing balance sheet rate, The resulting
exchange gainorloss is recognised within the income statement,
except whendeferredin other comprehensive income as qualifying
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investrment hedges.

Taxatioh

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax, Taxis recognised
inthe income statement, except to the extent it relates toitems
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the related taxis recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Provision is made for uncertain tax positions when it is considered
probable that there will be a future outflow of Funds to a tax
authority. The provisionis calculated using the single best estimate
where that outcome is more likely than not and a weighted average
prabability in other circumstances. The position is reviewed onan
ongoing basis, to ensure appropriate provision is made for each
knowr tax risk.

Defarred taxis accounted for using a temporary difference
approach, andis the tax expected to be payable or recoverable

an ternporary differences between the carrying amount af

assets and liabilities in the statement of financial positionand the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax is calculated based onthe expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, applying tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxiiabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for taxable ternporary differences arising oninvestments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the
Group and itis probable that the difference willnot reversein
the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxiiabilities are not recognised onternporary differences
that arise from goodwill whichis not deductible for tax purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probabile that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to berecovered.

Deferred taxassets and liabilities are not recognisedinrespect of
temporary differences that arise oninitiat recognition of assets and
liabilities acguired other thanin a business combination.

Financial instruments

financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Group's
staterment of financial position when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.,

A. Trade and other receivabtes Trade receivables are recorded
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
This results in their recognition at nominal vatue less anallowance
for any doubtfit debits. The allowance for doubtfuldebts was
recognised under an‘incurred loss”model untit 1 April 2018 and
therefore it was dependent upon the existence of animpairmeant
event. From 1 April 2018, the allowance for doubtful debts is
recagnised based onmanagement’s expectation of losses
without regard to whether animpairment trigger happened

or not (an “expected credit loss” model).

B. Other financial assets Other financial assets consist of
investmentsin debt and equity securities and short-term
investrments with a maturity date of over 90 days and are classified
as either “fair value through other comprehensive income”
("available for sale” for periods before 1 April 2018) or “fair vatue
through profit and loss” Financial assets held at fair value through
other comprehensive income or available for sale for the periods
before 1 April 2018 are initiatly measured at fair value, including
transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Financial assets held at fair value through profit
and loss areinitially recognised at fair value and transaction costs
are expensed.

Where securities are designated as “fair value through profit and
loss™, gains and losses arising fromchanges in fair value are included
inthe income statement for the period.

For equityinvestments at “fair value through comprehensive
income”’, gains or losses arising from changes in fair vatue are
recognised in other comprehensive income, untilthe security is
disposed of, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensiveincome is inctuded directly in
retained earnings and is not recycled to the income statement.
Forthe periods before 1 April 2018, the gains or losses
accumulated at the time of sale or impairment are recycled

ta the income statement,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Financial instruments continued

For debt instruments at “fair value through comprehensive income”
or "available for sale” in the periods before 1 April 2018, gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, until the security is disposed of oris
determined to beimpaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is included
intheincorme staternent for the period. Until 1 April 2018, debt
securities were deemed impaired based on whether an impairment
trigger happened and it resulted in anincurred loss. From 1 April
2018, impairments in debt securities are recognised based on
management’s expectation of losses in eachirvestment
(‘expected credit loss” model).

Until ¥ April 2018, equity investrents that do not have a quoted
market price inan active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured by cther means are held at cost From 1 April 2018,
all equity investments must be measured at fair value under IFRS 9.

C. Classification of financial Liabilities and equity Financial
liabilities and equity instrurnents are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into, An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest inthe
assets of the Croup after deducting all of its liabilities.

D. Bank borrowings Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are
initially recorded at fair value, which equals the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs. They are subsequently held at amortised
cost. Finance charges, including premiurns payable on settlement
or redernption and direct issue costs, are accounted for using an
effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying
amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled
inthe periodin which they arise.

E. Loan notes Long-term loans are initially measured at fair value
net of direct issue costs and are subsequently held at amaortised
cost untess the loanis designated in a hedge relationship, in which
case hedge accounting treatment will apply.

F. Trade payables Trade payables are recorded initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Cenerally, this
results in their recognition at their nominal value.

G. Equity instruments Equity instruments issued by the Cormpany
are recorded at the consideration received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Croup primarily uses interest rate swaps, Cross-currency swaps
and forward foreign currency contracts to manageits exposures

to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. These
instruments are initially recognised at fair vatue onthe trade date
and are subseguently remeasured at their Fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The method of recognising the resulting gain or
loss is dependent on whether the derivativeis designated as a
hedging instrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Croup designates certain hedging derivatives as either:

- Ahedge of a highly probable forecast transaction or change in
the cash flows of arecognised asset or liability (3 cash flow hedge).

- Ahedge of the exposure to change inthe fair value of a
recognised asset or liability (3 fair value hedge).

- Ahedge of the exposure on the translation of net investments in
foreign entities (a net investment hedge).

At the inception of a hedging relationship, the hedging instrument
and the hedged item are documented, along with the risk
rnanagenent objectives and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions and prospective effectiveness testing

is performed.

During the life of the hedging relationship, prospective
effectiveness testing is performed (before | April 2018, toth
prospective and retrospective tests were required) to ensure

the instrument remains an effective hedge of the transaction.
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instrurnents that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the incorme
statement as they arise.

A. Cash flow hedges Changesin the fair value of derivative financial
instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future
cash flows are recognised in other comprehensive income. From

1 Agrril 2018, the element of the change in fair value which relates to
the currency spread is recognised inthe cost of hedging reserve,
with the remaining change in fair value recognised inthe hedging
reserve(inthe period before 1 April 2018, the entire change in fair
value was recognisedin the hedging reserve) and any ineffective
portionis recognised immediately in the income staterment. If the
firm commitment or forecast transaction that is the subject of a
cash flow hedge results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or
liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the
associated gains or losses on the derivative that had previousty
been recognised in other comprehensiveincome areincludedin

the initial measurement of the asset or Liability.

For hedges that do not result in the recegnition of anasset ora
liability, armounts deferred in other cornprehensive income are
recognised in the income statement in the same period in which
the hedged iterns affect net profit or loss.

B. Fair value hedges Changes in the fair value of a derivative
instrument designated in a fair value hedge, or for non-derivatives
the fForeign currency component of carrying value, are recognised
inthe income statement. The hedged itern is adjusted for changes
infair value attributable to the risk being hedged with the
corresponding entry in the incorne statement.

C. Net investment hedges Changes in the fair value of derivative
ornon-derivative financialinstrument s that are designated and
effective as hedges of net investments arerecognised in other
comprehensive income in the hedging reserve and any ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Changesin the fair value of derivative financial instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised inthe income
statement as they arise.

D. Discontinuance of hedge accounting Hedge accountingis
discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, or exercised, the hedge relationship no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting, the forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur. From 1 April 2018 the Croup cannct

voluntarily de-designate a hedging relationship.

When a cash flow hedge is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss
onthehedginginstrument recognised in cther comprehensive
incomeis retained in equity until the forecast transaction occurs.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments
are recognisedin the income statement. (fa hedged transaction

is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss
recognised in comprehensive income is transferred to the income
statermnent for the period.

When a fair value hedge is discontinued, the fair value adjustment to
the carrying amount of the hedgeditem arising from the hedged
risk is arnortised to the income statement from that date.
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Criticat accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

When a netinvestrent hedge is discontinued, the subsequent
changes in fair value of a derivative (or foreign exchange gains/
losses onrecognised financial liabilities) are recognised in the
income staterment. The gain or toss onthe hedging instrument
recognisedin other comprehensive income s reclassified to the
income statement only on disposal of the net investment.

The Croup does not use derivatives to hedge incorme statement
translationexposures.

The preparation of consolidated financial staterments requires the
Group to make estimates and judgements that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts.

Critical judgements represent key decisions made by management
in the application of the Group accounting poticies Where a
significant risk of materially different outcomes exists due to
management assumptions or sources of estimation uncertainty,
this will represent a key source of estirnation uncertainty. Estimates
and judgerments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations

of future events that are believed to be reascnable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates which have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustrnent to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within
the next 12 months are discussed below:

Critical accounting judgements

Adjusting items The directors believe that the adjusted profit and
earnings per share measures provide additionat useful information
to shareholders onthe perfarmance of the business. These
measures are consistent with how business performance is
measured internally by the Board and Operating Committee,

The profit before tax and adjusting items measureis not a
recognised profit measure under IFRS and may not be directly
comparabile with adjusted profit measures used by other
companies. The classification of adjusting iterns requires significant
managernent judgement after considering the nature and
intentions of a transaction. The Croup's definitions of adjusting
items are outlined within both the Croup accounting policies and
the Glossary These definitions have been applied consistently year
onyear.

Note 5 provides further details on current year adjusting items and
their adherence to Group policy.

UK Defined Benefit pension surplus

Where a surplus on a defined benefit scheme arises, the rights of the
Trustees to prevent the Group obtaining a refund of that surplusin
the future are considered in determining whether itis necessary to
restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised. The UK Defined
Benefit schemeis in surplus at' 30 March 2019 The directors have
made the judgernent that these amounts meet the requirements
of recoverability and a surplus of £931.5m has beenrecognised.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

UK store estate Yne Croupis undertaking a sigrmficant strategic
programme to review its UK store estate resultingina net charge of
£222.)m(last year £321.1rmyinthe year A significant level of
estinmation has been usedto determine the charges tobe
recognised in the year. The most significant judgement that impacts
the charge is that the stores identified as part of the programme are
moretikely than not to close. Further significant closure costsand
impairment charges may be recorded in future years depending on
decisions made about further store closures and the successful
delivery of the transformation prograrmme.

Where a store closure has been announced thereis a reduced level
of estimation uncertainty as the programme actions are tobe taken
over a shorter and more immediate timeframe. Further significant
estimation uncertainty arises in respect of determining the
recoverable amount of assets and the costs to be incurred as part of
the programime. Significant assumptions have been made including:

> Reassessment of the useful lives of store fixed assets and
closure dates.

- Estimation in respect of the expected shorter-term trading
value inuse, including assumptions with regard to the period of
trading as well as changes to future sales, gross margin and
operating costs.

- Estirnation of the sale proceeds for freehold stores whichis
dependent upon location specific factors, timing of likely exit
and future changes to the UK retail property rmarket vatuations.

- Estimation of the value of ditapidation payments required for
leasehold store exits, which is dependent on a number of factors
including the extent of modifications of the store, the terms of
the lease agreement, and the condition of the property.

-» Estimnation of future contractualiease costs to be incurred
including uncertainty with regards to the cost of termination,
potential sub-let (including estirnation of nature, timing and
value including any potential void periods and based on
assessment of location specific retail property market factors).

See notes 5and 15 for further detail.

Property provision The Group has a number of property provisions
totalling £345.8m at 30March 2019 (last year: £233.3m), which
include amounts in respect of onerous leases and sublet shortfalls.
The net present vatue of the future onerous leases and sublet
shortfalls has beern provided for based on the contracted

future cash flows, assumptions related to sublet income (inctuding
periods where properties are not sublet) and lease incentives, and
discounted to reflect the time value of money, with adjustrments for
credit risk where it is not included in the underlying cash flows.

Included within these provisions is a sublet shortfall of £89.2m for
surplus office space in the Merchant Square building in London,
which is sublet for the remaining duration of the lease. The valuation
of the provision is sensitive to movements inthe discount rate, or to
an event of default by the subtenant. If an event of default had
occurred at 30 March 2019 and no alternative subletincome was
assumed, the provision would have increased by £65.2m. Inthis event,
the Group would seek alternative subtenants forthe property.

Across all property provisions, an increase in the discount rate of
25bps would decrease the provision by £5.6m.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment and intangibles Depreciation and amortisation are
provided to write down the cost of property, plant and equipment
and certainintangibles to their gstimated residual values over

their estimated usefullives, as set cut above The selection of the
residual values and useful lives gives rise to estimation uncertainty,
espedially inthe context of changing economic and market factors,
the channel shift from stores to online, increasing technological
advancement and the Group's ongoing strategic transformation
prograrmes, The usefullives of property, plant and equiprnent and
intangibles are reviewed by management annually. See notes 14 and
15 for further detaits. Refer to the UK store estate section above for
specific sources of estimation uncertaintyinrelation to the useft
lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment for stores
identified as part of the UK store estate programme.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangibles
Property, plant and equipment and computer software intangitles
are reviewed forimpairment if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable Coodwill
and indefinite lived brands are reviewed for impairment onan
annual basis. When a review for impairment is conducted, the
recoverable amount is determined based onthe higher of value in
use and fair value kess costs to sell. The value in use method requires
the Croup to determine appropriate assumptions {which are
sources of estimation uncertainty)}in relation to the cash flow
projections over the three-year strategic plan period, the long-term
growth rate to be applied beyond this three-year period and the
risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate used to discount the assumed
cash flows to present value. In calculating the discount rate the
Group has taken into account volatility in the inputs to the
calculation that are reflective of the market uncertainty for Brexit.

The assumption that cash flows continue into perpetuity {with the
exception of stores identified as part of the UK store estate

programme}is a source of significant estimation certainty. A future
change to the assumption of trading into perpetuity for any Cash-
GCenerating Unit (CCU) would result in a reassessrment of useful
econornic lives and residuat value and could give rise to a significant
impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangibles
particutarly where the store carrying value exceeds fair value less
cost tosell See notes 14 and 16 for further details on the Croup's
assumptions and associated sensitivities

Post-retirement benefits The determination of pension netinterest
income and the defined benefit obligation of the Group's defined
benefit pension schermes depends on the selection of certain
assumptions whichinclude the discount rate,inflationrate,
pensionable salary growth, mortality and expected returnon
scherme assets. Differences arising from actual experiences or future
changes inassumptions will be reflected in subseguent periods. The
fair value of ungquoted investrments within total planassetsis
estimated with consideration of fair value estimates provided by the
manager of the investment or fund. See note 1 for further details on
the impact of changes in the key assumptions and estimates.
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2 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reporting ©n components of the Groyp that are regutarly
reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance.

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Operating Comrmittee, The Operating Committee reviews the Group's internal
reporting in order to assess perforrmance and allocate resources across each pperating segment. The operating segments are UK and
International which are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the Operating Committes.

The UK segment consists of the UK retail business, UK franchise operations, M&S Bank and MBS Energy. The International segrment consists
of Marks & Spencer owned businesses in Europe and Asia and the international franchise operations.

The Operating Committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of operating profit referredtoas
management group operating profit. This measurement basis excludes the effects of adjustingiterns from the operating segments.
The Operating Committee also monitors revenue within the segmenis and gross profit within the UK segment. To increase transparency,
the Group has decided toinclude an additional voluntary disclosure analysing revenue within the reportabie segments by sub-category

and gross profit within the UK segment by sub-category.

The Following is an analysis of the CGroup's revenue and results by reportable segment:

52 weeks ended 30 March 2019

52 weeks ended 31 March 2048 (restated)

Logistics Adjusting Logistics Adjusting
Management'  Adjustment? items Statutery Management'  Adjustment’ itemns Statutory
Em £m £m £m £m £m £m Em
Food revenue 5,903.4 - - 5903.4 59400 - - 53400
Clothing & Home revenue 3,537.3 - - 3,537.3 3671.0 - - 36710
UK revenue 94407 - - 94407 a5u0 - - a6l
Franchised 4091 - - 409.1 3606 - - 3606
Owned 5275 - - 5275 7266 - - 7266
Internationalrevenue 936.6 - - 936.6 10872 - - 1,0872
Group revenue 10,3773 - - 10,377.3 10,698.2 - - 10,698.2
Food gross profit? 1,834.7 18548
Clothing & Home gross profit? 2,021.2 20906
UK gross profit? 3,855.9 (384.9) - 3,471.0 39454 (370.0) - 35754
UK operating costs (3,409.6) 384.9 (400.3) (3,425.0) (34503 3700 {4775) (3,557.8)
ME&S Bank 276 - {20.9) 6.7 403 - (34.7) 56
M8&S Energy 0.1 - - 0 - - - -
UK operating profit 474.0 - 42.2) 52.8 5354 - (512.2) 232
International operating profit 127.0 - {17.4) 109.6 135.2 - (1.9) 1333
Group operating profit 601.0 - (438.6) 162.4 6706 - (514.1) 1565
Financeincome 338 - - 338 241 - - 24.1
Finance costs {111.6) - - {111.6) (113.8) - - M338)
Profit before tax 5213.2 - (438.6) 84.6 5809 - {514.1) 66.8

I Management profil excludes the adjustments (income and Charges) made ta reported profit before tax that are significant in value and/or nature {see note S - adjustingitems). Refer to

the atcounting pelicyin note | and the glossaryfor mare details on these adjustiments

b

{last year: £370.0m),

[

. Managerneni gross profit for Lhe UK segrment excludes oo Lain expenses iasulling inan adjustmeik bet ween cost of sales and setling and sdministi alive expenses of L3849

. During the year as aresult of achange tainternalmanagement reparting, the reporting of cards and gift-wrap has been teansferced from Clothing B Home to Food for both revenue and

groess profit. The prior period comparatives have been restated toreflect this, £70,Imof revenue has been transferred from Clothing & Home to Food with a corresponding transfer of

grossprofitof £26.1m,
Other segmental information

2009 2018
UK'  Intemational Totak UK'  International Total
im ™ £m £ imn £

Additions to property, plant and eguipment and intangible
assets (excluding goodwill) 2831 139 297.0 3224 13.2 33556
Depreciation and amortisation 613.0 13,1 626.1 6157 246 640.3
Impairment and asset write-offs 126.3 1.6 1279 228.3 5.3 2336
Totalassets 6,900.1 3001 7,200.2 72424 3078 7550.2
Non-current assets 4,558.9 199.7 4.758.6 5,024.5 2100 52345

1. UKassets include centrally held assets lacgely relating to IT syStems thal support the international business of £20 9m {last year: £24.9m).

STRATECIC REPORT

COVERNANCE

|

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




104
MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

3 EXPENSE ANALYSIS
2019 2018
Total Total
£m m
Revenue 10,377.3 10,698.2
Cost of sales {6,547.2) (6,6509)
Gross profit 3,830.1 40473
Selling and administrative expenses {3,271.1) (3,426.2)
Other operating income 42.0 495
Operating profit before adjusting items 601.0 6706
Adjusting items (see note 5) (438.6) {514.1)
Operating profit 162.4 156.5
The setling and administrative expenses are further analysed below:
2019 018
Total Total
Em m
Employee costs' 1,4500 15210
Qccupancy costs 652.7 705.6
Repairs, renewals and maintenance of property 876 Q4.7
Depreciation, amortisation and asset impairments and write-cffs before adjusting items 544.9 5806
QOther costs 535.9 524.3
Selling and administrative expenses before adjusting items - 3,271 3,426.2

I, There are anadditicnal £61.0m (tast year: £57.9m}employee costs recorded within cost of sales. These costs are included within the aggregate remunreration disclosures in note 10A.
2. The £438.6m adjusting items charges for the yearara further analysed against the categories of selling and administrative expense £418.8m (last year: £485.2m)and other operating
income £19.8m (Last year: £2839m) accordingly: employee costs £64 9m{last year: £479m) occupancy costs £ 13.6m (last year: £124.7m); depreciation, amortisation and asset impairments

and write-0ffs £209.9m (Last year: £293 Im), otherexpenses £31.2m(last year; £18.5mj; and other operating income £19.8m{last year: £28.9m),

4 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The following iterns have been included in arriving at profit before taxation:

2019 raolt. )
£m £m

Net Foreign exchange (gains)/losses {3.4) 08
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 5,765.4 5,904)
Write down of inventories recognised as an expense 2141 2205
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- owned assets 440.0 459
=under finance leases 1.7 Q5
Amartisation of intangible assets 184.4 180.7
impairments and write-offs of intangible assets and property, plant and equiprment 127.9 2336
Qperating lease rentals payable
—property 302.5 3299
~fixtures, fittings and equipment 1.8 74
Included inadministrative expenses is the auditor's remuneration, including expenses for audit and non-audit services, payabie to the
Company's auditor Deloitte LLP and its associates as follows:

2019 2018

£m £m

Annual audit of the Cornpany and the consolidated financial staternents 1.3 1.3
Audit of subsidiary companies 06 06
Total audit fees 1.9 19
Audit-related assurance services 0.2 0.2
Transaction related services 0.2 -
Total non-audit services fees 0.4 0.2
Total audit and non-audit services fees 23 21

Transaction related services provided by the audi_tor retate to establishing the Ocadce joint venture (see note 5).
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5 ADJUSTING ITEMS

The total adjusting iterns reported for the 52 week period ended 30 March 2019is anet charge of £438.6m (last year; £514.1m). The adjustments
made to reported profit before tax to arrive at adjusted profit are:

2019 2018
Notes £m Em

Strategic programmes - UK store estate 15,22 2220 3211
Strategic prograrmmes - Organisation 16,22 51.8 307
Strategic programmes - Operational transformation 16.4 -
Strategic programmes - [T restructure 22 15.6 155
Strategic programmes ~ UK logistics 15,22 14.3 12
Strateqic programimes - Changes to pay and pensions 22 6.2 129
Strategic prograrnmes - International store closures and impairments 22 5.3 50
UK store impairments and other property charges 15,22 62.1 634
M&S Bank charges incurred in relation to the insurance mis-selling provision 209 347
GMP and other pension equalisation 11,22 20.5 -
Establishing the Ocado joint venture 34 -
Other - V77
Adjustments to profit before tax 438.6 514.1

Strategic programmes - UK store estate (£222.1m)

In Novernber 2016, the Croup announced a strategic programme to transform the UK store estate, During 2017/18 the Croup announced
its intention to accelerate this prograrrein ine with the strategic aim of significantly growing the ontine share of sates, as wellas better
than expected levels of sates transfer achieved from recent store closures. This acceleration of the UK store estate prograrnme resutted in
an acceleration of the timing of recognition of the associated costs, primarily driven by a shortening of the usefut economic life, for
impairment testing purposes, of those stores identified as part of the transformation plans.

The Group has recognised a charge of £2221min the year which relates in part to the accelerated and expanded store closure programme
which now includes a number of Simply Foods stores. The charge primarily relates to accelerated depreciation (due to shartening the usefut
economic life) and impairment of buildings and fixtures andfittings. Refer to notes 15 and 22 for further detaii on these charges.

Further material charges relating to the closure and re-configuration of the UK store estate are anticipated as the programme progresses,
the quantum of whichis subject to change throughout the programme period as decisions are taken in relation to the size of the store
estate and the specific stores affected Based on current plans, further charges (before restaternent toreflect the impact of the adoption
of IFRS 16) are expected to beincurred predominantly in the next two years and are anticipated to be ¢.£100m, bringing total programme
costs to ¢.£680m.

Strategic programmes - Organisation (£51.8m)
During 2016/17 the Group announced a wide ranging strategic review acrass a number of arcas of the business which included
UK organisation and the programme to centralise our London Head Office functions into one building.

The Group has now conducted a review of the retail field and manragement tearn erganisational structure. The proposals will resultina
net reduction of ¢.700 retail roles achieved through a combination of natural attrition and redundancies, A charge of £18.6m has been
recognised in the period for redundancy costs associated with these changes.

Inaddition, afurther £33.2m of costs have beenrecognised in the perniod associated with centralising the Croup's London Head Office
functions and rationalisation of Head Office functions.

Asthe Group executes the three phases of the transformation strategy further material organisational costs are likely to occur in orderto
meet the transformation objective. These costs are considered to be adjusting items as the costs are part of the strategic programme,
significant in value, and are consistent with the disclosure of other similar charges in prior years

Strategic programmes - Operational transformation (£16.4m)

The Group is undertaking a number of key transformation initiatives with the aim of re-engineering end-to-end supply chain, removing
Costs, complexity and working capital. Part of this transformation has included a fundamental review of the Croup's Clothing &Home and
Food end-to-end processes. A charge of £16,.4m has been recogrised primarily for consultancy costs for the transformation and
simplification of our supply chain and operations across Clothing & Home and Food.

These costs are considered to be adjusting items as they relate to a strategic programme and the total costs are significant in quantum and
as a result not considered to be normal operating costs of the business. Further operational transforration initiatives are ptanned for
2019/20 which will result in additional related charges within adjusting items.

Strategic programmes — T restructure (£15.6m)

In 2017/18 as part of the five-year transformation strategy, the Group announced a technology transformation programme £o create a
faster, more agile and more commercial technology function. A charge of £15.6rm has been recognised in the year relating primarily to
transition costs associated with the implermentation of a new technology operating model and accelerated depreciation of IT assets which
the Group is retiring early as a result of the transformation strategy. Further charges of £ 2rm are expected in 2019/20 and 2019/20is
expected tobethe final year of the (T restructure programme.

These costs are considered to be anadjusting itern as they relate to a significant strategic initiative of the Croup and are significant invalue,
bothin the year and in total for the programme.
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5 ADJUSTING ITEMS CONTINUED

Strategic programmes ~ UK logistics (£14.3rm)

In 2017/18 as part of the previously announced long-term strategic programme to transition to a single-tier UK distribution network,
the Croup announced the opening of a new Clothing & Home distribution centre in Welham Creen in 2019, As a direct result, the Group
announced the closure of two existing distribution centres. A net charge of £14 3mhas been recognisedin the year for redundancy,
accelerated depreciation and project costs.

The Croup considers these costs to be adjusting iterns as they are significant invalue and relate to a significant strategic initiative of the
Croup. Treatment of the costs as being adjusting items is consistent with the treatment of charges in previous periods in relation tothe
creation of a single-tier logistics network. Further charges are expectedin 2019/20 of c £12m.

Strategic programmes - Changes to pay and pensions (£6.2m)

In May 2015, the Group announced proposals for a fairer, simpler and more consistent approach to pay and prermia as well as proposals to
close the UK defined benefit {DB) pension scheme to future accrual effective from 1 April 2017 As part of these proposals the Group
committed to making transition payments to affected employees in relation fo the closure of the UK DB schemne, expectedto be ¢ £25m
in totat over the three years commencing 2017/18. The charge inthe yearin relation to these transition payments toemployees is £6.2m.

As previously disclosed, the Group considers the costs directly associated with the closure of the UK DB scheme to be an adjusting item on
the basis that they relate to a significant cost, impacting the Croup results. Treatrnent of the transition payments made in the year within
adjusting itemns is consistent with disclosure of the same costs in 2017/18 and the original disclosure of the UK DB scheme closure costs

in 201617,

Strategic programmes ~ International store closures and impairments (£5.3m)

In 2016/17 the Croup announced its intention to close its owned stores in 10 international markets. A net charge of £5.3m has been
recognisedin the year reflecting an updated view of the estimated final clasure costs For certain markets and those costs which can only
be recognised asincurred.

The net charge is considered to be an adjusting item as it is part of a strategic programme which over the three years of charges has been
significant in both vatue and nature to the results of the Group. No further significant charges are expected.

UK store impairments and property charges (£62.1m)
The Croup has recognised a nurmber of charges in the year associated with reductions to the carrying value of iterns of property,
plant and equipment.

inresponse to the ongoing pressuresimpacting the retail industry, as well as reflecting the Croup's strategic focus towards growing online
rnarket share, the Croup has revised future projections for UK stores (excluding those stores which have been captured as part of the

UK store estate programme). As a result, UK store impairment testing has identified stores where the current and anticipated future
performance does not support the carrying value of the stores. A charge of £52.8mhas beenincurred primarily in respect of the impairment
of assets associated with these stores. Refer to note 15 for further details on the impairments.

Inaddition, the Group has entered in to property arrangements impacting 10 stores. The Croup has recognised a net charge of £9.3m
associated with the sale and leaseback or lease surrender costs for these stores.

The charges have been classified as an adjusting itern on the basis of the significant value of the charge in the year to the results of
the Group.

M&S Bank charges incurred in relation to the insurance mis-selling provision {£20.9m)

The Group has an economic interest in M&S Bank, a whotly owned subsidiary of HSBC, by way of a Relationship Agreement that entitles the
Croup toa 50% share of the profits of M&S Bank after appropriate deductions. The Group does not share in any losses of M&S Bank andis
not obliged torefund any profit share received from HSBC, although future income may be impacted by significant one-off deductions.

Since the year ended 31 December 2010, M&S Bank has recognised in its audited financial statements an estimated liability for redress

to customers inrespect of possible mis-selling of financial products. The Group's fee income from M&S Bank has been reduced by the
deduction of the estimated liability in both the current and prior years. The deduction in the year is £20.9m. The Group considers this cost to
be an adjusting iter, despite its recurring nature, as the charges are significant in nature and value in each year to the results of the Group.
The estimated liability for redress will continue to be reviewed in 2019/20 to ensure it refiects the best estimate of Likely settlement,

which could lead to further charges or releases.

GMP and other pension equatisation (£20.5m)

The Group has recognised a non-cash charge of £20.5min respect of the Group's defined benefit pension liability arising from equalisation
of GMP following a high court ruling in October 2018 and other pension equalisation charges. Additional detail on the Croup's CMP
assessment is detailed innote 1),

The amounts recognised in relation to GMP and other pension equatisation charges are considered to be adjusting items as they are
significantin nature and value to the results of the Groupin the current period.

Establishing the Ocado joint venture (£3.4m)

In February 209 the Group announced the creation of a new 50/50 joint venture (JV) with Ocado Group Plc (Ocado) the UK's leading
pure play digital grocer, that will transform online grocery shopping for UK consumers. Transaction costs of £3.4m were incurred during
the pericd.

The Croup considers the costs directly associated with the Qcado transaction to be an adjusting item on the basis that they relatetoa
major transactionand as a result are not considered to be normal operating costs of the Croup. Further costs of c. £300mwill be incurredin
2019/20, the majority of which will be capitalised within the cost of investment upon completion or included within the cost of equity as part
of the rights-issue.
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5 ADJUSTING ITEMS CONTINUED

Other (£nil)

Other in the prior year included the profit on the disposal of our retail business in Hong Kong and charges for probable liabilities for certain
employee related mattersin the prior period. These armounts were considered to be adjusting iterns as they were significant in mature and

value to the results of the Group in the prior period.
The prior year profit on disposal is analysed as follows:

2019 2018
£m m
Proceeds - 339
Disposal costs - {09)
Net disposal proceeds - 330
Fair value of met assets disposed ~ {(28.6)
Provision for IT transition services - (0.8)
Net foreign exchange amounts recycled from reserves - 2.2
Profit on disposal - 5.8
6 FINANCE INCOME/COSTS
N9 2018
£m Em
Bank and other interest receivable 7.6 6.0
" Other finance income 0.4 04
Pension net finance income (see note 11F) 258 17.7
Finance income > 33.8 24
Interest onbank borrowings {0.6) (1.2)
Interest payable on syndicated bank facility (2.3} (2.3)
Interest payable on Mediurm Term Notes (77.4) {90.0)
interest payable on finance (eases (.7} {1.9)
Ineffectivenass on financial instruments (3.5) {2.3)
Urwind of discount on provisions (17.3) (5.2)
Unwind of discount on partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme
{see note 12) (8.8) (109)
Finance costs (111.6} {113.8)
Net finance costs (77.8) (89.7)
7 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
A.Taxation charge
2019 6
£m Em
Current tax
UK corperation tax on profits for the year at 19% (last year: 19%)
~current year 78.4 654
- agjustmaents in respect of prior years (4.6) 75
UK current tax 73.8 729
Overseas current taxation
- current year 8.9 10.3
- adjustments in respect of prior years (0.8) ©2)
Total current taxation 81.9 830
Deferred tax
- origination and reversal of temporary differences (36.0) (37.3)
—recognition of previously unrecagnised tax losses - (1.4)
- adjustments in respect of prior years 23 (3.3)
-changesintaxrate (0.8} (3.5)
Total deferred tax (see note 23) {34.6) (45.3)
Yotal income tax expense 473 377
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7 INCOME TAX EXPENSE CONTINUED

B. Taxation reconciliation
The effective tax rate was 559% (last year 56.4%) andis explained below.

2019 2018
£m Em
Profit before tax 84.6 06.8
Notional taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (last year: 19%) 16.) 12.7
Depreciation and other amounts in relation to fixed assets that do not qualify for tax relief 1.2 30
Qtherincome and expenses that are not taxable or allowable for tax purposes 15.0 148
Retranslation of deferred tax balances due to the change in statutory UK tax rates {1.1) (3.5)
Overseas profits taxed at rates different to those of the UK 0.8 (3.4)
Recognition of overseas deferred tax assets (6.2) -
Adjustments to the current and deferred tax charges in respect of prior pericds {3.1) 4.2
Adjusting iterns:
- depreciation and other amounts in relation to fixed assets that do not qualify for tax relief - 8.0
- UK store and strategic programme impairments where no tax relief is available 14.9 6.5
—International store closures and impairments 0.8 (8.3)
- other strategic programme incorme and expenses that are not taxable or atlowable for tax purposes 8.9 34
- other - 0.2
Total income tax expense 473 377

After excluding adjustrments to profit before tax the adjusted effective tax rate was 20.3% (last year:lsz.s%),

Other income and expenses that are not taxable or allowabte for tax purposes include a charge of £12.6m (last year: £12.7rm charge}in
relation to the Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership. Under this structure tax relief for payments to be made to the Marks &
Spencer UK Pension Scheme inrelation to the first partnership interest arose in the first 10 years of the structure and some of this benefit
is recaptured in subseguent years.

On 15 September 2016, the Finance Bill received Royal Assent to enact the previously announced reductions in the rate of corporation

tax to 19% from 1 April 2017 and 17% from 1 April 2020. The Group has continued torerneasure its UK deferred tax assets and liabilities at the
end of the reporting period at the rates of 19% and 17% based onanupdated expectation of when those balances are expected to unwind.
This has resulted in the recognition of a deferred tax credit of £0.8min the income statement and the recognition of a deferred tax charge of
£2.3min other comprehensive iIncome.

C. Current tax reconciliation
The current tax reconciliation shows the tax effect of the main adjustments made to the Croup's accounting profitsin order to arrive at its
taxable profits. The reconciling items differ from those in note 78 as the effects of deferred tax timing differences are ignored below.

2079 2018
im Em
Profit before tax 84.6 568
Notional taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (last year: 19%) 16.1 127
Disaliowable accounting depreciation and cther similar items 68.0 787
Deductible capital allowances (59.4) (70.6)
Adjustrments in relation to employee share schermes 2.7 28
Adjustrnents in relation to ernplovee pension schemes 10.7 9.2
QOverseas profits taxed at rates different to those of the UK 0.8 (34)
Utilisation of unrecognised losses (1.4) -
Other income and expenses that are not taxable or allowable 4.4 0.5
Adjusting iterns;
- depreciationand other amounts in relation to fixed assets that do not qualify for tax relief - 95
- UK store and strateqic prograrnme impairments where no tax relief is available 320 440
—International store closures and impairments 0.8 (16.2)
- other strategic programme income and expenses that are not taxable or atlowable For tax purposes 126 5.1
-other - 34
Current year current tax charge 873 75.7
Represented by:
UK current year current tax 78.4 654
Overseas current year current tax 8.9 103
87.3 75.7
UK adjustments in respect of prior years (4.6) 75
Overseas adjustments in respect of prior years {0.8) {032)

Total current taxation {(note 7A} 819 830
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8 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share is based on earnings after tax and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The adjusted earnings per share figures have also been calculated based on earnings before adjusting iters that are significant in nature
and/or quantum and are considered te be distortive (see note 5). These have been presented to provide shareholders with anadditional
measure of the Croup's year-on-year performance.

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue is adjusted to assurne conversion of all dilutive
potentialordinary shares. The Group has four types of dilutive potential ordinary shares being those share options granted to employees
where the exercise price i5 less than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year; unvested shares
granted under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan; unvested shares granted under the Restricted Share Plan; and unvested shares within

the Performance Share Plan that have met the relevant perforrmance conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Details of the adjusted earnings per share are set out below:

2018 208
Em Em
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 335 257
Addf(less) (net of tax);
Strategic programmes - UK store estate 194.6 2647
Strategic programimes - Qrganisation 46.3 280
Strategic programmes - Operational transformation 13.2 -
Strategic programmes - IT restructure 12.7 125
Strategic programmes - UK logistics 11.8 10.7
Strategic prograrmimes - Changes to pay and pensions 5.1 104
Strategic programmes - International store closures andimpairments 5.1 4.1)
UK store impairments and property charges 542 ) 616
M&S Bank charges incurred in relation to the insurance mis-selling provision 16.9 281
CMP and other equalisation 166 -
Establishing the Ocado joint venture 34 -
Other - 145
Profit before adjusting items attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 413.4 4521
Million Million
Weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue 1,624.1 16240
Patentially dilutive share options under Group’s share option schermes 38 54
Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares 1,627.9 1629.4
Pence Pence
Basic earnings per share 2.1 1.6
Diluted earnings per share 2. 1.6
Adjusted basic earnings per share 254 278
Adjusted dilutéd earnings per share 25.4 27.8
9 DIVIDENDS
2019 018 2009 28
per share per share £m £Em
Dividends on equity ordinary shares
Paid final dividend 11.9p M9p 193.1 1931
Paid interim dividend 6.8p 6.8p 1104 1103
18.7p 18.7p 303.5 303.4

The directors have approved a final dividend of 7.1p per share {last year: 11 9p per share), which, in line with the requirernents of IAS 10 Events
after the Reporting Period, has not been recognised within these results. This final dividend of ¢.£115.4m (last year; £193.1m} will be paig on
12 July 2019 to sharehotders whose names are onthe Register of Members at the close of business on 31 May 2G12. The ordinary shares will
be quoted ex dividend on 30 May 2019.

A dividend reinvestrment plan (DRIP) is available to shareholders who would prefer to invest their dividends in the shares of the Company.
For those shareholders electing to receive the DRIP, the tast date for receipt of a new election is 21 June 2019.
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10 EMPLOYEES

A. Aggregate remuneration
The aggregate remuneration and associated costs of Croup empioyees (including Operating Committee) were:

2019 2008

Totat Totat

£m £m

Wages and salaries 1,293.2 1,3597
Social security costs 85.0 917
Pension costs 774 767
Share-based payments (see note 13) 19.2 189
Employee welfare and other personnel costs 53.8 56.6
Capitalised staffing costs (175) (24.7)
Total aggregate remuneration’ 1,511.0 15789

1. Excludes amounts recognised within adjusting items of £64.9m{last year: £479mj(see notes 3and S)such as the transition payments the Group has committed te in respect of removal
of premia,redundancy costs associated with the UK and international strategic programmes and GMP and other pension equalisationcosts

Details of key management compensationare givenin note 28.

B. Average monthly number of employees

209 2018
UK stares
- management and supervisory categories 5,480 6,004
-other 63,957 66,540
UK head office
- management and supervisory categories 2,968 3088
- other 832 856
UK operations
- rmanagement and supervisory categories 81 89
—other 1,066 1153
Overseas 5713 6,891
Total average number of employees 80,097 84,621

If the nurmber of hours worked was converted on the basis of a normal working week, the equivalent average number of full-time employees
would have been 55,440 {last year: 58 928).

11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Croup provides pension arrangements for the benefit of its UK employees through the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Schermne
(3 DB arrangement) and Your M&S Pension Saving Plan (a defined contribution {DC) arrangernent).

The UK DB pension scheme operated on a final pensionable salary basis and is governed by a Trustee board which is independent of the
Croup. The UK D8 scheme closed to future accrual on 1 April 2017. On closure of the UK DB scheme, all remaining active members moved
to deferred status which resutted in a curtailment charge of £127.0m in 2016/17. There witl be no further service charges relating to the
scheme and no future monthly employer contributions for current service. At year end the UK DB pension scheme had no actlve rmemkbers
{last year:nil), 58,079 deferred members (last year: 60,402) and 52,217 pensioners (last year: 51,802).

Themost recent actuarial valuation of the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2018 and showed a funding
surplus of £652m. This is an impravement on the previous position at 31 March 2015 (statutory surplus of £204m), primarily due to lower
assumed life expectancy. The Company and Trustee have confirmed, intine with the current funding arrangernent, that no further
contributions will be required to fund past service as aresult of this valuation (other than those already contractually committed under
the existing Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership arrangements - see note 12).

The DC plan is a pension ptan under which the Group pays contributions to an independently administered fund. Such contributions are
based upon a fixed percentage of employees’ pay. The Croup has no tegat or constructive obligations to pay further contributions to the
fund onee the contributions have been paid. Members benefits are determined by the amount of contributions paid by the Group and the
mermber, together with the investment returns earned on the contributions arising from the perfornnance of each individual's investments
and how each member chooses to receive their retirement benefits. As aresult, actuarial risk (that benefits will be lower than expected)and
investrnent risk (that assets invested in will not perform in line with expectations) fall on the employee At the year end, the defined
contribution arrangement had some 53,536 active members (last year: 54,001) and some 26,709 deferred members (last year: 19,984).

The Group also operates a small funded DB pension scheme in the Republic of Ireland. This scheme closed to future accrual on 31 October
2013. Other retirement benefits also include a UK post-retirement healthcare scherne and unfunded retirement benefits.

The total Group retirement benefit cost was £69.5m (last year: £58.9rm). OF this, incorne of £4.5m (last year:income of £14.7m)relates to the
UK DB pension scheme, costs of £68.7m {last year: costs of £68.8m) te the UKDC plan and costs of £5.3m (last year: costs of £4.8m) to other
retirernent benefit schemes.

InMarch 2018, the UK DB pension scheme purchased pensioner buy-in policieé with two insurers covering £1.4bn of UK pensioners liabilities
which is approximately one-third of the pensioner portfolio. The buy-ins transfer longevity risk to the insurers and reduce the pension risks
being underwritten by the Croup.
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11 RETIREMENT BENEF{TS CONTINUED

On 26 Octeober 2018, the High Court issued a judgement in a claim involving Lloyds Banking Croup's DB pension schemes. This judgerment
concluded the schemes should be amended in order to equalise pension benefits for men and womenin relation to guaranteed minimum
pension benefits. Theissues determined by the judgement have resuited in anincrease in the liabilities of the Marks & Spencer UKDB
Pension Scheme of £18.0m. This increase has been reflected in the results as a past service cost.

A. Pensions and other post-retirement Liabilities

2019 2018
£m Em
Totat market value of assets 10,2247 329839.3
Present value of scheme liabilities (9,301.3) (9,0286)
Net funded pension plan asset 9234 9597
Unfunded retirement benefits {3.5) (36)
Post-retirernent healthcare (5.6) (79)
Net retirement benefit surplus 914.3 948.2 E
g
Analysedin the statement of financia! position as: ;
Retirernent benefit asset 9315 970.7 g
Retirement benefit deficit (17.2) (22.5) E
Net retirement benefit surplus 9143 9482
Inthe event of a plan wind-up, the pension scheme rules provide M&S with an unconditional right to a refund of surplus assets assuming
the full settlement of plan liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, the Trustees have no rights to wind up or change the benefits due
to members of the scherne As a resutt, any net surplus in the UK DB pansion schemeis recognised in full.
B. Financiat assumptions
The financial assurnptions for the UK DB pension scheme and the most recent actuarial valuations of the other post-retirement schemes
have been updated by independent qualified actuaries to take account of the requirements of 1AS 19 Employee Benefits in order to assess
the liabilities of the schermmes and areas follows: )
2018 2018
% %
Rate of increase in pensions in payment for service 2.1-33 20-32.
Discount rate 2,45 265
Inflationrate 3.25 3.15
Long-term heatthcare cost increases 7.25 715
C. Demographic assumptions
The UK derographic assurnptions are in line with those adopted for the last formal actuarial valuation of the scheme performed as at
31 March 2018. The UK post-retirernent mortality assumptions are based on an analysis of the pensioner mortality trends under the scheme 3
for the period toMarch 2018, The specific mortality rates used are based on the VITA lite tables. The tife expectancies underlying the £
valuation are as follows: z
2019 2018 3
N (%]
Current pensioners (at age 65) -male 220 223
-fermale 24.9 25.2
Future pensioners — currently in deferred status (at age 65) -male 23.8 24)
-female 26.7 270

D. Sensitivity analysis
The table below summarises the estimated impact of changes inthe principal actuarial assumptions on the UK DB pension scheme surplus:

2009 2018
£m £m
Decreasein scheme surplus caused by a decrease in the discount rate of 0.25% {70.0) (700)
Decreasein scheme surptus caused by a decrease in the inflation rate of 0.26% {25.0) {25.0)
Increase in scheme surpius caused by a decrease in the average life expectancy of one year . 315.0 3050

The sensitivity analysis above is based on a changein one assurmption while hoiding all others constant. Therefore interdependencies
between the assumptions have not been taken into account within the analysis.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS CONTINUED

E. Analysis of assets

The investment strategy of the UK DB pension scheme s driven by ks liability profile, including its inflation-linked pension benefits.
Inadditionto its interest in the Scottish Limited Partnership (refer to note 12), the scheme invests in different types of bonds (including
corporate bonds and gilts)and derivative instruments (including inflation, interest rate, cross-currency and total return swaps}in order
to align movements in the value of its assets with movements inits liabilities arising from changes in market conditions. Broadly the
scheme has hedging that covers 96% of interest rate movements and 94% of inflation movements, as measured on the Trustees funding
assumptions which use a discount rate derived from gilt yields.

By funding its DB pension schemes, the Croup is exposed to the risk that the cost of meeting its abligations is higher than anticipated.
This could occur for several reasons, for example:

- Investment returns on the schemes’ assets may be lower than anticipated, especially if fails in asset values are not matched by similar
falls in the value of the schemes’ liabilities.

- Thelevet of price inflation may be higher than that assumed, resulting in higher payrments from the schermes.

- Scheme members may live langer than assumed, for exannple due to advances in heatthcare. Members may also exercise {or not exercise)
options in a way that leads to increases in the schemes liabilities, for example through early retirement ¢r commutation of pension
forcash

- Legislative changes cauld also lead to aningrease in the schemes' liabilities.

Inaddition, the Croup is exposed to additional risks through its obligation to the UK DB pension scheme via its interast in the Scottish
Limited Partnership (see note 12).In particular, under the legal terms of the Partnership,a default by the Croup on the rental payments to
the Partnership or a future change in legislation could trigger eartier or higher payrments to the pension scheme, oranincrease inthe
collateraltobe provided by the Croup.

The fair value of the total plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category is as follows:

2019 2018
Quoted Unguoted Total Quoted Unguoted Tatat
£m Em im Em £m £m
Debt investments
-Covernment Bonds net of
repurchase ag_;reements‘ 4,3739 367.2 47411 44729 369.4 48423
- Corporate Bonds 6.1 731.8 7379 59 685.4 6913
~ Asset backed securities and structured debt - 296.6 296.6 - 339.2 339.2
Scottish Limited Partnership Interest
(see note 12) - 2785 278.5 - 3454 3454
Equity investments
- Developed markets 398.0 579 4559 460.8 1028 5636
- Emerging markets 103.7 - 103.7 1517 - 151.7
Growth Asset Funds
- Clobal Property - 328.4 3284 - 2740 2740
- Hedge and Reinsurance 243 4124 4367 18.2 406.2 4244
- Private Equity and Infrastructure - 223.3 2233 - 2225 2225
Derivatives
-interest andinflation rate swaps 159 148.4 164.3 7.7 6.4 141
- Foreign exchange contracts and
other derivatives 0.1 1275 1276 [oA 1548 1549
Cash and cash equivalents 51.1 122.2 173.3 418 925 134.3
Other
- Buy-ininsurance - 1,273.7 1,273.7 - 1,2779 1,2779
- Secure Income Asset Funds - 842.2 8422 - 466.7 4667
- Cther ) a1.5 - 41.5 870 - 870
5,014.6 52101 10,224.7 5.2461 47432 99893

1. Repurchaseagreements were £1,025.1m{last year: E920.2m).

The fair values of the above equity and debt investrnents are based on publicly available market prices wherever available. Unquoted
investrnents, hedge funds and reinsurance funds are stated at fair value estimates provided by the manager of the investment or fund.
Property includes both quoted and unguotedinvestments. The Fair value of the Scottish Limited Partnership interest is based onthe
expected cash flows and benchmark asset-backed credit spreads. It is the policy of the scherne to hedge a proportion of interest rate
andinflation risk. The scheme reduces its foreign currency exposure using forward foreign exchange contracts.

At year end, the UK schemes (UK DB pension scheme and post-retirernent healthcare) indirectly held 41,841 (last year: 41,046) ordinary
shares in the Company through its investment in UK Equity Index Funds.
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11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS CONTINUED

£, Analysis of amounts charged against profits

Amounts recognised in cormprehensive income inrespect of defined benefit retirement plans are as follows:

2019 2008
Em Em
Current service cost 0.2 03
Administration costs 39 35
Past service costs 18.0 -
Net interest income {25.8) (17.7)
Total {3.7} (13.9)
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit surplus:
Actual return on scheme assets excluding amounts included in net interest income {283.8) 882
Actuarial gain - dermographic assumptions {90.2) {85.1)
Actuarial loss — experience 19.2 263
Actuarial loss/(gain) - financial assumpticns 434.7 (230.3)
Components of defined benefit expense/{income) recognised in other comprehensive income 799 {200.9)
G. Scheme assets
Changes inthe fair value of the scherne assets are as follows:
e 018
£m fm
Fair value of scherne assets at start of year 9,989.3 10,135.1
interest income based on discount rate 2595 2534
Actual return on scheme assets excluding amounts includedin net interest income’ 283.8 (88.2)
Employer contributions 42,0 40.7
Benefits paid {346.2) (3539)
Administration costs {3.7) {3.3)
Exchange movement - 5.5
Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 10,224.7 9989.3
1. Theactualreturnon scherme assets was a gainof £543.3m{last year: gain of E164.6m).
H. Pensions and other past-retirement liabilities
Changes inthe present value of retirernent benefit obligations are as follows:
2006 2018
£m Em
Present value of obligation at start of year 9,041.1 54423
Current service cost 0.2 03
Adrninistrationcosts 0.2 Q.2
Past service cost 18.0 -
Interest cost 2337 235.7
Benefits paid (346.2) {3539)
Actuarialloss - experience 19.2 26.3
Actuarial (gain) - demographic assumptions {90.2) (85.1)
Actuarial loss/(gain) - financial assumptions 434.7 (230.3)
Exchange movement {0.3) 56
Present value of obligation at end of year 9,310.4 90411
Analysed as:
Present value of pension scherne liabilities 9,301.3 90296
Unfunded pensicn plans 3.5 36
Post-retirement healthcare 5.6 79
Present value of obligation at end of year 9,310.4 9,041.1

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at 30March 2019 is 19 years {last year: 19 years).
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12 MARKS AND SPENCER SCOTTISH LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

Marks and Spencer plcis a general partner and the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme is 2 limited partner of the Marks and Spencer
Scottish Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”). Under the partnership agreement, the limited partners have no involvement in the
managerment of the business and shall not take any part in the control of the partnership. The general partrer is responsibte for the
management and control of the partnership and as such, the Partnership is consolidated into the resuits of the Group.

The Partnership holds £1.4bn (last year: £1.5bn) of properties which have been leased back to Marks and Spencer plc. The Croup retains
control over these properties, including the flexibility to substitute alternative propertiesinto the Partnership. The first Lirited partnership
interest (held by the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme), entitles the Pensicn Scheme to receive an annual distribution of £719m until
June 2022 from the Partnership. The second limited partnership interest (also held by the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scherne), entitles the
Pension Scheme to receive a further annual distribution of £36.40n frorm June 2017 until June 2031, All profits generated by the Partnership
in excess of these amounts are distributable to Marks and Spencer plc.

The partnership liability in relation to the first interest of £272.4m {last year: £335.5my}is vatued at the net present value of the future
expected distributions from the Partnership and is included as aliability in the Group's financial statements as it is a transferable financial
instrument. During the year to 30 March 2019 an interest charge of £8.8m (last year £109m) was recognisedin the income statement
representing the unwinding of the discount includedin this obligation. The first limited partnership interest of the Pension Schermne is
included wathin the UK DB Pension Scheme assets, vatued at £278 5m {last year: £345.4m).

The second partnership interestis not a transferable financialinstrument as the Scherne Trustee does not have the right to transfer it to any
party other than a successor Trustee. It is therefore not included as a plan asset within the UK DB pension scheme surplus reported in
accordance withJAS 19. Similarly, the associated liability is not included on the Croup's statement of financial position, rather the annual
distribukion is recognised as a contribution to the scheme each year.

13 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

This year a charge of £19.2m was recognised for share-based payments (last year: charge of £189m). Of the total share-based payments
charge, £9.2m {last year: £11.0m) relates to the Save As You Earn share option scheme and a charge of £4.1m (last year: £2.3m) relates to the
Perforrnance Share Plan. The remaining charge of £59m (last year: £5.6m)is spread over the other share plans. Further details of the
operation of the Group share plans are provided in the Remuneration Report.

A. Save As You Earn Scheme

The Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme was approved by shareholders for afurther 10 years at the 2017 Annual General Meeting (ACM). Under
the terms of the scheme, the Board may offer options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company once in each financial year to those
employees who enter into Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs (HMRC) approved SAYE savings contract. The Company has chosento cap the
maximiurm monthly saving amount at £250 which is below the £500 per month allowed under HMRC approved schemes. The price at which
options may be offerecis 80% of the average mid-market price for three consecutive dealing days preceding the offer date. The options
rmay normally be exercised during the six-rnonth period after the completion of the SAYE contract.

2019 2018

Number of Weighted average Numberof Weightedaverage

aptions eXercise price options axercise price

Outstanding at beginning of the year 43,731,657 285.4p 43,294,094 3106p
Granted 10,337,468 2470p 13,351,790 2610p
Exercised (241,813) 260.1p (29,500) 269.7p
Forfeited {10,455,905) 274.0p {7,758,295) 3071p
Expired (5,347,906) 358.7p (5126,432) 402 5p
QOutstanding at end of year 38,023,501 2679p 43731657 2854p
Exercisable at end of year 2,542,320 421.0p 4976777 362.3p

For SAYE share options exercised during the period, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 290.8p (last year: 314.8p).
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13 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

A. Save As You Earn Scheme continued
The fair values of the options granted during the year have been calculated using the Black-Scholes modet assuming the inputs
shown below:

2019 2018 2018

3-year plan

3-year plan 3-yearplan 216 modified'

Crant date Nov 18 Now 17 Nov 17
Share price at grant date 309p 298p 298p
Exercise price 247p 261p 432p
Optionlifeinyears 3 years 3years 3years
Risk-free rate . 0.8% 05% 05%
Expected volatility 27.9% 27.8% 278%
Expected dividend yield 6.1% 6.3% 6.3%
Fair vatue of option ' 54p 42p 2p
Incremental fair value of opticn nfa nfa 10p

1. Inthe prior year, there was amadification to the 2016 scheme relating to employees cancelling awards from previous years in substitution for awards granted under the 2018 scheme.
The tair value of the moditied awards will be amortised based onthe incremental fair vatue. The incremental fair vatue is the difference between the Fair value of the 2018 options, being
42p, and the fair vatue of the repricad previous awards being 32p, calculated using 2018 award assurmplions, keeping the initial exescise price consistent. Theincremental fair value of
the modified options, being 10p forthe 2016 modified options, is atready recegnised in operating profit.

Volatility has been estimated by taking the historic volatility in the Company’s share price over a three-year period.

The resulting fair value is expensed over the service period of three years on the assurmnption that 10% {last year: 10%) of options wilt
lapse over the service period as employees leave the Croup

Outstanding options granted under the UK Employees SAYE Scheme are as follows:

Nurnber of aptions Weighted average remaining contractual Life (years)

Options granted' 2019 2018 2019 2018 Option price
January 2015 - 4,703,165 - 0.2 369p
January 2016 2,436,408 3397156 0.3 1.2 432D
January 2017 17,140,666 22,825,562 1.3 23 260p
January 2018 8,711,023 12,705,774 2.3 33 261p
January 2019 9,715,404 - 33 - 2470

38,023,501 43,731,657 1.9 2.2 2680

1. For the purpose of the above table the option granted date is the contract start date.

B. Performance Share Plan’

The Performance Share Plan (PSP is the primary long-term incentive plan for approximately 120 of the most senior managers within the
Group. it was first approved by sharehclders at the 2005 AGM and again at the 2015 AGM. Under the plan, annual awards, based ona
percentage of salary, may be offered. The extent to which an award vests is measured over a three-year period against financial targets
which for 2018/19 included Earnings Per Share{EPS), Return on Capital Employed (ROCE), and Total Shareholder Return (TSR). The value of
any dividends earned on the vested shares during the three years will also be paid on vesting Further details are set cut in the Remuneration
Report. Awards under this plan have been made in each year since 2005 More informationis available in relation to this scheme within the
Remuneration Report.

During the year, 8,006,094 shares (last year: 7,880,779) were awarded under the plan. The weighted average fair value of the shares awarded
was 264.2p (last year: 268.4p). As at 30 March 2019 17,296,405 shares (last year: 17.624,3185) were outstanding under the plan.

C. Deferred Share Bonus Plan’

The Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP) was first introduced in 2005/06 as part of the Annual Bonus Scheme. [t is now operated for
approximately 40 (last year: 500) of the most senior managers within the Group. As part of the plan, the managers are required to defera
proportion of any bonus paid into shares which witl be held for three years. There are no further performance conditions on these shares,
other than continued employment within the Group and the value of any dividends earned on the vested shares during the deferred period
will also be paid on vesting. More information s availabte in relation to this scheme within the Remuneration Report.

During the year, no shares (last year: 1.892,215) have been awarded under the plan in relation to the annual bonus. The Fair vatue of the
shares awarded last year was 343.3p. As at 30 March 2019, 2,595,337 shares (last year: 4,248,291) were oukstanding under the plan,

D. Restricted Share Plan’

The Restricted Share Plan (RSP) was established in 2000 as part of the reward strategy for retention and recruitrent of senior managers who
are vital to the success of the business. The plan operates for senior managers below executive director level Awards vest at the end of the
restricted period (typically between one and three years) subject to the participant stilt being in employment of the Company on the
relevant vesting date. The value of any dividends earned on the vested shares during the restricted period will also be paid on vesting.

More inforrnation is available in relation to this scheme within the Remuneration Report.

During the year, 1,710,368 shares (last year: 1)05,428) have been awarded under the plan. The weighted average fair value of the shares
awarded was 295.2p {last year. 214.0p). As at 30 March 2019, 2,364,783 shares (last year: 1,555,748) were outstanding under the plan.
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13 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

E. Republic of Ireland Save As You Earn Scheme

Sharesave, the Company's Save As You Earn scheme was introduced in 2009 to all employees in the Republic of Ireland for a 10 year period,
after approval by shareholders at the 2009 ACM. The scherme is subject to lrish Revenue rules which Limit the maximurn monthly saving to
€500 per month. The Company chose in 2009 to set a monthly savings cap of €320 per month to align the maxirmum savings amount to that
allowed within the UK scheme. The price at which options may be offered is 80% of the average mid-rmarket price for three consecutive
dealing days preceding the offer date. The options may normally be exercised during the six-month period after the completion of the SAYE
contract. The Company witl be seeking shareholder reapproval of this scheme onisimitar terms to those outlined above at this year's ACM.

During the year, 169,422 options {last year: 210,486) were granted, at a fair value of 53.6p (last year: 41.5p). As at 30 March 2019,672,203 options
(last year: 644 325) were outstanding under the scheme.

F. Marks and Spencer Employee Benefit Trust

The Marks and Spencer Employee Benefit Trust (the "Trust "} holds 1,712,922 (last year: 2,247,837) shares witha book value of £5.1m{last year:
£9.8m) and a market value of £4 8mi (last year: £6.1m). These shares were acquired by the Trust in the market and are shown as a reductionin
retained earnings in the consolidated statement of financial position. Awards are granted to ernployees at the discretion of Marks and
Spencer plc and the Trust agrees to satisfy the awards in accordance with the wishes of Marks and Spencer plc under senior executive share
plans described above. Dividends are waived onall of these shares.

G. ShareBuy .

ShareBuy, the Company’s share incentive plan, enables the participants to buy shares directty from their gross salary. This scheme does not
attractan IFRS 2 charge.

* Allawards this year were conditional shares, tast year all DSBP and 297,114 RSP awards were awarded as nil-cost options with the remainder being awarded as conditional shares, For the
purposes of calculating the number of shares awarded, the share price used is the average of the mid-market price for the five consecutive dealing days preceding the grant date.

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer software
Computer unger
Coatwill Brands software develcpment Total
Em Em Em £m £mn

At 1 Aprit 2017
Cost 1374 1N2.3 1,368.3 B25 1,7005
Accumulated amortisation and imgairments {550) (989) {809.9) (23.7) {9915)
Net book value 784 134 5584 588 7090
Year ended 31 March 2018
Opening net book value 78.4 134 5584 588 7090
Additions - - 0.2 741 743
Transfers and reciassifications - - 94.2 (89.2) 50
Asset write-offs - - (5.8} (1.7) (75)
Amaortisation charge - (5.3) (175.4) — (1807)
£xchange difference (1.0) - 03 0.2) (09)
Closing net book value 774 81 4719 418 599.2
At 31 March 2018
Cost 1364 N23 14000 65.6 1,714.3
Accumulated amortisation, impairments and write-offs (59.0) (104.2) (928.1} (23.8) (1,15.1)
Net book value 774 81 479 418 599.2
Year ended 30 March 2019
Opening net book vatue 774 8.1 4719 41.8 599.2
Additions - - 10.3 84.8 95.1
Transfers and reclassifications - - 810 {75.7) 5.3
Asset write-offs - - (5.9} (8.4} (14.3)
Amortisation charge - {5.3) (179.) - {184.4)
Exchange difference 01 - ) - {1.0)
Closing net ook value 775 2.8 377 42.5 4999
At 30 March 2019
Cost 136.5 na.3 1,402.2 74.6 1,725.6
Accumulated amortisation and impairments and write-offs (59.0) {109.5) {1,025.1) (32.1) {1,225.7)

Net book value 77.5 2.8 377 425 499.9
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

GCoodwill related to the following assets and groups of Cash Cenerating Units {COU's):

Per una tndia UK Total goodwill

im £m £m £

Net book value at 31 March 2018 69.5 7.2 0.7 774
Exchange difference - 01 - 0.1
Net book value at 30 March 2019 69.5 1.3 Q.7 775

Impairment testing
Goodwill is not armortised but is tested annually for impairment with the recoverable arnount being determined from valuein
use calculations.

Goodwill for India and the UKis monitored by management at a country level, including the combined retail and wholesale businesses for
each location, and have been tested for impairment on that basis.

The per una brandis a definite life intangible asset amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 15 years. The brandintangible was
acquired for a cost of E80.0m, and is held at a net book value of £2.8m (last year: £8.1m). The per una goodwill and brand are considered
together forimpairment testing purposes and are therefore tested annually for impairment.

The cash flows used for impairment testing are based on the Group's latest budget and forecast cash flows, covering a three-year period,
which have regard to historic performance and knowledge of the current market, together with the Croup's views on the future achievable
growth and the impact of committed cash flows. The cash Flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintain the store network,
but exclude any growth capital initiatives not committed. The latest budget and three-year plan reflect a more conservative view of the
short-term future performance of the UK and per una businesses.

Cash flows beyond this three-year period are extrapolated using a long-term growth rate based on the Craup's current view of achievable
long-term growth, The Group's current view of achievable long-term growth for the UK and per una is 2.3%, which combines the long-term
inflation rate of 1.8% with a 0.5% real uplift for growth. Thisis higher than the rate used in the prior year, reflecting our confidence inthe ability
of the strategic programmme to transform the business and achieve a higher terminal growth rate. The Group's current view of achievable
long-term growth for india is 6.6%.

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to each asset or CGL). The pre-tax discount rates are derived fromthe Croup's post-tax weighted average cost of capital
adjusted for the specific nisks relating to each asset or CGU, and were 9.1% for the UK and per una (last year: 8.6%) and 17.3% for India

(last year: 14.8%),

Managernent has performed sensitivity anatysis on the key assurptions in the impairment model using reasonable possible changes in
these key assumptions, both individually and in combination, Management has considered reasonably possible changes in key assumptions
that would cause the carrying amounts of goodwill or brands to exceed the valuein use for each asset.

For India and the UK, there is no reasonably possible change in key assumptions that would lead to an impairment and the assumgptions do
not give rise to a key source of estimation uncertainty.

Per una
The assumptions applied to the impairment test for per una give rise to a key source of estimation uncertainty, and the management's
sensitivity analysis has identified a reasonably possible change in key assurmptions that would lead to a material impairment charge.

The future cashflows appliedin the per una calculation reflect the Croup's plans to grow the per una brand over the next three years.
The success of these plans will determine the strategic rote of the brand within the Croup.

Inthe mediumto long-term, the key assumption driving the value in use is the ability to generate profitable growthin the context of
significant change in the UK retail market. The modet assumes growth into perpetuity, as set out above which, given uncertain market
conditions is considered sensitive. IFa shorter trading period was assumed then this could resuitinan impairment.

The outcome of the value inuse calculation supports the carrying value of the asset, with aheadreom of £39.0m.

As disclosed in the accounting policies (note 1), the cash flows used within the impairment model are based on assumptions which are
sources of estimation uncertainty and smallmoverents in these assumptions, giventhe level of headroom, could iead to animpairment.

The following key assumptions would have to change in order to eliminate the headroom within the impairment test:
-» The cash flow forecasts in each of the years covered by the three-year forecast would have to be 35% below forecast,
- The long-term growth rate of cash flows would have to decline to -2.2% per annurm; or

- The pre-tax discount rate would have to increase to 12.9%.

Managerment has perforrmed sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions in the impairment model using reasonable possible changes in
these key assumptions, such as assurming that forecast growth is not achieved.

- Inthe scenario where per una sales declined by 2.5%in each of the 3 years forecast, combined with no growth into perpetuity, headroom
would reduce to nit.

= Inthe scenario where per una sales declined by 15%in each of the 3 years forecast, combined with no growth into perpetuity an
impairment of £22.7mwould result.
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Assetsinthe
Fixtures, fittings course of
Land and buldings and equipmeat construction Total
£m £m £m Em

At 1 April 2017
Cost 3008.4 77503 96.0 10,8547
Accumulated depreciation, impairments and write-offs (4206) {5,578.4) (17.9) (60169)
Net book value 25878 FAVAL: 781 48378
Year ended 31 March 2018
QOpening net book value 25878 21719 781 4,837.8
Additions 0.2 56.5 2046 261.3
Transfers and reclassifications 10.2 1866 (200.8) (4.0)
Disposals {21 (15.4) - {17.5)
Asset impairments {(104.8) (103.3) - (208.))
Asset write-offs {16.5) 15 {3.0) (180)
Depreciation charge (59.8) {399.8) - (4596)
Exchange difference 29 {08) (0.1) 20
Closing net book value 24179 1,897.2 788 4,3935
At 31 March 2018
Cost 29634 70590 96.8 10,119.2
Accumulated depreciation,impairments and write-offs {5455) {51618} {18.0) (5,725.3)
Net book value 24179 1,8972 788 43939
Year ended 30 March 2019
Opening net book value 22,4179 1,897.2 78.8 4,393.9
Additions 09 309 1701 2019
Transfers and reclassifications {3.2) 166.7 {168.8) (5.3)
Disposals {2.5) (0.4) - (2.9)
Assetimpairmnents {11.5) (58.2} - (69.7)
Asset write-offs (35.3) (8.6) co- (43.9)
Depreciation charge {89.7) {352.0) - {441.7)
Exchange difference (2.7) (1.3} - (3.8)
Closing net book value 2,273.9 1,674.5 80.% 4,028.5
At 30 March 2019
Cost 2,9239 5,729.1 98.1 8,751.1
Accumulated depreciation, impairments and write-cffs (650.0) {4,054.6) (18.0) (4,722.6)
Net book value 2,273.9 1,674.5 801 4,0285

Asset write-offsin the year include assets with gross book value of £1,4679m {last year £7849m)and Enil (Last year: £nil) net book value that
are no longer inuse and have therefore been retired.

The net book value above includes land and buildings of £31.1m {last year: £41.6m) and equipment of Enil {last year: £nil) where the Croupisa
lessee under a financelease.

Additions to property, plant and equipment during the year amounting to £nil {last year: £nil) were financed by finance leases.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
For impairment testing purposes, the Croup has determined that each store is a separate CGLU, with the exception of outlet stores, which are
considered together as one CGU. Shop Your Way (SYW) sales are includedin the cash flows of the relevant CGU.

Each CGU s tested for impairment at the balance sheet date if any indicators of impairment have beenidentified. Stores identified within the
Croup's UK store estate programme are autormatically tested forimpairment (see note 5).

The valueinuse of each CGU is calculated based on the Group's latest budget and forecast cash flows, covering a three-year period, which
have regard to historic performance and knowledge of the current market, together with the Croup's views on the future achievable growth
and theimpact of committed initiatives. The cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintain the store network, but
exclude any growth capital initiatives not committed. Cash flows beyond this three-year period are extrapolated using a long-term growth
rate based on management future expectations, with reference to forecast COP growth. These growth rates do not exceed the long-terrm
growth rate for the Croup's retail businesses in the relevant territory. If the CCU relates to a store which the Croup has identified as part of
the UK store estate programme, the value in use calcutated has been maodified by estimation of the future cash flows up to the point where
itis estimated that trade will cease and then estimation of the timing and amocunt of costs associated with closure detailed fully in note 5.
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED

impairment of property, plant and equipment continued

The key assumptions in the value in use calculations are the growth rates of sales and gross profit margins, changes in the operating cost
base, long-term growth rates and the risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate. The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Croup’s weighted
average cost of capital, taking into account the cost of capital and berrowings, to which specific market-related prermiurn adjustrients are
rmade for each territory. The pre-tax discount rates range from 9% to 21% {last year: 8% to 15%). If the CCU relates to a store which the Group
has identified as part of the UK store estate programme, the additional key assurmptions in the value in use calculations are costs associated
with ¢losure, the disposal proceeds from store exits and the timing of the store exits,

Impairments - UK stores {excluding the UK store estate programme)

During the year the Group has recognised animpairment charge of £52.8m and no impairment reversals as a result of UK store impairment
testing unrelated to the UK store estate programme (last year: £11.9m). These impairments have been recognised within adjusting items
(seenote5).

For UK stores, cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using the Group's current view of achievable long-term growth of
2.3%, adjusted to 0% where ranagement believe the current trading perforrnance and future expectations of the store do not support the
growth rate of 2.3%. This rate combines the long-term inflation rate of 1.8% with 2 0.5% real uplift for growth. This is higher than the rate used
in the prior year, reflecting our confidence in the ability of the strategic programme to transform the business and achieve a higher terminal
agrowth rate The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows for UK storesis 9.1%.

As disclosed in the accounting policies {note 1), the cash flows used within the impairment model are based on assumptions which are
sources of estimation uncertainty and small movements in these assumptions could lead to further impairments. Management has
performed sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions in the impairment model using reasonably possible changes in these key
assumptions across the UK store portfotio.

Areductionin sales of 2% from the three-year plan would result in anincrease inthe impairment charge of £7.4m and a 20 basis point
reductionin gross profit margin would increase the impairment charge by £2.2m. In combination, a 1% fallin sales and a 10basis point fall
in gross profit margin would increase the impairment charge by £4 7m. Reasonably possible changes of the other key assumptions,
including reducing the long term growth rate to 0% across all stores, would not result in an increase to the impairment charge.

Impairments - UK store estate programme

During the year, the Group has recognised animpairment charge of £16.9m relating to the on-going UK store estate programme

(Last year: £196.2m). The impairrnent charge relates to the accelerated and expanded store closure programme and has been recognised
within adjusting items (see note 5).

Where the planned closure date for a store is outside the three-year plan period, no growth rateis apptied. The rate used to discount the
forecast cash flows for UK stores is 3.1%.

As disclosedin the accounting policies (note 1), the cash flows used within the impairment models for the UK store estate programme are
based on assumptions which are sources of estimation uncertainty and small movermnents in these assumptions could lead to further
impairments. Management has performed sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions in the impairment model using reasonably possible
changes inthese key assumptions acress the UK store estate programme,

Adelayof 12 months inthe prabable date of each store exit would result in a decrease ri the impairment charge ot £3).4m. A 2% reduction
inthe year } sales growth woutd result in anincrease in the impairment charge of £49m. Neither a 25 basis point increase in the discount rate.
a 20 basis point reduction in management gross margin during the period of trading nor a 2% increase in the costs associated with exiting a
store would resultin a significant increase to theimpairment charge, individually or in combination with the other reasonably possible
scenarios considered.

16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2019 2018
£m £m

Non-current

Unlisted investments 99 99

Current

Short-terminvestments' 141.8 137

1. includes £5.0m (tast year: £5 8rm) of money market deposit s held by the Marks and $pencer plc inanescrowaccount.

Non-current unlisted investments are carried as fair value through other comprehensive income (available for sale assets before
1 April 2018). Other Financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in their value taken to the income statement.
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2019 2018
£m Em
Non-current
Other receivables 20 23
Prepayments 198.7 2067
2007 2000
Current
Trade receivables 121.8 114.3
Less: provision for impairnnent of receivables (3.2) {0.4)
Trade receivables -~ net 118.6 1139
Other receivables .5 309
Accrued income 28.3 294
3225 3084

Trade and other receivables that were past due but not impaired amaounted to £7.2m (last year: £.21.3m) and are mainly sterling denominated.
The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value. These balances are subject to
an assessment of expected credit losses (see note 21).Included in accrued incomeis £21.9m (last year: £28.2m) of accrued supplier incorme
relating to rebates that have been earned but not yet invoiced. Supplier incore that has been invoiced but not yet settled against future:
trade creditor balances is included within trade creditors where there is a right to offset. The remairing amount is immaterial. Theimpact on
inventory is immateriat as these rebates relate to food stock which has been sold through by the year end.

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cashand cash equivalents are £285.4m {last year: £207.7m). The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair vatue.

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits is 0.74% (last year:0.40%). These deposits have an average maturity of 9 days
(last year: 23 days).

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2019 2018
£m Im
Current

Trade and other payables 911.2 8729
Social security and other taxes 437 571
Accruals 452.0 4259
Deferred income : 54.4 500
1,461.3 14059

Non-current
Other payables Xe] 46
Accruals 43.9 481
Deferred income 2755 2811
3224 3338

Under{FRS 15, disclosure of contract liabilities held on the batance sheet at the start and end of the period and revenue recognised during
the period which relates to the contract liabitities held at the start of the period is required. Gift card liabilities/voucher schemes are contract
liabitities as payment has been received for a performance obligation which will be performed at a later point in time. Included within tracle
and other payables are gift card/voucher scheme liabilities:

£m
Year ended 30 March 2019
Opening balance 199.4
Issues 4136
Released to the income statement ) (426.1)
Closing balance 186.9

The Croup operates a number of supplier financing arrangements, under which suppliers can obtain accelerated settlement oninvoices
fror the finance provider. The Group settles these amounts in accordance with each suppliers agreed payrment terms.

The Group's trade creditors balance includes £200.0m (Last year: £212.0m) relating to payments due to M&S suppliers under these
arrangements. During the year ended 30 March 2019 the arrangements were used by 183 suppliers, with a maximum facility avaiiable
of £3810m.
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20 BORROWINGS AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2019 2018
£m Em
Current

Bank loans and overdrafts! 72.3 88.4
Finance lease liabilities 0.3 0.3
6.125% £400r Medium Term Notes 2019%° 399.8 -
Interest accrued on Medium Term Notes 370 369
Revaluation of Medium Term Notes 37 -
513.1 1256

Non-current
6.125% £400m Mediurn Term Notes 201925 - 4001
6.125% £300m Medium Terrm Notes 20212 298.7 298.2
3.00% £300m Medium Term Notes 2023 2974 2969
4.75% £400m Medium Term Notes 20252 - 399.3 3975
7.125% US$300m Mediurm Term Notes 203734 192.1 192.0
Revaluation of Medium Term Notes 45.8 38.2
Finance lease liabilities 46.2 477
1,279.5 16706
Total 1,792.6 1,796.2

[ R

Bank loans and overdraftsinthe prior year include 3 £5.0m loan from the Hedge End Park Limnited joint ventura that was repaid during the year (see note 28).

. These notes are issued under Marks and Spencer plc's £3bn European Medium Term Note programme and all payinterest annyalty.

. Interest onihese bonds is payable sermi-annuatly.

. US$300m Medium Term Mote exposure swapped Lo sterling (fixed-to-fixed cross currency interest rate swaps).

. The Craup occasionally enters intointerest swaps to manage interest rate exposure, At year end, £375m (tast year E425m) was swapped from fixed to floating rate.

Finance leases

The minimum tease payments under finance leases fall due as shown in the table on the following page within note 21. The weighted average
lease term for equipment is nil years {last year:two yearsjand 91 years (last year: 93 years) for property. Interest rates are fixed at the contract
rate Allteases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent payments. The Group's
obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors' charges over the leased assets.

21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Treasury policy
The Croup operates a centralised treasury function to manage the Group’s funding requirements and financial risks in line with the

Board-approved treasury policies and pracedures, and their delegated authorities.

The Group's financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources and various items, such as
trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly fromits operations, The main purpose of these financial instrurments is to finance
.the Group’s operations.

The Group treasury function also enters into derivative transactions, principally interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and forward
currency contracts. The purpose of these transactions is to manage the interest rate and foreign currency risks arising from the Group's

operations and financing. -

It remains the Group's policy not to hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes, except where financial constraints
necessitate the need toliquidate any outstanding investments. The treasury function is managed as a cost centre and does not
engage in speculative trading.
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Financial risk management

The principal financial risks faced by the Group are liquidity and funding, interest rate, foreign currency and counterparty risks.
The policies and strategies for managing these risks are summarised on the following pages:

{a) Liquidity and funding risk

The risk that the Group could be unable to settle or meet its obligations at a reasonable price as they fall due:

- The Group's funding strategy ensures a mix of funding sources offering sufficient headroom, maturity and flexibility and
cost-effectiveness to match the requirements of the Group.

- Marks and Spencer ple is financed by a combination of retained profits, bank borrowings, Medium Term Notes and committed syndicated
bank facilities.

- Operating subsidiaries are financed by a combination of retained profits, bank borrowings and intercompany loans.

At year end, the Croup had a committed syndicated bank revolving credit facility of £1.1bn set to mature on 15 April 2023, The facility
contains only one financial covenant, being the ratio of earings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation andrents payable; to
interest plus rents payable The covenant is measured semi-annually. The Group also has a number of uncommitted facilities available to it.
At year end, these amounted to £100m {last year: £100m), all of which are due to be reviewed within a year. At the balance sheet cate,a
sterling equivatent of £nil {last year: £nil) was drawn under the committed facilities and £nil (last yvear: £45m)was drawn under the
uncomrnitted facilities.

Inaddition to the existing borrowings, the Group has a Euro Medium Terrm Note programme of £3bn, of which £1.4bn (last year: £1.4bn)
was inissuance as at the balance sheet date.

The contractual maturity of the Croup’s non-derivative financial Uabilities (excluding trade and other payables (see note 19) and derivatives
is as follows:

Partnership
liabitity to the
Marks & Total
Spencer UK borrowings Total
Bank loans Finance Pension and ather derivative
and Syndicated Medgium lease Scheme financral Derivative Derivative  assetsand
averdrafts  bankfacility TermMNotes liabilities' [note 12) liatulities assets’ liabilities? liabitities
Em Em Em Em Em £m £m £m Em
Timing of cash flows
Within one year (88.4) - (86.1) (2.3} {719) (248.7) 300 (88.2) (58.2)
Between one and two years - - {486.1) (2.3) {71.9) (5603} 219 {18.1) 38
Between two and five years - - (466.3) (6:9) (215.5) (688.7) 2700 (248.5) 215
More than five years - - (1,207.2) (168.9) - (13763) 2231 {198.5) 246
(88.4) - (2,2457) (180.4) (3593) (2,873.8) 5450 {553.3) (8.3)
Effect of discounting - - 5859 1324 238 742
At 1 April 2018 (88.4) - (16598)  (480) (3353) (213).7)
Timing of cash flows
Within one year (72.3) - (487.2) (2.3) (71.9) {633.7) 58.0 {20.6) 37.4
Between one and two years - - (62.7) (2.3) {(71.9) (136.9) 242 (16.2) 8.0
Between two and five years - - {751.3) (6.8) (143.6) (901.7) 2824 {241.4) 41.0
More than five years - - (895.5) (160.3) - {1,055.8) 230.8 {191.5) 393
Totalundiscounted cash flows (72.3) - (21967) (177} (287.4) (27281) 5954  (4697) 1257
Effect of discounting - - 5224 125.2 15.0 26
At 30 March 2019 (72.3) - {1624.3) (46.5) {272.4) (2,015.5)

. Thecash flows relating te finance lease tiabilities reftect the remaining minirnumtease payments which were fixed at inception and therefore are reflected withinthe present value of
finance lease labilities. At 30 March 2019 the total value of additional committed contingent rents are £ 382 6mwhich will be expensed as incurred. tn the vear ending 30 March 2019
contingent reats of £35.0rm were recognised withinthe operating lease rentals payable innote 4.

2. Derivative cash flows are disclosed based on actyat settlement. Alk derivatives are settled net, except for currency swaps.

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

2009 2018

Em £m

Within one year {0.3) {0.3)
Later than one year and not later than five years {1.1) n
Later than five vears {45.1) (46.6)

Totat {46.5) (48.0}
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(b) Counterparty risk
Counterparty risk exists where the Group can suffer financialtoss through the default or non-performance of the financial institutions
withwhorn it transacts.

Exposures are managed in accordance with the Croup treasury policy which Lirits the value that can be placed with each approved
counterparty to minimise the risk of loss. The minimur long -term rating for all counterparties is long-term Standard & Poor's (S&P)/Moody's
A-/A3 (BBB+/Baal for committed lending banks). In the event of a rating by one agency being different from the other, reference will be
rmade to Fitch to determine the casting vote of the rating group. In the absence of a Fitch rating the lower agency rating will prevail Limits are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The credit risk of these financial instruments is estimated as the fair value of the assets resulting
from the contracts.

The table below analyses the Group’s short-term investrnents and derivative assets by credit exposure excluding bark balances, store cash
and cashintransit.

Credit rating of counterparty

AAA Abs AA AA- Ae A A BBB-. Total
£m £m £m fm £m Em Em [ £Em

Short-terminvestments' - - 26 9.8 336 79 27 15 58.1
Derivative assets? - - - ~ - 80 - 29 109
At 31 March 2018 - - 26 ag 336 159 27 44 690
AAA Al Al AA- Asr A A- BBB+ Total

Em £m m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Short-terminvestments' - - - 16.4 16B.3 83.9 - 0.7 269.3
Derivative assets? - - - 16.9 210 1.8 - 0.3 500
At 30 March 2019 - - - 333 189.3 95.7 - 1.0 319.3

t. Includes cash endeposil and mongy market funds held by Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Pastnership, Marks and Spencer plc and Marks and Spencer Generat Insurance. Excludes
cashinhandand in transit £157.9m {Last year: £143.6m).
2. Standard & Poor’s equivaleat rating shown as reference to the majority credit rating of the counterparty fromeither Standard & Poer's, Mocdy's of Fitch where applicable.

The Croup has a very low retail credit risk due to transactions principally being of high volume, low value and short rmaturity.

The maxirnum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date was as follows: trade receivables £121.8m (last year: £114.3rm), other
receivables £33 5m{last year £33 2m}, cash and cash equivalents £285 4m (last year. £ 207 7m) and derivatives E60.1m (ast year: £34.2m).

Impairment of financial assets
From 1 April 2018, the Group's financial assets subject to the expected credit toss (ECL) modelare primarily trade and other receivables.

The credit risk management practices of the Croup include internal review and reporting of the ageing of trade and other receivables by
days past due by a centralised accounts receivable function, and grouped by respective contractual revenue stream, along with Liaison with
the debtors by the credit control function.

Frorm 1 April 2018, the Group applies the IFRS @ simplified approach in measuring expected credit losses which use alifetime expected credit
loss allowance for all trade recewvables and contract assets.

Tomeasure expected credit losses, tragde receivables have been grouped by shared credit fisk cCharacteristics along the ines of differing
revenue streams such as international franchise, food, UK franchise, corporate and sundry as well as by geographicat location and days
past due.

The expected loss rates are determined based on the average write-offs as a proportion of average debt over a period of 36 months prior to
the reporting date. The historical loss rates are adjusted for current and forward-looking information where significant. The Group considers
CDP growth, unemployment, sales growth and bankruptcy rates of the countries in which goods are sold to be the most relevant factors,
and where the impact of these is significant adjusts the historical toss rates based on expected changesin these factors.

The Group considers credit risk to have significantly increased for debts aged 180 days or over. The Group has incorporated this intc the
expected loss model through a uniform loss rate for ageing buckets below 180 days dependent on the revenue streamand country,and
providing for 100% of debt aged over 180 days past due. Where the Croup specifically holds insurance or holds the legal right of offset with
debtors which are also creditors, the loss provisionis applied only to the extent of the uninsured or net exposure.

Trade receivables are written off when thereis no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there may be noreasonable
expectation of recovery include the failure of the debtor to engage in a payment plan, and failure to make contractual payments within
180 days past due.
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Impairment of financial assets continued

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment Losses within operating profit and subsequent recoveries are
credited to the same line iterm.

Up to 30 days past 31-60 days past 61-90 days past  91-180days past 181 days or more
due

Current due due due past due Total
£m £m Em im £m £m £m

Gross carrying amount -
tradereceivables 111.9 39 0.8 1.6 1.7 1.9 121.8
Expectedtoss rate 0.51% 2.69% 6.49% 11.34% 20.41% 100.0% 2.62%
Lifetime expected credit loss 05 0.1 0.1 0.2 04 1.9 32
Net carrying amount 1m.4 3.8 Q.7 1.4 1.3 - 118.6
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 30 March 2019 reconciles to the opening loss allowances as follows:
Trade receivables expected loss provision £m
31 March 2018 - calculated under IAS 39 0.4
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings 0.6
Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2018 calculated under IFRS 9 1.0
increase in loss allowance recognised in profit and loss during the year 2.4
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable {0.2)
At 30 March 2019 32

tnrelation to other financial assets not forming part of trade receivables, a simplified approachis utilised where lifetime expected credit
tosses are calculated rather than 12 month expected credit losses. For ex-employee debt the average write-offs are divided by the average
debtor balance to determine a write off rate, fees from collection agencies used to collect the balances are factored into the loss allowance
based onthe size of the individual debt and future unemployment rates are factored into the calculation of allowance as well as the impact
of discounting of the aged debt.

The loss allowance for other receivables is recognised within provisions within current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position, The closing loss allowance as at 30 March 2019 reconciles to the opening loss allowance as follows:

Other receivables expected loss provision £m
31 March 2018 - calculated under IAS 39 0.4
Armounts restated through opening retained earnings (0.7)
Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2018 calculated under IFRS 9 a.3
Increase in loan loss allowance recognised in profit and loss during the year 0.6
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (0.6)
At 30 March 2019 03

I the prior year, the impairment of trade and other receivables was assessed on an incurred loss model basis. Individual receivables that
were considered to be uncollectable were written off by reducing the carrying value directty Individual receivables were assessed to
determine if there was evidence of impairment, and losses were recognised in a separate provision forimpairment. The Croup considered
the foilowing ko be indicators of evidence of impairment:

- Significant financial difficulties of the debtor.
- Probabitity that the debtor would enter bankruptcy.

- Default of late payments, the extent to which they were overdue being determined on a case-by-case basis with reference to the
knowledge and communication with the debtor and their relationship with the business.

Theimpairment loss provision inthe prior year opened at £1.7mand closed at £0.4m. Where an impairment provision was recognised,
receivables were written off against the provision when there was no expectation of recovering any Further debt
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{¢) Foreign currency risk

Transactional foreign currency exposure arises primarily from the import of goods sourced from overseas suppliers and also from the
export of goods from the UK to overseas subsidiaries. The most significant exposure is to the US dollar, incurredin the sourcing of
Clothing & Home products from Asia.

Group Treasury hedges these exposures principally using forward Foreign exchange contracts progressively based on dynamic forecasts
fror the business. Hedging begins around 15 months ahead of the start of the season, with between 80% and 100% of the risk hedged nine
months beforethe start of the season.

Other exposures arising from the export of goods to overseas subsidiaries are also hedged progressively over the course of the year before
they areincurred. As at the balance sheet date, the gross notional value in sterling terms of forward foreign exchange sell or buy contracts
armounted to £1,755.6m (last year: £1,962 8m) with a weighted average maturity date of seven months (last year: six months).

Cains and losses in equity on forward foreign exchange contracts designated in cash flow hedge relationships as at 30 March 2019 will be
released to the income statement at various dates over the following 17 manths (last year: 17 months) from the batance sheet date.

The FX forwards are designated as cash flow hedges of highly probable forecast transactions. Both spot and forward points are designated

inthe heclge relationship, under IFRS 9 the currency basis spread may be excluded from the hedge retationship and recognisedin other
comprehensive income (OCI} - cost of hedging reserve. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument, to the degree effective,is
retained in OCland recycled to inventory as part of the "basis adjustrment”. This will be realised in the income staterment once the hedged itemis
sold. There have been no discontinued or restartedhedges, and noineffectiveness in the FX forwards has beenreported this financiat year or last.

The FXforwards are recognised at their fair vatue {IFRS 13 level 2 measurement). The Group has considered and elected not ta apply
credit/debit valuation adjustments, owing to their retatively short dated nature. The risks at the reporting date are representative of the
financial year.

The Group previously used a combination of foreign currency debt and foreign exchange contracts to hedgeits net balance sheet
translation exposure by currency arising from investment in overseas operations. The treasury policy was changed during the previous
financial year and the Croup ne longer hedges these and all contracts outstanding were terminated in the prior year.

The Group also holds a number of cross-currency swaps to designate its fixed rate US dollar debt to fixed rate sterling debt. These are
reported as cash flow hedges.

The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument, to the degree effective, is retained in OCI_ segregated by cost and effect of hedging.
Under iFRS 9the currency basis onthe Cross-currency swaps are excluded fror the hedge designation and recognised in OC) - cost of
hedging reserve. Effectiveness is measured using the hypothetical derivative approach. The contractual terms of the cross-currency swaps
include break clauses every five years which allow for the interest rates to be reset {tast reset Decernber 2017), The hypaothetical derivative is
based ontheoriginal critical terms and so ineffectiveness may result.

The cross-currency swaps are recognised at their fair value (IFRS 13 level 2 measurement), the Group has considered and elected to apply
credit/debit valuation adjustments, owing to the swaps'retative materiality and longer dated nature.

The Group also hedges foreign currency intercompany loans where these exist. Forward foreign exchange contracts in relation to the
hedging of the Croup's foreian currency intercompany loans are designated as held for trading with fair value imovernent s being recognised
inthe income statement. The corresponding fair value movement of the intercormnpany loan balance resultedin a £3.9m gain {last year:
£3.3m gain)inthe income statement. As at the balance sheet date, the gross notional value of intercompany Loan hedges was £129.0m

{last year: £217.2m).

After taking into account the hedging derivatives enteredinto by the Group, the currency and interest rate exposure of the Group's financial
lizbilities, excluding short-term payables and the liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme, is set out betow;

2019 2018

Fixed rate Floating rate Total Fixedrate Floating rate Tatal
£m £m £m £m Em £m

Currency
Sterling 1,339.6 447.0 1,786.6 12762 5116 1,7878
Euro 6.0 - 6.0 6.5 - 6.5
Other . - - - 01 18 19
1,345.6 4470 1,792.6 1,282.8 5134 1,796.2

The floating rate sterling borrowings are linked tointerest rates retated to LIBOR, mainly for periods of six months.

As at the palance sheet date and excluding finance leases, post-hedging the GBP and USD fixed rate borrowings are at an average rate of
4.8% {last year: 4.7%) and the weighted average time for which the rate is fixed is five years (last year: six years).

Cther than the termination of net investment hedges and the separation of the cost of hedging in the statement of changes in equity and
statemnent of comprehensive income, there were no other significant changes in hedge accounting when compared with the prior vear,
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{d) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed tointerest rate risk in relation to sterling, US dollar and euro variable rate financial assets and liabilities.

The Group's policy is to use derivative contracts where necessary to maintain a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings to manage this risk.
The structure and maturity of these derivatives carrespond to the underlying borrowings and are accounted for as fair value or cash flow
hedges as appropriate.

At the balance sheet date, fixed rate borrowings amounted to £1,345 6m (tast year: £1,282.8m) representing the public bond issues and
finance leases,armounting to 75% {ast year: 71%) of the Group's gross borrowings.

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2019 2018

L] x
Committed and uncommitted borrowings - 1.0
Mediumn Term Notes 4.8 4.7
Finance leases 4.3 43

The interest rate swaps are recognised at their fair vatue (IFRS 13 level 2 measurement). The Croup has considered and elected to apply credit/
debit valuation adjustrents, owing to the swaps relative matenality and longer dated nature. The contractual terms on £150m of the £175m
notional of interest rate swaps relating to the 2025 debt allow for early termination every five years (next optional termination date April 2023}

Variable interest periods onthe pay legs are six monthly compared with twelve monthly on the receive fixed legs andrelated debt.

Derivative financial instruments

The below table illustrates the effects of hedge accounting on the consolidated staternent of financial position and consolidated income
statement through detailing separately by risk category and each type of hedge the details of the associated hedging instrument and

hedged item,
310 March 2019
Current NonCurrent
Forward foreign Forward foreign Forward foreign
exchange exchange Interest Cross-Curfency exchange Interest
contracts contracts rake swaps Swaps contracts rate swaps
£m £m Em £m £m £m
Hedging risk strategy Cash flow Hetd for Fair value Cash flow Cash flow Fair value
hedges trading hedges hedges hedges hedges
Notional/currency legs 1,4236 1290 2000 193.5 2030 1760
Carryingamount assets/(liabilities) 274 03 5.3 40 (1.6) 14.6
Maturity date toMar 2020  tcMar 2020 Dec 2019 Dec 2037  tocSep 2020 Jun 2025
Hedge ratio 100%" 100% W00% 100% 100%' 100%
Highly probable Highly probable
L, . transactionalFX Inter-company GBPfixedrate USDfixed rate transactional FX GBP fixed rate
Description of hedged item exposures loans/deposits borrowing - boreowing exposures borrowing
Change in fair value of hedging instrument? 95.9 (15) (50} (79) 20 05
Change infair value of hedged item used
to determire hedge effectiveness? {95.9) 54 50 44 (20 ©4
Weighted average hedge rate for CBF/EUR 1.12, CBFEUR 112,
the year CBPUSD 1.35 NfA 34% 7.3% CBPUSD 132 3.2%
Amounts recognised within
finance costs in profit and loss® - 338 - (3.5) - 0.1
Balance on cashflow hedge reserve
at 30 March 2019 {12.8) N/A N/A (8.4) 17 N/A
Balance on cost of hedging reserve
at 30 March 2019 - N/A N/A {14.6) — N/A

I Percentage of theamount permitted under treasury policyinrelation to layered hedges onarolling basis.

2. The El.Smfair value thange represented inthe fair value mavement of the forward contracts under the held for trading strategyis used Lo economically hedge certainintercompany
loans/deposits which aze representedin the €5, 4masthe net foreignexchange gains and losses under this strategy.
1. Amountin relation to cross currency swaps represents ineffectivenass,
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Derivative financial instruments continued

31 March 2018
WNotional Valve Fair Value
Assels Liabilities Assels Liabilities.
£m £m £m £m
Current
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges 3436 1,213.4 5.1 (73.6)
- held for trading 1498 67.4 20 (0.2)
Interest rate swaps - fair value hedges - - - -
4934 1,2808 FAl (73.8)
Non-current
Cross-currency swaps - cash flow hedges - 1935 - (26.7)
Forward foreign exchange contracts —cash flow hedges 480 1406 04 {40)
Interest rate swaps - fair value hedges 4250 - 26.7 -
473.0 3341 271 (30.7)
30 March 2019
Notienal Value Fair Value
Assets Liabitities Assets Liabitities
£m £m Em £m
Current
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges 1,073.8 349.8 34.3 (6.9)
—held for trading 53.9 75.1 0.7 (0.4)
Interest rate swaps - Fair value hedges 2000 - 5.3 -
1,3277 4249 40.3 (7.3)
Non-current
Cross-currency swaps - cash flow hedges - 193.5 a7 (0.7).
Forward Foreign exchange contracts - cash flowhedges 84.8 ng.2 05 {2.1)
Interest rate swaps - fair value hedges 175.0 - 14.6 -
259.8 m.z 19.8 {2.8)

The Group's hedging reserves disclosed in the consolidated staternent of chianges in equity, relate to the following hedging instruments:

Costof Costof
hedging hedging Total cost Hedge Hedge Hedge Hedge
reserve FX reserve Deferred of hedping  reserveFX resgrve  reservegilt reserve Deferred Total hedge
deswvatives CCIRS! tax reserve  derivatives LCCIRS locks 2037 gebt tax reserve
Em Em £m Em Em Em Em £Em £m £m

IAS 39 closing balance - — — - 58.3 (8.8} 04 308 (15.4) 65.3
Adjustment onadoption of IFRS 9 0.8 {13.9) 24 (10.7) (0.8) - - 139 (24) 10.7
Opening Balance 1 April 2018
under IFRS 9 08 {13.9) 24 (10.7) 575 (8.8) 04 447 (17.8) 76.0
Add: Change in fair value of
hedging instrument recognised
in OCI - - - - (3 - - (19.2) - {130.5)
Add: Costs of hedging deferred
and recognised in OCI {08) Q.7 - (1.5} - - - - - -
Less: Reclassified to the cost of
inventory - - - - 427 - - - - 42.7
Less: Reclassified from QCl to
profit orloss - - - - - - - 158 - 15.8
Less: Reclassified from OCl to profit or
loss ~includedin finance costs - - - - - 04 0.2) - - 0.2
Less: Deferred tax - - Q5 0.5 - - - -~ 104 10.4
Closing Balance 30 March 2019 - {14.6} 29 {11.7) (1.) {8.4) 0.2 443 (7.4} 146

1. Crossturrency interest rate swaps.
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Derivative financial instruments continued
There were no reclassifications from the cashftow hedge reserve to profit and loss during the periodin relation to forward currency contracts.

The Group holds a number of interest rate swaps tore-designate its sterling fixed debt to floating debt. These are reported as fair value
hedges. The ineffective portion recognised in the profit or loss that arises from fair value hedges amounts to a £0.1m gain (last year: £0.4m
gain) as the gain on the hedged itemns was £4.6rn (last year: £15.0m gain} and the movernent on the hedging instruments was £4 5m loss
(last year: £14.6m loss).

Movernent in hedged items and hedging instruments

2019 2018
£im Em
Net gain/{loss}in fair value of interest rate swap (4.5} (14.6)
Net gain/loss) on hedgediterns 4.6 150
Ineffectiveness 0.1 04

The Group holds a number of cross-currency interest rate swaps to re-designate its USD to GBP fixed debt. These are reported as cash flow
hedges. The ineffective portion recognised in the profit and loss that arises from the cash flow hedges amounts toa £3.5m loss (last year:
£2.3mloss) as the gainon the hedged iterns was £4.4m {{ast year: £249m gain) and the movernent on the hedging instruments was £79m
0ss (last year: £27.2m loss).

Movement in hedged items and hedging instruments

a9 2018

Em Em

Net gainf{loss) in fair value of cross-currency interest rate swap a4 249
Net gain/{loss) on hedgeditems (79) (27.2)
Ineffectiveness (3.5) {2.3)

Sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the estimated impact on the income statement and equity as a result of rmarket movernents in foreign exchange
and interest rates in relation to the Group's financialinstrurments. The directors consider that a 2%+/- {last year. 2%) movemnent in interest and
a 20% +/- (last year: 20%) movernent in sterling against the relevant currency represents a reasonably possible change. However this analysis
is for illustrative purposes only.

The table excludes financialinstruments that expose the Group to interest rate and foreign exchange risk where such a risk is fully hedged
with another financialinstrument. Also excluded are trade receivables and payables as these are either sterling denominated or the foreign.
exchangeriskis hedged.

Interest rates Theimpact in the income statement due to changes ininterest rates reflects the effect on the Group’s floating rate debt as at
the balance sheet date. Theimpact in equity reflects the fair value movernent in relation to the Group's transactional foreign exchange cash
flow hedges at the balance sheet date. The impactin equity reflects the fair value movement in relation to the Group’s cross-currency swaps.

Foreign exchange The impact from foreign exchange movements reflects the change in the fair value of the Group's transactional foreign
exchange cash flow hedges at the balance sheet date. The eguity impact shown for foreign exchange sensitivity relates to derivatives.
This valueis expected to be materialty offset by the re-translation of the retated transactional exposures.

X decreasein 2% increasein 0% weakening 20X strengthening
interest rates interest rates insterling instesling
£m £m £m £m

At 31 March 2018

Impact onincome statement: gain/{ioss) 89 9.%) - -

Impact on other ccmprehensive income: (toss)/gain (15.6) 106 2157 (222.4)
At 30 March 2019

Impact onincome statement; gainfloss) 5.4 (4.0) - -

Impact onother comprehensive income: (Loss)/gain {4.3) 2.5 226.8 (226.8)
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Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

The following tables set out the financial assets and financial liabilities which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements. Amounts which are set off against financialassets and liabilities in the Croup's balance sheet are
set out below For trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, amounts not offset in the balance sheet but which could be
offset under certain circumstances are also set out. To reconcile the amounts shown in the tables below to the Statement of Financial
Position,items which are not subject to offsetting should be included.

To reconcile the amount shown in the tables below to the Statement of Financial Position, iterns which are not subject to offsetting should
beincluded.

Netfinancial  Relatedamounts
Grossfinancial  assets/(liabitities) not set offinthe

Cross financial (Uabilitiesyy  per statement of statement of
assetsiliabitities) assetssetoff  financialposition  financial position Net
£m im Em £m Em
At 31 March 2018
Trade and other receivables 31.3 {299 14 - 14
Derivative financial assets 342 - 342 (34.2) -
Cash and cash equivalents 46.3 (46.0} 03 - 03
11.8 (759) 358 (34.2) 17
Trade and other pavables (276.4) 299 {246.5) - (246.5)
Derivative financial liabilities (1045) - (104.5) 34.2 (70.3)
Bank loans and overdrafts (82.5) 460 (36.5) - (36.5)
(463.4) 759 (387.5) 34.2 (3533)
Net financial Related amounts
Gross financial  assets/{Uabilities) not set off in the
Gross financial (liabilities)y) per of of
assets/f{liabilities) assets set off  financial position  financial position Net
£im £m Em £m £m
At 30 March 2019
Trade and other receivables 249 (21.7) 3.2 - 3.2
Derivative financial assets 60.1 - 60.1 (10.) 50.0
Cashand cash equivalents 348 {34.8) - - -
119.8 {56.5) 633 (10.%) 53.2
Trade and other payables {264.6) N7 {242.9) - (242.9)
Derivative financial liabilities (10.1) - {10.1) 101 -
Bank loans and overdrafts {107.1) 348 (72.3) - (72.3)
(381.8) 56.5 {325.3) 10.1 (315.2)

The gross financial assets and liabilities set off in the balance sheet primarily relate to cash pooling arrangements with banks. Amounts
which do not meet the criteria for offsetting on the balance sheet but could be settled net in certain circumstances principally relate to
derivative transactions under ISDA (Internationat Swaps and Derivatives Association) agreerents where each party has the option to
settle amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.
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Fair value hierarchy
The Croup uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financialinstruments by valuation technique:

- |Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

- Level 2: not traded in an active market but the fair values are based on quoted market prices or alternative pricing sources with reasonable
levels of price transparency. The Group's level 2 financial instruments includes interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives. Fair value is
calculated using discounted cash flow methodology, future cash flows are estimated based on forward exchangerates and interest rates
(from observable market curves) and contract rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of the various counterparties for
those with along maturity.

- Level 3 techniques that use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable
market data,

At the end of the reporting period, the Group held the following financial instruments at fair value:

2009 018
Level) Level z Level 3 Total Level Level? Level3 Total
Em Em im £m £Em Em im £m

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
- trading derivatives - 0.7 - 07 - 20 - 20
Derivatives used for hedging - 59.4 - 59.4 - 322 - 322
Short-term investments - 141.8 - 141.8 - 13.7 - 137
Unlisted investments' - - 9.9 99 - - 99 99
Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabitities at fair value
through profit or loss
- trading derivatives e ORI (0) - © - o2
Derivatives used for hedging - {(9.7) - {9.7) - (104.3) - (104.3)

I. Therewere no transfers between the levels of the fair value higrarchy The Group holds £9.9min unlisted eguity securities measuced at fair vatue throughother comprehensive income
{Last year: £9.9m measured as available for sale){see note 16} whithis alevet 3 instrument. The fair value of this investment is determined with reference to the net asset value of the entity
nwhich the investment is hetd, whichin turn derives the majority of its net asset value threugh a third pasty property valuation.

The Marks & Spencer UK DB Pension Schemes holds a nurnber of financiatinstruments which make up the pension asset of £10,2247m

(last year: £8.989.3m). Level ) and Level 2 financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income amounted to

£70086m (last year: £7152.4m) Additionally, the scheme assets include £3,216.1m (last year: £2,8369m) of Level 3 financialassets.

Seenote 11 forinformation onthe Croup's retirement benefits,

The following table represents the changes in Level 3 instruments held by the Pension Schemes:

019 2018

im Em
Qpening balance 2,836.9 14449
Fair value gain/{loss) recagnised in other cornprehensive income 1363 (749)
Additional investment 2429 1,4669
Closing balance 3,216.1 28368

Fair value of financial instruments

With the exception of the Group's Medium Terrn Notes and the Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme (note 12},
there were no material differences between the carrying value of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities and their fair values
as at the balance sheet date.

The carrying value of the Group's Medium Term Notes was £1,673.8m (last year £1,659.9m), the fair value of this debt was £1,724.0m
(tast year £1,761.0m).

Capital policy
The Croup's objectives when managing capital (defined as net debt plus equity) are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide optimal returns for shareholders and to maintain an efficient capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

in doing so the Croup’s strategy is to maintain a capital structure commensurate with an investrment grade credit rating and to retain
appropriate levels of liquidity headroom to ensure financial stability and flexibility. To achieve this strategy, the Group regutarly monitors
key credit metrics such as the gearing ratio, cash flow to net debt and fixed charge cover to maintain this position. In addition, the Group
ensures a cormbination of appropriate committed short-term liguidity headroom with a diverse and balanced long-term debt maturity
profile. As at the balance sheet date, the Croup’s average debt maturity profile was five years (last year: six years). During the year the Group
maintained an investrnent grade credit rating of Baa3 (stable) with Moody's and BBB- (negative outlook {revised from stable during the
year))with Standard & Poor's.

In order to maintain or realign the capital structure, the Group rmay adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capitat to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets toreduce debt.



131
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

22 PROVISIONS

Property Restructuring Other 2019 2018
£m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2018 233.3 28.4 30.2 2919 2607
Provided in the year 181.5 292 36 214.3 1870
Released inthe year ’ {22.8) {2.4) 1.4} (26.6) (288)
Utilised during the year (63.3) (32.3) (1.0 {96.6) {133.0)
Exchange differences [(*A}] {0.3) - (0.4) 2.2
Discount rate unwind 17.3 - - 17.3 5.2
Reclassification to trade and other payables (0.1) {11 - {1.2) (1.4)
At 30 March 2019 345.8 21.5 314 3987 2919
Analysedas:
Current 148.6 98.8
Non-current 250.1 193.1

Property provisions relate ko onerous lease contracts and dilapidations primarily arising as a result of the closure of storesin the UK,
as part of the UK store estate strategic prograrmme, together with the centralisation of the London Head Office functions into one
building. These provisions are expected to be utilised over the period to the end of each specific lease.

Restructuring provisions relate to the estimated costs associated with the International exit strategy and the strategic programme to
transition to a single-tier UK distribution network. These provisions are expected to be utilised within the next year.

Other provisions include amounts in respect of potential liabilities for en;-p[oyee-related matters. The utilisation during the year primarily
related to the payrnent of transition amounts in respect of pay and preria. These provisions are expected to be utilised within the next year.

See note S for further information onthese provisions.

23 DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax is provided under the balance sheet liability method using the tax rate at which the balances are expected to unwind of
19% and 17% as applicable (last year: 19% and 17%) for UK differences and local tax rates for overseas differences. Detaits of the changes to
the UK corporation tax rate and the impact on the Group are described innote 7.

Thermovements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (after the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction as permitted by
1AS 12 Income Taxes) during the year are shown below.

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Land and Capital Other short-
buildings  allowancesin Pension rerrmn
temporary excessof temporary temporary Total UK Qverseas
differences  depreciation differences differences  deferredtax  deferredtax Total
£m £Em Em Em [ Em Em
At 2 April 2017 {43.3} (62.4) {169.4) 27 (272.4) 2.4} (281.8)
Credited/(charged)to income statement 80 331 1.2 13 436 17 453
Credited/{charged)to equity/
other comprehensive income - - (39.8) 199 {19.9) 05 (19.4)
Other palance sheet movermnent 14 - - - 14 (1.2} 02
At 31 March 2018 (339) (29.3) (208.0) 239 {247.3) {8.4) (255.7}
At 1 April 2018 (33.9) (29.3) {208.0) 239 {247.3) {8.4) {255.7)
Credited/(charged) to income statement 3.8 23.2 {1.6) 3.9 293 5.3 46
Credited/(charged) to equity/
other comprehensive incorne - - 144 {11.5) 2.9 (0.2) 2.7
At 30 March 2019 {30.1) (6.1) (195.2) 16.3 (215.1) (3.3) {218.4)

Other short-term term temporary differences relate mainly to employee share options and financial instruments.

The deferred taxliability on land and buildings temporary differences is reduced by the benefit of capital losses with a gross value of
£321.7m(last year: £283.2m) and a tax value of £61.1m{last year: £53.8m). Due to uncertainty over their future use, no benefit has been
recognised inrespect of trading losses carried forward in overseas jurisdictions with a gross vatue of £70.5m (last year: £80.1m)and atax
value of £145m (last year: £169m).

No deferred tax is recognised inrespect of undistributed earnings of overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures with a gross value of £44,5m
{last year: £48.4m} unless a material liability is expected to arise on distribution of these earnings under applicable tax legislation. Thereis a
potential tax liability in respect of undistributed earnings of £2.7m (last year: £11.5m), however, this has not been recognised on the basis that
the distribution ¢an be controlled by the Croup.
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24 ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

2019 2018
Shares £m Shares £m

tssued and fully paid ordinary shares of 25p each

At start of year 1,624,757,346 406.2 1,624,727846 406.2

Shares issued on exercise of share options 242,884 0. 29,500 -

At end of year 1,625,000,230 406.3 1,624,757346 a06.2

Issue of new shares
242,884 (last year: 29,500) ordinary shares having a nominal value of £0.1m (last year: £00m) were allotted during the year under the terms
of the Company's schemes which are described in note 13 The aggregate consideration received was £0.6m (last year £01my}.

25 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

A. Capital commitments
2019 2018

im fm

Commitments in respect of properties in the course of construction 90.1 121.8
Software capital cormmitments 6.8 17.2
96.9 1390

B. Other material contracts

inthe event of termination of our trading arrangements with certain warehouse operators, the Group has a number of options and
commitrnents to purchase some property, plant and equipment, at values ranging from historical net bock vatue to market value,

which are currently owned and operated by the warehouse operators onthe Group's behalf. These options and commitments would have
animmaterialimpact on the Group's Staterment of Financial Position.

See note 12 for details on the partnership arrangement with the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme.

C. Commitments under operating leases
The Croup leases various stores, offices, warehouses and equiprment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The eases have
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewat rights.

2019 018
£m Em
Total future minimum rentals payabile under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Within one year 296.1 28B.5
-Later than one year and not later than five years 1,053.7 1,026.1
-Later than five years and not later than 10 years 871.2 896.8
- Later than 10 years and not later than 15 years 4995 503.8
—Later than 15 years and not iater than 20 years 280.1 304.6
-Laterthan 20 years and not later than 25 years 1248 149.4
- Later than 25 years 964.5 10268
Total 4,089.9 41960

The total future sublease payments to bereceivedare £214.6m (last year, £274m).

Of the total rentat payable commitrments under operating leases disciosed above, £308.5m (last year: £172.5m}is already provided for on
the balance sheet as onerous lease provisions with regards to stores identified as part of the UK store estate prograrmme.
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26 ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS GIVEN IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities

2019 2018
£m Em
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 37.3 29)
Income tax expense 47.3 377
Finance costs 1ML.6 1138
Financeincome (33.8) {241)
Operating profit 162.4 156.5
Decreasef{increase)ininventories 73.8 (38.2)
(Increase)/decreaseinreceivables (1.0} 28.8
Decrease in payables (13.7) (874)
Adjustingitems net cash outflows (124.4) (153.1)
Non-cash share-based payment charges 19.2 189
Depreciation, amortisation and write- offs 544.9 5806
Defined benefit pension funding . 37.9) (41.4)
Adjusting iterms M&S Bank {20.9) (34.7}
Adjusting operating profit items 438.6 514)
Cash generated from operations 1,041.0 944.

Adjusting items net cash cutflows relate to the utilisation of the provisions for International store ¢losures and impairments, strategic
programme costs associated with the UK store estate, organisation, operational transformation, UK logistics, IT restructure, changes to pay
and pensions, UK store impairments and property charges, GMP and other pension equalisation and establishing the Ocado joint venture.
Adjusting items M&S Bank relates to M&S Bank income recognised in operating profit offset by charges incurredin relation to the insurance

mis-selling provision, which is a non-cashitem.

27 ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT

A. Reconciliation of movement in net debt

Exchangeand
At 2 April other non-cash At 3) March
27 Cash Mow movements U1y
£m £m £m £m
Net cash
Bank loans, overdrafts and syndicated bank facility (see note 20) (70.3) {18.1) - {88.4)
Less: amounts treated as financing {see below) 79 438 - 51.7
(62.4) 257 - {36.7)
Cash and cash equivalents (see note18) 468.6 (257.4) (35) 207.7
Net cash per statement of cash flows 406.2 (231.7) (3.5} 171.0
Current financial assets (see note 16) 14.5 (08) - 13.7
Debt financing
Bank loans, and overdrafts treated as financing (see above} {79} (43.8) - {51.7)
Medium Term Notes (see note 20) (1,911 .4) 328.2 (1.5} {1,584.7)
Finance lease liabilities (see note 20) (48.7} 26 (1.9} (48.0)
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme
(see note 12) {387.4} 596 - {327.8)
Debt financing (2,355.4} 3466 {3.4) (2,012.2)
Net debt 19347} 1141 (6.9) (1,827.5)
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27 ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT CONTINUED
A, Reconciliation of movement in net debt continued

Exchange and
AL 1 April other non-cash At 30 March
2018 Cashilow movements 2019
£m fm Em £m
Net cash
Banrk loans, overdrafts and syndicated bank facility (see note 20) (88.4) 11 50 (72.3)
Less amounts treated as financing {see below) 517 (46.7) (50) -
(26.7) (35.6) - (72.3)
Cash and cash equivalents {see note 18) 2077 779 {0.2) 285.4
Net cash per statement of cash flows 1710 423 {0.2) 2131
Current financial assets (see note 16) 137 1281 - 141.8
Debt financing
Bankioans,and overdrafts treated as financing (see above) {51.7) 46.7 50 -
Mediurm Terrm Notes (see note 20) (1,584.7) (14) (1.2) (1,587.3)
Finance lease liabilities {see note 20} {48.0) 33 (1.8) (46.5)
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scherne
(see note 12) {3278 616 - (266.2)
Debt financing (2012.2) 1N0.2 20 (1,900.0)
Net debt {1,8275) 2806 1.8 (1,545.1)
B. Reconciliation of net debt to statement of financial position
2019 2018
£m m
Statement of financial position and related notes
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 18) 2854 2077
Current financial assets (see note 16} 141.8 13.7
Bank loans and overdrafts (see note 20) (72.3) (88.4)
Medium Term Notes - net of hedging derivatives {1,624.3) (1621.7)
Finance lease liabilities (see note 20) {46.5) {480)
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme (see note 12 and 21} (272.4) (335.5)
{1,588.3) {1,872.2)
interest payable included within related borrowing and the partnership liability to the
Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme 43.2 447
Total net debt {1,545.1) (1,827.5)

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Subsidiaries
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosedin this note. Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are disclosed in the Company's separate financial statements

B. Hedge End joint venture

Aloan of £5.0mwas received from the joint venture on 9 October 2002 It was repayable on five business days nolice and was renewed on
31 December 2017.Interest was charged on the {oan at 2.0% until 31 December 2009 and 0.5% thereafter. The loan was extinguished on

8 March 2019 through a capital reduction of the investment in the joint venture by £5.0m.

C. Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme
Details of other transactions and balances held with the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme are set out innotes 11 and 12.

D. Key management compensation
The Croup has determined that the key management personnel constitute the Board and the members of the Operating Committee.

2019 2008

£m fm

Salaries and short-term benefits 8.0 79
Share-based payments 1.1 04

Total 9.7 83
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29 IMPACT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADOPTED IN THE YEAR

IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 were new accounting standards adoptedin the year and effective for the Group from | April 2018, IFRS 15 has not had
a materialimpact on the financial statements of the Group and the impact of adoptionis disclosed within note 1. As IFRS 9 has amore
extensive impact anthe opening balances of the financial staternents of the Group on adoption the impact has been disclosedin
detail below.

IFRS 9

IFRS 9 was adopted using the modified transition approach without restating comparative inforenation. The reclassification and adjustments
in relation to the new impairment rules are recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 April 2018 and not reflected in the comparative
balance sheet.

The table below shows the amount of adjustment for each financial statement tine impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9.

As at 31 March IFRS 9 t April 2018

. . . - 018 Adjustment restated
Consolidated Staternent of Financial Position £ Em £m
Non-current assets
Other financial assets 9.9 - 9.9
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 308.4 {0.6) 307.8
Current liabilities
Provisions 98.8 (0.1) 98.7
Equity
Retained earnings 6,531.1 (0.5) 6,530.6
Hedging reserve {65.3) a7 (76.0)
Cost of hedging reserve - 107 10.7

The adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognisedin the
financial staterments. The totalimpact on the Group's retained earnings is as follows:

Em
Closing retained earnings as at 31 March 2018 6,531.1
Increase in provision for trade receivables (0.6)
Decrease in provision for other receivables 0.1
Adjustment to retained earnings from adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 (0.5)
Opening retained earnings on 1 April 2018 6,530.6

Classification and measurement

On 1 April 2019, the Croup's management has assessed which business models apply to the financial assets heid by the Group and has
classifiedits financial inskruments into the appropriate IFRS 9 categories being fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and amortised cost. Available for sale (AFS) category allowable under IAS 39is not an allowable IFRS 9
categorisation. The main effects resulting from this classification are as follows:

FVPL FYDCI  Available for sale Amortised cost

Em £m £m £m

Financial assets at 31 March 2018 479 - 9.9 176.5

Rectlassify avaitable for sale financial assets to FVOCI - 29 (9.9) -

QOpening balance at 1 April 2018 479 9.9 - 176.5
Theimpact of the changes on the Group's equity is as follows:

AFS reserve FVOClreserve

Em Em

Opening balance at 31 March 2018 under IAS 38 6.9 -

Reclassify available for sale financial assets to FVOCI (6.9) 69

Opening balance at 1 April 2018 under IFRS 9 - 6.9

All equity financial instruments classified as available for sale under IAS 39 were irrevocably designated as fair value through other
cormprehensive income under IFRS 9 whereby gains or losses will never recycle to the profitand loss, instead being recognised as
movements within retained earnings in other comprehensiveincome only. The classification was considered appropriate as the investments
are expected to be held for the long termand not expected to be sold in the short to medium term. The cumulative associated available

for sale reserve within equity of £6,9m was recognised as an adjustrnent within the other comprehensive income reserve on adoption of

the standard.
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29 IMPACT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADOPTED IN THE YEAR CONTINUED

Classification and measurement continued
On the date of initial application, | April 2018, the Croup's financialinstrurments were as follows with any reclassifications noted:

Original carrying New carrying Difterence in
Originat classification New classification amount amount  carrying amount
{1AS 29) {IFRS 9) £m £m £m
Non-current financial assets
Trade and other receivables Amortised cost Amortised cost 23 2.3 -
Other financial assets Available
for sale FVOCI 9.9 9.9 -
Derivative financialinstruments FVPL FVPL 271 271 -
Current financial assets
Other financial assets FVPL FVPL 137 13.7 -
Trade and other receivables Amortised cost Amortised cost 1742 173.6 {0.6)
Derivative financial instruments FvPL FVPL 71 71 -
Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,355.9 1,355.9 -
Borrowings and other financial liabilities Amortised cost Amortised cost 125.6 125.6 -
Derivative financial instruments FVPL FVPL 738 73.8 -
Non-current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 527 527 -
Borrowings and ather financial labilities Amortised cost Amortised cost 16706 1,670.6 -

Derivatives and hedging activities

IFRS 9 more closely aligns the hedge accounting with financial risk management methodology. Alt hedge retationships were regarded as
continuing hedge retationships, as all which were designated hedges under IAS 39 as at 31 March 2018 met the criteria for hedge accounting
under IFRS 9 as the Croup’s risk management strategies and hedge documentation were aligned to the new standard.

Under IAS 39 the Group included the cost of hedging within the hedge relationship. On transition, IFRS 9 allows the choice to separate
aspects of the costs of hedging froem the designation within a hedge relationship as part of the hedging instrurnent. Similarly under IFRS 9
in relation to cross-currency interest rate swaps, the currency basis is separated into the cost of hedging reserve and separated from the

hedge relationship.

On transition t¢ IFRS 9, a classification change between the hedging reserve and cost of hedging reserve within equity of £10.7m debit
to hedging reserve and credit to cost of hedging reserve was recognised.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group holds the following types of financial assets subject to IFRS 9's new expected credit {oss maodel:

- Trade receivables.
- Other receivables.

The Croup was required torevise its impairment methodoiogy under IFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. Theirmpact of the change in
impairment methodology on the Croup's retained earnings and equity is illustrated above, while a detaited description of the methodology
is inctuded with the credit risk disclosures innote 21.

The Croup applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses alifetirme expected credit loss allowance
for all trade receivables. This resultedin an increase in the toss allowance on | April 2018 by £0.6m for trade receivables and a decrease of
£Q.1m for other receivables.

30 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the year end, the UK Cefined Benefit pension scheme purchased additional pensioner buy-in poticies with two insurers

for approximately £1.4bn. Together with the two policies purchasedin March 2018, the Defined Senefit pension scheme has now, in total,
hedged its longevity exposure for approximately two thirds of the pensioner cash flow liabilities for pensions in payment. The buy-in policies
cover specific pensioner liabilities and pass all risks to an insurer in exchange for a fixed premium payment, thus reducing the Croup's
exposure to changes in longevity, interest rates, inflation and other factors.
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As at Asat
30 March 2019 31 March 2018
Notes £im £m
Assots
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings Cé 9,269.5 89,2603
Total assets 92695 9,260.3
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 2,548.5 2,5506
Total liabilities 2,548.5 25506
Net assets 6,721.0 6,709.7
Equity
Ordinary share capital 406.3 406.2 g
Share premiurm account 416.9 4164 w
Capitat redemptionreserve 2,210.5 22105 §
Merger reserve 1,397.3 13973 E
Retained earnings 2,290.0 22793
Total equity " 6,721.0 6,709.7
The Company’s profit for the year was £305.0m/(lagt vear: £305.0m).
The financial statements were approved by thiff Frised for issue on 21 May 2019. The financial statemnents also comprise the
notes C1 to Cé.
Steve Rowe Chief Executive Officer
Humphrey Singer Chief Finance Officer
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Ordinary Share prermium Capital redemption Merger Retained
share capital account TE5erve reserve f3arnings Total
m im Em £m £m m
At 2 April 2007 406.2 416.4 2,2105 13973 2.266.7 6,697
Profit for the year - ~ - - 3050 3050
Dividends - - - - (303.4) (303.4)
Capitalcontribution for
share-based payments - - - - 1L0 110 w
At 31 March 2018 406.2 416.4 2,210.5 1,3972.3 2,279.3 6,709.7 :?(,
At April 2018 406.2 416.4 2,210.5 1,392.3 2,279.3 6,709.7 g
Profit for the year - - - - 305.0 305.0 §
Dividends - - - - (303.5) (303.5)
Capital contritwtion for
share-based payrnents - - - - 9.2 9.2
Shares issued on exercise of
employee share options 01 0.5 - - - 06
At 20 March 2019 406.3 4169 2,210.5 1,397.3 2,290.0 6,721.0
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
30 March 2019 31 March 2018
£m Em
Cash flow from investing activities
Dividends received 305.0 3050
Net cash generated from investing activities 305.0 3050
Cash flows from financing activities »
Shares issued on exercise of emnployee share options 0.6 - %
Repayment of intercompany loan {2.1) {1.6) E
Equity dividends paid {303.5) {303.4) 5
Net cash used in financing activities (305.0) (305.0) z
Net cash inflow - - g
&

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning and end of year
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€1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information

Marks and Spencer Croup plc (the Company)is 2 public Company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales. The address of the Company's registered office is Waterside House, 35 North Wharf
Road, London W2 1N/,

The principal activities of the Company and the nature of the Company's operations is as a holding entity,

These financial staternents are presented in Sterling, which s the currency of the primary economic environment inwhich the Company
operates and are rounded to the nearest million.

The Company’s accounting policies are the sarme as those set outin note | of the Group financial statements, except as noted below.

Investrments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment. The Company grants share-based
payments to the employees of subsidiary companies. Each period the fair value of the employee services received by the subsidiary
as a capital contribution from the Companyis reflected as an addition toinvestrnents in subsidiaries.

Loans from other Group undertakings and all other payables are initially recorded at fair value, which is generally the proceeds received.
They are then subsequently carried at amortised cost. The loans are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand

Inaccordance with the exemption altowed by Section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its ownincome
staternent or staterment of comprehensive income.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of investments in subsidiary undertakings

The carrying value of the investment in subsidiary undertakings is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis. The recoverable amount
is determined based on value in use which requires the determination of appropriate assumptions (which are sources of estimation
uncertainty)in relation to the cash flows over the three-year strategic plan period, the long-term growth rate to be applied beyondthis
three-year period and the risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate used to discount the assumed cash flows to present vatue.

Estimation uncertainty arises due to changing economic and market factors, the channel shift from stores to online, increasing
technological advancement and the Group's ongoing strategic transformation programmes.

The Company's financial risk is managed as part of the Group's strategy and policies as discussed in note 21 of the Group
financial statements.

C2 EMPLOYEES

The Company had nc employees during the current or prior year. Directors received ermoluments in respect of their services tothe
Company during the year of £1,028,666 (last year: £999,922). The Company did not operate any pension schermes during the current
or preceding year. For further information see the Remuneration Report.

€3 AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

Auditor's remuneration in respect of the Cornpany's annual audit has been borne by its subsidiary Marks and Spencer plc and has been
disclosed on a consolidated basis in the Company's consalidated financial staternents as reguired by Section 494{4)(a) of the Companies
Act 2006,

C4 DIVIDENDS
2018 2018 2019 2018
per share per share £m £m
Dividends on equity ordinary shares
Paid final dividend 11.9p 119p 193.1 193.1
Paid interim dividend 6.8p 6.8p 10.4 Na3
18.7p 18.7p 303.5 3034

The directors have approved a final dividend of 7.1p per share (tast year: 11.9p per share) whichin line with the requirements of IAS 10Events
after the Reporting Period, has not been recognised within these results This final dividend of ¢.£115.4m (last year: £193.1m) will be paid on
12 July 2018 to shareholders whose names are onthe Register of Members at the close of business on 31 May 2019. The ordinary shares will
be quoted ex dividend on 30 May 2019.

A dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) is available to shareholders who would prefer toinvest their dividends inthe shares of the Company.
For those shareholders elacting to receive the DRIP the Last date for receipt of a new electionis 21 June 2019

C5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company has received dividends from Marks and Spencer plc of £305.0m {last year: £305.0m) and decreased its loan
from Marks and Spencer pic by £21m (last year: £1.6m). The outstanding balance was £2,548.5m (last year: £2,550.6m) and is non-interest
pearing. There were no other related party transactions.
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C6 INVESTMENTS

A. Investments in subsidiary undertakings

019 2008

£m [m

Ee_grinning of the year 9,260.3 9,249.3
Additional investrment in subsidiary undertakings relating to share-based payments : 9.2 1o
End of year 9,269.5 9,260.3

Shares in subsidiary undertakings represent the Company'sinvestment in Marks and Spencer pic.
The Company tests investments in subsidiary undertakings annually for impairment.

The recoverable amount of the investrnent is determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value inuse
calculation are those regarding the discount rate, growth rates, and expected trading performance. These assurmptions have beenrevised in
the year in light of the current economic outlook which has softened in the period since the last impairment review was undertaken.

The cash flows used in the value in use calculation are based on the Group's latest budget and forecast cash flows, covering a three-year
period, which have regard to historic performance and knowiedge of the current market, together with the Croup's views on the future
achievable growth and the impact of committed cash Flows. The cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintain the
store network but exclude any growth capital initiatives not committed. The latest budget and three-year planrefiect a more conservative
view of the short-term future perfermance of the Croup.

Cash flows beyond this three-year period are extrapolated for a further two years using the expected growth rates expectedin year three
and then extrapolated beyond this period using the Group's current view of achievable long-term growth of 2.3%, This rate combines the
long-term inflation rate of 1.8% with a 0.5% real uplift for growth. Thisis higher than the rate used in the prior year, reflecting our confidence in
the outcome of the strategic programmae to transform the business in achieving a higher terminal growth rate.

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the Croup. The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 9.1